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Preface.

        

The suggestion that a book should be written to record the history of the Settlement of Nelson, whilst yet there were among us some of those who took part in laying its foundations, and whose testimony is still available, originated with Mr. Charles Yates Fell, who was bora here, and is the son of one, and the grandson of another, of Nelson's earliest settlers; and he undertook to collect the materials for the book. He did collect a good deal, and in other ways he has rendered the writer, at all times—and often, no doubt, at some times very inconvenient to a busy professional man—the most kind and ready assistance.

        
Some facts and figures have been borrowed from "Brett's History of New Zealand," "Pratt's Colonial Experiences," "The Official Handbook of New Zealand Mines," the files of the "Examiner" from 1842, and later on of the "Colonist." Added to these sources of information the writer has had access to such of the records of the New Zealand Company as have escaped destruction; and last—though very far from least— he has had before him the written statements of some of the survivors of the first settlers, and the advantage of obtaining oral testimony from others. To all these old settlers he desires to express his earnest gratitude.

        
He wishes also to thank others, whose ready courtesy has enabled him to rescue many details from forgetfulness, and to do what he could in a limited space, and at short notice, to make this book a faithful record of the past. Of these, he wishes to make especial mention of the 
Hon. J. W. Barnicoat, M.L C., and 
Mr. Alfred Saunders, M.H.R.; both having taken considerable trouble to supply valuable information. He has likewise to express his acknowledgments to Mr. John Sharp, who revised some of the proof-sheets; and also to the various religious bodies, and Friendly Societies, for the particulars respecting each, appearing in the work.

        
It is matter for regret that the very interesting papers written by some of those who in the early days "bore the burden and heat of the day," could not be printed in fall; and many valuable original documents, which are of historical interest, could only be cursorily referred to. There are also some few papers sent in too late to be of use, which are worth preserving.

        
This history is principally written for those who know the place, and are proud of it; who looking back at the good which has been done, are thankful for it; and who—knowing what a wealth of nature is around us, how vast are our only very partially developed mineral resources, and how active is the spirit of enterprise and industry—look forward with confidence towards the future—a great future, as we all hope, not only of material prosperity, but of national life.
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	At page 
12, line 7—after the word coxswain, insert the words "
Mr F. G. Moore, the pilot."

	At page 
46, line 40—for "thereupom" read 
thereupon.

	At page 
49, line 5—for "ponts" read 
points.

	At page 
63, Insert the name of 
John Brooks, interpreter, massaered—in the list of the white men present "at the affray."

	At page 
84, line 24—for "Augustinian" read 
Franciscan.

	At page 
109, Further information with regard to the 
Nelson Bank will be found at p. 190.

	At page 
120, lines 28 and 29—instead of "in the next chapter" read 
in another chapter.

	At page 
133, line 19—after the figures 72,600,000, insert the word 
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	At page 
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	At page 
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Chapter I.

        

          
Object of Work.—Early Discoveries.—Arrival of Missionaries.—The New Zealand Company.—Arrange to found Nelson.—Terms and inducements offered.

        

        

This Work is intended to trace in outline the foundation, rise, and progress of the Nelson Settlement. It does not pretend to be a history of New Zealand. A sketch, however, of the early discoveries of the country may appropriately precede that of the early days of Nelson.

        

Juan Fernandez, who gave his name to the island, made so attractive to us as boys in De Foe's delightful story of Robinson Crusoe, is said to have sailed away from one of the ports on the west coast of South America in 1576, and after sailing four or five weeks in a south-westerly direction, to have reached a fertile and pleasant land inhabited by white people, well made, and dressed in a species of woven cloth. The old Spanish chroniclers, often describe people of brown complexion as white. At all events if it is not certain he discovered New Zealand, no other country answers the description given by this old navigator. The first really authentic account we have of the discovery of this country, is "
The journal of 
Abel Jansz Tasman of a voyage from Batavia for making discoveries of the unknown South Land in the year 1642. May God Almighty be pleased to give his blessing to this voyage. Amen." We learn from this deeply interesting journal, that Tasman sailed from the road of Batavia on the 14th, August 1642, in the yacht "Heemskirk," in company with the "Zeehaen" (Sea-hen) fly boat After visiting Mauritius and discovering Van Dieman's Land, since called after him Tasmania, he steered East, and on the 13th December of the same year, he sighted the West Coast of the Middle Island of New Zealand, described by him as "a high mountainous country, which is at present represented and marked in the charts under the name of New Zealand."

        


        
He sailed along the coast and came to an anchor in the evening in 28 fathoms of water, muddy bottom. "An old chart preserved among the archives of the British East India Company indicates Tasman's anchorage to have been about two miles to the N.N.W. of Separation Point, in Massacre, or as it now called 
Golden Bay." (
Brett's History of New Zealand.) The bay was named "Murderer's Bay," because of an attack made by the natives on one of the Zeehaen's boats, in which three of Tasman's men were killed, and one mortally wounded.

        
But as Tasman had a chart in which "Zeland Nova" was shewn, it appears tolerably certain that the country was visited before his arrival in 1642. An atlas was published by William Bleau, a Dutchman, who died in 1638, in which an indistinct line of coast is shewn, with the name against it "Zelandia Nova."

        
After Tasman's departure on the 6th January, 1648, we have have no record of any visit to New Zealand until Captain Cook's arrival. He sailed from the Society Islands in search of a Southern Continent then believed to exist. He sighted land on the 6th October, 1769, and on the 8th cast anchor in Poverty Bay. After having circumnavigated these islands, he sailed from Cape Farewell for Australia on the 31st March, 1770. Captain Cook again visited New Zealand in 1773, in 1774, and in 1777.

        
The "St. Jean Baptiste," a French vessel commanded by M de Surville, visited New Zealand in 1769; and afterwards another French officer, M. Marion du Fresne, arrived on the West Coast on 24th March, 1772, and his ships were in sight of Mount Egmont. He sailed round the 
North Cape, and on the 11th May anchored his two vessels in the 
Bay of Islands. Until the 12th June he and his men lived in friendly relationship with the natives. On that day Marion went ashore with sixteen officers and men for a day's fishing—they never came back—and the natives gave their shipmates to understand that they had been killed and eaten.

        
In 1793, the "Dœdalus," under the command of Lieut. Hanson, visited New Zealand, and kidnapped two natives, who were carried off to Norfolk Island to teach the convicts from Home how to dress flax. But as flax-dressing was the peculiar work of the women, these two men, one of whom was a chief and the other a priest, were not of much use. It is satisfactory to know that they were sent back safely, and received some handsome presents.

        
In 1814 the first missionaries arrived in New Zealand. Messrs Hall & Kendall were sent on an expedition from Sydney to report on the state of the country, and the chances for the establishment of a Mission Station. They were acting under the instructions of the 
Rev. Samuel Marsden. After a short stay they returned to Sydney, and on the 19th November of that year 

again embarked in company with Mr Marsden, who preached his first sermon in New Zealand on Christmas Day, 1814. The first station established by the Wesleyan missionaries at Kaeo-Wangaroa was taken possession of by Mr Leigh and his wife on the 10th June, 1823.

        
Various attempts at colonization were made from 1825 to 1839—the New Zealand Company being formed in the latter year.

        
Nelson was the second, as Wellington was the first of the settlements formed directly by this Company. A history of the place would therefore be incomplete without some description of the constitution and objects of the New Zealand Company and its method of action. Of the causes which led so soon to the decadence and dissolution of a Company which started its career with great promise of success as a commercial speculation— directed by men of high Parliamentary and social standing—all professing to be animated, as no doubt they were, by higher motives than the bare love of gain—nothing need be said in this place. They will appear in the course of the narrative of events.

        
The New Zealand Company was the result of the union of three distinct associations previously existing for the same object, viz., the plantation of a British Colony in New Zealand, To these united interests were added the subscriptions of a new body of subscribers, whereby the Company acquired what was believed to be ample capital for the prosecution of its object.

        
The earliest of these associations was the New Zealand Company of 1825; then came the New Zealand Association of 1837; and in 1838, the New Zealand Colonisation Company. The last named Company ceased to exist on the 2nd May, 1839, and the first prospectus of the "New Zealand Company," called for a time the "New Zealand Land Company," was issued to the public.

        
The nature of the Company was exclusively commercial; its avowed object was to employ capital in the purchase and re-sale of land, and to promote emigration—or, as the Directors put it, "the purpose of the Company as a body of shareholders is profit by means of the sale of land." But they also claimed to have more excellent motives. In their third report presented to the shareholders at their annual general meeting on the 1st May, 1841, they say that they "are persuaded that the Company has partly placed itself, and has partly been placed, by the measures of Government, in a position alike advantageous as respects its own interests, and most favorable for enabling it to carry into effect the great national object of colonising New Zealand, and they are strongly impressed with the conviction that the circumstances under which it has obtained this position, and the cordial confidence with which, in reliance upon its professions of public spirit, it has been treated by Her Majesty's Government, impose 

upon it the obligation of demonstrating by its future measures that it has other and higher motives than those of merely selfish profit, and that whilst it does not pretend to disclaim a due regard for its own interests, it is also powerfully actuated by an enlightened and generous desire to promote to the uttermost the concurrent benefit of those who have undertaken, under its auspices, the bold enterprise of planting another scion of the AngloSaxon race in a remote island of the Southern hemisphere, and of Great Britain."

        
The prospectus of the Company declared its capital to be £400,000, in 4000 shares of £100 each, with a deposit of £10 per share. The Earl of Durham was its Governor, and Joseph Somes, Esq., its Deputy-Governor. The Directory included the names of men of high Parliamentary, mercantile, and social standing.

        
From the beginning the Company declared its intention of dealing justly and even benevolently with the natives, and in every settlement acquired from them by purchase, valuable reserves were to be made for the benefit of the original owners. It is a somewhat startling commentary upon these proposed intentions of the Company, to find it described by Lord Stanley, on the 1st February, 1844, as "an unprincipled, rapacious body, utterly regardless of the rights and welfare of the natives"—a description which it is needless to, say was repudiated by the Directors with hot indignation. There seems to have been from the beginning some hostility to the Company on the part of the Government. It was believed at first that the Company intended proceeding to New Zealand to purchase large tracts of land, and to establish a system of Government independent of the British authority. Any such intention was promptly disavowed. The Company asked for, and expected to receive the protection of British law, administered by Imperial officers. The success of their enterprise as a purely commercial speculation, depended greatly upon such protection being afforded. And it was made an early ground of complaint that whilst the Royal Charter conferred upon the Company no privilege to arm the settlers for the defence of the intended settlements, or to appoint constables for the preservation of the peace, and the emigrants had been distinctly refused permission to form a voluntary association for such objects, yet the Government took no sufficient care for the safety of the colonists, or for the prevention of social disorder.

        
The intention of the Company was to form several settlements. One principal settlement, to be selected so "as to insure its becoming the commercial capital of New Zealand"—and such other settlements as might from time to time be deemed expedient. In pursuance of this object, a first expedition was sent out in 1889 under 
Colonel William Wakefield, who was 
in-

structed to acquire as much land as possible from the natives, by the 
usual methods. The lands so to be acquired were to be subdivided in England upon paper, into town and rural sections, and sold there to intending settlers. Thus 100,000 acres were sold in London before a title to one had been acquired. "Those who paid money drew lots for sections unknown, of land which the Company was about to seek."—(
Rusden.)

        
The principle adopted by the Company was, in fact, to offer the land to the public by anticipation.

        
Colonel Wakefield selected Port Nicholson as the site for the first settlement, and was able to acquire very considerable tracts of land, extending from the 38th to the 43rd degree of latitude on the Western Coast, and from the 41st to the 43rd on the Eastern. One hundred and thirty-five stand of arms, twenty-one kegs of gunpowder, one cask of ball cartridges, night-caps, pipes, a gross of jews' harps, twelve hundred fishing hooks, and twelve sticks of sealing-wax, formed part of the consideration for the purchase.

        
The Port Nicholson Colony having been established under what seemed most encouraging prospects, the Company decided to send out a second expedition to find land for another settlement to be called "Nelson."

        
The terms upon which lands were to be acquired by intending settlers were briefly these:—The lands were offered in 1000 allotments of 201 acres each. Each allotment was to consist of three sections viz., 150 acres of rural land, 50 acres of accommodation land in the immediate proximity of the town, and one town acre. The price of each allotment of 201 acres was £300. A deposit of £30 was required upon every application. The balance to be paid upon a day of which public notice was to be given On payment of the full purchase money, each purchaser was to receive three separate land orders viz., for the 150 acres rural land, the 50 acres accommodation land, and the town acre respectively. These lands were to be severally selected according to priority of choice to be determined by lot. Three several ballots for priority of choice were to take place at the Company's house in London, and the actual choice of the allotments was to take place in the Settlement as soon after the arrival of a first body of colonists as the requisite surveys and plans should have been completed. The Company engaged to add to the 201,000 acres offered for sale, a quantity equal to one-tenth thereof, as native reserves; so that the quantity of land to be appropriated would in fact consist of 221,000 acres, and the town of 1100 acres. The Company reserved the right of purchasing 100 of the 1000 lots offered for sale, for its own benefit, at the same price, and subject to the same terms, as other purchasers. The sum of £300,000 to be received by the Company as the purchase moneys of the lands, was to be appropriated as follows viz.: £150,000 to the exclusive purpose emigration to this 

particular settlement; £5000 to defray the Company's expenses in selecting the site and establishing the settlement; £50,000 to public purposes for rendering the settlement commodious and attractive. Of this £15,000 was to be applied to religious uses and endowments for colonists of all denominations, £15,000 to the establishment of a College in the settlement, and £20,000 towards the encouragement of steam navigation, for the benefit of the settlement, by way of bounty. The remaining £50,000 was to go to the Company for its expenses, and profit on the use of its capital. Such were the general terms upon which settlers were invited to come and assist in forming somewhere in New Zealand, but in such close proximity to Port Nicholson as was possible, the Colony, as it was sometimes called, of Nelson.

        
There were practically several classes of emigrants induced to come to the settlement under the auspices of the Company: first, its own agents, surveyors, and other servants; second, the intending settlers who had purchased land; and third, the mechanics and laborers, who, hoping for higher wages, short hours, and the other inducements held out by the emigration agents of the Company, had been induced to leave their homes in the Old Country. One idea of the Company was to make land so dear that it would not be easy for labourers to acquire it. Lowness of price would "enable emigrant labourers to buy land and set up for themselves very soon after their arrival, so that the amount of labour in the market would be diminished before an adequate supply of fresh hands had been procured by immigration."

        
The labourer was to be kept to his labour as long as was possible and convenient. It is evident, therefore, that in inducing hundreds of labourers to emigrate, the Company was bound under the circumstances to see that work was found for them on arrival. If settlement on the land was to be possible only to the thrifty labourer after a considerable period of hard work, the first duty plainly was to provide him with steady work which would give him remunerative wages. The terms upon which land could be acquired were subsequently considerably modified, as will be seen in the sequel—but not until after much suffering and hardship on the part of both settlers and immigrants. The latter suffered cruelly from the ultimate scarcity of work, the lowness of wages, and the insufficient supply of food.

        
The settlers were kept a long time waiting for their acres, which gave rise to claims for compensation against the Company. As much as one or two years intervened before obtaining the rural lands; their means and patience were in this way exhausted; and they had of course no work to give to their almost starving fellow immigrants, and were themselves reduced in some instances to real distress. But these matters will be developed in the course of this history.
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Chapter II.

        

          
Sailing of the Preliminary Expedition.—Sermon on board the "Will Watch." Arrival at Port Nicholson.—Where is Nelson to be?—Pertinacity and obstinacy.—"Hobson's choice."—Departure for and arrival at Blind Bay.—Kaiteretere and Motueka.—Discovery of Wakatu.— Arrival of the Expedition there.—Christmas, 1841.—New Year's Day —First Cricket Match in Nelson.

        

        

The Preliminary Expedition for the choice and survey of the site of Nelson, sailed from Gravesend on Sunday afternoon, the 2nd May, 1841. The two vessels were the "Whitby," Captain Lacey, carrying the flag; and the "Will Watch,' Captain Walker. There was another vessel, the Arrow brig, Captain Geary, lying close to, laden with stores, but she did not sail until the 21st May. On the morning of that Sunday there was a large gathering on board the "Will Watch" of those who were going out by the ships; and there, too, were several who had come to wish the Expedition—God speed. Some of the Directors of the Company, including 
Mr Edward Gibbon Wakefield, the projector of the new scheme of colonisation, were present; and young Mr Francis Dillon Bell, the Secretary (now Sir Francis Dillon Bell, and Agent-General for New Zealand); and the late 
Mr H. S. Chapman, then Editor of the "New Zealand Portfolio," and afterwards for many years a Supreme Court Judge of the Colony. And amongst the crowd was a clergyman, the Rev. C. M. Torlesse, Rector of Stoke-by-Nayland, in Suffolk, a connection of the Wakefield family, who had come on board to say good-bye to his son, who was going out as an "improver" on the Survey staff; and to his connection Captain Wakefield, and other friends, and to preach a farewell sermon to the officers and men of the Expedition. The preacher took for his text the I Peter, iii. 13—"And who is he that will harm you, if ye be followers of that which is good?" The sermon was simple and practical, and therefore admirably suited to the occasion. The preacher assured his hearers that the Maoris were not the ferocious barbarians given to making murderous attacks on the settlers some ignorant and designing men had represented them to be. "The New Zealander," said the Rev. gentleman, "if struck, will strike again if provoked, insulted, or robbed and cheated by unprincipled or drunken men, will retaliate, and write his revenge sometimes in characters of blood, and if he remained patient under such treatment, he would be something much higher than a human being or something much lower. ∗ ∗ ∗ ∗ The residence, unharmed, of the helpless missionary with his wife and children in the midst of them, for the last 20 years, is the best answer to the charges 

brought against them of wanton and unprovoked cruelty. ∗ ∗ Your safeguard there, as here, is kind treatment to those around you." The following are extracts from the peroration of this appropriate sermon: "We have met each other for the first time, but shall probably meet no more in this world. In a few days the winds and the waves will have carried you far away. ∗ ∗ ∗ I pray earnestly that every earthly blessing may attend you; that you may carry British industry, British honor, British laws, to the remotest ends of the world. ∗ ∗ ∗ You are going forth to extend the British name in a far distant land, to lay probably the foundation of future greatness and splendour in the place of the forest which you will remove. ∗ ∗ ∗ ∗ The heathen hear a good deal of Christianity from the missionaries, but they will judge it not by what they hear, but by what they see in you. However humble, obscure, and poor you may be, if you are honest, quiet, sober, and inoffensive in your conduct, patient under provocation, contented in the midst of privation, the force of this silent preaching by example will be very great; on the other hand, if you call yourselves Christians and yet exhibit no fruits of grace, but are immoral in conduct, violent in language, unjust in your dealings, they will pronounce the whole matter to be a trick, a lie, and an imposture."

        
That part of the Waimea Plain for some time called 
Brook Green, was on the building of the picturesque little stone church, named 
Stoke, after the village of the Rev. Mr Torlesse, who sent out the bell which hangs in the turret.

        
In the afternoon the anchors were weighed, and directly they were up and everything ready to start, a salute of 21 guns was fired, and the "Whitby" and "Will Watch" sailed away for New Zealand in search of a site upon which to estab'ish the settlement of Nelson.

        
The expedition was under the direction of 
Captain Arthur Wakefield, R.N, whose brother, 
Colonel William Wakefield, had gone out with the first Expedition, and was already established at Wellington as principal agent for the Company, Captain Wakefield was not only entrusted with the general control of the Expedition, but he was also to be Agent and Chief resident Officer for the Company at the projected settlement of Nelson. He was peculiarly fitted for the post. Entering the Navy at ten years of age, he first sailed in the Nisus frigate with Captain Beaver in the expedition to Bulama and other places. He was present at the taking of Batavia and the Isle of France, and in the land engagements of Bladensburg and Washington, where he served as aide-de-camp to Admiral Sir Geo. Cockburn He was afterwards for some time in command of a brig on the coast of Africa, where he captured several slave ships after obstinate engagements. Thrice it occurred to him to jump overboard and save the lives of shipmates at sea. He had served in all parts of 
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Captain Arthur Wakefield.



the world, and left the command of the "Rhadamanthus" steam frigate shortly before undertaking the foundation of the Nelson Settlement in the service of the New Zealand Company. Entering the Navy at so early an age, he could have acquired but little of mere school learning. But at all times he was a diligent student. He understood and read almost as his own the French, Spanish, and Italian languages, and had acquired considerable reputation in naval gunnery and ship-building. His manners were conciliatory, and his judgment in all matters of practical life eminently sound. Wise, temperate, and firm; unassuming, with self-confidence, commanding respect when seeming to shew it; never for a moment the slave of passion —always the active servant of duty—he was by nature cut out for the founder of a colony, for a leader of men.

        
Such was the history and character of the man as gathered from the oral testimony of a few of the survivors of those who knew him in the first days of the Nelson settlement; and from various letters and articles in the "Nelson Examiner," published shortly after his untimely death in the shocking Massacre at the Wairau. A poem entitled—

        

          
"The Recantation of the Gentlemen and Inhabitants of Nelson, to the High and Mighty Prince Fizgig," &c., &c. by the late 
Mr Alfred Domett,

        

        
has unfortunately been almost entirely destroyed. The following fragment has, however, escaped destruction, and is no doubt intended as a comparison between Captain Wakefield and Governor Fitzroy:—

        

          
"But there was a Scotch cap, and an old shooting jacket, And the form they enveloped was ever revered; And authority needing no gold lace to back it Was felt and acknowledged where'er it appeared."

        

        
On board the ships were, in addition to Captain Wakefield, the Surveyors and their staff of assistants. Their names are given in full, so far as it is possible to ascertain them, at the end of this chapter. In personal attendance upon Captain Wakefield was William Songer (who had charge of the flag), now residing in Halifax-street, Nelson, and the storekeeper was 
Mr James Howard, who had formerly served as a gunner under his present chief, on board the "Rhadamanthus," and was destined to die by his side, and to be buried in the same grave with him, at the Wairau. Dr Alexander MacShane was on board the "Whitby" as Surgeon in charge of the Expedition, and Doctor Beck looked after the health of those on board the "Will Watch." The late J. S. Cross, and W. Claringbold, came from Deal, as pilots; and the former, who died in 1882, was Harbor Master and Pilot for Nelson from a short time after his first arrival to the day of his death.

        


        
According to the evidence of all the survivors of the Expedition, the brig "Arrow," although the last to sail, was the first to arrive in Port Nicholson; she was followed in a few days by the "Will Watch," and the "Whitby" arrived last.

        
Nothing definite had been settled before the Expedition sailed from England as to the site of the future settlement. A rather vague description of some excellent country suitable for the purpose on the East Coast of the Middle Island, had been sent by Colonel Wakefield to the Company, and there seems to have been a general impression in the minds of those on board the ships that they were bound for some place in the neighborhood of Banks' Peninsula.

        
This important question, however, was left to be decided by the Agents of the Company in concert with the local Government," whose special knowledge it was considered would be invaluable in selecting the best of several eligible sites.

        
But if the Company expected to have little or no difficulty in arranging the site, "acting in concert with the local Government, it reckoned without its host. Colonel Wakefield hankered after the fertile lands at the back of Banks' Peninsula, which from their proximity to the older settlement would have suited the Company admirably. The local Government, in the person of Governor Hobson (who came out at first with the rank of Consul) would not hear of any such thing. Let the Expedition go on to Auckland, where lands well adapted to their needs could be obtained. Auckland was to be the capital of the Colony—the prosperity of Auckland was therefore the first question; let the emigrants go there, and help to make it what the Governor wished it to be—the commercial capital as well as the seat of Government. For about three weeks the parleying went on. The Colonel was pertinacious, the Governor was obstinate. Neither would give way. The Colonel would not send the ships to Auckland, and the Governor would not let them go anywhere near Port Cooper. Time was slipping by, the intending settlers might be expected in a few weeks, and nothing had been done to select and survey the lands they had paid for, and of which they expected possession on arrival. Under these circumstances there was nothing for it but to look out for another site, somewhere near to Wellington, and Nelson was literally "Hobson's choice."

        
The Company was in this awkward position, that it had assured all those who had bought land, that the central parts of New Zealand would be the field of the Company's operations. Had the second Expedition been sent up to Auckland, the Company would have been exposed to the severe and deserved reproaches of the deluded purchasers.

        
The Governor cared for none of these things; Auckland had been selected as the seat of Government, and he was determined 

to compel by all means in his power the migration to Auckland or its neighborhood of the Company's emigrants—and indeed of anyone else he could induce to go there.

        
It was no use waiting any longer, nothing would induce His Excellency to let the Expedition go to Port Cooper or Banks' Peninsula, and so one fine morning, Colonel Wakefield came on board the "Whitby," and said to his brother, "You cannot go to Port Cooper, the Governor won't sanction it; he says he has orders to make a Church settlement there, but I'll give you a pilot and an interpreter and you can take the ships and go and see the Chief at Kapiti. I have heard there is some good land about Blind Bay, and you had better go and find it."

        
The pilot selected was Mr F. G. Moore, who wag acquainted with the western shores of Blind Bay, which he had visited in his vessel the "Jewess" (indeed he had told Colonel Wakefield of the good land), and where he had established friendly relations with the Motueka natives. The interpreter was John Brooks, who was permanently attached to Captain Wakefield's staff, and perished with him at the Wairau Massacre.

        
There is some doubt as to the exact date upon which the Expedition left "Port Nic," as it was commonly called, but it must have been early in October when the ships weighed anchor and sailed across to Cloudy Bay, where the "Will Watch" and "Arrow" remained whilst the "Whitby" went on to Kapiti, and Captain Wakefield had a satisfactory interview with the Chief.

        
The "Whitby" then ran across the Straits to Astrolabe Roads, the "Will Watch" and "Arrow" following, and all three were soon safely anchored.

        
At Port Nicholson, 
Mr Charles Heaphy (afterwards so well known as Major Heaphy, V.C.) joined the Expedition as draughtsman; he was a friend of Mr Moore's, and came over in the "Whitby" under his pilotage.

        
The day after arrival was devoted to taking soundings and bearings, and looking round. The first boat to go ashore carried with others, Captain Wakefield, Mr Stephens, Mr Tuckett, and the interpreter Brooks. The older natives seemed to the new arrivals at first very hostile, but after some of the young Survey cadets had had a talk with the young Maoris, and explained what they had come to do—to settle among them and be friendly with and kind to them—they were all soon on good terms.

        
Several days were spent at Astrolabe; boats were cruising about every day; Survey parties were sent out; and their reports were generally good. It was practically settled that Kaiteriteri should be the site of the future town and the survey was even commenced. But Captain Wakefield was not quite, satisfied with 

the port, or the probabilities of obtaining sufficient country lands in its vicinity. Doubtless he listened with willing ears to the suggestion that a better harbour might be found on the other side of the bay, and gave without reluctance his consent to an exploring party going in search of it.

        
Accordingly one of the two Deal boats was manned, J. S. Cross as coxswain, and young Brown, one of the Survey cadets, going with the seamen in her. They sailed across for the south-eastern part of the bay and struck the boulderbank. All got out of the boat except J. S. Cross, who remained on board to keep her off the stones as the rest tracked the boat down the bank. And so they came at last to the narrow entrance; then all got on board and pulled safely into Nelson haven.

        
At nightfall a bonfire was lighted as a signal to Captain Wakefield of the discovery of a harbour. Next day the boat started on its return to the ships, and met Captain Wakefield cruising about in the other Deal boat called the "Rhadamanthus, "off Motueka, and reported to him the glad tidings of the discovery.

        
Captain Wakefield had heard there was good land about the Croixelles, and he also wished to see the Wakapuaka natives, so he ordered the brig Arrow over to the Croixelles, with one of the big Deal boats in tow. The brig remained there one night, and next morning dropped down to Wakapuaka. Here she left the boat. There were nine or ten in this boat, including Captain "Wakefield and Brooks the interpreter, and J. S. Cross as coxswain. The natives were very friendly, and seemed pleased to see the pakehas.

        
The boat then started for the new harbour, and soundings were taken as she came along the boulder bank. Then the entrance to 
Wakatu (meaning a standing place or shelter for canoes) was reached, and for the second time the harbour was entered by a boat manned by a British crew.

        
Two days were spent, climbing the hills, and inspecting the country, and then the boat returned to Astrolabe. Captain Wakefield was satisfied there was a suitable site for a township close to a safe harbour, and a considerable extent of good open land near.

        
And so on Friday, the 5th November, 1841, the anchors were weighed and the Expedition sailed from Astrolabe for the newly-discovered haven.

        
The "Arrow" was the first to sail through the narrow channel, and hence the well-known rock at the entrance obtained its name—the Arrow Rock. She was followed by the "Will Watch," which also got in safely; but the "Whitby" unfortunately took the ground and stuck hard and fast, and when the tide went out was nearly high and dry. This was towards 
even-

ing, and there was no prospect of getting her off that day. However ropes were got across and all hands worked hard during the night lightening her, and keeping her in an upright position by making fast to the scrub; and at next morning's high tide she got off and swung into the harbour nicely. But her troubles were not quite over, for coming in she bumped on a blind rock, fortunately without sustaining any serious damage.

        
Some hands were sent to the wood for a sapling, which they were not long in finding, and with the tackle brought ashore the flagstaff, was speedily erected on the crest of the hill overlooking the entrance to the haven, and the Union Jack which Captain Wakefield had brought for the purpose from England, and had kept carefully wrapped in a leathern case in his cabin, was hoisted by him; and the British flag floated in the breeze, signalling to the world that yet another Colony of the British race had been planted on the shores of the Britain of the South.

        
That day was taken up with the erection of Captain Wakefield's tent on the side of the hill, near to where 
Sir Edward Stafford's house was afterwards erected, and in which Mr Everett now resides, and in rambling over the hills. At night all returned to the ships, but next day, Sunday, most went ashore early, and attended service in the Agent's tent, Captain Wakefield reading the Church of England Prayers.

        
The Company had agreed, that the men of the Expedition were to be paid on landing, and so, after prayers, Captain Wakefield proceeded to pay them—not in coin or notes, but by orders on the Company. Then arose murmurs and discontent. The men did not like it at all at first; but the Expedition was soon followed by one John Orr, who came over from Wellington, and pitched a tent in which he sold spirits and beer; and he was quite ready to cash these orders in payment, and so the grumbling mostly ceased.

        
That Sunday some of the Wakapuaka Maoris came over, and assembled on the hill side, where they held a service of their own, but did not move about at all-for it was Sunday—and some of these natives who had been brought under the influence of the Missionaries, were strict Sabbatarians.

        
The Expedition men had been told to form whares on any sites they liked best, and they lost no time in separating and looking out each for himself for a pleasant spot upon which to build a home; for the wives and children of the married men were to follow them before long.

        
Boats soon began coming backwards and forwards from Wellington, and Captain Jackson in the "Eliza," a small cutter brought over a supply of pigs and sheep.

        
There was rich feed of southistle, grass, and anise at the Port in those days, and the sheep doubled their weight in the course of six or seven weeks.

        


        
The Company's store and shed brought out from England, were erected as speedily as possible at the bottom of the hill, not far from the entrance to the haven, and close to where Captain Wakefield's tent was first erected. The Survey party selected different spots, convenient for work, and some put up whares, whilst others were content with tents.

        
Christmas Eve, 1841, at length arrived, when all hands knocked off work, and prepared to celebrate their first Christmas in 
Nelson. That evening several large canoes came over from Motueka, bringing about a hundred Maori visitors—men, women, and children. Christmas Day was beautifully fine, and Divine Service having been celebrated on board the "Whitby," all went ashore, to have a pleasant time with their Maori visitors. Dinner was served on board the ships, the Maoris were invited, and there was great feasting and the usual tots of liquor, but the natives would drink nothing but water. After dinner everyone went ashore, and the Maoris entertained the Pakehas by dancing a haka.

        
Captain Wakefield had a little Christmas party in a tent on Church Hill, where also a rough building had been run up for the Surveyors, as a mess room. The brothers Tytler, Dr MacShane, and Mr H. Angelo Bell, were of the party; the fare was roast beef and plum pudding, and the latter had plenty of eggs in it, for Captain Wakefield brought out in the "Whitby" some very choice fowls for the Hon. Henry Petre; but finding on arrival at Port Nicholson that Mr Petre had left for England, the poultry were brought on to Nelson. The traders from Wellington used to bring a few common fowls across, for which they asked the modest price of 18s a pair.

        
New Year's Day, 1842, was celebrated in much the same fashion, and on that occasion the first game of cricket was played in Nelson; the Burvey cadets having brought bats, balls, and stumps from England. There were also boat and canoe races, fencing, cutlass practice, musket drill, foot races, and dancing to the music of fife, fiddle, and drum.

        
The Company's officers, surveyors, seamen, and Maoris all joined with kindly will and hearty good humor in the amusements of the day.

        
The "Arrow" was sent to Wellington during the second week in January, 1842, with despatches. Captain Wakefield went on board at the last moment, accompanied by J. S. Cross, who had been appointed Pilot 
pro tem., and who took the vessel out of harbor, and returned with Captain Wakefield in a small boat, after seeing the brig safely over the bar.

        
During December and January all the Survey parties were busy cutting lines and tracks through the bush, fern, flax, and toi-toi which then covered the site of the Town of Nelson. Wooden sheds were erected and made as comfortable as possible. 

for the reception of the immigrants, who might now be expected any day.

        
The Company had engaged most of the Expedition men in England for two years, at twenty-eight shillings a week—foremen at thirty-five shillings. It was also agreed that the wages should increase or decrease in proportion to the current price of labour in the settlement—but in no case to be less Than twenty-eight shillings a week. The Company also undertook to supply rations to each man, upon arrival in New Zealand, at one shilling per day, to be deducted from the twenty-eight shillings per week, without reference to the cost of provisions in the settlement.

        
The Company selected their men with great care; they were mostly men of fine physique, and all had excellent characters from former employers. The judgment displayed in their selection, is proved by the fact that so many of them became industrious and respected settlers. Among them were men of considerable natural ability and strong common sense, and when Representative institutions were introduced, some of these Expedition men took their places as elected representatives of the people in the Provincial Council, of which they were by no means the least distinguished members. One or two were made Justices of the Peace, and discharged their magisterial duties with care and dignity.

        
The following is a correct list, taken from the Company's Ledger, of the officers and men of the Expedition who embarked by the "Whitby" and "Will Watch." In addition to these William Songer came out in the "Whitby" as personal attendant upon Captain Wakefield:—

        

Officers: Arthur Wakefield, 
Frederick Tuckett, Samuel Stephens, Thomas Duffey. Thomas Musgrave, David Brown, William Hughes, William Budge, Henry Angelo Bell, James Howard, Alexander McShane, —— Griffiths, John Thompson Bramwell, William Davison, Wm. Ernest Wilkinson, Charles O. Torlesse, Aldous Arnold, Thomas Brunner, Charles Fowell Willett Watts, J. C. Boys, Chas. Louis Harris Pelichet, Richard Felix Wilson Cumberland.

        

Men: John Attwood, John Armstrong, Robert Burnett, Wm. Brydon, Eichard Burnett, John Barnes, James Bradley, James S. Cross, James Chapman, Thomas Cresswell, John Cawte, Thomas Doughty, Thomas Dearling, Samuel Eves, John Fraser, John Forster, James Graham, Samuel Goddard, Thomas Hannem (foreman), James Hollis, William Hughes, John Hold-away, Thomas Hovenden, William Lodder, Henry Lunn, Joseph Logree. Richard Maund, Bernard McMahon, William Mickle, George McDonald, John McDonald, Alexander Mowbray, William Pennock, William Biggs, William Rayner, James Spain, James Spittal, James T. Smith (foreman), William Straith, William Taylor, Edward Whibby, David "White, Samuel Wells, Edmund Wastney, Thomas Bryant, William Claringbold, Thomas 

Blanchard, Joseph Bungate, Thomas Butler, Mark Newth, Henry Fry, Thomas Dodson, Job Flower, William Dent, John Gillett, Henry Elliott, William Neald, 
James McGregor, Richard Rawlings, Robert Murray, William Thrush, Richard Ching, George Biggs, Thomas Sell, Henry Smyth, William Rawlings, John Windybank, John Sullivan, Thomas Rowling, John Brooks, William Marsh, Thomas Roach, John McIntosh. (The last named came to London too late to catch the "Whitby," and came out in the "Arab.")

        
Of the above, the officers are now all dead, the last survivor being Mr C. F. W. Watts, who died in Nelson on 28th July, 1881. After leaving the Company's service he was one of the first to take up land in the Wairau and Clarence. In the early days he experienced many hardships and privations—especially in stocking the back country, where there were as yet no roads. He was a very successful sheep-farmer.

        
The following men of the Expedition are the only survivors: —H. Fry, J. Bungate, T. Rowling, T. Blanchard, G. McDonald, J, Windybank, J. Fraser, J. Spittal, W. Songer, J. Armstrong, D. White, J. Bradley, T. Dodson, J. Gillett.

        
Mr William Williams, now of Collingwood, also came out in the "Whitby," as one of the ship's company.

        

Postscript.—Whilst Stoke was named after the village of which the Rev. C. M. Torlesse was Rector, the name was actually given by Mr Wm. Songer, who came from "
Stoke by Nayland," where he was born, and who was the first settler in "
Stoke by Nelson."
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Arrival of the Emigrants.—The "Fifeshire."—The "Mary Ann."—The "Lord Auckland."—Wives and Families of the Expedition Men arrive by the "Lloyds."—Dreadful Mortality amongst the Children on the Voyage —Generally ill-regulated state of things.—Company's Depot full.—Camping out.—Meeting of Emigrants on board "Mary Anne."—Foundation of first Benefit Societyand Nelson Institute.— Building Operations •—Maori Costumes.—Early Settlers' fashionable Attire.—An early Settler's Whare.—Rats.—Delays in Surveying Town Sections.—First Distribution of Sections.—Street Nomenclature.— Arrival of the "Brougham."— Comes through French Pass.—Gets on Reef.—Arrival of the First Police Magistrate.— 'Nelson Examiner' first Published.—Tenders for Gaol and Court House.—The First Court.—A Curious Gaol.— First Post Office.—Mr Thompson, P.M.—Wreck of the "Fifeshire."—Nelson Harbour described.— The Landowners and the Company.—First Temperance Association. —Complaints against Government.—Death of Mr H. Angelo Bell.—Arrival of the "Bolton."—Visit of Rev. Mr Hadfield.—First Christenings.'—First Death.—The Port Road.—The Trafalgar-street Ditch.—Fires.— Condition of Nelson at end of March, 1842.— Climate.—The Wood.—Prices of Provisions.—Wages.

        

        

Some five months after the "Whitby" and "Will Watch" left England four other ships were despatched by the Company— "The Lloyds," "The Lord Auckland," "The Fifeshire," and the "Mary Anne." The first, took out the wives and children of the Expedition men; and the other three, the first of the agricultural and other settlers. The Directors of the Company and the principal friends of the enterprise took leave of the settlers at a public breakfast at Blackwall, in sight of the vessels in which they were about to embark; His Royal Highness the Duke of Sussex and other distinguished guests being present.

        
The "Lloyds" was the first to sail. The "Lord Auckland," the "Fifeshire," and the "Mary Anne" all left the Downs together on Saturday, 2nd October, 1841.

        
The "Fifeshire" anchored in Port Nicholson on the 19th January, 1842, and left for Nelson on the 28th, arriving on the 1st February. The "Mary Anne" anchored at Wellington Heads on the 28th January, and in the harbor on the 29th, and left for Nelson on the 2nd February. The site of Nelson not having been fixed when these ships left England, the Captain of the "Lord Auckland" thought it best to sail round the southern end of New Zealand in the hope of arriving at the end of the voyage somewhere on the Eastern Coast, and so avoid going to Wellington to ascertain the ship's destination. In this he was disappointed—no signs of a settlement were anywhere visible, and so the "Lord Auckland" went on to Port Nicholson, where she arrived on Monday, the 7th February, 1842.

        


        
Here, according to the invariable custom of the time, the crew all left to a man, and it was not until the 23rd February, that she arrived off Nelson, and, owing to light winds, did not get into the harbour until the next day, where she found the "Fifeshire," the "Mary Anne," and the "Lloyds;" the latter having arrived on the 15th'February.

        
The "Fifeshire" had a very favourable passage so far as wind and weather were concerned, but soon after leaving fever broke out among the passengers and seventeen died. "It was very melancholy," says Mrs Duncan, one of the survivors, "to see so many of our companions buried in the sea, and a very uneasy feeling prevailed in the ship until the fever abated."

        
Coming through Cook's Straits, the "Fifeshire" had a narrow escape from shipwreck The pilot took the vessel between the mainland and Stevens' Island, and, as the light wind failed entirely before the vessel got through the channel, the current was fast drifting her on to the rock; when Captain Arnold sent out a boat with a kedge anchor, just in time to save his vessel. It was a beautiful sunny morning, with very little wind, when the vessel came slowly to her anchorage outside the Boulder Bank, and nearly all the cabin passengers went ashore in one of the Deal boats, which had come out to meet the ship.

        
The first to walk ashore was 
Mr Alfred Saunders, afterwards Superintendent of Nelson, and at present a member of the New Zealand Parliament for a Canterbury constituency.

        
In the first boat from the "Fifeshire" were some sick people, and with them was the late Mrs. Ann Bird, who was the first female European to set foot on the Nelson Settlement.

        
The Company s depot, on Church Hill, was a tent, and was filled to overflowing by the emigrants from the "Fifeshire," so that when the "Mary Anne" arrived her passenger had to camp out the best way they could. A few sticks with a blanket stretched over them formed the connubial apartment of one well-known old settler and his wife (Mr, and Mrs. Tidd), and their bedding was thick, close, dry fern, on the night of their arrival. Luckily the weather was fine, and they did not fare so badly.

        
The "Lloyds" arrived on the 15th February, with the wives and children of the Expedition men. The officers of the Company had taken every care they thought, to keep the promise made to husbands and fathers, of safe conveyance to them of their wives and families. A particularly fine 3hip was selected, the provisioning was of the best and the dietary scale unusually liberal. When the ship arrived there was a sad tale to tell. Sixty-five children had died on the voyage, and there had been generally an ill-regulated state of things. Severe comments were made upon the conduct of the Captain, who was said to have set a bad moral example, and to have failed to enforce rules for the preservation of common decency. The Surgeon 

was also blamed, and Captain Wakefield, as the Company' agent, refused to sign the certificate relating to the proper treatment of the emigrants; without which neither the Captain nor the Doctor could get his remuneration.

        
As an experiment this sending out of a shipload of women and children without the protecting care of husbands and fathers, was a lamentable failure.

        
There was a meeting of emigrants held on board the "Mary Anne" on the voyage out, which is worthy of record, because at that meeting were laid the foundations of the first Benefit Society, and of the Nelson Institute. The meeting was held on Monday, January the 12th, 1842, for the purpose of considering and deciding upon the expediency of establishing in the Settlement of Nelson a Benefit Society or Friendly Association A Committee was appointed for the purpose of making preliminary arrangements for the promotion of the proposed Society, as follows:—Messrs McRae, Hopton, J. G. Saunders, W. G. Young, J. Bathe, G. R. Richardson, C. Vincent, R. Boddington, Elliott, Fuller, and Gill.

        
It was also resolved at this meeting that it would be desirable to form eventually in connection with the projected Society an Institution for the purpose of diffusing among its members literary and scientific information, by means of a reading room, a public library, the delivery of public lectures, and by such other means as might thereafter appear expedient.

        
This meeting bore fruit, the resolutions were not forgotten, and a meeting was called by advertisement in the 
Examiner, of the 6th April, 1842, to which the public were invited, and at which resolutions were passed, which eventually led to the establishment of both a Benefit Society and a Literary and Scientific Institute; to which further reference will be made later on.

        
The site of the future Town of Nelson was soon a scene of lively activity. Tents and huts were scattered about in all directions. Building operations were going on all around, but progressed slowly owing to the distance everything had to be fetched. Poles had to be carried from the Wood through the Maitai River on men's backs for the frames of buildings. The walls were mostly fern, until there was time to substitute mud Thatching was done with toi-toi supplied by the Maoris, who took payment in any kind of spare clothing; clad in which some of them presented a comical appearance —the light, if not elegant costume most in favour, consisting solely of a white shirt and black bell-topper.

        
The time was not far distant, when some of the early settlers were compelled to resort to strange expedients to procure garments for themselves—corn sacks cut into fashionably-shaped. 

breeches, regardless of the brands, becoming with several the only available article of attire.

        
A graphic description of a settler's hut in the earliest days is supplied by Mrs Cresswel', of Stoke. She says, "My father went near the Maitai River, near where Mr Lightband now lives. Our house was part clay and part manuka, and some were not so well off as that—their houses were just four poles stuck in the ground, with fern on top for a roof. That was a sad time for fathers and mothers, but us children did not mind it so much. I remember one poor sick man was brought in and laid on the mud floor in our house because the rain streamed in upon him in his own. ∗ ∗ ∗ We had no fire-place in the house at first, and my mother and I set to work to make one. I brought some flat smooth stones from the river, and we got some of my father's clay he had made ready for the walls of the house, and so my mother and I built it something like an oven round to the wall, and put what they called on board ship a boulli tin in for a flue, and that was our first chimney. There were many not so well off as us. It was rather a wet time after we landed, and much sickness."

        

Mr. Alfred Saunders, to whom the writer is indebted for a good deal of interesting information, thus describes, what may be called "the plague of rats:"—

        
"The native rats were an intolerable nuisance. They appeared not to have the slightest fear of man, but as soon as it was dark, ran about the house in swarms, walked deliberately over our feet, climbed on the table and would drop like flies from the thatch. At night we had to keep a stick in hand to thrash them away from the candle, but, worst of all, they ran over us all night, and would come creeping up the blankets to smell our ears and chin, so that we never felt sure they would not want to taste them too. They would devour our boots, or any possibly edible thing that was not suspended by a wire or small string. All the poison that could be procured was soon given to them, but without, any apparent effect. I had brought a cat from Wellington, but they would not allow her to stay in the house, and, in spite of everything we could do, they continued to increase, until some rat-killing dogs were introduced, when they suddenly disappeared, or so entirely altered their habits, as to become almost as timid as civilised rats usually are. In no part of the world have I seen a plague of rats anything to be compared to that on the banks of the Maitai for a few weeks after the arrival of the "Fifeshire"."

        
Although the Preliminary Expedition preceded the land purchasers and emigrants by five or six months, the latter found on their arrival, that the surveys were in a very backward condition, and very little land was ready for allotment. The survey of the town lots was not completed, and it was not until the 11th April that the first distribution actually commenced, and it took five days to complete the work.

        


        
The attendance each day was numerous, and the interest excited naturally very great. On the first day, the choices were mostly towards the Haven, so as to secure beach frontages. The first section chosen was Number 11 on the survey plan. That was the acre on which the Company's offices had been erected, and also the hospital for immigrants. Among the early selections were the acre on the Haven Road, on which a coal seam had been found; two of the acres on Fifeshire Island, and the range of acres extending along the beach. Mr. Thompson, the Police Magistrate, and Mr. Tuckett, the Chief Surveyor, selected the sections reserved for the Maoris, and secured some of the best.

        
On the second day the tendency of choice was towards the centre of the town, and all sections in the neighborhood of Trafalgar Square, were eagerly sought after. The acres in the Wood came next in order of appreciation. On the third day the acres ranging along the little valley, known then by the name of "Poisoned Valley," were amongst the earliest selections.

        
On the fourth day corner sections in Toi Toi Valley were the first chosen, and after that, the tendency of choice was towards the little valleys on the right of the Waimea-road, near Hampden Terrace and Emanu-street. On the fifth day the excitement had collapsed, and the few sections now remaining to be chosen, were selected in various parts of the Town.

        
There had been some noise made a month before with reference to street nomenclature,—public meetings were called and a Committee appointed for the purpose of ascertaining the wishes of the inhabitants,—the members of this Committee were Captains Wakefield and England, Messrs Graham, Greaves, Jenkins, MacShane, Otterson, Patchett, Richardson, Sclanders, Stevens, Thompson, Tuckett, Tytler, Valle, and Young. At the first meeting it was proposed that "no names be selected which will serve to perpetuate the recollection of Copenhagen." But an amendment was carried by 8 to 3, that "the reserve for the barracks and parade ground be called Copenhagen Mount." Finally it was resolved, after hot debate, "that the Committee proceed in the first instance to choose names to commemorate the career of Nelson, and that the succeeding names be at the discretion of the Committee." The result of their deliberations was that the names of the streets as they now exist were mostly selected; but we should find it difficult to discover Fort Bastia, Fort Calvi, Aboukir Battery, and the Heights of Agamemnon.

        
On the 6th March the barque "Brougham" arrived from London via Port Nicholson. She came through the French Pass, and was detained eight hours on a reef, with one fathom of water on one side and seven on the other. The vessel was somewhat injured, part of her fore-foot being carried away, which prevented 

her answering her helm, but with the assistance of the Deal boats, and those of the "Fifeshire" under the direction of Capt Arnold, she got safely into the harbour.

        
The passengers by her from Port Nicholson, were Colonel Wakefield, Mr, F. A. Thompson, the newly appointed Police Magistrate and his wife, Mr Murphy, and Mr Cook, of Taranaki.

        
The first number of the "
Nelson Examiner and New Zealand Chronicle," appeared on Saturday the 12th March, 1842. It was "printed and published weekly by the proprietor, Charles Elliott." The price was one shilling per copy, or £2 per annum.

        
Among the earliest advertisements, we find one calling for tenders for the erection of a gaol and Court-house The Police Magistrate could no more get on without these, than a carpenter could without hammer and chisels, and by the beginning of May these evidences of the arrival of civilized men on the shores of Wakatu, were completed, and later on backed up by the "Stocks," which were specially imported from Cockatoo Island. The gaol contained four cells, and a room for the Gaoler and Constable. The cost was £150.

        
The Police Magistrate, Mr F. A. Thompson, did not, however, wait for his Court-house and Gaol but within seven days after his arrival held a Court in Captain Wakefield's tent, at which was heard only one case—an information for larceny laid by Henry Hargreaves, against three men belonging to the "Lord Auckland," for stealing some wearing apparel. Hargreaves and his family were camped on the hill side at the Port; there was no room for their boxes in the tents, so they were put outside and covered with fern. One night a noise was heard, and on the alarm being given the prisoners decamped, but were pursued, and some articles which had been abstracted from the emigrant's boxes, found upon them. The witnesses examined at this the first Police Court case heard in Nelson, were Henry, Jane, and Sarah Hargreaves.

        
The prisoners were convicted and sentenced to three months imprisonment. But it was all very well to sentence them, the next question was where were they to be kept in custody—there was only one room in the raupo gaol or lock-up, and only one policeman, W. Figgis. It was finally arranged that the convicted felons should "reside" with the policeman upon giving their words not to attempt to change their place of abode. The raupo residence of the constable was rather crowded by this addition to the household, but they all appear for some time to have got on very well, and to have been particularly comfortable. They took it by turns to cook and go marketing for the gaoler, and themselves, and to tidy up the place; and were permitted to take a ramble over the hills, turn about, conditionally on their returning "home" by a stated hour.

        
Things cannot always go pleasantly, however, even with 

convicted felons, and their happy home was intruded upon on the 18th of the same month, by another "unfortunate," who had likewise taken a liking to someone else's property, and who had in consequence been sentenced to six months' imprisonment with hard labor. Figgis, would not have had a true policeman's heart in him, had he not rejoiced in the conviction; but his joy was tempered by the prospect of another inmate of the already crowded whare. Besides the new comer was not nearly such a nice fellow as the three jolly tars. He objected to washing at any time—and although sailors are notoriously given to the use of occasional expletives of a rather spicy sort—this man's language was such as to cause even these sailor men to open their eyes a bit. And then the fellow never would come home in time for dinner—and more than once stayed out all night. These last were intolerable breaches of discipline, Something must be done or the domestic harmony of the whole establishment would be seriously disturbed. It was decided to enlarge the "gaol," and all hands set to work to build an additional raupo room for the special accommodation of the last comer. Whether this consideration for his comfort, or the threat of transporting him to finish his sentence at Wellington, had the desired effect, it is difficult to say; but after taking possession of his new apartment which had been made as comfortable as circumstances would permit; his habits were much more regular, and his language comparatively speaking, inoffensive, and their further stay made more pleasant for all parties.

        
A post office was opened shortly after the arrival of the "Brougham"—the office hours were "for the delivery and posting of letters every day, except Sundays, from 10 till 11 a m." Mr. Thompson acted as Postmaster as well as Police Magistrate, and in several other capacities, such as lay-reader, which included the reading of prayers on Sundays, and of the burial service over the dead. He was a man prone to warm outbreaks of temper, but brave, kind-hearted, and courteous to everyone—his irascibility hurt no one but himself. There is one grimly amusing story told of him. The wife of one of the emigrants died, and the widower came to ask Mr. Thompson to read the burial service. The P.M. was in a towering rage because something had gone wrong with his gooseberry bushes, and he was still stamping and fuming and tearing his hair, when the afflicted man arrived and preferred his request. Recovering himself instantly, Mr. Thompson turned to him, and with a polite bow said, "Bury your wife. Oh! certainly, 
I shall be most happy."

        
We shall hear more of Mr. Thompson in the course of this history; and in the story of the Wairau massacre, in which he played a prominent part, take our leave of him, and those other brave fellows, who having shared with him the inconveniences and discomforts of the first settlement, fell at the same time; and 

whose bones, with his, have long ago mouldered into dust, in their common grave, on the slope of the hill above the placid stream of Tua Marina.

        
The wreck of the "Fifeshire" as she was leaving the Port, is a memorable event of the early days. She weighed anchor at 10·30 on the morning of the 27th February, with Captain Moore on board as pilot. The wind was very light, owing to which she did not arrive at the entrance to the channel until the tide had ebbed some little time. She had nearly passed through the channel, with every appearance of getting out well, when the wind suddenly failed, and the tide way carried her right on the rocks where she fell broadside on to the Arrow Reef. All efforts to get her off were unavailing; at low water she was nearly dry fore and aft—the ledge of rocks lay immediately under her mainmast, and her back was completely broken. She was condemned, and the wreck advertised for sale. Mr. Poynter, a Solicitor (and afterwards Police Magistrate), bought her, got her afloat, and brought her into harbour, where she was broken up and sold piecemeal. The purchaser is said to have made an uncommonly good bargain. She was a new vessel of 557 tons register, and this was her first voyage. There was much sympathy with Captain Arnold, but no blame appears to have attached to anyone; the accident, however, elicited the suggestion that it was improper for a vessel of any burthen to attempt leaving the harbour, without boats to tow her out, and give help in case of need. It was also suggested that the island—Fifeshire Island as it was afterwards, and still is, called—was suitable for making docks, which, if made, Nelson would have the means of laying vessels up for repair equal to any harbour in New Zealand.

        
There is an amusing story told of one of the passengers by the "Fifeshire.' He bought in Wellington from Baron Alsdorf, a pair of rabbits, for which he gave twenty shillings each, and from which he expected to realise a large fortune. He bored everyone with his coming wealth. He would rub his hands in great glee, and say "A pair of rabbits in three years will produce half a million ! Now supposing I only get ten shillings each for them, what a fortune that would be." Unfortunately his dreams of rabbit-made wealth were soon dispelled, for he found shortly after his arrival in Nelson that his two rabbits both belonged to that sex which does not concern itself with maternal duties.

        
Nelson Harbour is thus described by a writer, who arrived early in March, 1842:—"Nelson is a better harbour than the Pirœus, the formation of which was amongst the most considerable efforts of Themistocles and Perioles; and which long maintained its celebrity as the outlet for the whole commerce of Athens, and therefore of all Greece. It is superior to Venice, long the proudest and most powerful of modern maritime States. The harbour of Trieste is spacious and convenient; but Trieste 
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as a seaport is not equal to Nelson Haven. We have decidedly the advantage of Genoa and Marseilles, and are not equalled by the ports of Charleston or Baltimore."

        
For a right understanding of much that follows, it is necessary to mention that there had been from the first some dissatisfaction with the Company on the part of several of the "original land purchasers."

        
The following was one ground of complaint:—

        
The printed land orders handed to them just as they were on the point of sailing, were found to be unsatisfactory, because they contained conditions, which had neither been agreed to nor mentioned before—such as the obligation to remain in Nelson 12 months, or to pay the full price of a cabin passage which had been offered to each purchaser without any such conditions—and they omitted an important condition which had been made much of, viz., that the site of Nelson was to be the best available in the South Island at the time of the selection being made. A protest was made, which was the first of many the land purchasers found it necessary to make against the proceedings of the Company. The question of the right of the Company to substitute fresh conditions for those originally agreed upon was subsequently raised by Mr Deans, from whom was demanded the £75 for his passage, upon the ground that he had not remained 12 months in Nelson. Mr Deans said he had not agreed to anything of the sort; that the land order originally sent to him contained no such stipulation, but that he had been asked to send back that order to the office of the Company "in order to correct an informality"— that he could not get the amended order back before he sailed— but he was told it would be sent out to the Company's agent for him by the first opportunity. Mr Deans came out and was not satisfied to remain. On applying for his land order, instead of receiving that which he left with the Secretary in London for "the correction of an informality," he was offered another marked "Special and not transferable," and which contained the condition as to residence, which the original order did not. The agent demanded the £75, which Mr Deans refused to pay, and made an angry protest that the land order was not the same, or of a like nature with that delivered to him when he purchased the land, and that he would not consent to the new conditions.

        
There was a long correspondence between Mr Deans and Captain Wakefield and the Directors in England. The latter were threatened with an action for damages by a brother of Mr Deans, who was a writer to the 'Signet' in Scotland, with the result that the Court of Directors took counsel's opinion, and in consequence of this opinion agreed to forego their claim against Mr Deans, and to give him a land order in the original form.

        
"The New Zealand Temperance Association" was formed during the first month after the arrival of the emigrants. In the 

first number of the ' Examiner,' an advertisement informed the public, that "a Society has been formed in Nelson in connection with the New British and Foreign Temperance Society, and that the Committee will be happy to receive the names of individuals who may be disposed to unite with them. The books are kept by Mr A. Saunders, who will feel much pleasure in giving any information as to the nature, objects, and prospects of the Society."

        
The first members usually addressed public meetings on Sunday afternoons from Ben the bullock driver's cart, who was by no means a shining example of temperance habits. Ben, however, was converted and soon became an earnest apostle of teetotalism. He gathered a large proportion of the Nelson children into a Band of Hope, which was not without influence upon the drinking habits of some of the residents. In this he had the hearty support of Mr Mathew Campbell, of whom we shall hear more in connection with the establishment of primary schools,

        
There was much indignation at the imposition of Customs duties upon stores and effects brought out by the emigrants, and a general protest was made against this and other alleged sins of commission and omission by the Government, in the columns of the local newspaper. This was the beginning of a long series of complaints.

        
On the 8th March the settlement was saddened by the death of Mr Angelo Bell, who was Secretary to Captain Wakefield, and a brother of Mr Francis Dillon Bell (now Sir Francis), the acting Secretary to the New Zealand Company in London. Mr Angelo Bell was universally liked, and to this day old settlers speak of him in warm terms of kindly regret. He shared in the hardships to which all were more or less exposed, and caught a cold from sleeping on the damp ground, which settled upon his lungs, and carried him off in the twentieth year of his age. He was buried in the cemetery at the Port, the burial service being read over his remains by Dr. Mac Shane, Resident Medical Officer. Minute guns were fired from the "Lord Auckland" and the "Brougham" during the progress of the procession, the flags of all vessels in port were half-mast, and nearly everyone in the settlement attended to pay a last mark of respect to the memory of a most estimable young man.

        
On March the 15th, the "Bolton," Captain Robinson, arrived 
via Port Nicholson, with 354 emigrants, and the following cabin passengers:—Mr and Mrs Tod, 3 children, and 2 servants, Mr Byng, and Mr Titchener. Dr. Morgan, Surgeon Superintendent.

        
On the 19th March the Rev. Mr Hadfield (now Primate) arriyed from Kapiti, and on the following day, Palm Sunday, performed Divine Service in the Mess-room which had been erected for the surveyors on Church-hill. On Tuesday morning 

he christened several children—the earliest natives of Nelson of British descent.

        
The first to die in the new settlement was Thomas Cresswell, who came out in the "Whitby," but was removed on arrival here on board the "Will Watch," which had been turned into a kind of hospital. He was buried on the Fifeshire Island, but all efforts to find the exact spot have been unsuccessful.

        
The necessity for a road to the Port was recognised, and the work was put in hand without delay, and by the end of March it was making good progress.

        
The next important work was the cutting of the Trafalgarstreet dyke or ditch to carry off the water which must descend from the hills during the winter. The Company's agent made arrangements for cutting this large ditch, the water from which would run into the river and serve as an outlet for the drains which it would be necessary to cut in various directions. The ditch was completed, and was long one of the most noticeable, as it was one of the most useful artificial constructions in the Town, but there is no sign of it left now.

        
The last day of March saw the arrival of the barque "Hope," nine dayg from Sydney. She brought 70 cows with many calves, 3 bulls, 6 mares, and a number of goats. Ten cows died on the voyage, and one bull was so much upset by sea sickness and the discomforts of the ship, that he was not expected to recover, but history does not tell us whether he did so or not. On this day, too, there was a fire, which destroyed two houses under one roof, situated near the Maitai, and belonging to Mr Macgary and Mr Nichol. The lower part of the building and the chimney were of clay, and the upper part fern and toi-toi. A spark from the hearth ignited the more inflammable portion, and in a very short time the building and contents were totally destroyed. There was no insurance in those days, nor would the "risk" be such as any Company would have accepted. The loss was a serious one—alleviated, however, by the ready and kindly help of friends and neighbours, some of whose fragile and inflammable houses had been similarly destroyed.

        
By the end of March the Company's emigration barracks were empty, with the exception of a few women and one sick man. The demand for labour was such, that the Company were asking for more men at their rate of wages, and private employers did not find it easy to get their work done. There was work to do, and plenty of it, with fair but not exorbitant wages. Four brickfields were in a state of forwardness, and brick chimneys were being built. Arrangements were concluded with private surveyors to lay off the country sections, the Company's staff being insufficient to push this most necessary work ahead fast enough. Mr Tuckett, the Chief Surveyor, had sailed in the "Rory O More "for Massacre Bay, on an exploring expedition 

for the purpose of ascertaining more fully the capabilities of the land there, both as to its geological productions and its fertility as an agricultural district. The gardens of Messrs. Tytler and others who came out with the Preliminary Expedition were producing lettuces, potatoes, turnips, onions, and very fine french beans—and the place was assuming a settled and thriving appearance.

        
The climate of Nelson was thus described by a settler who arrived in 1842:—" The climate of this place (Nelson) is certainly delightful, and I should say constitutes the settlement's greatest value—indeed this is the country's praise, The thermometer in my house last summer ranged between 65° and 75°, and in winter from 45° to 55°: the former was characterised by a bright sunshine and clear atmosphere, warm but not oppressive. We generally had a few hours' rain at full moon and change, which caused vegetation to spring rapidly. In the latter we had rain more frequently, but the general character of the weather between May and August is a smart frost from between three and four o'clock in the morning till seven; then followed by a clear and beautiful sunshine, and much more agreeable for working out of doors than the summer season. There is very little broken weather for the labourer in this country; he at least may safely calculate on 50 out of the 52 weeks of the year. I have had in my own garden beans and peas in blossom all the winter, and never for a single day have wanted plenty of vegetables, such as brocoli, brussels sprouts, savoy, cauliflower, turnips, &c., &c. Although the soil is generally light, yet my opinion is that the superiority of climate will more than make up for it, and should the settlers go to work in a proper way, a very few years will give them plenty of everything and to spare."

        
It is difficult to realise now, that in 1842, on one side, and for some distance up the Maitai River, and up the Brook-street stream (this last locality being then called Little Scotland) there was a dense forest of trees of large size, and considerable value. There were to be found mati, pukatere, tikotea, totara, white and red pine, several kinds of birch, and the curious milk tree, which, when tapped, yields a sap like milk, and by no means unpalatable. There is nothing left of this primeval forest now, although the locality is called "the Wood." Birds, too, were plentiful in the Wood, and afforded some sport to the settlers. The wild pigeon, the kaka, the weka, and the pukaki, were numerous; but have entirely disappeared before the progress of settlement, and the native rat, once so serious a nuisance, has taken to other haunts, although once or twice, of late years, we have been reminded that he is by no means extinct.

        
Early in June, 1842, the prices of various artioles of food were as follows:—Beef, 1/-; mutton, 1/2 per lb.; fowls, 12/- per pair; ducks, 20/- per pair; bread, 1/1 per 21b. loaf; eggs, 4/- per 

dozen; potatoes, £4 10/- per ton. There were no geese or turkeys. Wages were 12/- a day for mechanics, and from 5/- to 7/6 a day for labourers.

        

Postscript.—Among the passengers brought by these three vessels were—

        
"
Fifeshiee": Mr and Mrs Poynter, Mr and Mrs "White, Mrs Stevens, Mrs Duffy, Mrs Durley and child, Mrs Wallace, Miss Wallace, Messrs Jolly, William Cullen, J. R. Cotterill, Alfred Saunders, Cyrus Goulter, Alexander Kerr, Trower, Draye, and Slater; ship's doctor, Spence; and 150 male and female emigrants, including children.

        
"Mary Anne": Mr. and Mrs. Elliott and two children. Mr. and Mrs Vallè and five children, Mr. and Mrs. Howroyd and daughter, Messrs Boulcott (2), Cautley, Greaves, Young, and Richardson, and 176 male and female emigrants, including children.

        
"Lord Auckland": Mr. and Mrs. Otterson, Mr. and Mrs. Jenkins, Messrs Patchett, Greenhow, Sclanders, Fell, F. Jenkins, Moon, Graham, Sweet, Barnicoat, and Thompson; and 155 male and female emigrants, including children.
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Chapter IV.

        

          
The Wakefield System.—Dissatisfaction of Land Selectors and Labourers.— Government and Company.—Coal Discoveries.—First Bank.—First Schools:—Price of Bullocks.—Some early Payments.—First Bridges. —First Licensing Meeting.—Meeting 
re Benefit Society.—The "Squatters."—Complaints against Government.—Delay in Paying ing for Services.—First Ploughing.—Eight Hours System.—Freemasons. —Rechabites.—Distribution of Suburban Lands.—First Wesleyan Service.—Rev. S. Ironside.—Visit of Bishop Selwyn.— 
Rev. C. L. Reay.—Rev. Charles Saxton.—Captain Wakefield visits Massacre Bay.—What Nelson cost.—Delay in establishing Courts of Justice —Land Purchasers' Complaints.—Divine Service first held at Waimea.—The United Christians —Do you want a Harbour Master?—Inefficiency of the Police.—First Public School opened.— Distress amongst Labourers —Distribution of Suburban Sections.— Position of the Company towards the Labourers.—Return of Mr. Tuckett from Wairau.—Reports Discovery of splendid Land.—Deputation of Labourers.—Visit of Acting Governor.—Visit of 
Te Rauparaha and Rangihaeta.—Anniversary Day, 1843.

        

        

Some of the objects of the Wakefield system were, to ensure the emigration of labour to balance that of capital; to give land a value by exporting labour which the very foundation of the system presupposed it had 
not without the labour; to prevent land-jobbing by throwing sufficient land into the market to render all attempts at jobbing futile; to prevent as far as possible the old evil of large tracts of land lying idle and uncultivated by two means—first, by making the price of land too high to make it a profitable investment to purchase largely as a speculation without intention to cultivate, and also too high to allow of the labour market being emptied by making every labourer a landowner without capital, and every landowner a capitalist without labour, and so utterly annihilating the possibility of applying the important principle of division of employments; the high price at the same time ensuring the immigration to the Colony of a certain amount of capital for every acre of land sold, whether to actual settlers, or absentees, in the shape of funds for public works or other purposes.

        
Such were some of the avowed objects of the Company, and no settlement could apparently have made a more promising start. But after two or three months causes of serious dissatisfaction existed amongst both land-selectors and labourers. The former expected, when they left the Old Country, to find on arrival their lands surveyed and ready for occupation; instead of this, the survey of the town acres was not yet finished, and that of the rural and accommodation lands scarcely begun Emigrants who had come out expecting to be able to go upon their land, found themselves compelled to loiter about the township 

with nothing to do. It was not long before it became pretty generally known, also, that the Company had sold more rural land than at present they were able to deliver, even if all to which their title was supposed clear were surveyed and distributed; and it was not till the 28th December that all the suburban sections had been allotted, and even then no progress had been made in surveying the rural sections. The delay was not only made a subject of complaint against the Company, but the distance of many of the sections, as well as the inferior quality of much of the land, and its unfitness for cultivation, was the ground of much discontent among those who were ready and anxious to enter on the cultivation of their purchases.

        
This dissatisfaction was very much increased by the time the rural sections were open to selection. Nor were the town allotments so valuable as might reasonably be expected, seeing that the Company had promised that the best remaining site in New Zealand should be obtained for the purposes of the Nelson settlement.

        
The labourers, as work got more scarce and wages fell, began to entertain feelings of resentment against the Company, considering they had been deceived by false pictures and unfulfilled promises, to come to what seemed then an unfertile country, with little prospect of future prosperity.

        
The Emigration Agents of the Company in England had held out to these men the alluring prospect of regular work, good wages, short hours, cheap provisions, and the probability of becoming in time landowners themselves. At first work was plentiful, but this was not so when the number of people wanting work increased out of all proportion to the number required to do it.

        
At this time the local Government could hardly be charged, with being responsible for the troubles of the settlers, unless the delay caused by the stand taken by Governor Hobson was a contributing cause. They were caused mainly by the mistaken policy of pouring thousands of people into the place before the lands were surveyed, allotted, and occupied—where there was nothing to induce the belief of remunerative work being at once procurable— and where the Company was not prepared itself to give work immediately on arrival to all those who had been induced by the brilliant pictures of the Emigration Agents to come out to the Company's settlement.

        
The Company and the Home Government were having a sharp dispute; they could not agree upon the interpretation of the agreement arrived at between them, prior to the grant of a Charter of Incorporation. The Company construed the agreement as giving them full and unconditional grants of all lands previously purchased by them from the natives, and acting upon that construction had sold a 
consider-

able quantity to the public in all their settlements, including Nelson. The Government, on the other hand, interpreted the agreement to mean, that the Company were to get Crown Grants for these lands, only after investigation of their alleged purchases, by the Commissioner's Court, which it was intended to establish. And thus arose a serious question as to land-titles. To the troubles that flowed from this, reference will necessarily be made hereafter.

        
During the first part of April, 1842, the Nelson settlers were in a state of "mineral" excitement. The men at work making a road to the Port found a small seam of coal and a block of freestone. There was a general rush to get a share of the coal. Everyone tried to get all he could. Unfortunately the seam did not last out, nevertheless the acre upon which the coal had been found was, as we have seen, one of the earliest selected, and the selector who spent a good deal of money in trying in vain to find more of the mineral, probably regretted afterwards he had not chosen an acre nearer the centre of the town.

        
Whilst the coal rush was going on in Nelson, Mr Tuckett returned from Massacre Bay, where he visited five or six native settlements, and reported he had found coal on the banks of the Motupipi, between high and low water mark, and that it was of the very finest description and in large quantities. He had proceeded across to West Wanganui, where he also found coal on the central ridge running between Massacre Bay on the one side and West Wanganui on the other. But this was no new discovery; Captain Moore, in the "Jewess," having taken a cargo of coal from West Wanganui to Port Nicholson two years before.

        
A further piece of evidence of the growth of the settlement may be found in the fact that at this time Mr Thompson, in his capacity of local Director of the Union Bank of Australia, called for tenders for the erection of a banking-house.

        
On the 2nd April, the "Martha Ridgway" arrived with more land-selectors and emigrants.

        
On the 10th April, the "London" came in with yet more people.

        
From the very first there had been a strong desire to establish a primary school for children; but there were some difficulties in the way, which will be more fully explained in the chapter devoted to the detailed account of the educational history of the settlement; and it was not until the 12th September that the first public school was opened. But private enterprise was not wanting, and in the ' Examiner ' appeared the following advertisement:—

        

          
"J; Wilson begs to inform his friends and the inhabitants of Nelson in general, that he intends opening a school for the instruction of children in reading, writing, &c., on Monday next, the 4th April. For particulars, apply to J. Wilson, near Mr Howroyd's store."

        

        


        
The first ladies' school in Nelson was opened in the beginning of June, 1842, by Miss Huxham, in a house near the Eel Pond.

        
On August 17, 1842, the Company bought a pair of working bullocks from 
Mr George Duppa, for which they paid £68—by February, 1843—the price was usually £25 per bullock. Flour in August was £31, and potatoes £10 per ton.

        
Some of the Company's payments during the early months of the settlement are not without interest. In October, 1842, we find they paid John Armstrong 12/6 for carriage of a case of native plants from "Foster's, the gardener, in Brook-street;" and they paid Foster £10 for collecting them. On November 1st they paid the Hon. W. F. Byng 10/- for hire of 4 bullocks to bring a cannon up to Captain Wilson; and on November 16, 1841, Fred. Geo. Moore and Charles Heaphy, each received £50 for special services rendered during the Nelson Preliminary Expedition.

        
The first bridge over the Saltwater Creek was completed on 15th October, 1842. The cost was £130, and the contractor Mr W. Brown.

        
The first bridge over the Maitai was begun in April, 1843; the contractors being Messrs. Reuben Bird, Hugh Young, Henry Flower, Cephas Goddard, Charles Astle, and William Jones.

        
The first Licensing Meeting was held in Nelson on the 19th April, 1842. On the Bench were 
Mr H. A. Thompson, the Police Magistrate, and Captain England, J.P. Licenses were granted to Richard Mills, Joseph Hoare, William Millar, John Collins, James Collins, Edward John Ellerm, William'Wright, and a joint license to Frederick Augustus Lloyd and Andrew Turner.

        
At this time, too, was held a meeting for the purpose of determining the best means of carrying into effect the resolutions passed at the meeting on board the "Mary Anne," having for their object the establishment of a Benefit Society or Friendly Association. This meeting was held in the open air in front of the ' Examiner Office. Captain Wakefield was the Chairman, and the following Committee was appointed:—Captain Wakefield, Dr. Monro, Messrs. Boddington, Dobson, Greaves, Kerr, McRae Maepherson, MacShane, Richardson, Spence, Tuckett, and Young. Captain Wakefield was elected President, and Mr Charles Elliott, Honorary Secretary. Shortly after another meeting was convened to take steps to establish the Nelson Literary and Scientific Institution.

        
The distribution of the town sections had no sooner taken place, than the acres were, many of them, cut up into smaller sections, and the local paper bad numerous advertisements of sections for sale at per foot; or to let on building leases.

        
The purchasers of allotments had all along looked to the 

subdivision and sale or letting of their town sections, as a means of recouping their original outlay—and possibly of substantial profit. But at the outset they found that their market was limited from the fact that so many of the immigrants had built whares and other primitive dwellings upon lands which, after the survey, were created public reserves; and even upon the surveyed streets. The section holders clamoured for the removal of these "squatters." But the "squatters" declined to remove. The Company's Agent was appealed to, but was either powerless or disinclined to interfere. Then the Police Magistrate was asked to take steps for their removal; but he likewise refused to do anything.

        
The indignation of the section-holders vented itself in the usual British fashion, by the calling of a public meeting to petition the Government to take action. This meeting being open to the public, was attended by several of the "squatters," who were by no means inclined to fall in with the wishes of the landowners. A vigorous protest against the object of the meeting was made by Mr Joseph Bungate, who said the labouring classes would be subjected to great hardship. They were told, on arrival, that they were at liberty to erect whares and huts wherever they pleased, and that for two years no rent would be expected. At that time no one knew what portion of the land was intended for reserves, and after their expenditure of labour, time, and money in making themselves fairly comfortable, it was most unjust to call upon them to remove for the benefit of the section-holders, who were asking exorbitant prices and rents, before the two years had expired. The discussion waxed warm, and the sympathisers with Mr Bungate being in a majority, a resolution was carried, that "this meeting stands adjourned for two years."

        
By the end of May there were fully 1700 people in the settlement, and murmurs were, frequently heard of the insufficient appropriations by the Government for the protection of the place from outside attack, and for the preservation of social order. The Government had already received £1400 in Customs duties, and this was an increasing item of revenue. The Government officials were the Police Magistrate at £250 a year, a chief constable at five shillings a day, a sergeant at four and threepence, and two privates at three shillings and sixpence each per diem. To these it was intended to add a landing waiter at £200 a year, and five boatmen at £70 a year each.

        
The Police Magistrate was the local representative of the Government, but his powers were limited. There was no money at his disposal, and people had to wait many months for payment of small sums for the most ordinary services. One Michael Peel adopted the unsatisfactory and expensive method of giving vent to his disgust in this respect, by keeping the following advertisement in the newspaper for several weeks: —

        


        

          

            

              

                
"Warning to boat proprietors.

              

              
"On the 13th April last I was hired by two of the constables of Nelson to go with my boat and crew on board the schooner "Gem," on police business. On applying to the Police Magistrate for payment, he said he was unable to settle my demand (£2), and that I shonld possibly have to wait twelve months before the Government would pay it. Being about to leave this settlement, I shall of course lose that.

              

                
"Michael Peel."

              

            

          

        

        
Another victim of Treasury delays relieved his feelings in quite a different fashion. One day in June, Figgis, the constable, attempted to arrest a man for drunkenness; and was at the same time assaulted by another man. Thereupon Figgis loudly called upon all and sundry the citizens of Nelson, in the Queen's name, to come to his assistance. There happened to be passing at the time one John Clark, who had done some work for the Government, for which he had not been paid. In reply to his calling, Figgis "heard some one say that as soon as the Queen paid the money she owed him he would assist." Having ascertained that Clark was the utterer of these disloyal expressions, Figgis laid an information against him, for "refusing to assist the chief constable when called on in the Queen's name to do so." The case came on for hearing before the Police Magistrate, and Figgis gave evidence of the facts sworn to by him in the information. A witness named James Hopkins was called for the prosecution, and stated that he saw the constable trying to make an arrest, and heard him call for assistance in the Queen's name; that the defendant was passing at the time, and said "that the Queen must pay the money she owed him before he rendered her any assistance." Then the defendant was called upon for his defence, which is recorded in his own words, as follows:— "
I refused to do the Queen a kindness until she paid me the money she owes me." The Magistrate, who failed to appreciate the humour of the defence, ordered John Clark to pay a fine to the, Queen of twenty shillings and costs—a sentence which appears to have been wholly illegal, the offence being a misdemeanour at common law, and therefore only punishable upon conviction upon an indictment.

        
It is certainly worthy of record in the annals of the place that on the 25th May, 1842, the first plough was put into the ground by Mr John Kerr. Such an event was of course celebrated with due ceremony; critical eyes followed him as he turned up the furrow of the acre in Hardy-street adjoining the present site of the Union Bank; and it was almost universally declared that "the ground turned up beautifully."

        
Mr Kerr, with his family of strong boys, was started by the New Zealand Company to cultivate a farm of fern land, on the borders of a bush in the Waimea; but although ultimately very successful, the first crops, as on all other fern lands, were a complete failure. Mr Duppa went to work on low-lying fern lands on 

the north, bank of the Wairoa, and although too late in the season with some of his crops, he soon proved that the best fern land was fertile enough after a summer fallow.

        
From the first, the eight-hour system prevailed in Nelson. This did not please Mr Tuckett, the Chief Surveyor to the Company. He considered that he ought to get twelve, or at least ten hours work a day out of the labourers, and endeavoured to give effect to this. The men indignantly protested that the proposal was a direct breach of the understanding arrived at between themselves and the Company before they left England; and they appealed to the Resident Agent, Captain Wakefield, who decided in their favour; and eight hours has ever continued to constitute a day's work in Nelson. This was the first sign of any labour troubles in the settlement, but in May an attempt to reduce the wages of the journeymen carpenters led to their holding a meeting, at which they resolved that no carpenter should work for less than twelve shillings a day. Mr Isaac Hill and Mr Brown attended and explained their reasons for supporting the resolution; and Mr Richardson endeavoured to impress upon the meeting the impropriety of attempting to combine to fix any rate of wages. The carpenters listened to him quietly, and then unanimously passed the resolution.

        
During the month of May several matters of social interest occurred, indicating that the people were getting settled in the new town The Freemasons met at the Freemasons' Tavern, at the corner of Trafalgar and Bridge-streets, for the purpose of forming a lodge; and the Teetotallers determined, at a meeting, to form a Provident Society of those only who were, total abstainers, and to be connected with the Independent Order of Rechabites. The "Tent" to be at once opened, and to be called "the Nelson Reformer." The fifteen officers required to form a "Tent" were elected, 
Mr Alfred Saunders being the Principal.

        
The first distribution of suburban lands commenced at 10 a.m. on Monday, the 21st August, and continued to noon on the following Wednesday.

        
It is somewhat singular that the best land in the district, which only required a few ditches to make it accessible, was left neglected; none of the early selectors cared about it, although afterwards it made fortunes for those who acquired and cultivated it. Acres of bush land at the Moutere were selected in preference to the fern land of the Waimeas. The possibility of successfully cultivating the latter kind of land was, as yet, doubtful, and it is not surprising that many of the labouring men brought out by the New Zealand Company chose to accept from the Company from sixteen to twenty-one shillings a week rather than cultivate land on their own account, and hardly any capitalists had confidence enough to employ them.

        
The first service held by the Wesleyans was on 25th June, 

1842, the minister being the Rev. S. Ironside, who had been for some time a missionary to the Maoris at Kapiti, Cloudy Bay, &c., and whose name will be historical in connection with the Wairau affair.

        
On Sunday morning, the 20th August, Bishop Selwyn arrived on his first visit to Nelson. He was too late for the morning service, but preached in the afternoon in the Surveyor's mess-room, which was used as a temporary church. The following Sunday his Lordship preached in a large tent brought out by him, and erected on the low ground between Selwyn Place and Nile-street, where the flax from the margin of the swamp had to be cleared for the purpose. The congregation numbered about 200. He held another service on September 4th, in the tent, and left on the 8th, leaving behind him the Rev. C. L. Eeay as first resident clergyman in Nelson. The Rev. Charles Saxton, who arrived by the "Clifford" in May had up to this supplied the place of a regularly appointed clergyman, and continued to officiate in Mr Reay's stead when the duties of the latter called him away to distant places.

        
The "Sir Charles Forbes" arrived on the 22nd August; among her passengers was 
Mr Alfred Domett, afterwards Editor of the ' Examiner,' Commissioner of Crown Lands, Member of Parliament and of the Government; and last, but very far from least, New Zealand's most illustrious poet. His principal poem, "
Ranolf and Amohia," was published after his final return to England.

        
In September, 1842, Governor Hobson died. He and the Company had failed to get on together from the first. He seemed to have conceived a dislike to the Company and all its works, and to regard it as a mischievous agency. Possibly had the Agent consented to plant the Nelson Settlement where the Governor wanted it, in the Auckland district, things might have gone more smoothly. He was succeeded by 
Lieut. Willoughby Shortland as Acting-Governor, who regarded the Company with equally unfavourable eyes.

        
By the middle of September, seven months after the arrival of the first emigrant ship, 77 vessels, representing a tonnage of 12,272 tons, had entered the harbour. A road had been made along the beach from the haven to the town, jetties erected for the landing of goods, and a bridge over the Saltwater Creek. The population of the town was upwards of 2000; there were 250 good houses built, and 50 more being erected; and 230 whares or huts put up as temporary residences.

        
Captain Wakefield was at Massacre Bay, whither he had gone for the purpose of having a korero, and to make presents to the natives on taking actual possession by commencing the surveys. He returned much pleased, and reported that the extent of flat land was considerable, limestone in any quantity, and coal 

at Taipo, Tata, Motupipi, and Takaka. The surveys were proceeding at Takaka, and the natives delighted with the presents made to them by "
Wide-awake," as they called the Captain.

        
"The Statement of all Presents made to sundry Native Chiefs in the Nelson Settlement by Captain Wakefield," has fortunately escaped destruction, and is extremely interesting. The first consideration given for the lands about Wakatu consisted of 10 blankets, 1 felling axe, 1 squaring axe, 1 cwt. of tobacco, 800 pipes, 1 keg of powder, 1 double-barrelled gun, 1 pair shoes, and 1 cwt. of biscuits, of the total value of £24 19s. 3
d. These articles were handed over on the 29th November, 1841, and apparently all to one chief.

        
Then followed a further payment to 13 chiefs, as follows:— 130 blankets, 13 felling axes, 13 squaring axes, 13 cwt. of tobacco, 3900 pipes, 13 kegs of powder, 13 double-barrelled guns, and 13 cwt. of biscuit, of the total value of £319 9s, 11d., which gave each of the 13 chiefs goods of the value of £24 11s. 6¼d.

        
No further payments were made until February 22, 1842, when a pair of boots valued at nine shillings and fourpence was given to E. Manu.

        
Shortly after goods of the same kind, and proportionately of the same value as those given to the above 13 chiefs, were given to 4 other chiefs. Total value, £88 13s. 5½
d.

        
On the 29th March, 30lbs, of flour and 10lbs. of biscuit; valued at 9/4, were given to E. Piko; and on 7th April, E. Manu came in for another pair of boots, valued at 7/6; and another chief, whose name is not given, received a pair of blankets and a gross of pipes, valued at £1 6s. 8
d. On 1st August, E. Piko was given a ewe and a ram, valued at £4 10s.; E. Naki was presented with two 
glazed windows, valued at £2 10s.; and a pair of fustian trousers and a pair of shoes, valued at 13/5, were given to E. Eino. The total value paid, therefore, for the site of Nelson and the whole of the surrounding districts, including the Waimeas and Motueka, was £443 8s 10½d. In September, 1842, the payments for the Massacre Bay district began to be made, and 9 chiefs divided among them the following articles:—90 blankets, 9 double-barrelled guns, 9 felling axes, 9 squaring axes, 9 cwt. of tobacco, 2700 pipes, 9 bags of flour, 9 cwt. of sugar, of the total value of £182 3s. 10½
d, giving each chief £20 4s. 10½d. On 7th October, 7 other chiefs received a similar quantity of blankets, guns, axes, pipes, flour, and sugar (but no tobacco) of the value of £92 3s. 6
d., giving each chief £13 3s. 5¼d.

        
Tobacco appears to have been getting scarce, and on the 17th November, 1842, when similar articles to the foregoing were paid to six other chiefs, and in the same proportions, there was no tobacco included, and the value of the guns had fallen from £4 4s. to £3 10s. each. Total value, £99 4s.=£16 10s. 8
d. for each of the six chiefs, On. January 25th, 1843, 22 kegs of 

powder and two tierces of tobacco of the value of £75 15s. 9
d., were given to sundry chiefs at Massacre Bay; and a superior double-barrelled gun, in mahogany case complete, valued at £13 2s. 6
d., was given to E. Tai. On February 3, 18 bags of flour, of 100lbs. each, were given to the chiefs in the Motueka district on the anniversary, value £18; and on March 10th, 2cwt. of tobacco, valued at £22 19s., were given to the chiefs at Massacre Bay. In March, 1843, 5 pair of blankets, valued at £8 15s., a bag of sugar, and a bag of flour, valued at £2 8s., were given to E. Iki; and another of the double-barrelled guns, with mahogany case complete, and valued at £13 2s. 6
d., was given to E. Puha, who also received 3 bags of flour, valued at £3.

        
Last of all is recorded the payment to the great chief Rauparaha of a cask of wine, valued at £5 4s., and a bag of sugar, valued at £1 8s. The total value, therefore, paid for the whole Nelson Settlement, including the Waimeas, Motueka, Takaka, and the Aorere districts, was £980 15s.

        
There was in Nelson absolutely no form of local Government save that vested in the Police Magistrate; and the inhabitants began to demand a Corporation. The Government would not spend a penny save for the simplest accommodation of their officers, who were far too few in number for the population, and there was no machinery by which the residents could impose taxes for local purposes, such as drainage and the improvement of the streets.

        
The delay in the establishment of Courts of Justice was a serious matter. Persons had been committed for trial for criminal offences, and had been waiting to be tried for months. The Government knew this, but made no sign. The Police Magistrate had no civil jurisdiction, and there was no legal mode by which an ordinary contract debt could be recovered. Mr Thompson, who had been called to the Bar at the Inner Temple, hit upon the expedient of taking informations in cases of debt as for a criminal offence, and some very remarkable proceedings in this respect took place. Certainly if the jurisdiction the Magistrate conferred upon himself, and the methods he adopted to enforce it had been law, no Bankruptcy Acts would have been needed. This is what took place at the hearing of one of these informations: —A person was summoned before the Magistrate upon an information charging that he was indebted to the informant in the sum of £2 3s. 6
d., for goods sold and delivered, and for which he refused to pay. At the hearing the defendant admitted the debt. The Magistrate then proceeded to ascertain, first, what other debts he owed; and second, what means or goods he had out of which to satisfy them. It appeared that the total debts were under £5, and that the only things available for payment of them was a trough and a few other articles belonging to the defendant, valued at about £5. Whereupon the defendant 

was ordered to sell the trough and other things forthwith, and out of the proceeds to pay the complainant his debt, and to divide the balance between his other creditors. If there was any surplus, he might keep it for himself. Here was a simple process, saving all the trouble of distress-warrants; and securing in a cheap and summary way a prompter distribution of the "estate" amongst creditors, than the best Bankruptcy Act has ever been known to accomplish.

        
In the month of November the people heard that a County Court was to be established, and the first sitting was fixed for the third Tuesday in January, 1843. But no Judge appeared. There was no Sheriff, and no Jury List. No explanation was forthcoming. The prisoners languishing in gaol awaiting trial had to solace themselves as best they could. Mr. Thompson had ceased to treat actions for debt as criminal proceedings, and there was no Court of civil jurisdiction at all.

        
The following case will illustrate the shameful delay in providing for the administration of justice:—

        
On the 16th December, 1842, Peter Leonard was charged before the Police Magistrate, 
Mr H. A. Thompson, with having committed a burglary in the house of John Collins, and stealing a dressing case, gold studs, and other articles, the property of the said John Collins.

        
The examination of the witnesses was partly taken, and adjourned from day to day; but on 21st December, 1842, Peter Leonard was committed to Nelson Gaol, "
there to be imprisoned until he shall be called upon to take his trial, whenever and, wherever called upon by Her Majesty's Attorney-General for New Zealand, or the Crown Prosecutor for the District of Nelson shall direct or appoint."

        
Her Majesty's Attorney-General (there was as yet no Crown Prosecutor) does not appear to have been particularly concerned about Peter Leonard—although it is to be presumed copies of the depositions had been duly forwarded. At all events, in July, 1843, Peter was still lying in Nelson Gaol waiting to be "called upon." No doubt he felt the delay a little irksome, and so it is not surprising to find him bitterly complaining to the- Magistrates, and praying them to let him out on bail. Accordingly, on the 
7th July, 1843, "
A. McPonald and 
Dr. Monio, two of Her Majesty's Justices of the Peace," having heard what the burglarious Peter had to say, released him on bail—
himself in £10, 
and one surety (Robert Ross) in the sum of £2, to appear when called upon as before. The bail was, to say the least of it, modest in amount for such a charge.

        
Well, the months went by and still no one "called upon" Peter. He must have begun to think the position of bailed-out burglar somewhat monotonous. But the law, if it moved slowly in those days, moved surely, and, though appearances were 

against it, had not lost sight of Peter Leonard by any means. Early in 
March, 1844, the Crown Prosecutor of our Lady the Queen made the long-expected "call," and on the 19th March, 1844, Peter Leonard was tried before the County Court at Nelson for simple larceny, and promptly acquitted.

        
The resident original land-purchasers soon formed themselves into a Society to watch over their own interests. They had several grievances against the Company and the Government. There were the "squatters," whom neither the Government nor the Company seemed able or willing to remove from the public reserves. Then they objected to the sale of lands to absentees, who took them up as a matter of speculation only.

        
The general complaints against the absentees were, (1) that they paid no contribution to wards the fencing of land, (2) nor rendered any assistance where drainage was required, (3) nor help of any sort in the general improvements by which unoccupied land next door was equally benefited as one's own. Then there were the usual evils arising from no powers; limited powers; land lying unlet; short leases; high rents, &c. The expression was frequently heard, "Confound those absentees, they do more harm than they are worth."

        
And there was the substantial complaint, that the Company could not supply the lands they had contracted to sell; the surveys of the lands acquired were proceeding slowly; and it was pretty clear that unless the Wairau lands could be made speedily available, the Company would be inundated with claims for compensation. The result of the latter complaint was, that the Company decided most imprudently to proceed with the survey of those lands, with what results will be told in the next chapter.

        
Divine Service was first held in the Waimea district by the Rev. C. L. Eeay, on the 4th November, 1842, at the house of Mr Kerr. At the morning service there were 42 present, and in the evening 48. At this time there were scattered between Waimea West and Cotterell's landing on the Waimea River, 87 people.

        
In November the "United Christians" opened their Chapel and Sunday School. There were three services, presided over respectively by Mr Hough, Mr Andrews, and Mr Mears. Shortly after, this body opened a day school, which was well attended.

        
In December the Government woke up to the fact of there being such a place as Nelson, by proposing to appoint a Harbour Master, who would be sent from Auckland. This was firmly but politely declined. The people had a thoroughly efficient Harbour Master in Pilot Cross, and did not want anyone else.

        
During the latter part of 1842, and during the first months of 1843, there were constant complaints of the inefficiency of the Police. Burglaries, malicious destruction of property, and threats of personal violence, were frequent.

        


        
In the chapter dealing with the history of the School system of Nelson, more details will be given. It is sufficient to state here, that the first public school was opened on the 12th September, 1842. The first Master was Mr Moore; and the Committee consisted of Captain Wakefield, Captain England, Dr. MacShane, and Messrs. Tuckett, Anderson, Richardson, King, Spence, J. Barton, McDonald, Domett, Tytler, Jollie, Brown, Cockburn, James, Cautley, and Captain Wilson.

        
The distress amongst the labourers was becoming acute. Emigrants continued to arrive, and the labour market was much overstocked.

        
The whole of the Suburban sections were given out on the 28th December; Motueka and the Moutere being the places selected. Strange to say, the selectors preferred the heavily timbered Moutere Valley to the fertile and comparatively clear lands of Motueka. This may be accounted for by the fact, that there was an impression that fern-land was no good for cultivation; and thus the Wood at Motueka was selected in preference to open land.

        
The Company was by this time placed in the position of being almost obliged to send out labour without sufficient respect to the amount of capital also emigrating. They gave employment as a preventive to distress arising from this want of correspondence between these two elements.

        
The Company never intended, keeping a supply of labourers on hand, whom they would employ themselves until they were required by others. Had this been intended, they would have been more careful in sending out a larger proportion of labouring men.

        
As it was, they gave employment, so far as they were able, to all and sundry—tailors, music and dancing masters, clerks, and journeymen of various kinds, were employed in labour to which they were unaccustomed, which they did not understand, and they had not strength sufficient to allow of their doing a moderate day's work. Many of these amateur labourers were made gangers over capable pick-and-shovel men, which gave rise to great dissatisfaction, and it soon became a point of honour that the best men should do no more than the worst, which, as may be supposed, was very little indeed.

        
The survey of the 150-acre rural sections was progressing slowly, and it became more and more evident that the quantity of land bought by the land-purchasers could not be delivered. At this juncture Mr Tuckett, the Chief Surveyor to the Company, returned on Sunday, 11th December, from an overland trip to the Wairau, and reported that there was ample land of the finest description, and easy communication between the Waimeas and the Wairau.

        
This was good news to the Company's Agent, who now saw 

the probability of supplying all the land sold, and of relieving the prevailing distress.

        
The labourers do not seem to have participated in his satisfaction. On Monday, the 11th January, 1813, all the men employed by the Company in making roads, bridges, drains, &c., marched from the Port in a body, and waited on Captain Wakefield.

        
Their complaints were, that they had heard that wages were to be lowered; and they demanded that they be restored to the price given for labourers in the earliest days of the settlement. They also spoke of leaving for Australia, as they could not live upon the wages and rations supplied.

        
This last assertion was denied by the Agent, and no satisfactory reply could be extracted from him. They adjourned to an open space in a brickfield, where a meeting was held. Some strong language was used, and a resolution passed "that a memorial be sent to Governor Gipps, asking him to send a vessel for them."

        
On the following Tuesday they reassembled, and again waited upon Captain Wakefield to repeat their demand for a rise of wages. He talked to them in a temperate and conciliatory tone, but refused their demand. On Wednesday most of them returned to work, but it was rumoured that a memorial had been sent to some Company in Western Australia, requesting assistance to enable them to remove to that Colony.

        
In February, the Acting-Governor, Mr Shortland visited Nelson, and promised the immediate establishment of a County Court, of which Mr Thompson was to be appointed Judge, with Mr W. L. Shepherd as Clerk, Mr Richardson as Crown Prosecutor, and Mr Cautley as Sheriff. But no Court was, in fact, established, as we have seen, for some time afterwards, although the officers were appointed. The Judge and Crown Prosecutor were both massacred at Wairau.

        
It is somewhat remarkable that no reference is made in the 'Examiner' to the visit during the month of February of 
Te Rauparaha, and his fighting general Rangihaeta, to Captain Wakefield. They came to talk over the alleged purchase by the Company of the Wairau; and they left after making a vigorous protest against the surveys being allowed to proceed, until the Commissioner s Court had decided the question of title. They were feasted sumptuously by Captain Wakefield, who also sent 
Te Rauparaha a cask of wine; and he doubtless was misled by their apparent friendliness into the belief that they were merely bouncing about the surveys, and would be as easily managed as Ekawa had been at Massacre Bay.

        
This last affair is described in the next chapter, which is devoted to the story of "
The Wairau Massacre."

        


        
The first of February, 1843, being the Anniversary Day of the foundation of the Settlement, was celebrated with much feasting and amusements of various kinds. All classes seemed determined to put their animosities on one side for this day, and to forget their hardships as well as they could. The Committee to carry out the arrangements were—Messrs. Wakefield, Thompson, Richardson, McDonald, Sclanders, Poynter, Empson, Leighton, Cautley, Greaves, Pell, Mills, Macfarlane, Hoare, Ross, King, Dillon, Duppa, Tytler, England, Monro, Young, Otterson, Wallace, Howard, and Mac Shane. Mr W. M. Stanton acted as Secretary; and he and Mr David Sclanders (now of London) are the sole survivors.

        
At the "Fair," as it was called, the programme of the day consisted of 
guns firing from Britannia Heights and the Church Hill, at 8 o'clock a.m. 
Regatta at 9 o'clock, under the auspices of 
Mr James Howard, Mr Pilot Cross, Assistant Pilot Claring" bold, and "Bosen" Wilson, including whale boats, sailing boats, and Maori canoes. 
Races at 11 o'clock—the course being from Trafalgar-street, round the Church Hill by the east and south to the Waimea Eoad. The horses were Captain Wakefield's 
Sly-boots. ridden by Mr Thompson; 
Hairtrigger, ridden by his owner Mr Duppa; Mr Weightman's 
Lottery, ridden by Mr Thorpe; and Mr Tinline's 
Cannon-ball, ridden by Mr Rutter. 
Hairtrigger was the winner. At one o'clock the 
Sports commenced. Vaulting, running, wheelbarrow and sack races, climbing the greasy pole, catching the soap-tailed pig, and the 
piece de resistance, the war dance of the Maoris in great force.

        
Refreshments 
ad libitum during the whole of the day, were finished by a monster free tea at five o'clock on the grounds, which had been specially levelled and rolled for the occasion; afterwards known as 
The Green, and fronting Hardy and Colling-wood-streets, near Selwyn Place.

        
At night there a grand dance on the Green, which was brightly illuminated with variegated, coloured, and other lamps, and surrounded by refreshment tents and lounges. The mirth was kept up to a late hour; the orchestra being composed of Messrs. Purnell (violin), Miles (clarionet), Smith (cornopean), and Parker (trombone).

        
It was the first and last anniversary some of these, the earliest Nelson settlers, were to see. Within a very few months the awful tragedy of the Wairau had closed their earthly careers.
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Chapter V.

        

          
The Waieau Massacre.—Indirect Causes.—The Murder of Kuika.—The Massacre Bay Affair.—Newspaper Articles.—The direct Cause.— Attempt to Survey the Wairau.—Te Eauparaha's Claim to the Land.—The New Zealand Company's Title.—Arrival of Survey Party.—Rauparaha and Rangihaeta.—Surveys interfered with.— Carefully remove Surveyors' Goods.—Burn the Raupo, Tent Poles, and Tent Pegs.—Mr Cotterell sent to Nelson.—Lays Information.— Warrant issued against Rauparaha and Rangihaeta for Arson.— Magistrates and Constables leave by Government Brig —Arrival at Wairau —Reach the Maori Camp.—Captain Wakefield's Instructions.—Saturday, 17th June, 1843.—The Police Magistrate and the Chiefs.—They refuse to go on board Brig —The armed Men advance. —First mysterious Shot.—Volleys fired.—Retreat up the Hill.—Mr Cotterell.—Captain Wakefield orders Arms to be laid down.—Fłag of Truce.—Natives cease Firing.—Surround and Massacre Europeans.—Native Accounts.—Rangihaeta's Wife killed.— The Rev. S. Ironside,—Search for and Burial of Dead.—List of Killed, Wounded, and Escaped.—How Nelson received the News,— The Deputation to Auckland.—The Views of the Governor —Memorial to 
Sir George Gipps.—Visit of Sir Everard Home in H.M.S. "North Star.—General Effect of Massacre,

        

        

One of the indirect causes of the Wairau Massacre was the acquittal of the man Cook, for the murder of the Maori woman Kuika. The Natives believed him guilty—they were not satisfied with the trial, and they conceived a distrust of British Justice. If it had been a Maori who was accused he would, they said, have been surely convicted.

        
The circumstance of this case were these:—The victim 
Kuika, was the daughter of one of the principal Chiefs of the Ngatitoa, nearly related to Rauparaha, and sister to Rangihaeta. She was married on Christmas Day by the Rev. S. Ironside, to Mr. Wynen, the principal storekeeper in the district. There was also living there (Port Underwood) an escaped convict of dissolute habits, named Richard Cook. He also was married by Mr. Ironside at the same time, to another Native female of low rank. Kuika lived very happily with her husband and had borne him two children—a boy 16 months old, and a girl of about six months. Mr. Wynen went to Nelson on business, and during his absence the house was broken into, his wife violated, and she and her infant son murdered. The Natives were bent upon summary vengeance. Cook's wife had told them he was the betrayer and murderer. They were persuaded by Mr. Ironside to wait. The Magistrate came over from Port Nicholson, and after a searching enquiry extending over several days, Cook was committed for trial at the Supreme Court. The case came on for trial. The evidence of Cook's wife was of course objected to 

by his counsel, and the objection sustained. Some of the strong circumstantial testimony had been left behind at Cloudy Bay, and to the disgust and anger of all the Natives, the accused was acquitted. The Natives were furious—they believed him guilty —and he was acquitted for want of evidence. Why was not the trial put off and the evidence brought from Cloudy Bay? Only the other day a Maori had been hanged in Auckland on much weaker circumstantial evidence, and so on.

        
Cook took good care not to return to Cloudy Bay after his acquittal. Finding he had nothing to fear from the law, he confessed his guilt, and left the country under an assumed name. Report says that he was killed shortly after in a drunken brawl.

        
This trial took place only a few weeks before the Wairau Massacre.

        
Another indirect cause was the affair at Massacre Bay, the effect of which was to impress the minds of the Magistrate and the Company's officers, with the idea that if you assumed a bold front, and treated the Natives with a "firm hand," they would immediately give in, and from this they formed the dangerous conclusion, that the enemy might be safely despised. The facts were these:—On October 18th, Mr Howard who had accompanied a party of coal diggers and lime burners to Massacre Bay, returned and reported that the Natives had interfered with the working of the men. Ekawa was the leader. He had been very violent, and refused to allow any trees to be felled or coal dug. On the 15th November, Mr. Thompson, P.M., and Captain Wakefield, J.P., accompanied by Mr. Tytler and a party in all of 25 sworn in as special constables, started in the Deal boat for Massacre Bay, with the intention of putting an end to the interference, and unruly conduct cf the Natives at Motupipi.

        
On arrival an information was laid by Charles Biggs against Ekawa for malicious destruction of a limekiln and casks of lime. The party then proceeded to Takaka where Ekawa was, with about forty Natives.

        
At the landing place, about two miles up the river, seats were placed, and the necessary arrangements made to give a formal character to the proceedings. Ekawa was sent for from his whare. He replied: "I will not come, I am not a cookey, and I will not come for any man be he whom he may."

        
A warrant was thereupom made out, and entrusted to the the special constables; but they did not bring Ekawa, not thinking themselves justified in using force.

        
But force being necessary to carry the thing through successfully, and in order to conduct the proceedings with all possible decorum, the Magistrate swore in Mr. Tytler as a Special Constable, and, to assist him, several of the boatmen. Mr. Tytler was placed in command of the force. The party thus augmented 

brought Ekawa from his whare, to about 40 yards of where the Magistrates were seated.

        
Here Ekawa stopped abruptly, saying, "Now Mr. Thompson might come to him," and his friends hung on to him telling him "not to go."

        
The Bench, however, gave loud orders to bring him, and a pair of handcuffs was produced. His friends shrunk back; and half yielding, half resisting, the prisoner was placed at the "bar." Just then an assortment of rusty swords and cutlasses was handed out of the boat and laid on the bank. The evidence was taken. It was clear enough. Ekawa had been seen destroying the limekiln and the casks. When called on for his defence, Ekawa said he was angry because the white man dug the coal and sent it to Wakatu to sell; and when he and the Maoris dug theirs, the white men would not buy it from them, and he could not send it anywhere to sell. He expressed his regret for what he had done, and promised not to offend again. The address of the Police Magistrate to the accused was to the effect that he 
was bound to obey the English law, and must be held responsible for the results of his anger; but in consideration of his 
supposed ignorance of the law, and his professed sorrow for what had passed, and his promise of good conduct for the future, he was let off with a fine of 10/- and 10/- costs. Poor Ekawa had no money, and tried to negotiate an alteration of the fine from money into goods, pigs, or potatoes; but the Magistrate refused, and after some delay Ekawa's wife managed to find the sovereign.

        
The expedition returned to Nelson jubilant. The question of how to deal with refractory Maoris had been solved. It was only necessary to show a firm front, and to display a modest force of undrilled men armed with old Tower muskets which might or might not go off; and a few rusty cutlasses; and there would be no further trouble.

        
But the Maoris at Massacre Bay at that time were refugees who had been worsted in battle, and had been allowed to treat that district as a sort of City of Refuge, in which they were not to be molested, but from which they were not to remove. They were therefore isolated from all other Maoris, and not in any way prepared for active resistance or aggression, so that the sight of the rusty weapons was sufficient to bring them to terms for the time being.

        
But such an easy victory, and such apparently pusilanimous submission were soon paraded far and wide amongst both races; and if on the one hand the British settlers were filled with complacent satisfaction, the warlike Maoris under 
Te Rauparaha and Rangihaeta received the news with other feelings.

        
It has also been suggested to the writer (by Mr. Saunders that yet another indirect cause was our hardly excusable non-re cognition of the fact that, notwithstanding their ignorance of our 

language, everything published in the newspapers was at least as certainly known to the Maoris as to the Europeans. Whilst our habits of application to private business left us scarcely time to look at a newspaper or to think about politics, the Maoris met daily and had every event of importance interpreted and fully discussed, so that without any newspaper of their own, they were better informed in politics than we were, and, without our arms and ammunition, they were far better educated as soldiers in their own rough country, as fighting to them had always been both a pastime and an essential condition of existence.

        
By this means the natives were fully informed of the methods proposed to be adopted towards them, and the estimate of their fighting value, arrived at after the Massacre Bay expedition.

        
In October a few of the Cloudy Bay natives came to Motueka and succeeded in getting the natives to stop the surveys on some land belonging to Mr. Fell. But Captain Wakefield went over, and this dispute was also adjusted without much difficulty.

        
Upon the return of Mr. Tuckett, it was determined to proceed with the survey of the Wairau as rural lands. Contracts for the purpose were accordingly taken by Messrs. Barnicoat 

* and Thompson, Mr. Cotterell, and Mr. Parkinson. These three Survey parties (43 men in all) left Nelson on the 15th April, 1843, to carry out their respective contracts.

        

The determination to survey these lands was the direct cause of the massacre.

        

Te Rauparaha claimed the land by the title of conquest. After pursuing his victorious career in the North Island, he crossed the Straits with his fighting general and nephew Rangihaeta, and his Ngatitoas. They attacked and nearly destroyed the Nga-i-tahu tribe, who had long been settled along the coast from the Wairau River or Cloudy Bay to beyond the Kaikoura south. As a result 
Te Rauparaha claimed all the lands on the coast that belonged to the Nga-i-tahus, including the extensive and fertile valley of the Wairau, and a great part of Queen Charlotte Sound. The Company recognised his title, and Colonel Wakefield bought from him large portions of territory, which he said included Wairau. This Rauparaha denied.

        
This great chief's name, Rau-paraha, means, the leaf of the paraha, a thick-leaved convolvulus growing on the sand-hills near the sea, and formerly eaten as food. He was born at Kawhia about 1770. His father's name was Werawera (heat), and his mother's Pare-kowhatu (plume of stone). He was the youngest of the family, which consisted of two other sons, and two daughters. His elder brothers did not display any superior knowledge or power; they were chiefs of rank; that was all. His father, in one of the frequent wars, was killed and eaten while Rauparaha 
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was a child. His conqueror said, if the infant son of the enemy fell into his hands, he would make a relish for Rau-paraha. Rauparaha, or convolvulus leaf, therefore henceforth became his name.

        
Rauparaha possessed many ponts worthy of a chief among savages. He was full of resources in emergencies, hardy in enterprises, and indefatigable in the execution of them. When a young man, he acquired a reputation for strength and courage, founded on his skill in native warfare, which his wiliness and success in all his undertakings preserved for him in his old age. His unscrupulous treachery and cruelty made him the terror of his enemies, but were not regarded by the natives generally except as tending to increase his renown.

        
In person, his height was rather under the average. His years sat lightly upon him. He was hale and stout, and his hair but slightly touched with grey. His countenance expressed keenness and vivacity. He was always cleanly dressed in the ordinary mat and outer blanket, worn as a toga; slow and dignified in his action. His looks were wandering and watchful, as though betraying doubts as to his safety; otherwise he was perfectly easy in his address.

        
Rangihaeta was a very different looking man. He had the reputation of being one of the most ferocious of the chiefs. He was the son of Rauparaha's sister, and had accompanied that chief in most of his warlike expeditions, and was called "Rauparaha's fighting General." In person Rangihaeta was of commanding presence, about six feet six inches in height; upright as a dart; his countenance, however, was repulsive, indicating as it did, all too plainly, the truculent, bloodthirsty nature of the man.

        
The title of the New Zealand Company to the extensive plains of the Wairau was of a shadowy character. The Maoris interested disputed it, and the Company had been warned that it would be resisted.

        
The Commissioner for investigating titles—Mr. Spain—had notified his intention of coming over to hold a Court of Enquiry so soon as he could finish the work of the Porirua Court. The need of the land in dispute was urgent; without it the Company could not satisfy the purchasers who had bought from them in England, and paid for rural sections. These purchasers had many of them come out, and were impatient, not unreasonably so, to be put in possession of the land.

        

Te Rauparaha and Rangihaeta had on their visit to Nelson solemnly warned Captain Wakefield that the Company's title to the land was disputed, and that until the Commissioner had decided the dispute, the surveys would not be allowed to proceed.

        
But the Company's officials made light of these warnings and threats. Rauparaha and Rangihaeta had been feasted to 

their heart's content, and had left in right friendly mood. There was nothing to fear from them.

        
The land purchasers were persistent in their demands for the lands they had bought and paid for. It was absurd to delay any longer; the surveys should proceed at once.

        
That the hasty pressing on of this work was imprudent, there is now no room for doubt. What was the Company's claim to this land? This question is very well answered by the Rev. S. Ironside, in one of a series of articles entitled "Missionary Reminiscences," contributed to the 
New Zealand Methodist; and his answer is a condensation of the evidence given before a Committee of the House of Commons in July, 1844, and printed in the Blue Book of that year.

        
This is the answer:—"The Company claim this (the Wairau) Valley on two grounds—an alleged purchase by Captain Blenkinsop, master of a Sydney whaler in 1831-2; and the negotiations between their principal agent (Colonel Wakefield) and Rauparaha, the head of this tribe, in 1839. About twelve years ago (in 1831) Captain Blenkinsop was whaling in Cloudy Bay, and during the time he was there a native female lived with him as his wife. She was the daughter of 
Te Pehi (Tippahu), who visited England some 18 or 20 years ago. As a sort of payment for her, and for the privilege of wood and water for his ship, he gave the natives an old six-pounder cannon, and drew up in English a deed of purchase of Wairau and the neighborhood, and this six-pounder is mentioned in the document as purchase money. The natives signed this believing, as they say, that they were signing an agreement to allow Captain Blenkinsop the privilege of wood and water for his ship when he came whaling, never supposing it was a deed of purchase. The deed was mortgaged to Messrs. Unwin & Co., Solicitors of Sydney, for £200. Captain Blenkinsop forfeited the deed, not being able to fulfil the terms of the mortgage. The Captain was drowned some years ago in South Australia. His widow came to Hokianga in 1839, during the visit of Colonel Wakefield in the ship 'Tory.' She at that time sold Colonel Wakefield the 
copy of the deed. The original she could not sell, for it was in the hands of Messrs. Unwin, who it was understood still claimed the place.

        
"The other ground of the claim is Colonel Wakefield's negotiation with Rauparaha on Kapiti, as reported in that gentleman's despatches to the Company, wherein he speaks of having bought both sides of Cook's Straits; having certain degrees of latitude as boundaries. How did he make the Maori acquainted with 'degrees of longitude,' so that he could understand how much he was selling? But without insisting on this, the natives 
positively state that Colonel Wakefield did not tell Rauparaha that he was purchasing the whole of his country. (The deed was in English.) He said he only wanted 
that part, pointing to the 
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Blind Bay district. Rauparaha accepted his statement, and signed his deeds, as deeds of Blind Bay only."

        
There was no division amongst the natives; they said as one man, "the lands are not yours, and we will not give them up."

        
"With all these facts in their possession, in view of the speedy prospect of the Court sitting to decide the question of title; of the known excited state of the natives, and of the threatened resistance to the surveys, the action of the Company's officials in pushing on the surveys at all hazards, was certainly an error of judgment.

        
The New Zealand Company having, however, decided upon surveying the Wairau Plains as rural lands, lost no time in letting contracts for the purpose to Messrs. Barnicoat and Thompson, Mr. Cotterell, and Mr. Parkinson. The three Survey parties (43 men in all) left Nelson, as already mentioned, to carry out their respective contracts.

        
They landed on the Wairau beach on the 25th April. There they found a chief named Epuka with two or three of his followers, who expressed no dissatisfaction at their arrival.

        
Operations were speedily commenced, but had not proceeded very far when other natives appeared and interrupted the surveyors by destroying their survey 
pegs and ranging rods. They carefully abstained from all acts of personal violence.

        
Upon being informed by message of these hindrances, Captain Wakefield addressed a letter to the surveyors, telling them, "that in case of any actual injury to property, the Magistrates would take immediate measures to apprehend the offenders, but that in the meantime the surveyors were to make their own peace with the natives in the best way they could, and he would indemnify them for any loss they might sustain."

        
On the 1st June, Rauparaha and Rangihaeta, with a body of natives, arrived at the mouth of the Wairau with a fleet of canoes, and soon visited the three survey stations. Their proceedings were very similar at each. They carefully avoided doing any injury to the acknowledged property of the surveyors, such as provisions, tents, clothing, cooking utensils, &c.; but they destroyed and burnt the tent poles, tent pegs, and also the framework of the provision sheds, after carefully removing the canvas covering. At Mr. Barnicoat's station they also ostentatiously burnt the fern and raupo bedding, calling his attention to the blaze. Mr. Parkinson's house being roofed with a sail, they first removed it and all the contents, and then set fire to what remained. Mr. Cotterell's house being built entirely of poles and raupo, and thatched with it too, they burnt altogether, after removing all the goods as the surveyor's own property. These were all carefully packed in the boats and taken to the pa at the mouth of the river.

        


        
The natives considered the tent poles, tent pegs, raupo, toi-toi, and fern, as theirs, because they grew upon their land.

        
This is why they were extremely careful to injure nothing which was unquestionably the property of the surveyors; they wished to demonstrate that they were acting strictly in defence of their title to the land, and all that grew thereon.

        
In a Maori version of what took place, the following occurs: "Again Rangihaeta called to the Europeans and said, 'Do not be angry. This toi-toi belongs to me; it grew on my land. You might be angry if your house, which I shall burn, was built of boards brought from England; but, as this toi-toi is mine, it is right that 1 should burn it. All the things belonging to you Europeans have been taken out of the house, and I am acting in accordance with a just law; it is for you to commit some evil act. And the house was burnt."

        
Mr. Tuckett, the Chief Surveyor to the Company, left Nelson in the Company's boat on the 27th May for the Wairau, for the purpose of examining the state of the surveys at that time in progress there. On the 3rd June he reached the mouth of that river, and found Mr. Cotterell and his men there, who informed him that, on the preceding day, Rauparaha and Rangihaeta had been at his station on the river Opawa, and compelled him to desist from surveying; "that they had burnt his house and tent, excepting the canvas covering, and ordered him to remove; that they forcibly took his effects and removed them to the mouth of the river; and that they had informed him they would compel all the other surveyors to bring their effects down likewise, and had gone up to Mr. Barnicoat's for that purpose. Thereupon Mr. Tuckett at once despatched Mr. Cotterell to Nelson with a note for Captain Wakefield, in which he stated he should remain at the Wairau until he received instructions from him.

        
On the 5th June, Mr. Tuckett went up to Mr. Parkinson's station, where a party of natives had just arrived and taken possession of it. They were all armed with firearms and tomahawks. They informed him they were sent by Rauparaha to stop the survey.

        
Mr. Tuckett having sent a message to that chief to the effect that he would see him on his return, went to Kai-para-te-Hau on Wednesday, to inspect the surveys there, and on his coming back found Rauparaha and Rangihaeta, and Mr. Parkins on and his party. The chiefs talked about 
utu, and ordered them all to be off; and some of the natives began to pull up the pegs of his tent, and did all they could to hurry him from the ground. He then proceeded down the river to the pa at its mouth, accompanied by Rauparaha and Rangihaeta, each with his followers, in a large canoe.

        
There Mr. Tuckett found Mr. Barnicoat, who informed him that the natives had removed his effects, but that the chiefs had 

used their influence in restraining their people from appropriating any of his goods or committing any violence.

        
It was proposed to despatch Mr. Parkinson to Nelson overland, but Rauparaha refused to allow him to go. Mr. Tuckett then told him that he had already sent Mr. Cotterell to Nelson.

        
This then was the position when Mr. Tuckett left for Nelson on Sunday morning, the 11th June, 1843:—The natives had forcibly, but without personal violence, removed the surveyors and all that strictly belonged to them from the disputed land. They had burnt everything which they considered clearly belonged to themselves. And they remained in possession without any idea of attacking the Europeans, but prepared to resist force with force, if such a course should be necessary, in defence of their possession, until such time as the Commissioner had decided who was really the owner of the land.

        
In number at this time they amounted to ninety-eight, but this number was increased by subsequent arrivals to one hundred and twenty-five, of whom about forty were women and children.

        
In the account afterwards given by Rauparaha of the massacre, he stated that: "tired of the delays of the Commissioner's Court, they proceeded to the Wairau to prepare the ground for cultivation before the season was farther advanced, taking with them their wives and families;" which they would not have done had they gone expressly for fighting.

        
Mr. Cotterell arrived in Nelson on the 11th June, and informed Captain Wakefield of what had occurred.

        
Acting it is to be presumed upon instructions, Mr. Cotterell next day laid an information against Rauparaha and Rangihaeta.

        
Out of the statements in the Information, and the depositions of Mr. Cotterell and 
John Burton (no specific charge had been laid in the Information) the Magistrates evolved a charge of arson, and decided to issue a warrant for the arrest of 
Te Rauparaha and Rangihaeta.

        
Upon the Bench on that 12th June were 
Mr. H. A. Thompson, P.M., Captain Wakefield, Captain England, and A. McDonald, Esq., Justices of the Peace.

        
It was not expected that anything serious would follow. It would be a second Massacre Bay affair, the great conqueror Rauparaha taking the place of the conquered Ekawa.

        
The Magistrates would go in person, attended as before by a nondescript force of labourers armed with the same old muskets, and rusty bayonets and cutlasses, and the Chief Constable would carry the handcuffs; at which dread array Rauparaha and Rangihaeta would yield quietly; but, if not, then they would be seized and forced on board the brig, where, after a proper rating from the Magistrate, and due expressions of sorrow on their part, they would be let off with a fine upon condition of their undertaking not to offend again. This is in effect what the Police Magistrate 

stated. He said "such a demonstration would prevent bloodshed, and impress upon the natives a sense of the authority of the law." It is certain that no actual resistance was anticipated, and that the moral effect of the appearance of this motley force was relied on. The men chosen were of the labouring class, and intended as a reinforcement to those employed in surveying; many of them had never handled a firelock in their lives.

        
But Rauparaha and Rangihaeta knew all about the Massacre Bay business—the undisciplined men, the unreliable muskets, and the rusty swords and cutlasses; and although they did not wish to fight, they were not in the least afraid to do so; and sooner than submit to the indignity of being handcuffed, would fight to the death.

        
The Government brig "Victoria" was then in the harbour; and at the request of Mr. Thompson, P.M., Captain Richards agreed to carry the party to the Wairau. If then consisted of the following persons:—
Henry Augustus Thompson, Esq., Judge of the County Court and Police Magistrate; 
Captain Arthur Wakefield, R.N., New Zealand Company's Agent for the Nelson Settlement, and J.P.; 
Captain Richard England, J.P.; 
George Rycroft Richardson, Esq., Crown Prosecutor for Nelson; 
Mr. James Howard, a Warrant Officer in the Navy, and New Zealand Company's Storekeeper; Mr. Cotterell, Surveyor; four constables (including Maling, the Chief Constable); and twelve special constables. John Brooks went as interpreter. The brig sailed on Tuesday, 13th June, and the same day met the Company's boat coming from the Wairau, with Mr. Tuckett (Chief Surveyor), Mr. Patchett (Merchant and Land Agent), and Mr. Bellairs (Surveyor). These gentlemen, at the request of Captain Wakefield, joined the party, with the boat's crew.

        
On Thursday evening, June 15, the majority of the party landed at the mouth of the Wairau, and on the following inorning the remainder landed, and were joined by Mr. Barnicoat and his man. Muskets and cartridges were served out to the men, and cutlasses to as many as chose to avail themselves of them. The party proceeded up the right bank of the river that day (Friday) about five miles. On the way up they were met by an influential chief named Puaha, a nephew of Rauparaha's, who seemed extremely concerned when informed by Mr. Thompson of the errand of the party, and proposed that it should return to Port Underwood, pledging himself on the part of Rauparaha and Rangihaeta that they should attend there, that the case against them might be heard.

        
Mr. Thompson explained to Puaha that the warrant was for arson; that no force would be used towards the chiefs, but that they must accompany him on board the brig where the case would be investigated by himself and the other Magistrates. Puaha replied that Rauparaha and Rangihaeta would not but 

believe that they meant to make war upon them if the saw the armed men. 
He consented to convey a message to them explaining the object of the party.

        
The expedition encamped that evening further up the river, and shortly after doing doing so the Company's boat arrived. Some natives informed them that Rauparaha and Rangihaeta were further up the river. On the following morning (Saturday, the 17th) the party, consisting of forty-nine, of whom thirty-three were armed with muskets, and supplied with a dozen or two rounds of ball cartridge, proceeded up the river. Three or four of the gentlemen were unarmed. They arrived opposite to where the Maoris were encamped in a small but very dense detached wood, with the little river Tua Marina running through it, and near its junction with the Wairau. The deep and narrow stream separated them from the natives, whose canoes were hauled up it.

        
The strictest instructions had been given to the armed men not to fire on any account, or even to shew themselves, without orders. They were drawn up out of sight of the Maoris, on the opposite side of the Tua Marina.

        
When mustered before setting out, Captain Wakefield having called "Order!" said to them, "Men, whatever you do, 
do not fire unless you get orders." "A caution," says Mr. Barnicoat, "which was several times repeated to them in the course of the journey."

        
The natives were squatting in groups in front of the dense wood. The whites halted on the left bank, with a hill behind them covered with fern and manuka, and sloping upwards with several brows or terraces.

        
At the request of the Magistrates, a canoe was placed across the stream by a native named Piccawarro; and Mr. Thompson, Captain Wakefield, Messrs. Tuckett, Cotterell, Patchett, Brooks the interpreter, and Maling the Chief Constable, crossed over.

        
Captain England and Mr. Howard remained with the armed men; all bearing arms of any kind were told not to cross.

        
The Police Magistrate enquired for Rauparaha and Rangihaeta. The former alone came forward, and said "Here am I. What do you want with me? ' Mr. Thompson told him that hc was the Queen's representative, and held warrants for the arrest of himself and Rangihaeta for burning down Mr. Cotterell's house, and that he must go on board the brig, where the matter would be investigated. Rauparaha replied that he had not destroyed any European property; that the thatch and rushes of which the house was made were the produce of his own land, and therefore his own property, and he had a right to dispose of it as he pleased; that Mr. Spain would soon enquire into and settle the business. Mr. Thompson replied that Mr. Spain had nothing whatever to do with it; that Mr. Spain would settle the land 
dis-

pute between the Maoris and the white people, but that this had nothing to do with the land claims, but was a question about destruction of property which must be determined by the Magistrates. Rauparaha replied that he was willing to have the matter settled on the spot, and would make any compensation Mr. Cotterall required, provided the decision of the Magistrates pleased him; but he would not go on board the brig.

        
There was a great deal of repetition, and every variety of explanation to make the Maoris sensible of the distinction between this, which was a question of the destruction of property, and the question of the ownership of the Wairau. The natives, however, would not understand this.

        
Mr. Thompson grew very excited and spoke loud. He repeatedly interrupted Puaha who wished to interpose amicably, telling him to hold his tongue. Then he told Rauparaha he had am armed force at hand, and that if he would not come voluntarily he would make him come. At this stage Rangihaeta appeared, and in a very violent manner and loud tone said, "What do yov want with me? Do I go to Port Jackson or Europe to steal your lands? Have I burned anything belonging to you?" His gestures were so violent that Rauparaha ordered him to sit down.

        
Mr. Thompson then again asked Rauparaha, "Will you come?" This was answered with a decided "No." The question was again put, and again similarly answered.

        
Mr. Thompson called to the Chief Constable to produce a pair of handcuffs, but Rauparaha, ascertaining his object, put his hands under his mat.

        
Rauparaha had told his men to remain perfectly quiet, and not to interfere until they saw the white people actually dragging him away, when they were to rescue him; but to resort to no violent measures, except in defence of their lives.

        
Finding there was no probability of the chiefs giving way, Mr. Thompson at last called out, "Captain England, let the armed men advance."

        
The gentlemen then went towards the stream, which a party of 16 armed men from the other side was preparing to cross by means of the canoe.

        
So soon as the men were ordered to cross the river, the Maoris spread themselves and retired behind the bushes.

        
At this moment Captain Wakefield, observing some movement towards Mr. Thompson among some natives, called out in a loud voice with great energy, "Men, forward! Englishmen, forward!" and then a shot was fired—no one knows by whom or on which side. It is tolerably certain it was a purely accidental discharge. The Maoris immediately fired a volley, which was instantly returned. Tyrrell, one of the special constables, was killed by a shot through the throat, and Northam fell almost at the same time. While this went on the gentlemen were 
re-cross-

ing; Captain England, the last of them, wading through the water, into which he had fallen, holding on by the side of the canoe. All the surviving men of Howard's party returned at the same time. The firing was kept up briskly on both sides for a few minutes, but in this the Maoris had greatly the advantage, the bushes on their side being much closer and affording far better concealment.

        
Many shots had not been fired when Mr. Patchett, who was standing close to Mr. Barnicoat, fell mortally wounded; and shortly after Constable Gardiner was wounded in the hand and neck. Mr. Richardson came to the assistance of Mr. Patchett, and bent over him to receive his last commands. He said, "I am mortally wounded; you can do me no good; make your escape."

        
There began now to be a general movement up the hill—in the open ground just by (close to where the monument is now erected). The men retreated without order; Mr. Thompson, Captain Wakefield, Captain England, and Mr. Howard, urging them "for God's sake to keep together," but in vain. The men loaded deliberately as they retired, but were at a loss to find an object to fire at, as the Maoris, after firing, immediately disappeared in the fern or scrub.

        
On the first brow the most strenuous efforts were made to induce the men to stand and form. Mr. Howard called to them to fix their bayonets and come to the charge. They, however, kept retreating up the hill, firing as they went. By this time Mr. Thompson, Captain Wakefield, Mr. Tuckett, and others, had joined, and this party fell back on a brow seemingly very defensible. Even here the bullets were falling thick and fast. For awhile the men fired at the few Maoris who presented themselves, and then they again retreated.

        
The interpreter was now directed to call for peace, and Captain Wakefield ordered the firing to cease. A white handkerchief was also displayed; but those in advance of the retreating party still kept up a running fire as they pushed up the hill, which was returned by the natives. Mr. Thompson was seen about this time, by one who escaped, stamping on the ground and clutching his hair, as he exclaimed "Oh men! men!" in bitter regret and disgust at their conduct.

        
"Here," says Mr. Barnicoat, "when we were assembled on the hill, like so many targets which the natives were shooting at, Mr. Cotterell stood out from the rest, and said (I suppose in allusion to his principles as a member of the Society of Friends), 'I have nothing to do with business of this kind. If there are any of my men here, they had better follow me.' Captain Wakefield turned round and said very earnestly, ' For God's sake, Mr. Cotterell, don't run away; you are sure to be shot if you do.'"

        
The retreating party and the natives continuing to fire, 

Captain Wakefield and those about him were compelled to proceed further up the hill, in order, if possible, to put an end to the Conflict.

        
Mr Cotterell, after accompanying them a short distance, sat down, intending to deliver himself up. "This is poor work, Dick," said he to one of the men passing him. As the natives came up, he recognised among them one to whom he had frequently shown acts of kindness; to him he advanced with open arms; the Maori thereupon discharged his musket in the air; but two others immediately seized him, and dragged him down the hill into the manuka bush, where they despatched him with their tomahawks.

        
Captain Wakefield then said, "The only chance of safety is for all to throw away their arms and lie down." All then lay down in the short fern. The shots were entering the ground close around.

        
Mr Tuckett and Mr Barnicoat, finding so little chance of safety, stood up and moved off together, leaving on the open hill ten or fifteen altogether.

        
Captain Wakefield and Mr Thompson and Brooks again shouted "kati!" (peace) and waved a white handkerchief. There were now present, with the above, Captain England, Mr. Richardson, Mr. Howard, some of the constables (probably Coster and Gardiner), Cropper, M 'Gregor, and a few others.

        
The rest fled up the hill in different directions, and were pursued by the natives a little way, who had with them a dog, which they shouted to and encouraged in the same manner as when they hunt pigs.

        
The natives now ceased firing, and, as they came up, the white men delivered up their arms, at Captain Wakefield's order. He himself gave up a pistol to one of them. The whole party seem then to have gone a little further down the hill, where most of the natives, with Rauparaha and Rangihaeta, immediately joined them.

        
The Maoris having shaken hands with their prisoners, who were standing in a group, loaded their guns, and seated themselves in a half circle before them, the two chiefs occupying the extremities. Mr Thompson, who was slightly wounded, was requested by Mr Richardson, who had received a shot in the hip, from which blood flowed freely, to examine the wound, Which he did. The Maoris brandished their tomahawks over the heads of the defenceless men. Mr. Thompson, observing this, said to Ruaparaha "kati!" which he repeated; the others then desisted.

        
Rangihaeta had wounded his foot by treading on a sharp-pointed stump, and Captain England, seeing the nature of the wound, took a penknife from his pocket and cut out the splinter, 

and afterwards signified he would make him a present of the knife.

        
Gold was then offered as a ransom, but ineffectually. Two natives then approached Captain Wakefield, and, seizing him, attempted to strip off his coat. Colouring highly, it seems he endeavoured to draw another pistol, as Mr Howard was heard to say, "For God's sake, Sir, do nothing rash." Other natives laid hold of Mr Thompson, and were taking his coat and watch.

        
That is the last direct European evidence we have of what took place. George Bampton at this moment, observing the attention of the natives drawn off him, slipped into the bush, and succeeded in concealing himself. While lying there he heard some persons passing near him, one of whom (he believes Mr Howard) said to the other, "For God's sake,, if we are to die, let us die together." To whom this was said he could not tell. After having lain there about ten minutes in all, he heard about five guns fired, at intervals of about five minutes between each, and much shouting and hallooing by the natives, and immediately after a heavy dull sound, as it appeared to him, of a beating or chopping on the ground. He heard no cries or screams.

        
According to the native accounts, Puaha again endeavored to act as peace-maker, and urged his countrymen that enough blood had been shed, the number of killed being nearly equal on both sides; this was acceded to by Ruaparaha, and the two parties shook hands. Whilst standing quietly in the group, they were joined by Rangihaeta, who, having already tomahawked the wounded on his way, demanded the lives of those who had surrendered. To this Ruaparaha at first objected, but Rangihaeta shouted, "Give no quarter; they have killed your daughter Te-Rongo." The words were hardly uttered, when the defenceless men were brained, in spite of the intercession of some of the women, who cried out, "Save some of the rangatiras, if only to say you have saved some."

        
It appears that 
Te Rongo, Rauparaha's daughter, was also Rangihaeta's wife, and she was killed by the first accidental shot that was fired.

        
Rauparaha gave orders that the dead should not be stripped, but took one watch, which was buried with 
Te Rongo.

        
The Maoris then retreated a short distance up the Waitohi Valley, where, having buried their dead, they left the spot, and that same night they left the Wairau in their canoes; and in a few days crossed the Straits, withdrew all their followers from Mana, Porirua, and Kapiti, and took up their position at Otaki.

        
Rauparaha afterwards stated that Captain Wakefield and Mr Thompson were killed by a son of Te-ahuta, the first native man that fell, as a retribution for the death of their father; but 

it is more likely they were killed by Rangihaeta, as satisfactions for the death of 
Te Rongo.

        
Mr. Tuckett, Mr. Barnicoat, and others—nine in all—found their way to the sea together, where a whaleboat happened to lie,, which took them to the Government brig in the bay. Three others had escaped by means of Mr. Cotterell's boat, after taking the precaution to take out the plug from the Maori whaleboat to prevent pursuit. A few found their way back to Nelson by way of the Wairau Valley.

        
The Government brig sailed for Wellington after ascertaining there were no others within reach of rescue, and arrived there on the morning of the 18th June. Fifty volunteers and special constables were armed and sworn in, and the brig made an ineffectual attempt to sail with them to the Wairau. The weather was too boisterous, and when the brig left on the morning of the 20th she carried several magistrates and others, but no armed men. On arriving at the Wairau the horror-struck passengers heard the appalling intelligence of the massacre by the Maoris on the 17th of all those who had fallen into their hands.

        
Those who went to the scene of the conflict found that the Rev. S. Ironside, the Wesleyan missionary for all that district regardless of personal danger, had preceded them, and had already buried seventeen of the dead.

        
The story of the search for and burial of the dead shall be given principally in the brave missionary's own words;—

        

          
The awful calamity took place on Saturday, June 17, 1843. We knew nothing of it at the station. Vague rumors had come to us. A ship of war was coming with soldiers to punish the old chief for burning down the Surveyor's huts, but I considered them vague rumours. We could not see the Wairau roadstead, 15 miles south of us, from the station: the north head of Port Underwood shut it out, so no one knew of the arrival of the Government brig.

          
On Sunday, the 18th, in the afternoon, a dreary day, a heavy downpour of rain, all round cheerless in the extreme. But in the mission parlour was warmth, brightness, gladness. I was meeting Mrs. Ironside's large class of native women for the renewal of their quarterly tickets of church membership. It was good to be there. Everything about the class was hopeful and encouraging. We were singing the last hymn, when, looking through the window, I saw a canoe paddling up the bay at great speed in the drenching rain. This was very singular, for, as a rule, the natives had too much regard for the Holy Sabbath to go canoeing, except in cases of great emergency. And then the weather was such that you would not care to turn out in it. So after the meeting was over, and the women gone home to the kainga, I waited expecting to hear at once who the man was, and what was his urgent business out in the bay in such heavy rain, and on Sunday. But no tidings came, so I sent one of the men from the station to enquire. He went but did not return. Later on we learnt the sad tale the messenger had brought. A collision had taken place, and numbers had been killed on both sides. But he could give no particulars. Next morning a strong south-east gale was blowing, and a heavy sea was rolling up the bay. I attempted to get my boat out, but was obliged to give it up. Even if I had succeeded, it would have been madness to strive 15 or 20 miles in the teeth, of the wind and sea. We had to rest in patience, though we were all a prey 

to the greatest anxiety. Next morning (Tuesday) we managed with difficulty to launch the boat, and, with a strong crew of white men, pulled down to the principal whaling village in Port Underwood. There were the old chiefs and a tumultuous mob of their followers, wind and weather bound, exultant at their unexpected victory, and yet alarmed at the possible consequences when the Government should hear. Rangihaeata had urged that they should have plenty of utu (payment in revenge) beforehand, for Government would be sure to be angry. He wanted to make a clean sweep of the white people in Port Underwood. But Rawiri was firm in resisting this. When their murderous passions were excited they might imperil Mr Ironside and family, and he and his people would not let any harm come to them. Old Rauparaha, too, thought they had done enough, and they had better get away to their mountain fastnesses, inland of Manawatu, before the soldiers came. As it was utterly impossible to venture out in the whaleboat across the dozen miles of open sea to the mouth of the Wairau, and the bar would be dangerous, I landed in the cove, and went to see the old chiefs. They were sullen, and evidently in dread of the action of the authorities. But they justified their conduct. The Magistrate had begun it, wanting to handcuff them, and threatening them with the war party if they resisted.

          
"But," I said, "why did you kill Captain Wakefield and the other gentlemen, when they had given up their pistols and surrendered?"

          
"Well," said Rangihaeata, "they had killed his wife, 
Te Rongo, and they did not punish the murderer of Kuika," &c.

          
I then said I wished to go, seek out, and decently bury the slain. I supposed they had no objection.

          
"What do you want to go for? Better leave them to the wild pigs. But you can go if you like."

          
We could do nothing that day, so returned to Ngakuta dispirited and anxious. Next morning we ventured out, and at considerable risk got over the bar at the river's mouth. I wondered afterwards at our temerity, and at our wonderful escape. The Government brig had arrived the following day with the Magistrates from Port Nicholson, Charles Clifford, Colonel Wake-field, Henry St. Hill, and other gentlemen. But though the sea had gone down a good deal, they would not venture the bar till the next day. My party on landing at once started upon our mournful task. As soon as we arrived at Tua Muarina we began the search. One poor fellow, shot when crossing in the canoe, was found in the creek; one fearfully mangled, among the thick scrub on the banks; another some little distance away. These we buried where they lay. Others we found in ones and twos scattered round the hill. But the most dreadful spectacle of all was some twelve, including nearly all the gentlemen of the party, lying on a space about 15 to 20 feet square, all fearfully cut about the head, so that in some cases their features were hardly recognisable. We made a large deep grave, and laid them side by side in sadness and in tears, which none of us could restrain, reading over them the solemn, yet comforting and hopeful words of the funeral service. This was Friday, the 23rd. We had scarcely finished the mournful task of filling up the grave, when the gentlemen who had landed from the brig came up. We could not see the ship, and knew not of her arrival in the roadstead, or we would have waited for them to be present. Our party being now so much larger, a more thorough search of the outlying valleys was made, and one more unfortunate was discovered, to whom we gave decent burial; and then left the melancholy scene. I am glad that a Wesleyan Church is erected near the spot, and a good congregation is gathered there. The party got back to the mouth of the river too late to get on board the brig that night, so we found some of the surveyors' stores, made an improvised meal, and bivouacked for the night. Next day the whole party came with me to the station. We found it deserted—all the houses in the village stripped of everything—my poor, dear wife in great alarm for my safety. The natives wanted to take our domestics away with them. Two of them were slaves, but they said they would not leave mata (mother). She 

gave the chiefs to whom they belonged a pair each of our largest and best blankets, and on those terms she was permitted to retain their services.

        

        
John Kidson was one of the boatmen who made their escape from the affray. After wandering about the bush, he contrived to reach the whaling station at Ocean Bay. Here he remained two days, and on the third day he went with the Rev. Mr. Ironside to assist in the search for the dead.

        
This witness has left a painfully realistic description of the shocking discoveries they made. Mr Patchett's was the first body found. He had been wounded early in the fight, and most probably died from the wound, but he had been brutally tomahawked afterwards. He had three wounds in his head. The weapon was driven in so deep with the last blow, that it had not been withdrawn, and it was got out with some difficulty. The body had been stripped, the clothes torn to pieces, and laid upon it. Tyrrell's body was in the water. He had been killed by a shot in the throat, the ball passing out at the back, just at the shoulder. Northam, who had advanced a little further, was struck in a precisely similar manner to Tyrrell. With the exception of these two, all had been tomahawked even when wounded or killed by gun-shots. Smith's body was found near the foot of the hill. Brooks, the interpreter, seems to have endeavoured to escape, as, when found, his body was some little distance from the others. He had been savagely mangled. His features were quite unrecognizable, and, but for his clothes, he could not have been identified.

        
Captain Wakefield lay on his back, his right arm thrown across his chest. He had been killed by a single stroke from in front, which cleft the skull and destroyed his features. Under his head the Maoris had placed a piece of damper (bread), and laid his pistol across his throat. Mr. Thompson lay a little on one side, with a quantity of hair in one hand, which he appeared to have pulled from his head the instant before he was tomahawked. He was struck from behind, and the features were not destroyed. Captain England's head had been cleft by a blow on the side. He lay on his back. Mr. Richardson was nearly doubled up, and lay on his side. His features were but little disfigured. Mr. Howard was much cut about the face. He appeared to have been struck below the mouth, as his teeth were driven upward. He was lying nearly on his face. MacGregor was also dreadfully cut, but Pay and Coster not so much. Mr Cotterell, the gentle Friend, was not much disfigured about the head, but was the only one who had been struck by a tomahawk in any part of the body. He had a deep wound in the lower part of his back. Ratchiffe and Clanzie were shot during the engagement, and their bodies were found in the stream after the arrival of the men from the brig.

        
Northam, Tyrrell, and Smith were buried in one grave; Mr. 

Thompson, Captain Wakefled, Captain England, Mr Richardson, Mr Cotterell, Mr Howard, Bumforth, Cropper, Gardiner, Coster, Pay, MacGregor, and Brooks—thirteen in all—were buried together in another; and Ratcliffe and Clanzie in a third.

        
That following is a list of all the white men present at the affray:—


          

            
Police Magistrate and County
            

              
	Judge
              
	Mr. Thompson
              
	massacred.
            

            

              
	Magistrates
              
	Capt. Wakefield
              
	do
            

            

              
	
              
	Capt. England
              
	do.
            

            

              
	Principal Surveyor
              
	Mr. Tuckett
              
	escaped.
            

            

              
	Crown Prosecutor
              
	Mr. Richardson
              
	massacred.
            

            

              
	Land agent
              
	Mr. Patehett
              
	killed.
            

            

              
	Company's storekeeper
              
	Mr. Howard
              
	massacred.
            

            

              
	Surveyors
              
	Mr. Cotterell
              
	do.
            

            

              
	
              
	Mr. Barnicoat
              
	escaped.
            

            

              
	
              
	Mr. Bellairs
              
	do.
            

            

              
	Passenger of brig
              
	Mr. Fergusson
              
	do.
            

            

              
	
              
	Chief Constable
              
	—Maling died of wounds, body not found.
            

            

              
	
              
	Constables
              
	—Capper wounded, lost use of his hand.
            

            

              
	
              
	—Coster
              
	killed or massacred.
            

            

              
	
              
	Wm. Gardiner
              
	do
            

            

              
	Special Constables
              
	Edward Stokes
              
	died of wounds.
            

            

              
	
              
	
James McGregor
              
	killed.
            

            

              
	
              
	Richard Burnet
              
	wounded.
            

            

              
	
              
	John Gay
              
	escaped.
            

            

              
	
              
	Wm Maunsell
              
	do.
            

            

              
	
              
	John Noden
              
	do.
            

            

              
	
              
	John Bumforth
              
	lost an arm.
            

            

              
	
              
	Eli Cropper
              
	killed or massacred.
            

            

              
	
              
	
William Northam
              
	do.
            

            

              
	
              
	
Henry Bumforth
              
	do.
            

            

              
	
              
	
Thomas Tyrrell
              
	do.
            

            

              
	
              
	
Isaac Smith
              
	do.
            

            

              
	
              
	Richard Warner
              
	escaped.
            

            

              
	Boatman
              
	Thomas Pay
              
	killed or massacred.
            

            

              
	
              
	Samuel Goddard
              
	escaped,
            

            

              
	
              
	Abraham Vollard
              
	do
            

            

              
	
              
	John Kidson
              
	do
            

            

              
	
              
	George Bampton
              
	do
            

            

              
	
              
	William Burt
              
	do
            

            

              
	Men engaged on the Surveys
              
	H. Eichardson
              
	do
            

            

              
	
              
	
Thomas Hannam
              
	do
            

            

              
	
              
	W. Chamberlain
              
	do
            

            

              
	
              
	James Grant
              
	do
            

            

              
	
              
	Richard Peanter
              
	do
            

            

              
	
              
	Wm. Morrison
              
	do
            

            

              
	
              
	Joseph Morgan
              
	do
            

            

              
	
              
	John Miller
              
	do
            

            

              
	
              
	Robert Crawford
              
	wounded
            

            

              
	
              
	John Smith
              
	do
            

            

              
	
              
	William Clanzie
              
	killed or massacred.
            

            

              
	
              
	
John Burton
              
	do
            

            

              
	
              
	
Thomas Ratcliffe
              
	do
            

            

              
	
              
	Henry Wray
              
	escaped.
            

          


        
The awful news did not reach Nelson till about ten days after the massacre. It is impossible to depict the grief and 
hor-

ror of the people. There were few persons in the community who had not to lament the loss of a near relative or-valued friend. The noble-minded Wakefield was dead, leaving a void which the settlers despaired of ever seeing adequately filled; and with him had perished on that blood-stained hill many of the picked men of the new settlement.

        
Everything was at a standstill. Work both public and private was neglected; people collected in groups all day long; there was one all-engrossing subject of thought. Ms Alex. McDonald was the sole Magistrate left in the town; but two or three country Justices came in and assisted in taking depositions and devising measures for general protection, it being universally believed that an attack was probable.

        
The names of the male inhabitants of all classes were enrolled; some hundred sworn in as special constables, and divided into nightly watches, to be relieved at stated hours. At the general wish, it was resolved that those sworn in should be exercised and drilled in the use of firearms, which the Company served out. The Hon. 
Constantine A. Dillon and R. K. Newcome, Esq., undertook to drill these Volunteers. For the first few days the number attending was considerable; as the alarm subsided, it dwindled away; and it being impossible to compel attendance, in a few weeks the drilling ceased.

        
A fort was also begun on what we now call Church Hill, but with the subsidence of the alarm the work ceased, and the design was abandoned.

        
All the Maoris left Nelson on the arrival of the news, fully expecting vengeance would be taken by the whites in accordance with their own customs. It was some little tune before confidence was restored.

        
Resolutions were adopted at a public meeting to the effect that the massacre was attributable originally to the non-settlement of land claims, and the want of an independent Government, and that a memorial should be adopted to the Home Government, praying protection. A deputation consisting of Dr. Monro and Mr. A. Domett was sent to Auckland, to lay the views of the settlers before the Acting Governor.

        
The excitement gradually passed off, but the young settlement had received a shock from which it did not readily recover. Many people left the place, and all property became depreciated in value.

        
The following correspondence which passed between the Acting-Governor and the-deputation from Nelson, places very clearly before us the views taken of this lamentable affair, by the Local Government on the one hand, and the settlers of Nelson on the other:—

        

          

            

              

To his Excellence the Offices administering the Government. Auckland, August 7, 1843
Sir,


              
—In accordance with your Excellency's permission, as intimated in 
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the interview which we had with you on Saturday last, we now submit to you in writing a statement of the reasons of our being deputed by our fellow settlers at Nelson to proceed to Auckland, and of the subjects upon which it would be highly satisfactory to them to receive an assurance of the views and intentions of Government.

              
The first object of our mission was to carry to the capital, without loss of time, the depositions taken by the magistrates at Nelson, and other documents connected with the deplorable calamity which had befallen that settlement; and though it may appear that a long period of time has elapsed between the occurrence of the disaster and the transmission of the documents connected with it to Auckland, still, when it is considered that ten days elapsed before any account of it at all reached Nelson; that it was then at least a fortnight before several of the witnesses who had been present in the affray arrived, some by sea and others overland; that there has been no opportunity for communication with the capital during that time; and that it ultimately was necessary to charter a vessel to convey us to Manukau, we trust your Excellency will acquit the settlement of negligence, or of losing time in forwarding to the seat of Government what authentic documents they were able to collect upon a subject of such vital importance to the colony.

              
At the same that we presented these documents to your Excellency, it was the wish of those who deputed us that we should represent the general opinion of the settlement upon the occurrence, and the light in which it is there viewed.

              
The depositions which your Excellency has received certainly laid before you the marked facts of the case, and constitute the basis of the opinion which you will form as to the right or the wrong of what has been done; but your Excellency must be at the same time aware that the most simple facts often admit of varying shades of interpretation, and that in no case can a just conclusion be arrived at until motives as well as actions are thoroughly understood.

              
We have no hesitation, then, in stating that it is the general opinion of the settlers at Nelson that our countrymen who were killed at the Wairau plain lost their lives in endeavouring to discharge their duty as magistrates and British subjects, obedient of British law, and that the persons by whom they were killed are murderers in the eyes of common sense and justice.

              
It is not our intention, after the interview with which your Excellency honoured us on Saturday, again to argue the case, but we may be allowed in a few words to recapitulate the main points upon which that opinion is founded at Nelson They are briefly as follow:—

              
In the first place, that the aborigines of New Zealand are British subjects and under British law.

              
In the second place, that they had burnt down a house, built by a servant of the New Zealand Company, upon land which it claims to have purchased, and which claim has not been proved to be invalid.

              
In the third place, that a warrant having been issued for the apprehension of the perpetrators of this outrage, its execution was resisted by a large body of the aborigines, with arms in their hands; and that, upon the unfortunate discharge of a gun, by accident, on the side of our countrymen (no orders to fire having been given), they fired upon those who were endeavouring to put the law in execution, and shot several of them.

              
In the fourth place, that the majority of our countrymen having fled, those who remained laid down what arms they had and surrendered themselves prisoners, and that, after a lapse of some time, unresisting, and without the power of resistance, they were savagely and deliberately massacred.

              
As to the motives which induced our late lamented Police Magistrate to issue the warrant, we conscientiously believe them to have been none other than those of duty.

              
As to the imputed charge of rashness and want of deliberation, which we have heard advanced, we may observe that the Police Magistrate had the 

advice of three other magistrates, and their unanimous concurrence; and we may further mention that the question was one which had not then for the first time presented itself; it had months before been examined and deliberated upon. Upon the occasion of a similar outrage having been perpetrated by Ranghaeita, at Ports Nicholson, and a warrant for his apprehension having been refused, Mr Thompson, in conversation with one of us, expressed his opinion that such conduct was calculated to weaken the influence of British law upon the native mind, and to lead to the belief of impunity in the commission of still further outrages.

              
And we cannot but observe now, that, had that former offence of his been dealt in a decided manner, as in law and justice we conceive it should have been, this dreadful calamity might never have occurred, by which so much life has been lost, so many men of the highest moral and intellectual rank have miserably perished, the relation between the two races been rendered, to say the least of it, precarious, and the civilization of New Zealand undoubtedly thrown back.

              
In stating what we have done above, we are aware that we shall be met by the argument that it is not for us to prejudge the case, or to decide upon the legality of what has passed, or to determine the offence of which any one has been guilty; such questions belonging to the courts of law, and for their Consideration alone. But your Excellency will allow us to suggest that there are cases of such a nature, and evidence often of such a kind, that the public mind comes at once to a decision, without waiting for the more formal conclusions of the law. The case before us is one of these: and while every one would most heartily deprecate any active step taken upon such a decision, and be contented that law and justice should take their course, still we should be imperfectly fulfilling the mission with which we are intrusted, did we not make known to your Excellency the light in which the conduct of the aborigines, on this occasion, is viewed by the settlers of Nelson, who feel that the enormity of their crime is so distinct that the vengeance of the law should certainly overtake them, and confidently expect that they will be brought before its tribunal as soon as a sufficient force shall be collected to render its mandates irresistible.

              
The settlers of Nelson look forward with great anxiety to the steps which the Local Government shall adopt. They have observed with indignation an attempt on the part of the Government representative at Port Nicholson to screen the aborigines, at the same time that he threw blame upon the British, by a public statement at variance with the facts of the case, and directly opposed to the evidence of one of our most respectable settlers at Nelson (Mr Tuckett), which had been taken by him before his public statement was made.

              
We hope, however, to be enabled to convey to them, on the part of your Excellency, an assurance that the case shall not be prejudged, that impartial justice shall be done, and that the penalties of the law shall certainly overtake those whom its verdicts shall pronounce to be guilty.

              
Another object of our deputation is, to represent to your Excellency the unprotected state of our settlement; but we are spared the necessity of enlarging upon this point by the promptitude with which your Excellency has despatched the half of the troops at your disposal to Cook's Straits. We trust, however, that, considering how much the settlers of Nelson are dispersed some in the Waimea, others at the Motueka, others again in Massacre Bay—engaged in agricultural pursuits and otherwise, Major Richmond will consider it expedient to station a certain portion of the force under his direction at Nelson.

              
We have but one other subject to bring before the notice of your Excel lency. Several of the constables who lost their lives at the Wairau have left behind them wives and children, now utterly destitute. These men were acting under the orders of the Police Magistrate, and of course in no wise responsible. It is confidently trusted that the Government will make some 

provision for the widows and children of those who have lost their lives in its service.

              

                
We have the honor to remain, &c.,

                
(Signed) D. Monro, J.P.

 Alfred Domett.

              

            

          

        

        

          

            

              

To D. Monro, Esq., J.P., and Alfred Domett, Esq.

Colonial Secretary's Office, Auckland,

August 9, 1843.

Gentlemen,



              
—I am directed by the Officer administering the Government to acknowledge the receipt of your statement, dated the 7th instant, of the reasons of your being deputed by your fellow settlers at Nelson to proceed to Aucnland, pf their opinions upon the lamentable occurrence at Wairau, the light in which it is viewed by them, and of the subjects upon which it would be satisfactory to them to receive an assurance of the views and intentions of Government relative to the deplorable calamity which has befallen the settlement.

              
His Excellency received with deep concern the intelligence of an outrage not only attended by a fearful loss of human life, but calculated to impair the confidence which has hitherto subsi ted between the two races, and indirectly to retard the prosperity of the colony. For the irreparable loss the settlers of Nelson have sustained, in so many, so highly, and so justly valued lives, his Excellency desires me to convey to them his deep and heartfelt sympathy.

              
For the recent bloodshed, I am to observe, an awful responsibility has been incurred. What is the degree of criminality of those concerned in the fatal conflict, and on whom that criminality chiefly rests, are questions on which no opinion can be expressed, as the transaction may become the subject of judicial inquiry; but, whatever may be the crime, and who may be the criminals, it is but too clear that the event we must all deplore has arisen from several parties of surveyors, without the knowledge or concurrence of the Local Government, proceeding to take possession of and to survey a tract of land, in opposition to the original native owners, who have uniformly denied the sale of it.

              
With a view to prevent the recurrence of such an evil, and that no reason may be given to the New Zealanders to doubt the good faith of her Majesty's solemn assurance that their territorial rights as owners of the soil should be recognised and respected, his Excellency has caused a proclamation to be issued warning all persons claiming land in this colony, in cases where the claim is denied or disputed by the original native owners, from exercising acts of ownership on or otherwise prejudicing the question of title to the same, until the question of ownership shall have been heard and determined by one of her Majesty's Commissioners appointed to investigate claims to land in this colony.

              
For the information of the settlers at Nelson, I am desired to state that one of her Majesty's Commissioners had appointed the end of June last to investigate claims to land in the valley of the Wairau, and, but for the recent fatal collision, all claims in that district would in all probability at this moment have been disposed of.

              
His Excellency would avail himself of the present occasion to remind the settlers of Nelson and the colonists generally of the principles upon which the British Government undertook the colonization of this country. That the Queen, in common with her Majesty's predecesser, disclaimed for herself and her subjects every pretension to seize upon the Islands of New Zealand; that, by the Treaty of Waitangi, her Majesty has guaranteed to the chiefs and tribes of New Zealand the full, exclusive, and undisturbed possession of their lands; and that, in the Royal instructions, under the sign manual, her Majesty has distinctly established the general principle that the territorial rights of the natives as owners of the soil must be recognised and respected.

              


              
With reference to the statement contained in your communication that the natives "had burnt down a house built by a servant of the New Zealand Company, upon land which it claims to have purchased, and which claim has not yet been proved to be invalid," I am directed by his Excellency to say, that he feels himself called upon to remind you that, with regard to all lands in the colony acquired under any other title than that of grants made in the name, and on behalf of, her Majesty, her Majesty's Government have determined "that the title of the claimants should be subjected to the investigation of a Commissioner to be appointed for that purpose;" that, by virtue of the provisions of the Land Claims Ordinance, all lands which have been validly sold by the aboriginal natives have been vested in her Majesty as demesne lands of the Crown; and that, with reference to the claims of the New Zealand Company to land in this colony, by the terms of an agreement entered into between the Company and her Majesty's Government, they are to have assigned to them, subject to the investigation of the Commissioner, in consideration of past expenditure, land in blocks of a prescribed size and figure, to be selected by them, under the sanction of the Local Government; and that they forego and disclaim all title, or pretence of title, to any lands purchased or acquired by them in New Zealand, other than the lands so to be granted to them.

              
His Excellency deems it proper now to inform you that the New Zealand Company has not selected any block of land in the valley of the Wairau, nor has the Local Government yet received any intimation that it is the intention of the Company to select a block in that district.

              
A detachment of the 96th Regiment has been despatched to Port Nicholson, and placed at the disposal of Major Richmond, to be employed by him in maintaining peace in the Southern District. His Excellency has, however, great satisfaction in being able to assure the settlers in the south, that he sees no ground to apprehend any unprovoked aggression from the native population.

              
In conclusion, I am instructed to say that no time has been lost in supplying the vacancies in the several important Public Offices, occasioned by the late deplorable catastrophe; and the settlers of Nelson may confidently rely on all means in the power of the Local Government being used to promote the advancement of that settlement. It will scarcely be necessary for his Excellency to give the assurance you require, "that the case shall not be prejudged, that impartial justice shall be done, and that the penalties of the law shall certainly overtake those whom its verdict shall pronounce to be guilty."

              

                
I have the honour to be, Gentlemen,

                
Your most obedient servant.

                
(For the Colonial Secretary),

                
William Connell.

              

            

          

        

        
A memorial to Sir Geo. Gipps, Governor of New South Wales, had been sent by the settlers of Wellington, and he immediately despatched H.M.S. North Star, 28 guns, under Captain Sir Everard Home, to Auckland, with 50 men of the 80th Regiment on board, under Captain Best. The frigate had her full complement of blue-jackets and marines, and was amply provided with ammunition, provisions, and stores. On her arrival Mr. Shortland ordered her to proceed southward, touch at Wellington, and "show herself along the Coast." She arrived at Wellington on 31st August. After consulting Major Richmond the officer in command at Wellington, Captain Home came to the conclusion that there was no reason to apprehend any attack by the Maoris upon the Europeans, and he prepared to return 

to Sydney. Colonel Wakefield eagerly remonstrated with Major Richmond, and urged the necessity of making a demonstration at least in the Straits. He also urged the recovery of the Company's boat which the Navives had taken after the Wairau Massacre, and refused to give up. Mr. White, the Acting Police Magistrate at Nelson, also wrote to Major Richmond, and Sir Everard Home, after perusing these letters, changed his mind and determined to proceed to Nelson. Major Richmond accompanied him. He proceeded first to Mana, but could not find either Rauparaha or Rangihaeta. They then proceeded to the residence of the Revd Mr. Hadfield, at Waikanae, where they met these Chiefs. Rauparaha wanted a pledge that if the boat were given up, the quarrel should terminate—this Major Richmond declined to give. Eventually he gave them a letter, armed with which they proceeded to Porirua, lay at anchor all next day being Sunday, and on Monday morning went ashore, and were assisted in launching the boat by forty natives, all in the greatest good humour. The next day the North Star came over to Nelson, arriving the same evening.

        
It had more than once been suggested that the Government would not take action against the perpetrators of the massacre, because no warrant had been issued for their apprehension. To remove this objection an application was made to the Police Magistrate while the frigate was here. Mr Fox, as Chairman of the Committee of Safety, was the applicant. The Police Magistrate said he could not recognise such a body. Mr. Fox then applied in his private capacity. Fresh evidence was given, but the Police Magistrate declined granting a warrant, on the plea of not having sufficient power to execute it. Mr. Fox suggested that the assistance of the frigate should be obtained, but Captain Howe "declined the honor" of executing a warrant, Mr. Fox renewed his application to the Justices of the Peace, and they granted it. The Justices were D. Monro, G. Duppa, 
C. A. Dillon, and J. S. Tytler. They all signed the warrant, which, however, was never executed.

        
Sir Everard Home visited the Pahs of Motueka and Wakapuaka in company with Major Richmond, Captain Best, and Mr, White. He satisfied himself that all the reports of preparation making by the natives were entirely false. "From all I have been able to see," says Sir Everard in his report, "I am of opinion that none of the Settlements in the parts of New Zealand I have visited, have anything to fear from the natives, so long as they are fairly dealt with. At Nelson a force is wanted, not to repel the attacks of the natives, but to restrain and keep in subjection the English labourers brought over by the New Zealand Company, who have, I believe, been in open rebellion against their employers more than once. At that place also, the general feeling appears to be more to revenge the death of their 

friends than to wish impartial justice to be done; and vengeance and revenge are words that I have heard used when speaking of that affair."

        
The people of Nelson had also memorialised Sir Eardley Wilmot, the Governor of Van Dieman's Land, who promptly despatched the "Emerald Isle" with 100 soldiers. But Captain Nicholson, the officer in command of the troops, had orders from his military superiors not to disembark them unless he found the settlers in actual collision with the Maoris.

        
This not being the case the ship sailed away again. Some of the settlers thought of applying to the French frigate, then cruising in New Zealand waters. Major Eichmond was asked if he would consent to this application. He replied, "He should consider it a stain on the British arms."

        
The Wairau Massacre attracted attention even in Europe. It completely stopped for a time emigration to New Zealand, and called forth the sympathy of people not only in Great Britain, but also on the Continent. In Paris it was proposed to raise a subscription to enable the unfortunate settlers to return home.

      



* Now the Hon. J. W. Barnicoat, M.L.C.
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Chapter VI.

        

          
A Visit to the Motueka Pa.—Redundancy of Labour.—Cottier Farming Mr. Tuckett, Acting Agent.—His troubles with the Labourers. Succeeded by Mr. Fox.—Piece-work Introduced.—Encouragement to Small Settlers.—Attempts to Explore route to Wairau.—Heaphy's Exploration to the South-west,—A Bachelor's Ball.—Second Visit of Bishop Selwyn.—Opening of Waimea Church.—New Year's Day, 1844.—Anniversary of Benefit, Society.—Eesignation of Mr. Tuckett.—Anniversary Day.—Stoppage of Work by the Company General Distress.—Reminiscences by some Old Settlers.—Growth and Progress of the Place.—Visit of Governor Fitzroy.—Resignation of Magistrates.—Mr. Donald Sinclair appointed Police Magistrate. Laying of Foundation Stone of Brick School near the Eel Pond. Mr. Matthew Campbell.—Visit of Bishop Pompallier and Father O'Reilly.—Things begin to Improve.—The German Settlements.

        

        

The following interesting description of a visit to the Motueka Pa in the early days, is supplied by Mr. Moriey, who made the trip overland, and who has also written a very entertaining description of the journey, which the limited space at the writer's disposal compels him regret fully to omit. After describing the adventures of their party on the road over to Motueka, Mr. Morley goes on to say: "Next day we went to see the natives at the Pa. and to witness a tribal meeting, to see them cry, and make a korero. First, I may observe at that time there were many Maoris residing at Motueka in these Pas, and a very fine and intelligent looking race of men and women they were, mostly well made, of good stature, many of them with handsome cast of European features, and there was a fair sprinkling of children. The Pas consisted of many whares, and the whole was enclosed with strong stakes or palisades sunk in the ground, and made of stout timber, well lashed together with supple-jack and flax. Some of the native women had very small and finely shaped feet and ankles—the envy of their white sisters, and the admiration of their white brothers. ∗ ∗ ∗ ∗ We observed that some of the men were elaborately tattooed all over the face with very intricate scroll patterns, the details of which were very puzzling to us, but we were informed they were tribal and hereditary marks of distinction denoting family ancestors. A few women were also tattooed about the lips, and had other marks about their persons, which is a custom they inflict on themselves on the death of a relative or friend. Many of the old warriors were dressed native fashion in well made flax mats, with carved green stone ornaments, and usually carried a heavy mere of greenstone or a tomahawk, and some of the Maoris had firearms and bowie 

knives. They also had a kind of axe made of very hard wood, and beautifully carved spears and pointed sticks—all these were weapons of warfare. The native visitors followed closely on our arrival, but did not come close to the Pa at first, but remained at some distance and formed into line. The Motueka natives also extended in line facing their visitors with a chief in front of them brandishing a tomahawk, who gave the first cry of welcome. Then began the real native cry from both parties, making a very peculiar hideous noise, all crying together in the same monotonous tone, not easy to describe. As soon as they began to cry each party moved very slowly towards the other, only a few inches at a time, so that a cry of great consequence would last 10 or twelve hours or more. In this particular cry there were at least 200 natives engaged, and it occupied all day. Very soon after it began copious tears flowed from both eyes and noses of both men and women. Towards evening they were close together and finished the ceremony by rubbing noses. Then came the feast. In former times it would have been a cannibal feast; now they are content with more humble fare—such as roast pig, birds preserved native fashion in their own fat, dried fish, kumara (sweet potato), native greens, fish oil, indian corn, and potatoes. We took some food with them, and arranged to come again to the korero. We accordingly went next day early, but did not understand what it was about; we, however, observed by their gesticulations that they were easily excited, because sometimes they threw off their mats, shook their spears or other weapons, and trembled all over like a leaf. They behaved very kindly to us."

        
Mr. Morley then goes on to relate how an old friend, John Barleycorn, was fascinated by a Maori, and declared his intention of getting married by the missionary. Nothing would turn him from his purpose, and so his friends had to leave him to his fate When last seen he was fondly rubbing noses in approved native fashion with his dusky sweetheart.

        
The redundancy of labour in the settlement was still severely felt. The Gibbon Wakefield theory had so far proved a failure, that capital had not been attracted in sufficient propor tion to balance the labour element, and there was a large number of men and families solely dependent upon such employment as the Company could give them.

        
Captain Wakefield had endeavored to establish cottier farming, but with no conspicuous success. A few families were settled in the Eiwaka Valley, Motueka, and Waimea. Seed wheat and potatoes were supplied gratis; easy terms were agreed upon for the acquisition of land, and employment given in road-making in the neighborhood of the land. The time not occupied in work of this kind was devoted to the cultivation of the land. At 

Motueka, the chief occupation was sawing timber for the Nelson market. "There was a fine extent of unappropriated bush, that any one was free to enter to fell trees, and saw timber without let or hindrance. This gave occupation to a considerable number, as it was work at which novices soon acquire a fair proficiency." —(
Pratt's Colonial Experiences.)

        
The office of agent of the Company was, upon the death of the lamented Captain Wakefield, filled, temporarily, by the appointment of Mr. Tuckett, the Chief Surveyor to the expedition.

        
Mr Tuckett had not the nerve for such a post. He had been distinctly instructed that all men employed by the Company were to work under actual and constant inspection. But the men declined any such supervision. They would work when and how they pleased. Mr. Vallé, who was acting as Inspector of Works, was ignominiously ducked in a deep ditch—and poor Mr. Tuckett was reduced to despair.

        
In his misery, he addressed himself to Mr Greaves, a local solicitor, imploring him to take the burden of the agency on his own shoulders. "The arrangements," wrote Mr. Tuckett, "which I had made to carry into effect the instructions of the New Zealand Company's principal agent, Colonel Wakefield, in reference to the future direction and inspection of the labours of the men employed on public works, and which, for that purpose, were placed under the direction of Mr. Vallé, having been frustrated thro' violence and combination on the part of the men, and no attempt having been made by the civil authorities or Proprietors of the Settlement to bring the offenders to justice, or to protect the Company or their own servants from future injury and insult. I have determined to have no further communication with the men employed on the public works and the decree of the men being that they will not have any time-keepers or inspectors over them, I see no alternative but to let them pursue their own course, avowedly as well as actually, as has hitherto always been their practice. If you are of opinion that the men can yet be brought to a sense and performance of their duties, and are willing to make the essay, I will gladly resign my trust into your hands, and do now tender the same to you for your acceptance, and whether you accept or decline the same, with liberty to communicate the subject of this letter to the other Proprietors of the Settlement, that you may in concert, if it appears necesssry, adopt measures for the public welfare."

        
Mr Tuckett did not hold office very long, and was succeeded by Mr William Fox (now Sir William Fox, K.C.M.G). He initiated a system of piecework on the roads, but limiting the quantity to be executed each week to what was considered an average week's work by day work, paying the same wages, but allowing 

the men to do the work in as short a time as they liked. This would leave each man some time to devote to cultivating his land—and the Company would get as much work done, and for the same price, as by day labour.

        
The system answered very well. There was not only a marked increase in the amount of work executed each week—but it materially assisted many families of the working-class to become permanent settlers. The harder and longer a man worked each day, the sooner would his alloted task be finished, and the more time he would have in each week for improving his section. A skilled hand could get through his portion in two and a-half to three days. The allowance was twenty-four cubic yards of ditching, including the pitching the earth, and forming the road a chain wide, but leaving a clear space of seven feet between the made road and ditch on either side. The price was 9d per cubic yard, or 18s. for the week's work.

        
This system was intended to directly encourage settlement— but the pay was considered so good at the time, that several left their ordinary occupations to engage in this work.

        
"Blacksmiths left their anvils, town carriers their teams, and, in a few instances, shopkeepers their counters, and returned to their usual employment for the remainder of the week."— (
Pratt.)

        
When the agent discovered that some were taking the employment without having taken land, or intending to take any, he ordered that all such should be no longer employed. The taking and cultivating land was made a condition of obtaining piece work on the roads.

        
A clerk was despatched to visit all engaged on the works, and take down the quantity of land owned, or in cultivation; or the quantity and situation of any land a workman was willing to occupy and cultivate.

        
Mr Fox was cast in a firmer and more determined mould than Mr Tuckett. Summary dismissal was the penalty for breach of his regulations.

        
On November 28th, Mr Tuckett, and a party consisting of Messrs Parkinson, Drake, Macdonald, Newcome, Tytler, and Kerr, started to explore a route to the Wairau up the Maitai, crossing the Maungatapu to the Pelorus, and thence by the way of the Kaituna Valley. They returned on December 3rd, having gone no further than the Pelorus.

        
Mr Tuckett made another attempt a few days after to get to the Wairau 
via Kaituna. This time he went by water to the Pelorus—the "Oyerri," as it was then called—but had not proceeded far up the river when he was terrified by the appearance of four canoes. Mr Tuckett's party fled. Whether the canoes were filled with friendly or hostile natives he did not know, but they appeared to be pursuing him. So "I allowed myself," says 

Mr Tuckett, "to act on the suggestion and impulse of the fear of them, and accordingly with more discretion than valour we pulled out of the "Oyerri," against the tide, with the greatest possible celerity; which was greatly promoted by frequent declarations that we were sharply pursued and likely to be overtaken."

        
Mr Tuckett evidently did not intend to make any more attempts to get to the Wairau. In a postscript to the letter he adds, "Until we can resort to the Wairau either with the consent of the natives or the support of the Government, I am of opinion that it is a waste of time and expenditure to attempt it."

        
Just after this a person named Williams came in and reported the discovery of a tract of available land on Queen Charlotte Sound, having a visible frontage of ten miles, and a greater depth. Mr Tuckett was not going to be caught with any such nonsense; Heaphy's chart proved there could be no such land; there was therefore no hope. "Mr Davidson is the only assistant on whose judgment I should depend, and he is employed on a reality; Brunner has an admirable adaptation to fictions, but he is likewise employed in actual survey. If you wish it, I have not the least objection to proceed thither, having no fear of the natives of 
the Sound." The italics are Mr Tuckett's.

        
In November Mr Charles Heaphy (Major Heaphy, V.C.) and 
Mr J. S. Spooner started on an exploring tour to the South-west. The natives of Motueka, and others who had formerly inhabited the interior of this island, reported that there existed grassy plains about four days' journey from Nelson, and situated between the Roto-iti Lake and the West Coast. Through these plains a river was reported to flow, and to join the sea near Cape Foulwind. They started on 8th November, taking with them three men and twenty-three days' provisions with plenty of powder and shot, as they knew they would have to depend greatly on their gun for support. They encamped on the evening of the 11th, at the edge of the great wood in the Wairau Pass Valley. They were detained the following day by rain. On the 13th there was heavy rain and snow. In the evening they proceeded about three miles "into the great wood," when they halted, their feet being benumbed with walking through the snow, and one party being seriously indisposed.

        
On the 14th they managed to struggle S. by W. about nine miles through deep moss and thick underwood, which made their progress slow and fatiguing. On the following day, following the same course through much thick jungle, they emerged upon some swampy ground on their right, and from the side of a steep hill saw Lake Roto-iti before them, filling up the whole of the gorge to southward. "On our right," says the report, "an open valley extended to the W.N.W., apparently covered with grass, agreeing with the native description. After having been in the wood for upwards of two days, the sight of this valley was particularly 

pleasing; and the change of temperature from that of winter to warm, sunny weather was equally pleasurable. We named the valley that of the "Fox" river; the Eoto-iti, Lake Arthur; and a sharp snowy peak to the south, Mount Cotterell, being the one most probably ascended by that gentleman in his expedition.

        
Having descended the hill, they followed the valley, and found a river ran through it from the western end of the lake. The soil is described as not being good, being very stony and covered with high grass and spear plant, with patches of high manuka. Still descending the valley, they found the pasturage gradually improving and the width of the valley increasing. The soil was also much better, but not fit for agriculture, except about the wooded lands on the table flats.

        
They ascended a mountain, which they named Mount Sykes, from which a magnificent view was obtained. The valley appeared to continue about seven miles further, when the river seemed to enter a gorge of the mountains and flow to the S.W. "North of us we could see the hills above Nelson and the Motueka, to the east the Wairau Pass and Lake Arthur, to the south five steep wooded ridges and above the snowy range, and to the west the great range extending from Separation Point to the gorge of the "Fox."

        
It is worthy of note that the first European name given to the river was the "Fox," which was changed to the "Buller."

        
The Maori name was then as now the "Kawa-tiri." The tributaries flowing into the main river were named after the gentlemen who were massacred at the Wairau. Thus the "Howard" now derives its name from the plucky but unfortunate ex-gunner of the "Rhadamanthus," who, as Company's storekeeper, came out with Captain Wakefield, and perished with his old commander at the Wairau.

        
On the evening of the 16th, the explorers met Mr. Boyes and two men who had been sent by Mr. Tuckett to explore in the same direction, and who had penetrated through the woods by compass from the Motueka survey station. They joined company, and next day followed the valley to where the river entered a steep gorge and turned sharply to the S.W. "The scenery," says the report, "in the Devil's Grip, the name given to the defile, is very picturesque, but nothing more can be said in its praise. At each bend of the river we were in expectation of seeing the valley expand, but were as often disappointed." In the bed of the stream, beside which they dined, they found pieces of coal similar to that from Massacre Bay. And so for two or three days they continued their way down the river to below the junction of the Eoto-roa river, and despairing of the ravine widening, some of the party ascended a lofty mountain and discerned the river winding to the S.W. for about twelve miles, bounded with rugged mountains. Being persuaded that this 

defile could lead them to no level land, for some distance, and that any good land which might surround the "Fox" at the Coast would be quite out of reach from Nelson, they thought it unnecessary to proceed further. They were prevented following the river to the Coast from want of provisions, which had run very short, and on their return journey they had to depend almost entirely upon the gun. It took them five days to get back to Nelson, where they arrived on the 23rd December. The report of Messrs. Heaphy and Spooner concludes as follows:—"The valley of the Fox is about eleven miles in length, and averages a mile and a-half in breadth. In it there may be about 11,000 acres of pasture land. It offers a fair locality for a stock station within three or four days walk of Nelson, and would depasture about 15,000 sheep at present. In the event of stock being put upon it the pasture would rapidly improve, and were the seed of artificial grasses scattered about it would become soon an excellent piece of pasture land. The land generally which we have seen is quite unfit for agriculture, and where the soil is of a better description it is at too great a distance from the town for profitable cultivation."

        
Those who know the Lake run, now the property of Mr. John Kerr, will recognise how accurately its capabilities were estimated by these early explorers.

        
The first Bachelors' ball was given in November in Mr. Kerr's barn at Waimea West, which had been beautifully decorated for the occasion. The bachelors responsible for the entertainment were Dr. Monro, Messrs. Duppa, J. Tytler, G. Tytler, E. W. Stafford, R. K. Newcome, and A. Domett. Dancing was, as usual, kept up to a late hour, about thirty-five couples joining in the amusement.

        
On December 8, Bishop Selwyn again visited Nelson, and held confirmation on the following Sunday. He left again on the 13th.

        
The Church at Waimea was used for public worship for the first time on the 24th December. The Eev. C. L. Reay officiated. This was the first Church raised in the Company's settlements for the United Church of England and Ireland. An acre was fenced in, of which two-thirds were intended to be consecrated as a burial ground. The reading desk was given by Mr. Beit, and the font by the Rev. Mr Reay.

        
On New Year's Day, 1844, harvest was commenced at Waimea by Mr. Kerr, and the day following by the Messrs. Tytler. The crops generally were satisfactory, and although, in some instances, there was a deficiency of straw, the wheat was fine and heavy.

        
On this day, the Nelson Benefit Society held its first anniversary. Ninety members assembled at the Carpenters' Arms, and went in procession to the Church, where an appropriate 

sermon was preached by the 
Rev. C. L. Reay. At 3 o'clock there was a dinner, provided by Mr. Harley, of a most excellent description, to which 110 sat down.

        
On 6th January, 1844, Mr. Tuckett, who came out with the original expedition, in the character of Chief Surveyor, resigned his office. He was a member of the Society of Friends, and wars and rumors of wars, and the almost universal carrying of arms, filled him with disgust. He saw ho near prospect of being able to complete the, surveys—on the contrary, the obstacles appeared to be increasing—and were, in his opinion, only likely to removed by a demonstration of superior armed force. In his agreement with the Directors he had been specially exempted from bearing arms, training men to the use of them, or taking part with them. This brought upon him, from some, an imputation of cowardice. In his letter of resignation he says: "We are now arrived at a state of affairs in which most men consider it expedient to go about armed." Then, referring to the terms of his agreement, he adds, "I cannot in this respect act any longer both with my own approbation and that of others. This was the hindrance on the late excursion up the Pelorus. My companions objected to proceed because we were not an armed party, and I should have declined proceeding with an armed party." There is much quiet dignity in the concluding words of the letter of the conscientious Friend. He says: "There is no longer any dispensation to slay and utterly exterminate the heathen, or I believe I could draw the sword with enthusiasm, and the consciousness of the penalty makes me a coward in the estimation of those who regard war as lawful."

        
Mr. Tuckett was in all respects an honourable and conscientious man—an excellent surveyor—but a poor administrator—he found himself placed in circumstances in which, owing to his religious convictions, he was misunderstood—and in which, also, his own conscience was daily offended. The work he had come out to do could only be completed by more armed display, and he would have none of it. Therefore he resigned.

        
February 1st, 1844—the second anniversary of the Settlement —was celebrated as before, although there was not so much spirit and excitement. The horse racing consisted of a sweep stakes of 10s. 6d., with £5 added, for horses of all ages; heats. The entries were Duppa's Dr. Syntax and Quilp, Rogers' Old Stock, Spooner's Dandy, and Ellerms' Captain. The stakes were small, but the sport was just as good as if the race had been for hundreds, Quilp won the money. There was also a pony race between Mr. Empson's Billy and Dr. Renwick's Phillidor, which, after a good race, was won by Billy. The race between cart horses must have been amusing; it resulted in a victory for Beeswing. There were also aquatic sports, rowing' matches, sailing matches, sculling matches, and canoe races.

        


        
Just as the Nelson people were fairly recovering from the shock of the Wairau massacre, and progress was once more being made, another blow fell upon them, the result of which it was, for a long time, not easy to see.

        
The arrival of an English mail—not a frequent occurrence in those days—brought the intelligence that the New Zealand Company had suspended operations. The Union Bank undertook to find enough money to pay the wages of the Company's men for the current week, after which nine-tenths of the wage earning population would be left without an employer at any price. Just at this juncture too the usual trading vessels failed to arrive.

        
And now the times were bad indeed. Some of the brave old settlers who went through it all still survive, and have kindly sent the writer some notes of their experiences. To touch them up, or alter them in any way, would be to spoil them, and they are, therefore, produced here 
verbatim.

        
Mr Duncan of Eiwaka, who came out in the "Fifeshire," and was only a young lad in 1844, says:—" We and many others went over to Riwaka; there they built two rows of houses, with posts and mud, and thatched with toi-toi. Shortly after this the Wairau massacre occurred, when everyone in the place thought we should all be killed. All the men kept watch every night; they were all armed with guns; some at the old pa entrance, and some at the new pa eutrance, to see that no fresh arrivals came in. Soon after this Mr Stephens started to survey Eiwaka, and roads and ditches were formed on both sides of the Riwaka river, and right across the plain to the Motueka river. There was one store called the Company's Store, where all the people got their provisions. The sugar was as black as tar. Then came the smash, the Company broke, and what little was in the store was divided amongst all hands. The people did not know what to do; they had neither money nor food. Money, however, was no good in Riwaka, as there was nothing to buy, Some of the people had a little flour, and made flour gruel to make it spin out. Some gathered southistles and boiled them; others dug up the potatoes they had planted, and peeled them to eat, and planted the skins. I have seen the shoots of the potatoes planted. How long this state of things lasted I cannot tell, but I know we lived on potatoes a good while, and when we got bread we did not like it. Then people began to dig and sow small patches of wheat, and then food began to be more plentiful. But clothes were very scarce. I remember my mother made me a suit of clothes out of a three-bushel sack, trousers and all. I was quite proud of them, and many others were dressed in the same manner."

        
Mrs Duncan, who came out in the "Fifeshire," says:— "When we came first to Riwaka everything was in a state of nature. Landing at the old pah we had to wade through the 

tide and over the mud-flats, carrying all our belongings on our backs; but all the party were in good health, and we made light of our difficulty. "We commenced to break up some ground for gardens, also for planting of potatoes and sowing wheat. It was hard and slow work, as everything had to be done by hand, A small store was opened at Ferris's Creek by a Mrs Turner. One day my husband and myself went there to get some flour. We had to waje through the Eiwaka river and cross the mud-flats. Carrying home with each of us a load on our backs, we stuck in the mud, and had a struggle to get out, but we saved the flour. The New Zealand Company promised the settlers here two years' work, but that promise was not kept. It was then we had hard times indeed—no work and no money. For some time we had nothing to eat but potatoes—morning, noon, and night—and we were very thankful to have them even. Our neighbours were all in the same straits, and often we thought we would have to give up in despair. Fortunately for us we had a heifer, which calved at this time, and we considered the milk with the potatoes a royal feast. Mr S. Stephens gave the settlers as much work as he possibly could, and though the wages were very low—2/6 per day—we were very glad to get it. Times then began to mend. We all had a few head of cattle running on the waste land in the Valley, and we found a market for our surplus produce, and now at the advanced age of eighty years, when I look over the beautiful district of Riwaka and think what it was when I came here, nearly forty-nine years ago, I am thankful to God for the wondrous way we were preserved and brought through all our trials and troubles; and now truly our lines have fallen to us in pleasant places."

        
Mrs Cresswell of Stoke also gives some particulars which will illustrate the hardships of the time. She says, "We did pretty well until the Company broke; then it was a time of privations. I can mind the time when we only had one large loaf in the house in five weeks. We could not get bread or tea or sugar for weeks, and if it had not been for potatoes we should have Starved. My father could get very little work. There were more poor folks than rich ones. Our neighbours of course were as much in want as ourselves. We were all then what they called squatters. The land belonged to some one, but we did not know who, and so we lived for a while, but it was hard times ihen. I think we were nearly as well off as those that had more money, for there was but one bakehouse, and it was first come first served. I have waited more than an hour some times and not got any. Wage?, too, were very low, and for a long time after; and when we were married, in 1846, my husband was working for Mr Martin of Stoke for two shillings a day."

        
"It was," says Mr Thomas Hewitson, "a very trying time 

when the Company ceased to employ labour. Food was so scarce that the seed potatoes were dug up, but found to be uneatable. I remember my father carrying 25lbs. of flour on his back from Richmond, andd I kept the family in fish and in meat by killing wild pigs. I wore no boots for years, and we grew up like wild people. The night my father, mother, and I landed at the western entrance to the Moutere, we waded about a mile through the mud-fiat, and then crawled under a raupo whare about three feet high, and slept. Next day four of the Company's men helped us to carry our goods up the valley. As the sun set we had just reached the edge of the bush having toiled all day through the high fern and manuka, and the men could go no further for fear of being be-nighted, and they left our things. We dragged them down the hill as well as we could, tied a stick across two trees, hung a sheet over it, and lay there. We had no fire nor means of making any, so we walked some miles up the valley to the surveyors' camp, and got some coals in a tin, which we kept alive with some difficulty with fern-sticks, and carried all the way back. That fire I cm tell you we did not let out again. Later on we got a gun, and then we could light a fire with the powder and a rag." This family resided then at the Moutere.

        
Mr Wm. Wadsworth, of Wai-iti, thus graphically describes his first trip from Nelson to Wakefield in February, 1843, and also the hardships he endured some time afterwards:—" About the beginning of February we removed with a number of other families to Wakefield. A man named Garnet, with a drag and team of bullocks belonging to the Company, started with the luggage and provisions, reaching Destruction Hill the first night. My father and I and Mr Young started the next morning. The three of us walked until we got to a swamp about Stoke, where a big ditch was cut across the road. The men jumped over, but I was not so lucky, but landed in the ditch, where I had to stop until my father came back and pulled me out. Then we jogged on to Richmond, where we had some refreshments at Mr T. Kite's. I saw no other house on the road except a small building they told me belonged to Mr Snow, the tailor, until we reached the Wairoa river; but soon after we missed the dray and could not find our way, so we re-crossed the river and went to Mr Duppa's to enquire the road. It came on to rain heavily, and the river rose so rapidly we had great difficulty in crossing it. We found our way to Maddok's Bush, and persevered until we came to Mr McRae's, the fourth house we had seen since leaving Nelson They very kindly gave us some bread, butter, and milk, and also directed us to the Government camp." Mr Wadsworth goes on to describe the difficulty experienced in getting up provisions, the raupo whares erected as residences, and the arrival of the wives and children of the men; all hands being busy at work—the men road-making, and the women cooking, 

&c., and everyone healthy and contented; and then goes on to say, "This happy state of thing was soon marred by hearing of the sad massacre at the Wairau. We were terribly scared, especially the women and children. The men set a watch by night for fear the Maoris would come upon us unawares. By degrees things got quiet again, and we lived on pretty jolly until such time as the Company began to break, when hard times commenced indeed. We had to live as best we could for some time. Our provisions were chiefly potatoes and salt, relieved occasionally by fish or pigeons. For years I never saw or heard of any butchers—only when a neighbour killed a pig Mutton was out of the question; and I never saw a joint of beef for several years except from a bullock that died from tutu, or from a beast that was killed to save it from dying "

        

Mr. Alfred Saunders, M.H.R, writes as follows:—" Never before nor since did I see men and women endure so much real privation, with so little complaint, or work so hard, or live upon so little. Until the growing potatoes were fit for food the struggle was a very stern one, and, like Mrs. Garfield, many a mother went hungry to bed to feed her children. But with such improvidence, both on the part of the Company and its employees, the painful lesson must have come some time, and it greatly improved in many ways those who went through it. It could hardly be said that the privations of the many were, in any case, aggravated by the luxuries of the few. The very few that were really well off felt their responsibilities too close to be set aside by any indulgence. In hundreds of cases the very poor helped those who were poorer still. Many a careless spendthrift learned that it is not safe to live always from hand to mouth; and, better still, we all learned either to see or to feel that many a neighbour, whose generosity had never before been tried, was all there when he was really wanted. Now many of the most esteemed settlers, who have since been loved and trusted by their neighbours in Nelson, are the men and women who first proved what they were made of in those days of trial It was well for Nelson that the Truck Act was not in force in those days, as, even after the severest struggle was over, coin was not abundant, and many a ' bloated capitalist,' who had grown more potatoes than he required for his own family, was guilty of sending half a ton to his less fortunate neighbour, on the understanding that he ' could work it out when convenient.'"

        
Amongst those who gave freely to their neighbours out of their own modest store was Mr. Best, of Appleby. A loaf of bread was something precious in those days—only those who have experienced the want of it know what it is to be without. There is one story told of Mr. Best during these troubles which will bear repeating, and has the merit of being true. Coming into town one day, when his little hoard of flour was getting 

very low, and things generally were at their worst, he met Mr. Alfred Fell, for whom he entertained a very high regard. Mr. Fell was looking very dejected, and Mr. Best asked him what was the matter? Well, Mr. Best, he said, the fact is we have not a particle of flour in the house, and I don't where to get any. I'll get you a bit, said Mr. Best, so cheer up. There were no formed roads, or conveyances in those days—but Mr. Best was not to be beaten. Next day he put a bag of flour on his back, and carried it through the swampy, muddy road from Appleby to Nelson. Shooting it down at the door of Mr. Fell's business premises, he said, "There! give me five minutes rest and a glass of liquor, and I'll carry it up to the house for you." Which he did.

        
Notwithstanding all the difficulties through which the young settlement "passed, and with the shadow of troubles yet to come, seemingly visible—the growth and progress of the place were remarkable. The population of the Town in 1844 was 1460, and of the country 1576, making a total of 3037. Sheep of excellent breeds had been imported from Australia, and there were now 5782, and 918 cattle, besides other stock. Including the road-making in the town, over fifty-four miles of roads had been made. These extended to Wakefield in one direction, and beyond Wakapuaka in another. There had also been some road-making at Riwaka, Motueka, and the Moutere. The amount of land in cultivation was 1262 acres—mostly in cereals and potatoes. There was a bank, a flour mill, three sawmills, and a rope walk. The Immigration Depot, on the Church Hill as we now call it, was a large wooden building—this had been altered and made very convenient for the purposes of the members of the Church of England. The Wesleyans had a commodious brick Church in Bridge street, close to the Haven road, which had been opened by the Rev. Mr. Aldred on the 6th October, 1843. There were in addition to the two clergymen of the Church of England, the Wesleyan and the Lutheran ministers. There were five schools, and a Literary and Scientific Institute with a circulating library of 600 volumes, and an Agricultural and Horticultural Society.

        
Governor Fitzroy visited Nelson in February, 1844, and remained a few days. He reprimanded the Magistrates who signed the warrant for the arrest of Rauparaha and Rangihaeta, and intimated that in his estimation our countrymen had brought the calamity on themselves by their illegal conduct, and he gave little hope that there would be any judicial enquiry into the matter. His Excellency also intimated his intention of leaving the names of those Magistrates out of the next list. The result was that they all resigned, as did also Mr. McDonald to show his sympathy with them. Mr. G. White, who had been acting as Police Magistrate since Mr. Thompson's death, also 

resigned, and the Governor appointed Mr. Donald Sinclair to the post.

        
The effect of the Governor's visit was to leave in the minds of one section of the public feelings of bitter disgust and illsuppressed indignation. But there was another large and influential section who, keenly as their sympathies had been aroused by the shocking tragedy, yet felt, upon a calm review of the facts, that his Excellency, was, on the whole, acting for the best.

        
On Wednesday, 21st February, 1844, the foundation stone of the Nelson Sunday and Day School was laid by Mr. William Fox, on a section of land presented by the Government, situateiu Bridge street, near the Eel Pond. There the building still stands in what is now the Queen's Gardens, partly used as a Sunday School and partly as the Nelson School of Mines. The Jate Mr. Matthew Campbell was a moving spirit in the erection of this building and to the day of his death took the warmest interest in the schools that from time to time were carried on under its roof. It was, indeed, only one of many schools erected in various parts of the settlement for the primary education of children through the philanthropic exertions of Mr. Campbell.

        
In May, the Roman Catholics had a visit, for the first time, from their clergy. Bishop Pompallier came accompanied by the Rev. J. J. P. O Reilly, an Angustinian Monk, who was acting as Priest at Wellington. High Mass Was celebrated in a house in Bridge street, formerly occupied by Mr. Otterson, who placed it at the Bishop's disposal. The Bishop preached to the natives in their own language, and Father O'Reilly to the Europeans in English.

        
The year was one of great privations, borne with patient heroism; and, in most cases, with the unflinching determination to persevere despite all difficulties. As people began to find a market for their produce, the times began to mend. The clouds began to roll by.

        
Out of evil good sometimes comes. When the working classes in the settlement were thus suddenly deprived of the employment given to them by the New Zealand Company, they were reduced to great misery and want. That misery and want compelled them to resort to the cultivation of the land for the purpose of obtaining subsistence. In many cases they were mere squatters. In the case of those who did pay, the amount was small. A short period saw them relieved from distress— and from that time may be dated the real progress of the settlement.

        
The Colonization Scheme of the New Zealand Company became known in Germany through the agency of Mr John N. Beit of Hamburgh, who during a visit to London in 1842 had heard of the settlement at Nelson. He made some proposals to Messrs.

        


        
De Chapeaurouge & Co., an old established firm of Hamburgh merchants, and they entered into negotiations with the Company, resulting in their becoming the purchasers of five allotments, and the North German Missionary Society bought another. The "St. Paul" was chartered, and emigrants procured from all parts of Germany, upon the same terms as those offered by the Company to the British emigrants, viz., to find them work for three days a week, and three days a week they could work on land they could get from the Company. Four missionaries were sent out by the Society, and they with a number of the emigrants took up suburban sections in the Moutere Valley. Mr Beit was the leader of the expedition. He did not get on well with his countrymen, who complained of his love of domineering, and inability to act in a conciliatory spirit.

        
Reverses of a severe kind shortly overtook these first German settlers. They began cultivating the land and building dwellings, but a heavy flood swept away most of their improve ments. Shortly after the N.Z. Company stopped giving work, and then these unfortunate settlers returned to Nelson.

        
In the meantime a second expedition was being started by Messrs. De Chapeaurouge & Co. Count Rantzau, a German nobleman, interested himself in it, and bought four allotments of land, and three others were purchased by Mr G. De Chapeau rouge. The "Skiold" was chartered, and several families—in all abut 200 souls—were sent out by her. This expedition, and the management of the lands, were entrusted to the brothers Kelling. The vessel arrived on 1st September, 1844.

        
The Company had altogether ceased to employ emigrants,. and when some of those who came out by the "St. Paul" met the newcomers, and told the story of hardships and sufferings, they were greatly discouraged. But whereas the first expedition included emigrants from all parts of Germany, those by the "Skiold" came from Mecklenburgh. This acted as a bond of unity. Nevertheless, shortly after about half of the second expedition, and nearly all of the first, left for Australia. Those who remained did not suffer so much comparatively as other labourers in the Kelson Settlement. They took up land from the Company and other land agents, and work could always be obtained from the Messrs. Kelling, who had started the farm in Waimea East known as "Ranzau." By degrees they were able to acquire suburban sections from the Company, who had by arrangement laid off the lands intended for these emigrants in one block.

        
When some considerable time afterwards the N.Z. Company made arrangements with their land purchasers for a re-selection of suburban and rural land where it could be found, the 
Rev. J. W. C. Heine, who came out in the "St. Pauli," and who had been appointed Pastor of the Settlement by the Grand Duke of Mecklenburg-Schwerin, took advantage of the proposals, and 

selected the Mission lands at the Moutere, and shortly after removed there, being followed by several German families. The spot where they settled is called "Sarau." These settlers availed themselves from time to time of the assisted immigration scheme, and brought out many of their friends and relatives; and thus the settlement of Germans at the Moutere, numbering about 350, was formed. Both at the Moutere and at Waimea East neat churches and commodious parsonage houses and schools were erected, the Rev. Mr. Meyer taking pastoral charge of the latter. This gentleman left after a time, and Mr. Heine, being well stricken in years, resigned, and the two places, and the Lutheran Church in Nelson, were placed under the sole charge of the Rev. J. Theil.

        
In 1869, Mr Fedor Kelling was appointed German Consul. His duties after a time became nearly nominal, and he resigned. His services to his countrymen were acknowledged by the Emperor William I., who bestowed upon him the cross of the Order of the Crown.
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New Year's Day, 1845.—Election for Legislative Council.—Mr. Domett de clines.—Completion of the Fort.—Maori Troubles at Happy Valley. —Interesting Event.—Petition for Recall of Governor Fitzroy.—Anniversary Day.—Erection of Catholic Chapel.—Presentation to Rev. S. Ironside.—Meeting of Working Classes.—Recall of Governor Fitzroy. —Public Rejoicings.— Lightband's Tannery.—Explorations.— Heaphy and Brunner.—Brunner's memorable Journey.—Governor Grey.—Lieut. Governor Eyre.—Retirement of Mr Donald Sinclair.— Appointment of Major Richmond.—Mr. Domett appointed Colonial Secretary.—Mr. Fox appointed Attorney-General.—
Hon. C. A. Dillon appointed Commissioner of Crown Lands.—Re-instatement of Magistrates. —Influenza.—First Selection of Rural Lands.—Depasturing Licenses.—The Beaver.—Mr. Jollie.—Consolidation Awards.—Compensation Awards.—Compensation Scrip.—The Home Government and the Company.—Final Settlement with Landowners.—Purchase of Waitohi.—Trust Funds.—Mr. Tytler retained.—Mr. Henry Seymour goes Home to assist.—Union Bank closed.—Paper Money.—Mr. Fox resigns Attorney-Generalship.—Nominees to Council.—Death of Colonel Wakefield.—Earthquake.—Laying Foundation Stone Presbyterian Church.—Mr. Packard tries to take Cattle to Takaka Overland.—Some Statistics.—Foundation Stone of Christ Church laid.—Mr. Weld's Explorations.—The First Coal Mining Company. —First Cloth-Weaving in Nelson.

        

        

New Year's Day, 1845, was a holiday in Nelson—which was partly attributable to the circumstance of the Benefit Society and the Society of Odd Fellows having selected that day for celebrating their anniversaries. The members of both Societies met in the morning at their respective Club houses, and, accompanied by music and banners proceeded to Church, where the 
Rev. C. L. Reay delivered an appropriate sermon from Numbers x—29. After service the Odd Fellows walked round to the Haven, and the Benefit Society went strait to the Carpenters' Arms, where Mr. Harley had made most ample provision for their entertainment. About seventy sat down to a substantial dinner, the cbair being taken by Mr. C. Elliott. Speeches were afterwards made by Messrs Renwick, White, Fell, Heaphy, Ward, Empson, Greaves, and Fox. The Odd Fellows also spent a very agreeable day, having been provided with a good dinner by Brother Bryant. The Court of Requests, however, did not keep holiday. This Court had been established in lieu of the County Court, and Mr. C. B. Brewer appointed Commissioner. There was only one case for hearing—a claim of five shillings, part of a sum of £28 deposited in the Union Bank, in which the plaintiff was nonsuited, and a witness, Mr. J. N. Beit, narrowly escaped being committed for contempt of Court.

        


        
In January, 1845, appeared an important advertisement convening a meeting of the settlers of Nelson for the purpose of electing a representative in the Legislative Council. The election was to be on the principle of universal suffrage, every male settler of the age of 21 and upwards being entitled to a vote. Hitherto the early settler found himself brought into contact with a Government in the construction of which, and in the direction of whose policy, he had no more voice than the most ignorant savage in the country. There was the old tyranny of taxation without representation over again. But sending a member to a Council, in which he could be steadily outvoted on every question important to the Settlement by the Government Nominees, was not a promising remedy for the evil. A real Representative Legislature was what was asked for. On the 25th, the meeting was duly held in the Court House. Notwithstanding the novelty of the proceeding, it excited very little interest, the people generally looking upon the whole affair as a solemn mockery. The attendance was, consequently, very limited.

        
The Police Magistrate briefly informed the meeting that he had received a communication from the Governor, to the effect that his Excellency would place in the Legislative Council any gentleman whom the settlers might choose, if he reached Auckland by the 1st March.

        
Dr. Monro having been called to the chair.

        
The Hon. 
C. A. Dillon proposed Alfred Domett, Esq., as a gentleman in whose hands the interests of the settlers might safely be entrusted.

        

E. W. Stafford, Esq., seconded the proposition.

        
F. Otterson, Esq., J.P,, then proposed and Mr. Perry seconded Dr. Monro.

        
The Chairman requested his name might be withdrawn, as he would be unable, in the event of his being honored by their choice, to devote the necessary time to the performance of the duties which would devolve upon him.

        
Dr. Monro's name was consequently withdrawn, when the meeting unanimously declared in favor of Mr. Domett.

        
Messrs. Monro, C. A. Dillon, F. Otterson, A. McDonald, 
E. W. Stafford, A. Macshane, and J. Saxton were appointed to acquaint Mr. Domett with the result of the meeting, and to inform him that, if he accepted the appointment, his expenses would be paid by the settlers.

        

          

            

              

                
The following is a copy of Mr. Domett's letter in reply:— "To Dr. Monro, J.P., the 
Hon. C. A. Dillon, F. Otterson, Esq., J.P., and the Gentlemen forming a Deputation from the Meeting held at the Court House on Saturday last.

                
"Gentlemen,

              

              
—I thank you sincerely for the honour you have 

done me in choosing me to represent this settlement in the Legislative Council. But I beg you to excuse me when I declare my determination not to accept the trust your partiality would confer upon me.

              
"My reason for this course is simply this. The Legislative Council, as you know, is composed of his Excellency the Governor; three official members under his control; and three non-official members, to be chosen now by universal suffrage. The Governor introduces all measures whatever, and has a casting vote in addition to his own. All measures introduced, then, are Government measures, which Government can always carry in spite of the opposition of the non-officials, being in number five to three. And that the power thus possessed will always be used in such instances, we have the experience of all the sessions of the Council to prove.

              
"Such being the composition of the Legislative Council, it appears to me that the only case in which it is useful, or even rational, for the public to send a representative to it, is when the general policy and spirit of the Government are such as that public approves of. Their representative then may possibly be of use in supporting, improving, and rendering more palatable to his constituents the measures introduced by Government; his opposition, too, not being necessarily of that sweeping kind which is crushed as a matter of course, may be advantageously exerted in checking or overthrowing such parts of Government's policy, such of the details of its measures, as he may believe detrimental to the public or the section of it he represents.

              
"But, when the whole policy and every act of the Government are calculated to meet with the most decided disapprobation of the public, it is evidently idle for the latter to send a representative to a Council so constituted. For his conduct must be in such case one unvarying course of opposition, no compromise being possible —no middle line discoverable. And such opposition will as invariably be put down by the Government party with their superior number of votes. Your representative becomes then a puppet —his sitting in that Council a farce.

              
"Now the government of this country, as at present carried on, I, for one, do most sincerely believe to be of the latter description. To it I can conceive no relation possible for a representative of Englishmen but that of unqualified, uncompromising, unrelaxing opposition. For surely Captain Fitzroy is so pledged to the policy he has uniformly acted upon, that no abandonment of it, no change in it, is to be expected from him. Such opposition being useless in a Council so constituted, you will excuse me, gentlemen, if I confess my want of ambition to go through the mockery of attempting it.

              
"I should be sorry, too, by accepting the trust you so partially proffered me, to publish my acquiescence (of however little 

consequence it be) in this attempt to obtain for the Legislative Council of this country some of the credit and importance while it has none of the actual character or practical operation, of a representative body.

              
"If such a Government should hereafter be established in New Zealand as a popular representative might usefully support or usefully oppose, and you should be pleased to express the same wishes as on this occasion, I shall then be most happy to show myself in 
that particular, as now in all others.

              

"Gentlemen,

"Your most obedient servant,

"Alfred Domett.

"Nelson, January 26, 1845."

            

          

        

        
On Tuesday a second meeting was held, to consider what course should be adopted in consequence of the refusal of Mr Domett to represent the settlement in the Legislative Council. A. McDonald, Esq., in the chair.

        
After some desultory conversation, Mr Fox observed that he considered the offer of a representative member in Council as a tub thrown out to catch a whale. If the Governor had really that affection for us which this liberal offer might be intended to indicate, let him show it in some more substantial manner. The present offer was a mockery. It held out to us the prospect of a representative chosen on the most enlarged basis of universal suffrage, not even women or children being excluded from electing or being elected by the instructions given to the Police Magistrate. But when the representative reached the Council, what followed? Why, he could originate no measure, and every independent vote he gave against Government was swamped by the nominees, whose duty the highest law officer in the colony, the Attorney-General, had said is always to vote with the Governor, whether they think with him or not. Till this was altered, he thought it a mockery to send a representative. It had been suggested that a representative might watch the proceedings in Council, and communicate with the settlers when their interests were affected; but the newspapers would serve that purpose as well, and reach us just as soon. Under the present administration of the Colonial Government, he would not consent to send a representative to Council. He begged therefore to propose the following resolution:—

        

          
That so long as the existing constitution of the Legislative Council continues, it is not convenient to send a representative to that body, since he cannot possibly influence its decisions, carried as they are by the compelled adherence to Government of its pledged nominees.

        

        
Mr Domett briefly seconded the resolution. He did not see the use of sending any one to the Council to stand up continually like a skittle for Government to bowl down again. The 
introduc-

tion of universal suffrage would be heard of abroad, but no one would take the trouble to examine the constitution of the Council, and see that the representative was powerless. He saw by the very thin attendance—there not being a dozen people present— that the public perfectly well understood that the thing was a farce.

        
The resolution was put and carried, and the meeting dispersed.

        
The commencement of the fort on the Church Hill has been referred to; the work, although temporarily abandoned, was eventually completed. It was a ball-proof stockade, with rampart and ditch, covering an acre. The walls were wood, two inches thick; then an inside one the same, the space between, six inches, being of rammed clay. Six guns were mounted inside, and there was a drawbridge at the north and only entrance. This place of refuge and defence was in existence at the time of the following alarming episode.

        
Nelson was not yet free from Maori troubles. The picturesque and attractive spot that we know as Happy Valley was the scene of the disturbance.

        
No part of Happy Valley was cultivated or occupied by the natives at the period of the formation of the settlement; and though previously to the Commissioner's award they had asserted a claim to a portion of it at the northern extremity, they did not in any way attempt to use or occupy it. The natives who made this claim resided in a pa on the sea coast, four or five miles north of the valley, and separated from it by a thick forest of that extent. The chief of the tribe was Paramatta, a native of small influence, in consequence of his having been taken prisoner, and kept as a slave for many years by Tuawaike (Bloody Jack) of Otago.

        
When the Commissioner of Land Claims held his Court in Nelson, Paramatta, as well as the other principal chiefs in Blind Bay, spent several days in the town, and he eventually received a share of the gratuity which, with the concurrence of the Commissioner, was distributed among the different tribes from whom the land had been originally purchased by the Company's agent.

        
Paramatta crossed the Straits to pay a visit to some of the Waikato tribe in the Northern Island; and on Tuesday, 14th January, he returned to this settlement, accompanied by a few Waikatos and some of his own tribe. The party landed between Nelson and the Happy Valley, and immediately proceeded to the latter, where they visited all the settlers located there, informing them that they must quit the land immediately, or that they (the natives) would destroy their houses and "make 
kai" of (that is, eat) the inhabitants. Paramatta himself was exceedingly violent, flourishing his tomahawk over the heads of those he 

addressed, and using the usual ferocious gestures displayed by natives when they meditate bloodshed. Towards evening the party quitted the valley and came down to the farm of Mr Jollie, about a mile nearer Nelson, where they lighted fires close to his thatched buildings and ripe corn; and after threatening him to the same effect as the settlers in the valley, and making a great disturbance till four o'clock in the morning, they left him with a promise of an early return.

        
On the following day, a formal complaint having been made by the injured settlers, the Police Magistrate (Mr Sinclair) accompanied by Mr Tinline as interpreter, went to the Happy Valley, whence he sent for Paramatta, who came attended by about 18 natives armed With tomahawks. A long conversation ensued, in which Paramatta asserted that' the valley was his;' that he would drive the settlers out of it, and serve the Police Magistrate and his interpreter as Rauparaha served Mr Thompson and Brooks at the Wairau. At last, however, he agreed to refrain for a fortnight, in order to enable the Police Magistrate to procure such evidence of the sale and Commissioner's award as he had referred to, and the Police Magistrate and interpreter returned to Nelson late in the evening.

        
Scarcely, however, was his back turned when Paramatta recommenced his aggressions, became much more violent than before, personally assaulted some of the settlers, and at last broke into the house of one named Gordon and robbed him of a quantity of flour, after which he left the valley, saying that he would return on Monday and destroy everything. After leaving Gordon's, he burned a stockyard belonging to a cattle-keeper in the valley, and a quantity of shingles which had been cut and piled in the wood.

        
On Saturday, the settlers having renewed their complaints and offered evidence of the facts the Police Magistrate called a public meeting, over which he presided, and which was attended by several of the principal settlers, amongst others Dr. Monro, J.P., and Mr Vallé, J.P. It was proposed, and agreed to by the magistrates and settlers present, that the Police Magistrate should on the following Monday proceed to the valley, protected by a well armed force of volunteers, for the purpose of showing Paramatta the plan signed by Mr. Commissioner Spain and the protector, and warning him against any further breaches of the law.

        
On Sunday morning alarming rumours were afloat of the savages having committed more serious aggressions during the previous night, but they, fortunately, proved untrue. They led, however, to the calling of another public meeting by the Police Magistrate, preceded by a private meeting of Justices of the Peace, at which were present the Police Magistrate, Dr. Monro, and Mr. Vallé. After a long consultation, the Police Magistrate 

announced to the public meeting that the magistrates had decided not to take any step towards checking the aggression, except to write to Paramatta, desiring him to come to Nelson to see the plan; and also to write to Wellington for police protection. The resolutions of the justices was not concurred in by Dr. Monro, though, in accordance with official etiquette, he appeared on the bench when it was promulgated by the majority, from which he dissented.

        
The announcement of this change of purpose, on behalf of the Police Magistrate, was viewed with great dissatisfaction by the settlers; and on the following morning (Monday) a public meeting was held on the cricket ground, numerously and very respectably attended, when the settlers expressed the opinion that the Government had on this, as on every previous occasion where the natives were concerned, forsaken its duty to the settlers; that the latter were bound, therefore, to protect themselves; and that immediate steps should be taken to defend the settlement against the aggressions of Paramatta. It was then determined that the New Zealand Company's principal surveyor should, on the following day, proceed to the valley and cut a broad line of demarcation across it, in exact accordance with the Commissioner's approved plan; that he should be accompanied by an armed volunteer force under command of the Company's Resident Agent, which should not leave the ground till the line was finished—and that Paramatta should be invited to inspect the line and the plan, and warned against any future aggressions.

        
The rest of Monday was spent in making preparations, and the next morning an armed muster was held, when a proclamation, warning the settlers against the steps they were taking, issued by the Police Magistrate, was read by the chief constable, and received with much good humour and many hisses.

        
The same morning, the volunteers assembled at five o'clock, and proceeded to the valley, to the number of one hundred. Among them were Mr. Fox, the Company's agent, Dr. Monro, J.P., Messrs. Tytler, E. W. Stafford, A. Domett, A. McDonald, R. Newcome, J. Poynter, C. B. Brewer, A. Macshane, J. Saxton, W. Shepherd, W. O. Cautley, R. Phelps, C. Heaphy, C. Empson, F. Jollie, H. Martin, junior, Barnicoat, Benoit, Kelling, Duffy, Budge, Christie, Bishop, Bramwell, Hart, &c., &c. The whole were thoroughly armed and provided with ammunition, and the march was effected with the greatest order and regularity.

        
On arriving at the northern boundary of the valley, Mr. Stephens, with a number of men, immediately proceeded to cut the proposed line, the armed volunteers having been stationed so as to cover the party during their employment.

        
On the previous evening, the Rev. Messrs. Reay and Butt, 

the Church of England clergymen and missionaries in the settlement, had volunteered to go to Paramatta's pa by sea, for the purpose of offering him safe conduct, and endeavoring to persuade him to inspect the line and plan. This, however, they were unable to succeed in. They found him sulky and suspicious, and equally unwilling to obey the letter of the Police Magistrate (which he had received) inviting him to Nelson. Mr. Reay, therefore, leaving Mr. Butt and Mrs. Reay (who had voluuteered as an hostage), at the pa as a security that no violence should be attempted against Paramatta, proceeded to meet the party in the valley, which he reached shortly after the line was commenced.

        
It was considered very important, if it could be accomplished, that Paramatta should personally inspect the plan, and be cautioned against a repetition of his illegal acts; and it was proposed, on hearing Mr. Reay's report, that the party should immediately proceed to his pa. Mr. Reay, however, declined acting as the guide of an armed party, and it was not considered prudent to visit him unarmed. As the road was then difficult and intricate, and no other guide could be procured, the intention was abandoned, and Mr. Reay returned to the pa himself, taking the plan for Paramatta's information, and also several printed notices issued by the Company's agent (which had been kindly translated into the native language by the Rev. Mr. Butt), informing him that the line had been cut, warning him against any further disturbances, and telling him that, if they were repeated, the white man would come and take him and bring him to be tried by the Queen's law. Paramatta would not look at the plan, but it was shown to the other natives, and the printed notices distributed among them. Three young natives who had accompanied Mr. Reay also reported to their friends what they had seen in the valley. Paramatta also told Mr Reay that he believed that the settlement of the land claims was a fraud, 
because, after they had been settled in the Hutt and elsewhere, further payments had been made to the natives concerned by the Governor, in spite of Mr. Spain's and Mr. Clarke's decisions. He, therefore, believed it was all a cheat on the natives.

        
The line having been completed, the party returned to Nelson in the same excellent order in which they had left it in the morning, and were dismissed a little after five o'clock, having been twelve hours under arms, and marched about twenty-six miles in the course of the day. Before dispersion, nearly the whole party enrolled their names as volunteers, to meet and drill at stated times, and to hold themselves prepared on every occasion to afford the settlement armed protection if necessary.

        
It is satisfactory to know that Paramatta gave no farther trouble.

        
An interesting event in connection with the family of one 

of Nelson's oldest and best known settlers took place on the 23rd January,1845. Two daughters and a son (the present Mr. Henry Redwood) of Mr. Henry Redwood, of Waimea West, having on that day entered into the holy estate of matrimony. The following is a copy of the event in the "Examiner":—

        

          

            

              

Married.

              
On Thursday, the 23rd instant, at the Waimea, by the Rev. J. P. O'Reilly, Catholic clergyman of Wellington, Joseph Greaves, Esq., solicitor, to Miss Mary Redwood, eldest daughter of Mr. Redwood, Waimea; also, Mr. Henry Redwood, to Mrs. Elizabeth Reeves; and Miss Elizabeth Redwood, to Mr. Edward Bolton, all of the Waimea

            

          

        

        
Just a twelvemonth from the day on which a meeting was held in Nelson to congratulate Captain Fitzroy on his arrival, another meeting was held to petition the Home Government for his recall. In so short a time His Excellency had managed to make himself thoroughly unpopular. The following resolutions, passed at this meeting, will indicate the temper and feelings of the settlers:—

        
Mr. Macshane proposed, "That the policy of Captain Fitzroy, in administering the Government of New Zealand, is calculated to bring speedy and irretrievable ruin on the colony, and is rapidly extinguishing all hope of restoring the friendly relations which existed between the colonists and the natives in the early period of their intercourse."

        
Mr. J. Tytler, in seconding the resolution, stated that he fully concurred in all which the mover had said.

        
The Hon. 
C. A. Dillon proposed, "That a Committee be appointed to prepare a memorial to her Majesty, stating the grounds of our dissatisfaction with Captain Fitzroy's Government, and praying for his immediate recall and the practical adoption of the principles laid down in the report of the Committee of the House of Commons on New Zealand. Also, petitions to Parliament, praying the House to address her Majesty to the same effect."

        
Seconded by 
Mr. E. W. Stafford, and carried unanimously.

        
The following gentlemen were then named as the Committee to draw up the memorial and petition:—Messrs. Fox, Domett, Beit, Monro, Stafford, and Macshane.

        
Proposed by Mr. Fox, "That the inhabitants of the other settlements be requested to unite with the settlers of Nelson in their memorial to the Queen and in their petitions to Parliament."

        
Seconded by Mr. Cautley, and carried unanimously.

        
The petition was drawn up, but before it could be signed Lieut.-Governor Fitzroy was re-called.

        
Anniversary Day was celebrated as on former occasions; it is, however, worthy of note, that on this occasion special prizes were offered for the best dressed flax—an industry that was already beginning to attract considerable attention. Its history has not been a success so far as Nelson is concerned. 
Experi-

ment after experiment has been tried, Many hundreds—nay thousands—-have been sunk inflax machinery, but so far the industry has not progressed, and at the present time there are only three or four small flax mills in the district.

        
Messrs. Nattrass and Edwards brought out some expensive flax machines in 1845. They were put up in the Company's old store at the Haven, and worked there. It was not a profitable speculation. It is also worthy of note that Nelson beer was now an article of export, both Wellington and Auckland being customers for it.

        
Perhaps some notice should be given of the settlement of Nelson in its social relations. It would require too much space to do so properly; but as to one part of the subject, which is in general too exclusively made to stand for the meaning of the word "society," namely social relaxation or amusement, it may be remarked that there existed in the settlement considerable harmony and conviviality, little formality, and no pretension. Expensive luxuries of any kind were, and had ever been since the foundation of the settlement, very rarely indulged in. People dined together constantly, but seldom or never had "dinner parties;" "drop in" anywhere in the evening, but gave no soirees or balls. Though beginning to decline, bachelorship rather prevailed in the settlement—a melancholy fact, which partly accounted for the absence of formality.

        
A meeting of persons interested in the erection of a Roman Catholic chapel and school-house was held on Tuesday, the 11th March, 1845, in the house lately occupied by Mr. Beit, in Bridgestreet. F. Otterson, Esq., J.P., in the chair.

        
The following resolutions were agreed to:—

        


	1.
	"That the building of a Catholic chapel and school-house shall be immediately commenced on the reserve appropriated for that purpose by the Governor."


	2.
	"That Messrs. Greaves, Otterson. Eedwood. Ward, and Duffey be appointed a Building Committee, and to receive further subscriptions."


	3.
	"That Mr. Otterson and Mr. Greaves be requested to act as Trustees."


        
The Treasurer reported the sum already subscribed, which amounted to £60. A similar sum had been promised by Colonel Wakefield out of the religious fund of the settlement, but the stoppage of the Company had thrown difficulties in the way of obtaining it at the present moment.

        
It was agreed by the meeting that a plan for a chapel and school-house should be obtained from a competent person; and that the building should be erected so that it might receive additions from time to time.

        
A few months before this a small subscription was set on foot in Nelson to present to the Rev. S. Ironside, the Wesleyan 

missionary who resided in Cloudy Bay at the time of the Wairau massacre, a small testimonial of the sense in which his efforts to render assistance on that melancholy occasion was held by the friends of the unfortunate men. The moment Mr. Ironside heard of the dreadful event which had taken place, he proceeded, in his whaleboat to the spot, although the whalers in the bay hesitated to accompany him, on account of the state of the weather and the dangerous swell on the bar of the Wairau river, until they saw him with a crew of Maoris. The only assistance Mr. Ironside was able to render was, the burial of the dead and succour to the fugitives who found their way to bis abode. The testimonial presented to Mr. Ironside was a handsome edition of the Bible in three volumes, which had been sent out to the late Mr. Young, and which the executors of that gentleman very kindly parted with for the purpose.

        
The following is Mr. Ironside's acknowledgment of the present:—

        

          

            

              

"Wellington, February 20, 1845.
Sir,


              
"—I accept, with great pleasure, the very valuable present of books which you have forwarded to me at the request of several of the inhabitants of Nelson.

              
"You have been pleased to put by far too high an estimate upon my services in connexion with that tragic event which we all so deeply mourn, and which time will not obliterate from our memories, I only did my duty; and no one, in any station of life, should take credit to himself for doing his duty, although it might be painful and melancholy to his feelings, and attended with personal risk.

              
"It would have been much more gratifying to me, could I have been of service as mediator before the affair had arrived at its dire extremity; but, unfortunately, I knew not of it until it was too late.

              
"I beg you will convey to those whom you represent my grateful sense of their kindness in thus honouring me; and I may further add that the very handsome manner in which their wishes have been communicated to me by yourself has considerably enhanced my gratification.

              

"I have the honour to remain, sir,

"Your most obedient servant,

"
Samuel Ironside.

"A. Domett, Esq., Nelson."


            

          

        

        
In April the working classes of Nelson held several meetings to discuss the steps which should be taken to secure the settlement against any hostile attack of the natives. A deputation of them having waited on the Police Magistrate to request that a public meeting should be called to devise measures for the public safety, the request was acceded to, and the meeting took place in the Court House. After a short discussion, it was agreed 

to put the Fort in complete repair, and make such other defences as the safety of the inhabitants required, by volunteer labour. The meeting was also of opinion that it was desirable for the inhabitants to be regularly drilled, and to establish a nightly watch. The Magistrates expressed their willingness to co-operate with the settlers, and to exert themselves to the utmost to ensure their safety. Messrs. Fox, Macshane, C. Elliott, Fell, and Coates, were nominated a Committee of Safety, to whom the details of the defences were left.

        
The second sitting of the Supreme Court was held on the 7th April before his Honor Mr. Justice Chapman. The Grand Jury, of which the 
Hon. C. A. Dillon was Foreman, made a long presentment, in which the following paragraph appears:—

        
"We have also to present that the titles to land in this settlement remain undetermined, although a period of seven months has now elapsed since the investigation by her Majesty's Commissioner and his decision that the purchase of the district from the natives had been completed."

        
Towards the end of October, 1845, the people of Nelson heard with much satisfaction of the re-call of Governor Fitzroy. A subscription list was opened, and it was decided that there should be a festival to celebrate the event. Accordingly, on 13th November, at the first dawn of day, a salute of 21 guns was fired from the hill beside the fort. Then there was a grand dinner, for which a large piece of ground had been enclosed at one end of Mr. Harley's garden, in Bridge-street, and decorated with shrubs and flowers. Three hundred and fifty people sat down to a substantial dinner of "beef, mutton, pork, various puddings, and beer." The principal speakers were Mr. Fox and Mr. Domett. As soon as the diners had left, there was a big tea, at which 600 women and children sat down.

        
In the course of the day three figures, intended to represent Captain Fitzroy, his prime minister the Chief Protector, and the great legal authority of the colony the Attorney-General, were paraded through the town, and in the evening were consigned to the flames, in the middle of the town. The head of the first figure was carved in wood, and its dress closely resembled that worn by Captain Fitzroy when he visited Nelson. The other figures more approached caricature, the heads being painted masks, but the dresses were in keeping with their respective callings.

        
The Waimea settlers also held a separate festival, nearly opposite the village in Waimea West.

        
Governor Fitzroy was succeeded by Governor Grey, who arrived at Auckland on the 10th November, and assumed the Government of the colony on the 18th of that month.

        
There can be no doubt that Governor Fitzroy had a most difficult duty to perform. Unpopularity was almost a certainty, 

for it was impossible for any Governor to perform his duty to the natives as well as to the Europeans, and in the position in which the New Zealand Company had placed its settlements, without some friction.

        
"His temper was fussy and excitable. His character was of the highest, and his ability as a naval officer and man of science unquestioned. He had at his disposal a force entirely insufficient for the support of his authority; failure was therefore to a great extent inevitable, the more so with one accustomed from his training to rely on force and to have his will obeyed. If he was unpopular with the New Zealand Company and the settlers, he impressed the Maoris with a confidence in our justice which stood the colony in good stead during subsequent years, when their support and good feeling were invaluable." (
Brett's History).

        
It is interesting to note that tanning and dressing leather was an industry commenced by Mr. Lightband early in 1845. Towards the end of that year the "Examiner" had the following notice of its progress:—

        
"We visited a few days since the workshop of Mr. G. W. Lightband, who is engaged in tanning and dressing leather, and were agreeably surprised to find the progress he has made. We were shown skins of various kinds—calf, kid, dog, sheep, and hide leather—all dressed remarkably well; and from inquiry we have since made, we learn that this leather is in no way inferior to the best English, and very superior to any imported from the neighbouring Colonies. None of the leather dressed in New South Wales or Van Diemen's Land is capable of resisting water; but the leather made by Mr. Lightband possesses this quality in an eminent degree. We were also shown a few skins of parchment equal to any we ever saw. The bark used in tanning is the black birch; Mr. Lightband has tried the hinau, but did not find it succeed so well. Too much praise cannot be given to Mr. Lightband for his perseverance. Without funds or assistance, he has made numerous experiments, and proved the qualities of all the materials obtainable in the settlement for the tanning and dressing of leather; and alum and salt are the only ingredients with which he has not supplied himself. There is one disadvantage, however, under which he labours, and which it is not in his power to remedy; and that is the careless manner in which animals of all kinds are skinned here. We suppose this originated from a feeling that skins were of no value, and not worth the care bestowed on them where they can be turned to account; but now that there is a demand for all which can be obtained, we hope more care will be taken of them. The number of cattle and sheep slaughtered in this settlement is quite inadequate to supply ourselves wholly with leather; but the quantity would be greatly augmented if the skins of all the 

animals were preserved which die from casualties, bullocks by eating tutu, calves which have been slipped, young kids, &c., and we might see a useful branch of trade flourishing here, and keep within the Colony a considerable sum of money which at present is sent to England or the other Colonies —We also saw the other day several pairs of shoes made from leather tanned at Pitfure. Mr. McRae has adopted the plan long prevalent in the remote parts of Scotland, and perhaps continued there to this day, of making the farm supply the greater part of the clothing worn by the inhabitants. This leather also resists the water remarkably well".

        
Explorations went steadily on in different directions. Towards the West Coast an expedition, consisting of Messrs. Fox, Heaphy, and Brunner, guided by a native of the nearly extinct Rangitani tribe, the former possessors of the country, explored Lake Rotoroa, visiting its head waters, and crossing the valleys of the Tiraumea and Tutaki, came upon the Buller about twenty miles from the lake, and followed it down to below the Matiri. From this point the explorers retraced their steps to Nelson. In crossing the Buller Mr. Fox was carried down by the current and nearly lost his life. A few weeks afterwards, Messrs. Brunner and Heaphy again started to explore the West Coast. On that occasion they crossed the mouth of the Buller, and made their way nearly sixty miles further to the southward to the native settlement Arahura. A most interesting account of this trip was published by Mr. Heaphy. They travelled back along the coast, crossing the Buller on a fragile raft of flax stalks, and rude logs of totara drift wood. They tramped the entire length of the coast from Arahura to Cape Farewell; their daily diet being, as a rule, fern root, and three small potatoes each. At the Karamea they were fortunate enough to spear some flounders. They were reduced to a very low condition. The exposure to wind and weather was perhaps more weakening in effect than the absence of nutritious food. Four miles a day, including stoppages for rain, was the most they could average. At West Wanganui they found a supply of flour which had been forwarded from Nelson by Mr. Fox and the 
Rev. C. L. Reay, Ultimately they reached Pakawau, where they were hospitably treated by the natives, who brought them to Nelson in a canoe. They arrived on the 18th August, 1846, after an absence of five months.

        
But Mr. Brunner was not satisfied with this journey. Soon after his return, he started again to trace the Buller to its mouth, intending afterwards to still further explore the country further south, and ascertain the practicability of crossing the island in the direction of Otago or Akaroa. He engaged Ekehu, the Eangitani Maori, who had been his former travelling companion, and a friend of his Epike-wate, who were to receive their outfit and £5 each on their return. The Maoris' wives insisted upon 

going with them, and so Mr. Brunner had to incur the additional expense of providing an outfit for them also. This curiously composed exploring expedition left Mr. Kerr's farm at Waimea on 4th December, 1846. They reached the Howard river on the 15th, where they stayed two days, all hands being more or less affected with dysentery. On the 18th they crossed the hill at the head of the Howard, and made the Rotorua Lake, about a mile from its outlet. They found the canoe left behind on the former visit, and in it they paddled to the head of the lake. They explored it, and found it entirely surrounded by a chain of snow-capped mountains, with a good-sized stream flowing into it from the southward. In the lake they found a fresh-water mussel abounding, called the Kaiehau, which, boiled with the roots of the raupo, makes a palatable dish, and is said to have been a favourite meal of the Chief Rauparaha. Mr. Brunner had a good deal of trouble with the Maori women. Epike's old wife was one day missing. They had to retrace their steps, and did not find her until evening, when she explained that she had been struck by the Taipo and did not know what she was doing. The party made their way to the Tiraumea, and here the two Maori women quarrelled and fought. Their husbands taking part in the combat, Mr. Brunner had some difficulty in reconciling them and persuading them to continue their journey. The weather was mostly wet, and their progress necessarily very slow. Their food consisted mainly of fern root, and sometimes the root of the cabbage tree. They were also fortunate enough to catch a good many upukororo, or fresh-water herring; these they salted and dried for future subsistence. Painfully and slowly they toiled through the rocky gorges of the Buller, sometimes only making a third of a mile a day. On the 9th March, Mr. Brunner suffered about two hours of most intense pain, and the next day the Maori women suffered in the same way. It was believed by Mr. Brunner to be a species of influenza. The natives tried a curious remedy, cutting themselves all about the painful parts with a sharp stone, and then bathing in the river. Next day they were worse, and the illness settled in the leg of one of them, so that she could hardly put her foot to the ground. It was the 4th of June before they reached the mouth of the Kawatiri, or Buller, and saw the Maori pa; but unfortunately found neither Maoris nor provisions. From here they walked to the Teremakau and Arahura. Space will unfortunately prevent full extracts being given from Mr. Brunner's intensely interesting diary. From Arahura he proceeded with some local natives across the Hokitika on to Okarito, and thence to Parika, about 80 miles further south than on his former expedition with Mr. Heaphy. He turned homewards, rejoining his Maori companions at Mawhera. They went up the Grey river and to the Lake, now so appropriately named after the hardy explorer, Lake Brunner. They 
re-

turned to and continued their journey up the Grey River, the shingle bed of which in many places abounded with coal, though of an inferior quality, to a very fine seam which the explorer had noticed on his journey up the river. (That seam has since become well known as the Brunner Mine.) Leaving the Grey they struck across country, crossing the Inangahua Saddle and following that river down to its junction with the Buller. Toiling slowly up the south bank of the Buller, with one of the Maoris very lame, and food exceedingly scarce, Mr. Brunner one night suddenly lost the entire use of one side, and in the morning could not move. He had the mortification of hearing one of his Maoris, Epike, propose to leave him, as he was too ill to recover, but Ekehu refused to leave him, and Epike and his wife started off by themselves. He was compelled to remain a week where he was, the woman kindly attending him, and Ekehu working hard to obtain food, of which he made him take the best. At length with the aid of a stick and Ekehu's hand, the intrepid explorer was able to crawl slowly along. They overtook Epike and his wife, who had been clearing the country of birds, so that there were none for Ekehu to catch. Fraser's place, in the Motueka Valley, was at length reached—a fact which Mr. Brunner records in these words:—"So thank God I am once more amongst civilized men, or which I have had many doubts during my illness, and this preyed much on my mind. It is a period of nearly five hundred and fifty days from the time I wished Fraser good-bye on the banks of the river Rotoiti, and my seeing him again at his house, during which time I have never heard a word of English save the broken jargon of Ekehu, and the echo of my own voice; and I rather felt astonished that I could both understand and speak English as well as ever."

        
Explorations in a south-easterly direction had been made with a view of discovering a short route to the Wairau from the Waimea, notably by Messrs. Fox, Goulter, Ward, and Redwood. No more available route than that by Tophouse was, however, discovered, and that was for years the regular route to the east and south.

        
Mr. Stephens also made an excursion, accompanied by Messrs. Fox, Renwick, Jollie, and Wells, from Nelson through Queen Charlotte's Sound and Waitohi Pass to the Wairau plain. They left on the 3rd March, 1845, and returned on foot by way of the Wairau Valley and the Tophouse on the 20th.

        
In March, 1846, Governor Grey visited Nelson. The local paper said his energy had won the confidence of the people, and his urbanity their hearts. He came again about a year after, and both newspaper and settlers declared him entitled to the warmest support. Within six months after that, the "Examiner" began to wail over unfulfilled promises. The settlement was declared to be utterly neglected. Referring to His Excellency, 

the newspaper states:—"We have now waited so long for the things he led us to expect, that we begin to fear we shall never enjoy them." In April, 1847, Governor Grey completed the purchase, for £3000, of the Wairau, and shortly after the surveys were recommenced. During this year New Zealand was divided into two Provinces—the Southern one consisting of Wellington and the South Island. 
Sir George Grey was made Governor-in-Chief, and 
Mr. Edward Eyre, well-known as an Australian explorer, and afterwsrds as Governor of Jamacia, was appointed Lieut.-Governor of the Southern Province.

        
Towards the end of 1847, Mr. Donald Sinclair was presented with an address upon his retiring from the position of Resident Magistrate. He was succeeded by Major Richmond, who had also been appointed Superintendent. The working classes presented the latter with an address of welcome.

        
Mr. F. Dillon Bell, who came to the settlement in 1843 as agent for an influential number of land-owners, was, in 1847, appointed agent for the New Zealand Company at New Plymouth. Upon the occasion of his leaving Nelson he was entertained at a public dinner, which was attended by most of the leading men in the place.

        

Sir George Grey visited Nelson again in February, 1848. Whilst here he offered the post of Colonial Secretary to Mr. Domett, and that of Attorney-General for the Southern Province to Mr. Fox. These offers were accepted. At the same time he offered a Government appointment to the 
Hon. C. A. Dillon, which was also accepted, and that gentleman became not long afterwards Commissioner of Crown Lands.

        
Whilst on his last visit Governor Grey offered to re-instate those Magistrates who had resigned under threat of dismissal from Governor Fitzroy, for their conduct in issuing the warrant for the arrest of Rauparaha and Rangihaeta. This offer gave general satisfaction.

        
In January, of 1848, New Zealand was visited by a severe epidemic of influenza. The natives along the Coast suffered greatly. Those living at a distance from the sea seem to have been attacked by the disease in a much milder form.

        
The first selection of rural lands commenced on Monday, 27th March, 1848, six years since the town selection took place. Many selections were made in the Wairau, the surveys of which were now in a very forward state. The total acreage surveyed and allotted to the Company's purchasers in and near the Wairau amounted to 34,219 acres. Considerable tracts of country began to be occupied for depasturing purposes, but it was some time before licenses could be obtained. The Company granted licenses at first, but their right to do so was doubtful. At length Regulations were made under the authority of the Crown Lands Ordinance, Sess. x., No, 1, and the Amendment Ordinance, Sess. 

xi., No. 10. The licenses were nominally for fourteen years, at an annual rental, but the Grown could re-enter at the end of any year without paying compensation for improvements. The result was that few improvements were made, and the absence of boundary fences led to much trouble—which was not removed until some time after, when the freehold of most of these licensed holdings was acquired under the Special Eegulations of 1853, known as 
Sir George Grey's Regulations.

        
The following is a correct list of the licenses granted in 1850 for runs in the Wairau, Waihopai, and Awatere:—G. Duppa, N. G. Morse, W. Adams, C. Christie, E. D. Sweet, C. F. W. Watts, G. W. Schroder, D. Monro, Joseph Ward, C. B. Wither, E. Dashwood, J. Alison, F. Witherby, W. L. Shepherd, F. Vickerman, R. K. Newcome, E. Fearon, A. J. Richmond, H. Bedborough, J. Tinline, G. McRae, T. Renwick, Wm. Robinson, F. A. Saunders, W. Atkinson, S. R. A. Nicholls, C. Goulter, E. W. Stafford, H. Redwood, S. Stephens, W. O. Cautley, E. Green, C. A. Dillon, W. McRae, junr., H. Godfrey, J. P. Taylor, J, Shaw, C. and F. Kelling, R. Ross, A. Domett, T. B. Haylock, A. S. Collins, J. F. Wilson, E. Buxton, E. Bolton, C. Elliott, Clara Macshane, James Cross, Elizabeth Smith, J. Staples, Wm. Wells, W. McRae, senr.

        
Messrs Clifford and Weld had also taken up and were occupying the Flaxbourne property—and there were others who held licenses from the Company, and some were merely squatters without any licenses, in various parts of the district.

        
The site upon which the Town of Blenheim now stands was called first of all "the Beaver," from the fact that when the surveyors first attempted to lay it off, they were compelled, owing to floods, to roost, like beavers, on logs and stumps of trees. The land was comprised in two rural sections (300 acres) allotted to Mr. Alfred Fell. This gentleman lost no time in getting it cut up into quarter-acre sections, and these were sold at a uniform price of £10 each.

        
The name was changed to Beavertown, and again to Blenheim. Despite floods, which roared ten feet deep down Collie's Hollow, dividing the township into two, the settlers manfully stuck to Beavertown. Waitohi (Picton) was decided upon as the port for tne district; but there was no road from the valley of the Wairau, and despite the intentions of the Company, the Government, and the landowners; the port of shipment was the "Boulder Bank," at the mouth of the Opawa River. To this the wool from the Awatere was brought by the sea beach, and here many a hard-earned cheque was dissolved by the shearers and bullock-drivsrs, when they came down for their annual "spree."

        
Mr. Dillon Bell returned to Nelson in 1848, and succeeded Mr. Fox as Resident Agent. Mr. Francis Jollie acted for a time in that capacity in 1848, and again in 1849, He rendered 
sig-

nal service in carrying out what were called the "Consolidation Awards" to the land purchasers, with Mr. Sclanders as umpire, These awards did not include the whole claim of the respective parties upon the Company; but by allowing them to consolidate their suburban and rural lands in a block, and to select it from the unallotted lands, they reaped material advantages. In addition to which, what was called compensation scrip, of the value of £150, was given to each selector as compensation for delay in settling his claim.

        
A large quantity of scrip available for the selection of land was thrown into the market, at prices varying from five to ten shillings in the pound. The holder of this scrip had very great advantages over a mere ready-money customer, for, in the first place, he could secure any particular tract of land without the annoyance and risk of competition to which the latter was subjected; and, in the next place, the scrip for which he had merely given five or ten shillings in the pound was worth as much as the sovereigns of the cash purchaser. The opportunity thus afforded to the working men was not lost. Scrip was purchased with avidity, and there was soon a considerable body in the settlement of peasant proprietors.

        
In the year 1846 a loan of £100,000 was guaranteed by Act of Parliament to the New Zealand Company. The application for this loan was founded on the expenses and losses of the Company, which were adduced as forming a valid claim on the Home Government; and although Lord Stanley, in 1845, positively refused to recognise any such claim, yet upon considerations of general policy, and principally on account of the large body of her Majesty's subjects, who had expended much of their own capital in forming settlements, in full reliance on the continuance of the Company's operations, her Majesty's Ministers agreed to recommend Parliament to grant the above loan. An additional sum of £136,000 was advanced in the following year to enable them to resume operations. These advances were secured by a mortgage of the Company's estates in the colony, then fixed at 1,074,483 acres of land. The Act of Parliament which authorised this further loan, enacted that it was to be applied, with the balance then unpaid of the £100,000 loan (amounting to £20,000) in the discharge of any charges or liabilities of the Company, and for the purposes of the Act.

        
The Company had admitted, in 1846, their liability to their Nelson settlers of £50,000, which ought therefore to have been discharged out of the money received under the above-mentioned Act. It was not paid, however. The Act of Parliament also provided that if at the end of three years from April, 1847, the Company found themselves unable to carry on their operations, they should be at liberty to surrender their charter; that all liability in respect of the loans and interest should then cease; and 

that they should be entitled to receive out of the proceeds of all future sales of land in the colony the sum of £268,370 15s. (being at the rate of five shillings per acre for the 1,074,483 acres to which, on the 6th April, 1847, they were entitled), with interest at the rate of 3½ per cent. from the time of giving the notice of surrender. In 1850 the Company gave the notice of surrender. Thus matters stood until the passing of the Constitution Act. This Act, although hailed as a welcome instalment of the rights of the people was not altogether satisfactory to them, because amongst other causes for dissatisfaction it saddled them with this debt of £268,370 15s.

        
All disputes between the landowners and the Company were finally settled, as regards compensation, upon the following terms: —The Company expressed their willingness to afford any reasonable compensation in land, but absolutely refused that pecuniary recompense which many of the settlers were disposed to demand. On this basis the Company further compensated the holders of allotments (which, as we have seen, consisted each of a town acre, a suburban section of 50 acres, and a rural section of 150 acres) by surveying a new town at Waitohi (Picton), the site of which was chosen by the Nelson land purchasers themselves, and giving to each allotment holder a town section therein; and as regards the suburban and rural lands, the purchasers were allowed, as we have seen, in many instances to consolidate both descriptions of land in one block, and in every instance where the land was inferior in quality a larger (often a much larger) quantity was granted than purchased.

        
The purchase of Waitohi was completed by Mr. F. Dillon Bell, acting for the Company, on the 30th December, 1848.

        
Mr. Dillon Bell proceeded there in H.M.S. "Fly," having been invited by his Excellency the Governor to accompany him. They sailed on 28th December, and were fortunate in being able to make satisfactory terms with the natives. 
Sir George Grey rendered much valuable assistance in arranging matters. It was agreed that a new town should be surveyed for the natives at Waikawa, in a similar manner to the survey at Otaki. There were to be town lots, and sections outside the town for garden grounds and cultivations for the natives. The Company also agreed to plough the land outside the town, and to provide seed wheat for the land so ploughed, the quantity of ground ploughed to be equal to the quantity of ground then in cultivation by the natives at Waitohi. A wooden church was also to be erected "as a place of prayer to our Saviour: the Governor and Mr. Bell will build it within the town of Waikawa." So ran the agreement. Finally, to conclude the payment for Waitohi, a sum of one hundred pounds cash was paid.

        
This pleasing information was conveyed to Mr. Francis Jollie, at that time acting as agent for the Company at Nelson, 

by a letter from Mr. F. Dillon Bell, dated 2nd January, 1849.

        
The land purchasers were, so far as their claims for compensation were concerned, at last satisfied; and the New Zealand Company, although seriously to blame in holding out alluring expectations to the original settlers without first ascertaining their ability to fulfil them, and the non-fulfilment of which was a source of great bitterness and disappointment, were at all events sincere and honest in their endeavours to afford liberally such compensation as it was in their power to give.

        
But there was another serious grievance, which dragged its slow length along, during several years, and was not so soon settled. The principal disadvantages of new settlements were known to be the absence of means for giving an adequate education to the children of early colonists, and the difficulty of communicating with other settlements and the world at large. The Nelson prospectus provided against these serious evils. Out of the funds received from the land-purchasers, £15,000 was to be set aside for a College, £20,000 towards the encouragement of steam navigation, and £15,000 for religious uses and endowments.

        
Years passed by, the Company expressed its willingness to surrender its charter, and was in a moribund condition, if not actually dead.

        
There was no College, or Collegiate school of any kind, nor any steamer or steamers. The sum of £5000 had been paid to the Bishop of New Zealand for Church of England purposes, and certain sums, but not all they were entitled to, to other denominations.

        
The whole sum of £15,000 for a College and £20,000 towards promoting Steam Navigation, was never realised, but about £11,000 towards the one and £9000 towards the other was paid to the Company at the very first; but instead of applying it to the purposes for which it was subscribed they expended it in some other way.

        
The Company having received the money and spent it, the only chance the land purchasers had of seeing it back again, to be applied to the purposes for which they had originally subscribed it, was by appealing to the Government, who had undertaken to pay the unfortunate Company's debts.

        
The position of the settlement with reference to the question may be thus shortly stated:—In July, 1847, acting on a proposal coming from the Company, a re-adjustment scheme was agreed to by the settlers, and in due course of time received the cordial assent and approval of the Company, with this reservation, however, as regarded the Trust Fund—that the administration should be transferred to a Board, provided the Company possessed or could obtain the necessary powers. In accordance with the arrangement thus made, the resolutions, so 

far as they related to land were duly carried out, as we have seen by the allotment of compensation scrip, the purchase of Waitohi, and by a re-distribution of Nelson lands. But as regards the Trust Funds, the settlers, having received all sorts of evasive answers for a couple of years, were at length informed in the month of March, 1850, that the Company had no power to transfer its trust.

        
In the meantime, the settlers had proceeded to elect a Board—Messrs F. D. Bell and Francis Jollie being nominated by the Company—Messrs. J. Saxton and A. Fell were elected on behalf of absentee proprietors, and Messrs. Monro and Stephens on behalf of the resident landowners. A Board was thus called into existence for administering the Trust Funds. But, as already mentioned, the Company had by this time discovered that they could not transfer the Trust.

        
The land-owners were furious. They estimated that the funds due to them amounted to between £50,000 and £60,000, while the Company was know to have set apart only £25,000 as a sum "which may possibly be due".

        
They determined to place the matter in the hands of Mr. J. S. Tytler, one of the earliest Nelson settlers who had returned home, and was practising his profession as a Writer to the Signet in Edinburgh. An amicable arrangement was to be arrived at if possible—failing that Mr. Tytler was to take the best legal advice, and act accordingly.

        
Mr. Tytler was also informed that he would have the benefit of the advice of Mr. Henry Seymour, who had already left for England. "He has," they wrote, "kindly undertaken to see you on the matter of the Trust Funds, and you will probably derive much assistence from his advice and accurate knowledge of the various official documents bearing on the subject, as well as from his experience in everything which concerns this settlement. We trust that you will be enabled to have repeated meetings and conferences with this gentleman, whose sojourn in England will probably be of some months duration, and as his position as acting agent for the greater number of absentee proprietors of land in Nelson, will give him numerous opportunities of conferring with that body, and ascertaining their sentiments relative to the question at issue, it is hoped that your mutual efforts will tend greatly to facilitate the progress of a satisfactory adjustment of this momentous and perplexing question."

        
Mr. Tytler set to work with a will, and was ably supported by Messrs. Fox and Weld, who were then in England. The efforts made were successful, and on Christmas Day, 1851, the fine ship "Maori" came into Nelson harbour with Mr. Seymour on board, who brought the glad tidings that an Act had been passed by Parliament, by which it was agreed that the amount 

of the Trust Funds due to Nelson should be ascertained by the Commissioners of the Treasury, and thereafter vested in a Local Board upon the original Trusts. Mr. Seymour was some time after presented by the land-owners with some valuable plate in recognition of his services.

        
The utter breakdown of the Company is not attributable to any deliberate fraud or dishonesty, as was too frequently and too freely attributed to the Directors by the labourers, who were misled by the glowing representations of the Emigration Agents, and by the landowners. Both these bodies had substantial grievances, all of which may be set down to the mistaken policy of the system upon which the settlement was founded. The Directors were fully persuaded that plenty of land for settlement was obtainable—they never contemplated the possibility of what actually occurred. The result was hard upon their purchasers and labourers, and it was ruin to the Company. No one out of a Lunatic Asylum would have acted as they did but for the belief that a thriving settlement could be established, which would be the home of prosperous and contented settlers, and at the same time prove profitable to the Company. They intended well, they failed hopelessly, they made what reparation they could. It was not long before, with the surrender of their charter and the taking over by the Government of their assets and liabilities, the Company ceased to exist.

        
Early in 1847 the branch of the Union Bank of Australia, which had been established in Nelson at the foundation of the settlement, was removed, and at the end of 1849 Nelson was still without a Bank. This operated very injuriously; there being no longer the means of paying for imports by bank drafts, a great quantity of ready coin went out of the place without any corresponding supply coming in. The metallic currency almost disappeared, and the circulation was practically restricted to the Union Bank notes still in the place. Messrs. Morrison and Sclanders opened a small Bank of Deposit, and issued notes to the amount of some thousands, which were freely taken by the public. It is evident, however, that unless the parties were, as in this instance, of undoubted respectability, there was a great temptation to an over issue, which might, in the long run, have proved disastrous to the settlement. There had never been much "bad paper" in Nelson, and though, at auction, a great deal was sold on three and six months bills, they were almost without exception retired at maturity, and the tradesmen seldom made bad debts. There was no Bank in Nelson from early in 1847 to the middle of 1853, when the Union Bank of Australia again opened a branch.

        
With regard to the flax industry it is not a little singular that after all the experiments that had been made in the place, 

and the lavish expenditure of money by Europeans, the natives were still in 1849 the only producers of it in any quantity.

        
Mr. Fox resigned the Attorney-Generalship in October, 1848, in consequence of the Home Government having decided to suspend the Constitution Act for five years, and virtually leaving it to 
Sir George Grey to give or withhold representative institutions at his pleasure. Mr. Fox would only consent to hold office on the understanding that representative Councils would be given. The Governor declined giving any pledge, and Mr. Fox resigned. He addressed a stirring letter to the Nelson settlers, in which he exhorted them to be satisfied with no mutilated form of self-government, and reminding them that until they obtained 
bona fide representative Government, they would have no security for anything else.

        
A nominee Provincial Council for the Southern Province was established, and its sitting opened at Wellington. Messrs. H. Seymour, Greenwood, and Monro were the Nelson representatives. It by no means satisfied the aspirations of the people; and a monster petition was sent Home, in April, 1849, praying for real and not sham representative institutions.

        
Colonel Wakefield, the Principal Agent for the Company, died from apoplexy at Wellington in September, 1848. He paid several visits to Nelson, and one of his last acts was to arrange satisfactory terms for the settlement of the dispute between the land-owners and the Company.

        
On October 18, there was a severe shock of earthquake, which lasted several days. Much damage was done in Wellington, but with the exception of a few chimneys which were shaken down, there was little injury to property in Nelson, and no one was personally injured.

        
The foundation stone of the first Presbyterian Church was laid by the 
Rev. T. D. Nicholson on 22nd February, 1849. There was a large concourse of people, and the Episcopalian, Wesleyan Methodist, and Lutheran clergy were present. The church was opened for Divine worship on 24th December, 1849.

        
Mr. Joseph Packard was the first person to attempt to get cattle into the Takaka Valley. Messrs. Joseph Packard, Job Flowers, Alfred Wilson, and a Maori (Apiko) started from Riwaka in 1850 with twelve head of cattle for Motupipi. They were three days and four nights on the dividing range between Riwaka and Takaka, when having reached what is known as Pattie's Clearing, they had to return to Sandy Bay (Kai-teri-teri), the cattle being much lacerated and bruised by the limestone boulders. Their wives and families had in the meantime been taken round to Motupipi by Mr. Lovell in his whaleboat, and great was their anxiety about the overland party. After waiting a week a boat was procured from Nelson, and after another week's buffetting at sea Motupipi was safely reached. The first sawmill in that dis-
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trict
 was started at Motupipi, by Messrs. Joseph Packard, J. P. Robinson (afterwards Superintendent), C. Nicoll, and James Lovell. Ship-building was an early industry, several vessels being built at Motupipi, including one, the Wellington, of 100 tons. The first settlers in 
Golden Bay—several of whom are still living—(amongst these may be named Mr. and Mrs. Joseph Packard, Spittal, Vant, James, Ellis, and Berry)—suffered great hardships and privations; often their last meal was placed on the table, and they had to depend on the Maoris for a supply. Mrs. Vant tells of one of her people being glad of a bullock's head—decidedly high—which they scraped well and washed, and made soup of, and for which they were very grateful.

        
At the beginning of 1850 the total number of Europeans and natives in the Nelson settlement (including Wairoa, Waitohi, and Queen Charlotte Sound, which had been annexed to Nelson by Government purchases) was 4780. The total excess of births over deaths since the foundation of the settlement amounted to 821, or an annual average of about 103. The number of Europeans living within the Town boundary was 1297, and 2075 in the suburban and rural districts, giving 778 more people in the Country than in the Town. The value of the wheat and potato crop for 1849 was estimated at £26,000. The total value of the agricultural produce raised in the settlement during the eight years of its existence reached the sum of £121,786. But yet farming did not pay the gentlemen possessed of capital, who once were farming on a large scale, and were employers of labour on their own land, but had gradually been obliged to give it up and let it go into the hands of tenants or secondary purchasers, who could make it pay better than they could. The total value of stock of all kinds at the end of 1849 was nearly £80,000. The money value of the produce of the live stock for that year was £15,897, and the value of the meat supplied £8,000, which, taking the capital value at £80,000, gave a return of nearly 30 per cent. on the investment. Adding the agricultural to the pastoral returns, the result is, that the actual purchase or income of cultivation and live stock for 1849 was £50,588. In the three years, 1847-8-9, produce to the value of £14,400 was exported coastwise, chiefly to Wellington, of which amount £2,123 was for ale and beer, and £3,708 for flour. It is remarkable how, since 1846, the settlement had, from importing flour, become an exporter of it. The export of timber since 1846 amounted to 618,000 feet, and the wool during the same period to 144,900lbs. weight and £5,390 value, of which £2,258 was for 1849 alone.

        
In June, 1850, the foundation stone of Christ Church was laid by the Rev. H. F. Butt. The designs were furnished by the Rev. F. Thatcher, of Auckland. It was opened on Christmas Day, 1851, by Bishop Selwyn. On that occasion the 

Presbyterians and Wesleyans closed their Churches in order to take part in the services. This was another instance of the good-will which had always existed among the various denominations, and which exists still.

        
Early in 1851, the late Sir Frederick Weld, G.C.M.G., made some arduous and important explorations, travelling under many difficulties through the then unknown and difficult country between the Wairau and Port Cooper.

        
Increased demand for the produce of the settlement owing to the gold discoveries in Victoria in 1851 and 1852, conferred considerable benefit on the settlers. Fortunately few people left for the new El Dorado, although some, attracted by the exciting reports of rich finds, which from time to time reached the place, left to try their fortunes at the Australian diggings. This gold rush also had the effect of inducing a few to search for the precious metal in different parts of this settlement, but with no immediate success.

        
Nelson, with tantalising quantities of minerals, has been singularly unfortunate in endeavoring to work them. The fate of the first Coal Mining Company, formed in 1852, to work the coal at Pakawau, although brought out under the direction of some of the best men in the place, was not a success. It was the first of several similar adventures, most of which have proved equally unfortunate.

        
The first attempt at cloth-weaving was made by the late Mr. Thomas Blick in 1847-8. He had a good deal of trouble to get his loom built, but encouraged by several of the old settlers he persevered. The loom was principally constructed of wood, and bamboo split into reeds. The loom being built, the next thing was to get the wool spun into yarn. Fortunately some of the German immigrants had brought some of their spinning wheels with them from the Fatherland, and were very glad to turn them to use. A smart woman could spin about 1lb. of yarn in a day, for which she earned a shilling—and in those hard times was very thankful for it. The cloth produced was good strong stuff, although rather rough, but it sold well, and was worn by most of the gentry in the place. But times changed, and the Germans would no longer work for a shilling a day, and in consequence of this, and the heavy expense of handweaving, Mr. Blick was obliged to discontinue for a time. In 1858 he began again, enlarging his apparatus, which was now worked by a bullock, but to fulfill his desire to manufacture cloth in sufficient quantities to supply all Nelson, he utilised a small stream in Brook-street Valley, and erected an over-shot wheel of thirty feet diameter; the machinery was also added to by purchases from Sydney, and an article was turned out which, under the name of "Nelson Cloth," gained a good reputation. Mr. Blick died in November, 1860.
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Sir George Grey's Regulations.—The Constitution Act.—First Elections for House of Representatives.—Calls to the Legislative Council.—Our first Superintendent.—Provincial Council Elections.-—First Meeting. —First Provincial Executive.—Address to Major Richmond.— Steam Communication.—The "Nelson."—Deaths of 
Hon. C. A. Dillon and Mr. Otterson.-—Mr. Poynter appointed Resident Magistrate. —Pakawau Coals.—First Stag turned out.—Nelson Beer.—Town Drainage.—Earthquake.—Mr. F. A. Weld's Explorations.—Death of Mr. Stephens.—Education Act passed,—First Town Board.— Dun Mountain Copper.—Mr. Stafford appointed First Minister of the Crown.—Resigns Superintendency.—The Nelson "Supper Party "—Mr. J. P., Robinson elected Superintendent.—Nelson College started.—Motueka Gold Rush.—' Colonist' Newspaper.—Separation of Wairau.—Foundation Stones of Government Buildings and Nelson Institute laid.—Dr. Von Hochstetter.—Sixth Session of Provincial Council.-—Mineral Leases.—Compensation Claims.—Coal Company.

        

        

The famous Regulations for the Sale, Letting, Disposal, and Occupation of Waste Lands, commonly known as 
Sir George Grey's Regulations, came into operation in 1853. The 25th Regulation provided, that "the scrip to be issued in satisfaction of claims under land orders of the New Zealand Company shall be taken in payment for town and suburban land at the nominal value of such scrip in pounds sterling."

        
The price of rural lands outside hundreds was fixed at ten shillings per acre, to be paid in cash or scrip; but where the land from its hilly and broken character or otherwise was so unavailable for agricultural purposes that the Commissioner of Crown Lands shall certify that it was not worth ten shillings an acre, the lands so certified were to be surveyed and put up to auction at five shillings an acre, in blocks of not less than 80, nor more than 640 acres.

        
Under these provisions immense tracts of country were acquired by settlers in the Wairau and adjoining districts, at five shillings an acre, and paid for in some instances in scrip.

        
Where future lines of road had not been determined and laid out, a general right of road was reserved in the grant. This gave rise to much annoyance, inconvenience, and litigation.

        
The right of pre-emption of homesteads not exceeding 80 acres in extent was granted to runholders at a fixed price of either 10s. or 5s. per acre, according to the quality of the land.

        
These Eegulations cannot be said to have worked satisfactorily. Large areas of Crown lands were alienated far below their real value, and if a few became wealthy, many hampered themselves in order to acquire their freeholds, that it was years 

before they could free themselves from their embarrassments in some instances they could not do so at all, and their properties fell into other hands.

        
The Act to grant a Representative Constitution to the Colony of New Zealand was, by Proclamation of Governor Grey, brought into operation in the Colony on the 17th January, 1853. By another Proclamation, dated 28th February, the Provinces were established; and by a further Proclamation, dated the 5th March, the number of members of the House of Representatives was fixed at thirty-seven, of which number the Town of Nelson was to return two, the "Waimea District two, the Motueka and Massacre Bay District one, and the Wairau District one.

        
The number of members of the Nelson Provincial Council was fixed at fifteen, and the Province was divided into seven Electoral Districts for the election of the Superintendent and members of the Provincial Council.

        
The following were the Districts and the number of members of Provincial Council for each:—Town of Nelson, five members; Suburban Districts, one member; Waimea East District, two members; Waimea West District, one member; Waimea South District, two members; Motueka and Massacre Bay District, two members; Wairau District, two members. The qualifications of voters were (1) a freehold situate within the District in which the vote was to be given of the clear value of £50; (2) a leasehold of the annual value of £40, having three years to run, or of which the claimant had been in possession for three years; (3) household, of the annual value of £.10 in the Town, or of £5 in the Country, the applicant having resided therein for six months.

        
The Constitution Act, if it did not give the people all they desired, was a substantial recognition of their just rights. Vote by ballot and manhood suffrage, were as yet beyond the pale of practical politics, and "one man one vote" had not even been heard of.

        
The first election for members of the House of Representatives for the Town of Nelson took place on the 25th July, 1853. There was very little interest taken in the proceedings—surprisingly little—considering the past agitation for representative institutions. There were only two candidates nominated—
Mr. W. T. L. Travers and Mr. James Mackay, and they were, of course, returned unopposed. For the Wairau there was also no opposition to Mr. Frederick Aloysius Weld; but for the Waimea District there was a contest. The candicandidates were Dr. Monro, and Messrs. W. 0. Cautley, J. W. Saxton, and C. Elliott. Dr. Monro and Mr. Cautley were elected. For the Motueka and Massacre Bay District, there was also a contest between Mr. Picard and Mr. S. Stephens; the former was returned by 44 votes to 32. Mr. Travers resigned his seat for Nelson in the following August, mainly because, having in 

the meantime been defeated at the election for members of the Provincial Council, he considered that fact to indicate that he no longer possessed the confidence of the electors. The election to fill the vacant seat did rot take place until June, 1854, when Mr. Stephens was returned. Mr. Cautley also resigned for the Waimeas, when the vacant seat was contested by Mr. Travers and Mr. Jollie, resulting in the return of the former by 126 to 71.

        
The following gentlemen were called to the Legislative Council in April, 1854, as representatives of the Nelson Settlement:— The Hons. Henry Seymour, 
Ralph Richardson, and 
Mathew Richmond.

        
The first meeting of the General Assembly was held in Auckland on 24th May, 1854, at which all the Nelson representatives in both Houses attended except Mr. Cautley and Mr. Travers.

        

Sir George Grey had left for England, and Colonel Wynyard administered the Government until the arrival of the new Governor, Colonel Gore Browne, a few months later.

        
For the position of first Superintendent of the Province of Nelron there were three candidates—
Mr. E. W. Stafford, Mr. Francis Jollie, and 
Mr. J. W. Saxton. Some months previous to the election the newspapers teemed with letters advocating the merits of the different candidates. A "Nelson Political Union" was formed, and at one of the meetings a resolution was carried that a deputation should wait upon Messrs. Stafford and Saxton for the purpose of suggesting to those gentlemen the expediency of one of them withdrawing from the contest "in order to avoid any danger to the cause by a split in the Liberal party." But neither candidate was willing to retire. The nomination took place on Friday, 15th May, 1853, when 
Mr. J. W. Saxton was proposed by Mr. Travers, and seconded by Mr. Collins; Mr. F. Jollie was proposed by Dr. Monro, and seconded by Mr. Sclanders; and Mr. E, W. Stafford was proposed by Mr. Elliott, and seconded by Mr. Nixon. The show of hands was in favour of Mr. Stafford. The election took place on 1st August, and resulted in the return of Mr. Stafford, the numbers being— Stafford, 251; Saxton, 206; Jollie, 130.

        
For the five Town seats in the Provincial Council seven persons were nominated, viz:—W. T. L. Travers, Dr. Bush, Dr. Renwick, Dr. Sinclair, H. Adams, W. Hough, arid —. Richardson. The election passed off quietly. In this, as in all the first elections, the question was mainly a personal one—there being as yet no Provincial political parties, and no burning public questions.

        
Messrs. Sinclair, Renwick, Hough, Bush, and H. Adams were the first members for the Town in the Nelson Provincial Council.

        
For the Wairau, Messrs. Charles Elliott and Joseph Ward 

were returned without opposition. For Waimea East there was also no contest, Messrs. F. Otterson and J. W. Barnicoat being the only candidates nominated. Dr. Monro for Waimea West, and Mr. Wm. Collins for the Suburban Districts, were likewise elected unopposed.

        
In Waimea South there were four candidates for the two seats—Messrs. Baigent, Saxton, Dickenson, and Creasy. The result of the poll was—Baigent 72, Saxton 35, Dickenson 25, and Creasy 18.

        
For the Motueka and Massacre Bay District, there was also a contest for the two seats. The candidates were—Messrs. Stephens, Parker, and Picard. The numbers polled were— Stephens 48, Parker 36, Picard 24.

        
The first meeting of the Provincial Council was held in the Court House on the 3rd November, 1853. It is a memorable event in the history of the settlement. Not only had representation in the General Assembly been conceded, but a local Government, endowed with far more extensive powers than scarcely anyone, at first, had any idea of, had been granted to the people. With certain exceptions, the Provincial Councils possessed powers, enabling them either by new enactments, or by amending existing Ordinances, to make all laws necessary for the peace, order, and good government of the respective Provinces. Great as were these original powers, they became greater—partly by legislation, which enabled the Governor to delegate very important powers to the Superintendents. These, as a rule, were exercised with the advice of the Provincial Executives, and they being more or less responsible to the Provincial Councils, the latter had practically, if not directly, a potent voice in deciding how the "delegated powers" should be exercised.

        
There was a good deal of form and ceremony about the opening of the first Nelson Provincial Council. The Jury box was filled with gaily attired ladies; the body of the Court crowded with the public, whilst the porch of the building was reserved for the Magistrates and Clergy, who mustered in full force.

        
The proceedings were conducted upon strict Parliamentary lines. The election of Speaker was the first business transacted. Dr. Renwick proposed, and Mr. F. Otterson seconded, Mr. Donald Sinclair. There being no other candidate, Mr. Sinclair was declared elected, and conducted to the chair by his proposer and seconder. The election having been duly notified to the Superintendent, who was pleased to signify his approval of the same, members were informed that his Honor would address the Council. Here all rose, as his Honor the Superintendent entered the Council with slow and dignified steps, and, having reached the chair, sat down and put his hat on—a proceeding which was afterwards ridiculed by Dr. Monro and others. His 

Honor then read the address, which referred at some length to the important powers conferred on the Council; the financial position; the necessity of constructing and repairing roads and bridges; the purchase from the natives of all the land in the Province and D'Urville's Island; and the evidences of large mineral wealth within the Provincial boundaries. His Honor then retired. From the first the inconvenience of there being no Executive Government, or anyone who could act as a medium of communication between the Council and the Superintendent, was strongly felt; and it is not surprising that most of the first session was occupied in discussing an Executive Government Act, which, as finally passed, provided partially for the Executive being responsible.

        
The first Executive Government was appointed on 6th January, 1854. Mr. Poynter was made Provincial Treasurer, and Mr. Henry Adams Provincial Solicitor. There was no provision for a Provincial Secretary. Mr. Adams, being an Executive officer who was responsible to the Council, had to resign his seat on accepting office and go to his constituents. He was opposed by Mr. Travers, who was nominated during his absence in Auckland, but was re-elected by 109 to 48. The Superintendent also appointed Mr. Alfred Greenfield to be Clerk to the Superintendent; Mr. Alfred Dobson, C.E., to be Commissioner of Public Works; and Mr. John Sharp to be a member of the Board of Audit for the Province.

        
A very numerously signed address was presented in November, 1853, to Major Richmond upon his retiring from the position of Superintendent, or, as he put it in his felicitously-worded reply, on his " declining to be put in nomination as Superintendent under the new Constitution." For six years, the Major, whose appointment to Nelson was at first bitterly opposed, had by the just and impartial manner in which he had performed his duties, and, to use the language of the address, the high moral example which he had shown to the community, the uniform kindness of his conduct and manner, and his liberal and unostentatious hospitality, won the hearty esteem and approbation of the whole community.

        
The early opposition to Major Richmond's appointment arose out of the native troubles, and especially the Wairau affair. But even those who were most bitterly opposed to him at that time, could not but admit that he did nothing but his duty as an Imperial officer in carrying out the instructions and the policy of the Imperial authorities.

        
The desirability of establishing steam communication had never been lost sign of. It was specially provided for in the Company's original prospectus; but their difficulties prevented anything being done. In June, 1853, however, information was received that a steamer of between 300 and 400 tons burthen, to 

be called the "Nelson," was to be sent out by Messrs. Willis and Co. about the beginning of July. She was intended to run between the different settlements of New Zealand, but to make Nelson her central port. Messrs. A. Fell & Co. were to be the agents. She arrived on Sunday, the 5th March, 1854. The "Nelson" was soon put into commission, and ran regular trips to Wellington, New Plymouth, Manukau, and Otago. The fares were, from Nelson to Wellington or New Plymouth, £5; to Manukau, &7 10s.; and to Otago, £10. The "Nelson" continued running until May, 1855. Notice was given some time before that she would be withdrawn unless her owners could dispose of her to parties willing to continue her in the trade. No purchaser being found, she discontinued running, and left for England under sail, laden with wool. Thus ended the first attempt to establish inter-provincial steam communication.

        
The settlement sustained no ordinary loss by the death of the 
Hon. C. A. Dillon, who was drowned in attempting to cross the Wairau on the 16th April, 1853. Mr Dillon was one of the band of enterprising men who risked life and fortune in founding the settlement. A man of highly benevolent nature, his hand was always open to relieve the distressed, and he was always a foremost supporter of any movement having for its object the welfare of Nelson. His loss was severely felt, and he was sincerely mourned. He had acted for some tirne as Civil Secretary to the Colonial Government, and at the time of his death was Commissioner of Crown Lands for Nelson district.

        
In October of the following year Nelson lost another of her earliest and valuable settlers in the same manner. Mr F. Otterson was drowned whilst crossing the Wairau on the 19th of the above month. He was highly esteemed by all classes of settlers. Although brought up to mercantile pursuits, he was one of the first to break up the soil, his farm, "Rostrevor," was looked upon as one of the best in the settlement, and his stock and produce commanded the highest price in the market. The pall bearers at his funeral were his Honor the Superintendent, Major Richmond, 
Mr J. W. Saxton, Dr Monro, Mr C. B. Wither and Mr W. 0. Cautley. The body was borne to the grave by eight men who had worked on his farm. Nearly one hundred horsemen followed, four abreast, and the rear was brought up by a large number on foot. The funeral service was performed by the Rev. Father Garin, S.M.

        
The vacancy caused in 'the Provincial Council for the Waimea district by the death of Mr Otterson, was filled by the election of Mr Cautley, who defeated Dr Muller.

        
Major Richmond resigned the appointment of Resident Magistrate early in April, 1854, and was succeeded by Mr John Poynter, who took his seat on the Bench for the first time on the 26th April.

        


        
Pakawau coals were regularly sold in Nelson. A supply was kept by Mr J. Watts, at his yards at Auckland Point, but they seem to have been dear; at all events, the blacksmiths gave the high price of coals as a reason for combining to fix a scale of charges. The charge for shoeing horses was fixed at 12s.; cart axles and arms, per lb., Is. 6d.; cart wheel hoops, per lb., Is. This scale was agreed to by Thomas Rollison, R. Watson, S. Stone, J. Newman, Thomas Wimsett, and J. Gay.

        
In September, 1854, the first stag was turned out on the hills between Waimea road and the mouth of the Waimea river. It was brought to the Colony in the ship "Eagle." Two hinds were sent for from England, which were turned out to keep him company.

        
In connection with the breweries, Mr "Barley, owner of the Nelson brewery, notified that in consequence of the high price of labor, and the number of hands required in his establishment, he was compelled to balance his books quarterly, and all moneys due after those dates would be charged with ten per cent interest. Messrs. Hooper & Co. also notified a change in their firm, which in future would consist of G. Hooper and J. R. Dodson, who had taken over the brewery formerly held by Thomas Renwick and George Hooper, under the style or firm of Hooper & Co. Nelson beer commanded a steady market in the other settlements, especially in Wellington and Auckland.

        
The second session of the Nelson Provincial Council was opened on 22nd November, 1854. The principal business transacted was to increase the number of members from 15 to 24. Of these a new district—Amuri—was to return one member. Although nothing was done, the Council discussed the important question of draining the Town. It was pointed out that like most newly-formed towns, Nelson began with open drains and cesspools, pigsties, dung-heaps, slaughter-houses, and other pestilential hot-beds, which were suffered to be formed without restriction, and that, as population increased, so did the pollution of the soil and atmosphere, until its effects on the community had become a grave question. In connection with this, the necessity for a water-supply (and the facilities for getting it) was first mooted.

        
One of the most severe earthquakes ever experienced in Nelson occurred on Tuesday, the 22nd January, 1855. Several chimneys were damaged or thrown down, and some property was destroyed in stores and private houses. The only human being injured was a little son of Mr. A. MacDonald's, of the Union Bank, who while lying in his cot was slightly struck by some falling brick-work.

        
On 2nd March, 1855, Mr. Stephen Lunn Muller was appointed Provincial Secretary, under the provisions of an Amended Executive Council Ordinance passed during the recent sitting of 

the Provincial Council. Mr. Cyrus Goulter was appointed Assistant Commissioner of Public Works.

        
Mr. Weld, who had been engaged in making further explorations, succeeded in discovering a perfectly practicable route to Canterbury by way of the Wairau Gorge, which shortened the distance between Nelson and Christchurch by little short of 150 miles, and likewise avoided the worst portions of the existing road. In June, 1855, Mr. Weld resigned his seat for the Wairau, being about to visit England. Before leaving he was entertained, at a dinner at the Trafalgar Hotel.

        
On the 26th June, 1855, Mr. S. Stephens died. He came out as Principal Officer on the Surveying staff with the Preliminary Expedition, and from his many estimable qualities was much, respected. At the time of his death he was member for Nelson in the House of Representatives, and for Motueka in the Provincial Council.

        
The commencement of the year 1856 found Nelson, in connection with the other Provinces of New Zealand, suffering from the depression caused by the cessation of that demand for produce, at high rates, which had been the result of the Australian gold discoveries. That period of depression was followed by a more healthy, if apparently a less prosperous, state of things, and the desire to speculate in land was less popular.

        
The third session of the Provincial Council (the number of members having been increased from fifteen to twenty-four) began its sittings on the 22nd January, and concluded on the 5th April. The principal result of this session was the passing of the Education Act, to which more extended reference is made in the next chapter; the Country Roads Act, and the Nelson Improvement Act. But the two latter Acts were not brought into operation; because it being optional with the various districts to bring, them into force or not, they decided not to do so, many of the provisions being extremely unpalatable.

        
During the next session, however, an Act was passed enabling the former Act to be brought into operation, and on the 30th July, 1857, the first Town Board was elected. The first members were Massrs. M. Bury, Luck, C. Harley, Norgrove, Edwards, Webb, and Rankin. Of these Mr. Bury and Mr. Charles. Harley are the only survivors. It is an interesting fact, that although Mr. Harley has not taken himself an active part for some years in Municipal politics, yet from the establishment of the first Town Board to the present time, one or two of his sons have been found amongst the representatives of the citizens either on the Town Board, or its successor, the Corporation.

        
During 1856, some 15 or 20 tons of copper ore, procured from the Dun Mountain mine, and sent to England, created there so favourable an impression, that the Dun Mountain Copper Mining Company was formed in London, and an engineer, a staff 

of miners, and the plant for a railway, were sent-out. Operations, however, were not attended with the success anticipated. The iron rails were laid down, and the railway trucks placed upon them, but very little copper was found, although there was an abundance of chrome. A quantity was shipped Home, but it was found it would not pay. Ultimately the Company was wound up, and its plant and property sold. All that remains is the track made for the railway, which makes the walk up to the Dun Mountain comparatively easy, and the short bit of tram line from Nelson to the Port, which, having passed into private hands, has survived all vicissitudes; and upon which the Port 'Bus runs, as it has for years, for the conveyance of passengers, at a safe and slow pace, for the sum of threepence per head.

        
Another Company was formed in October, 1856, to work some lodes of copper said to have been discovered at the Croixelles by a miner named Marsden. The mine appeared to offer such good prospects that the shares were all immediately taken up; but after various flickerings of the hopes and expectations of the shareholders, the operations ceased.

        
Consequent upon the establishment of Responsible Government for the Colony, and of his having accepted the position of. First Minister of the Crown, Mr. Stafford resigned the Superintendency of Nelson in October, 1856. He had conducted the duties of the office with conspicuous ability, and his name will ever hold a prominent place in the local history of the settlement, not only as its first elected Superintendent, but also as one of its earliest and most valuable settlers and foremost public men.

        
It has been already mentioned that the resident original land purchasers formed themselves into a Society to watch over their own interest. When the New Zealand Company practically ceased to exist, this party, which was long known as the "Nelson Supper Party," became the dominant power in the settlement. The Governor made all appointments by their advice; they acquired the control of the only newspaper in the place; the land regulations were made to suit them; the runs were divided amongst them; and the Nelson Special Jury was composed entirely of themselves and their friends.

        
The contest that followed upon Mr. Stafford's resignation of the Superintendency, was the keenest, best fought, political battle ever seen in Nelson, and on very distinct lines. The "Nelson Supper Party" put forward their leader, and by far their best and ablest man, in the person of Doctor, afterwards 
Sir David Monro. The people of Nelson who were most hostile to the "Supper Party" reluctantly opposed so good and popular a man as Dr. Monro; and as those were not the days of manhood suffrage, vote by ballot, and one man one vote, they had no great confidence in being able to oppose him successfully. After many 

consultations they decided to bring forward Mr. J. P. Robinson.

        
Mr. John Perry Robinson was a highly worthy and intelligent mechanic, who was at the time away at Motupipi with some partners erecting a sawmill. He was a member of the Nelson Provincial Council, and was remarkably well up in English politics. He had distinguished himself, whilst working for the New Zealand Company, by the wisdom and moderation of his advice to his fellow workmen.

        
The election was conducted in a highly creditable manner, with the result that Mr. Robinson was elected by a very small majority; but that majority was increased at each succeeding election, and he continued to hold the important office of Superintendent the highest in the gift of his fellow settlers—until he was drowned accidentally by the upsetting of a boat at the mouth of the Buller Eiver on 28th January, 1864.

        
The new Superintendent began the duties of his office under considerable difficulties, including an empty treasury, and the fact that he was surrounded by men in office who had been his political opponents. But the result of his nine months' occupation of the office was, that he was, as above mentioned, again returned by a large majority over the only opposing candidate, 
Mr. J. W. Saxton.

        
On 8th September, 1856, 
Mr. Alfred Domett was appointed Commissioner of Crown Lands for Nelson, in succession to the Hon. Major Richmond, who resigned the appointment.

        
During this year the Nelson College was started in a temporary building in Manuka-street. The present building was not erected until 1858. The history of this establishment is detailed in another chapter.

        
The discovery of gold in the Motueka district was another fact of the year 1856; at one time as many as 300 people were digging there. The owners of boats plying between Nelson and Motueka congratulated themselves that the golden age had arrived, and having reaped a rich harvest by carrying passengers and goods to the diggings, soon had the opportunity of repeating the experiment upon those who had any money left to pay for their passage home; for these diggings were soon deserted, as the gold was obtained in such small quantities as to render the occupation unremunerative. Before this gold had been discovered in various parts of Massacre Bay, and some time after the Motueka rush a bonus of £500 was offered for the discovery of a payable goldfield.

        
The first number of the ' Colonist' newspaper was published on 23rd October, 1857, in a small way and with very little outlay. Mr. Wilkie found most of the money necessary, and Mr. Saunders wrote the first three articles. The paper came out triweekly as the organ of the working men's Superintendent (Mr.
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Robinson) and his party. It has outlived its more pretentious rival, the ' Examiner,' and has been for some years a daily paper; its politics being those of what is called the Liberal party.

        
The New Provinces Act was passed in 1858, and the Wairau took advantage of its provisions to separate from Nelson, and the new Province of Marlborough was created. The agitation had been going on for some time. It was the old story. The settlers complained that the bulk of the revenue was spent in the Town, whilst the country districts were left without roads or bridges; and that although they contributed largely to the Provincial Treasury, they had not a due share of the representation in the Provincial Council, where they were steadily outvoted by the members for the Town and districts adjacent to it. There was also a special cause of irritation in the case of the Wairau, namely, that whilst extensive tracts of country had been sold under 
Sir George Grey's Regulations, hardly any of the money received had been expended in necessary local works. There was no very strong opposition in Nelson to the separation; it was what may be termed a friendly good-bye. The first elected Superintendent of the newly-created Province, was the late Mr. "William Adams, of Langleydale, Wairau, and for several years head of the firm of Adams and Kingdon, Solicitors, Nelson.

        
On the 26th August, 1859, the foundation stones of the Government Buildings, and of the Nelson Institute, were laid. The architect for both was Mr. Maxwell Bury. The Superintendent performed the ceremony at the Government Buildings; and the first stone of the Institute was laid by Dr. Von Hochstetter, who in the capacity of Geologist, was a member of the Expedition fitted out under the orders of H.I.H. the Archduke Ferdinand Maximilian for a voyage round the world. Dr. Von Hochstetter arrived in New Zealand towards the end of 1858, in the Austrian frigate "Novara." By arrangements, made between the Commander of the Expedition, Baron Von Wiillerstorf-Urbair, and the Colonial Government, the Doctor was enabled to devote himself for nearly nine months to the exploration of New Zealand. He spent some time in the Nelson district, and has left a valuable and interesting description of its geological formation and mineral resources, in the book he wrote and published in 1867, entitled "New Zealand; its Physical Geography, Geology, and Natural History." Dr. Von Hochstetter, speaking of the Town, says: "On account of its beautiful site and its delightful climate, Nelson is justly considered one of the most pleasant places of sojourn in New Zealand. The impression made by the snug little cottages, surrounded by beautiful gardens, is an extremely cheerfulone."

        
To the ceremony of laying the foundation stone of the Institute, the Doctor refers as follows:—" I was honored by the inhabitants with the office of laying the corner-stone of an 
edi-

fice designed for the noble purposes of art and science,- the Nelson Institute. Certainly a most cheering and memorable epoch in the history and development of the young colony, when the enterprising pioneers, after the toils and labours of their settling down had succeeded—after their houses had been roofed over, and fields and meadows put in due order—now direct their attention also to the nobler purposes of life, to the nursing of the blossoms and fruits of our civilization, of art and science."

        
The beginning of the year had been marked by the fact, that the Nelson Literary and Scientific Institution—-which ever since the foundation of the settlement had held a steady and useful, though somewhat slow, career—was remodelled under the less assuming name of the Nelson Institute; the rate of subscription was lowered; the mode of admission to the right of membership was made more simple; and its improved popularity was at once attested by a large increase of members. Later in the year, encouraged by a liberal vote of money, by a loan of money from the Nelson Trust Funds, and by numerous promises of support from the community, the Committee resolved to erect' a building that should be worthy the objects for which the Institution had been formed. A piece of ground was obtained from the Provincial Government; the necessary plans and designs were prepared by Mr. Maxwell Bury; and the foundation stone was laid, as mentioned, by 
Dr. Ferdinand Hochstetter on the 26th August.

        
The first Bishop of Nelson, the Right Rev. 
Edmund Hobhouse, D.D., arrived in April, 1859, and was formally installed into his See on the 26th of that month, and the Town of Nelson was, by Royal command, authorised to be styled the City of Nelson. At this time Nelson exhibited little of that bustle and activity that should characterise a City; but there was a great improvement in the street architecture—ricketty, barn-like stores had given place to handsome shops, and the old packing-case style of houses had been superseded, in many instances by dwellings having some pretensions to taste and comfort.

        
On the 12th April, the sixth session of the Provincial Council was opened by the Superintendent. His Honour on that occasion congratulated the Province on its increasing prosperity, as evidenced by the absence of crime, and the great additions to its revenue—the estimate for the previous year having been exceeded by about £8000. lie informed them that great progress had been made in the survey of lands, with the view to opening up and settlement of the country; and he proposed to expend the surplus revenue in the formation of great trunk lines of road throughout the length and breadth of the whole Province. On the subject of the goldfields, his Honor stated his conviction that their produce would continue to form the staple export of the Province; and he informed the Council that he had declined 

acceding to a request for a lease, for twenty-one years, of a "block of four square miles of the auriferous land of the Collingwood district." Then, after enumerating the Bills proposed to be sent down, his Honour concluded his address by expresing his confidence that the deliberations of the Cohncil would contribute to realise for the future of the Province even a larger amount of prosperity than it then enjoyed.

        
It may here be noted that the prosperity alluded to was more imaginary than real; unless the mere fact of the Provincial coffers being in a somewhat plethoric state could be said to betoken a prosperous community. Nor should it be forgotten that much of this revenue was derived from the sale of land, in some instances in blocks of upwards of 8000 acres, bonght by the same person, at the absurdly low price of 5s an acre; this land being probably some of the very best in the Colony, and which, if it had been on the other side of the southern boundary of the Province, would have obtained a price of £2 or £3 an acre.

        
But to return to the Provincial Council. The session promised to be a short one, inasmuch as no Bills of any great public interest were likely to be submitted. One of the first important debates of the session was on the subject of mineral leases; and as the question excited very considerable interest, both in the House and out of doors, it may not be amiss to give some few particulars.

        
Soon after the close of the preceding session of the Council, Mr. Gibbs (a gentleman of almost European reputation in connection with mining and engineering matters) applied, as the authorised agent of the Metallurgic Company of London, for a lease of land, to the extent of two square miles, in the Aorere district for the purpose of working the minerals in accordance with the Land Eegulations then in force. Mr. Gibbs also applied for a mineral lease, of a similar extent of country, for himself. He had been engaged for some months in experimental operations on the land (some of which land had been formerly worked by individual diggers, but was then deserted); he had brought to the Province a quantity of expensive machinery connected with gold mining; and he promised that, if the leases were granted, operations would be at once commenced, and a considerable outlay in the employment of labour would be made. But the Executive refused to grant the leases, on the ground that they were not warranted in granting them by the then existing Land Regulations, which were passed at a time when the finding of gold in the Province was not dreamt of, and the clauses of which respecting mineral leases referred, it was contended, only to copper, coal, and similar minerals, and not to gold. Exception was also taken to the large amount of country applied for.

        
The result of the refusal of these applications was that Mr. Gibbs returned to England. But the question was brought on 

for discussion by Mr. 0. Curtis, in his seat in Council; and, after a lengthy and warm debate, a resolution condemnatory of the conduct of the Government in this matter was carried by a majority of twelve to seven.

        
To allude to the arguments used on either side during the above discussion would occupy too much space; but suffice it to say, that, although the resolution was carried, the Executive did not exhibit the least inclination to resign their seats. Towards the close of the session, however, Mr. Elliott proposed an address to the Governor, requesting his Excellency to dissolve the Provincial Council. The old ground of mineral leases was again gone over, but the resolution was carried by a majority of only one; three of the members who had on the previous occasion supported the opposition voting with the Government. The reply to this address (which was received some time after the close of the session) was to the effect that the General Government did not consider it advisable to accede to the request.

        
The report of the Compensation Commisioners (appointed by an Act of the previous session, for the purpose of investigating the claims of the New Zealand Company's labourers and others to compensation, on account of hardships sustained during the early days' of the Province) was sent down to the Council, and showed that 445 claims had been received, for sum s varying from £30 to £500; and one modest individual valued his losses and hardships at £11,000. The report was submitted to a Select Committee, who recommended that the compensation should be given in land; and a Bill was passed for the purpose of enabling the Superintendent to appropriate land for the purpose. But this Bill, with several others, was disallowed by the General Government.

        
A Company was formed to work the coal discovered on Mr. Jenkins' land, near Stoke, but, having expended all their necessary capital in an unsuccessful endeavor to discover a paying seam of coal, the operations ceased, and the Company, except in name, became defunct. Later on, Mr. Jenkins commenced again to work the coal, and good household fuel was sent into town at the rate of two tons a day, and found a ready sale.
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The Taranaki Refugees.—Trafalgar Park.—Railway Proposals—Volunteer Corps established.—Explorations by 
Mr. W. T. L. Travers, 
Sir Julius Von Haast, Mr. James Mackay, jun., Mr. Rochfort, and Mr. Burnett.—Wreck of the Delaware.—Presentation to Julia, Martin, and other Maoris.—Opening up the Interior. —Track down the Buller.—Progress of Gold Mining.—Depression in Nelson —West Coast Rush.—Effect in Nelson.—The Superintendent and three others drowned.—Character of Mr. Robinson.— Sorrow of the Nelson People.—Mr. Saunders elected Superintendent. His first Executive.—
Mr. J. C. Richmond resigns as Commissioner of Crown Lands.—Mr. Saunders' Political Difficulties.—Dissolution of Provincial Council.—Mr. Saunders re-elected Superintendent.— Provincial Council Elections.—Steamer "Kennedy" arrives.—The Steamer "Nelson."—First Steamer to enter Hokitika River.

        

        

During the Taranaki War in 1860 the wives and children of many of the settlers there were removed to Nelson. When news of the outbreak of hostilities arrived, very strong sympathy was aroused. A public meeting was held, at which the Superintendent, Mr. Robinson, presided. Subscription lists were opened, and an immediate asylum was offered. The offer was accepted, and for months the Taranaki refugees continued to arrive. The country people of the Waimea and Motueka vied with the residents of the Town in offering them hospitality. Many of the refugees were received into private families, but accommodation of this kind was limited. The Oddfellows, true to the benevolent principles of the Order, gave up their Hall and buildings for several months without charge, and at considerable pecuniary loss. Shortly after, the support of the refugees was undertaken by the Nelson Provincial Government, and afterwards by the Colonial Government.

        
The Provincial Council found the money for the erection of cottages, long known as the "Taranaki Buildings," which were subsequently utilised for some years as a refuge for the aged and infirm. In addition to the voluntary subscriptions of the Nelson people, the settlers of other parts of the Colony contributed to the fund; the Provincial Councils of Otago and Wellington voted sums for the same purpose; and even Australia sent substantial aid.

        
At one time there were nearly 1,200 Taranaki settlers, including women and children, staying in Nelson. After the close, of the war free passages were offered to the refugees, from Nelson to Taranaki, of which the great majority took advantage, but some few elected to remain.

        
The funds collected were vested in a Committee, who, after upplying the immediate wants of the refugees, found that they 

had an unexpended balance of £500, which was not required for the purposes for which it was subscribed. This money was placed upon deposit in the Union Bank of Australia, Limited, at Nelson, at interest, and was re-deposited from time to time.

        
On the 6th July, 1891, this sum had increased from £500 to £1667 19s. 9d. The surviving members of the Committee. viz.: 
Mr. Oswald Curtis, Mr. William Wells, Mr. Edward Everett, and 
Mr. W. T. L. Travers, concurred in the application to Parliament to allow this money to be expended in the purchase of Trafalgar Park, containing fifteen acres, to be vested in the Mayor and Corporation of the City, to be used as a recreation ground, and for other purposes'connected with the athletic sports and other recreations of the inhabitants of Nelson and the surrounding districts. A Bill was introduced and passed into law by which this object was effected.

        
Trafalgar Park is mostly land which has been reclaimed from the Mud-flat by the Athletic Ground Company, Limited, with the view of letting it for cricket, football, and bicycle matches, and other sports and athletic recreations. Unfortunately, the speculation did not pay—the Company expended all their capital, and had to mortgage their property, the interest upon which they could not pay. The mortgagee being willing to sell it, at the price named, it has been acquired, in the way described, for the people of Nelson. It is not a little curious that so long ago as 1863 a proposal was unsuccessfully made in the Provincial Council to expend £2000 in reclaiming part of the Mudflat for a recreation ground. There was strong opposition by the Country members to the Provincial funds being expended in this way. But, thanks to the judicious nursing of the Taranaki fund, the Mudflat Recreation Ground, or, as it is more euphoniously styled, Trafalgar Park, has, with the sanction of the surviving members of the Committee, and the approval of Parliament, become the property of the citizens of Nelson without drawing upon the public or municipal chest.

        
Various proposals with regard to Railways were mooted as early as 1860. One was to make a line to Wangapeka, another to the Waimeas, and another to Motueka, and the possibility of bringing the West Coast into railroad communication with Nelson was even talked about; indeed, the latter may be said never to have been lost sight of from that time. The late Mr. Charles Elliott, who was from the first an enthusiastic supporter of a railway to the Coast, stated at a public meeting in 1863 that his proposals to the Superintendent in that direction had been received with "a smile;" "but, added Mr. Elliott, "I believe that within ten years a railway will be running through the Waimeas, and will eventually be carried right through." He was so far right, that the first sod of the Nelson and Foxhill railway was cut in May, 1873—and it is hoped that 

the latter part of his prediction will be shortly an accomplished fact.

        
The outbreak of hostilities at Taranaki led to the establishment of a Volunteer Corps in Nelson. A meeting was held at the Wakatu Hotel on 16th February, 1860, at which it was resolved, That a Company of Volunteers for military service should be at once formed, to be called the Nelson Company of Volunteers, to consist of 75 rank and file; and a Committee of the following gentlemen was formed for the purpose of carrying out the object of the resolution, viz.: W. T. L. Travers, B. Walmsley, D. Walmsley, D. Sinclair, H. E. Curtis, J. Percy, J. Millar, and C. Elliott.

        
The swearing in of No. 1 Company took place on 5th April, at the Court House. Mr. Travers had been duly appointed Captain; Mr. S. Kingdon, Lieutenant; and Mr. H. E. Curtis, Ensign. Mr. J. Lockett was appointed Captain and Adjutant in the Nelson Battalion of the New Zealand Militia, who were actually called out but disbanded in a few days, the Government preferring to depend upon the patriotic spirit of the Volunteers.

        
In the Town, a second Corps, called the No. 2 Company Rifle Corps, was formed, of which Mr. N. Edwards was elected Captain; A. Kerr, Lieutenant; B. 0. Hodgson, Ensign. The Nelson Volunteer Naval Artillery Company was formed at the Port, under the express sanction and wish of Major Richmond, and with the advice and assistance of Lieutenant Pocock, R.N., of Motueka. The first officers were—William Akersfen, Captain; Thomas Trewhellar, 1st Lieutenant; Frederick Stock, 2nd Lieutenant; Thomas Simcoe, Gunner; Thomas Brown, Carpenter.

        
The Country districts were equally full of volunteering ardour, and the following Companies were promptly formed:— 
Suburban North: Captain James Mackay; Lieutenant, A. S. Collins; Ensign. 
D. Slater. 
Motueka: Captain, F. Horneman; Lieutenant, C. Pocock; Ensign, Graham Greenwood. 
Waimea East: Captain, George Sparrow; Lieutenant, Charles Muntz; Ensign, Robert Malcolm. 
Waimea South: Captain, John Wilson; Lieutenant, 
D. Warnock; Ensign, J. Squires. 
Waimea West: Captain, N. G. Morse; Lieutenant, John Ayers; Ensign, Charles Eedwood. 
Moutere: Captain, C. F. Selling; Lieutenant, C. H. Bensemann; Ensign, W. Cook. The intense dislike to joining the Militia was one cause why so many Volunteer Corps were formed, Volunteers being by law exempted from serving in the Militia.

        
The separation of Wairau was a serious loss to Nelson, and the people looked to the settlement of, and connection with the West Coast, as likely to repay that loss twofold. Three expeditions were organised in 1859-60 with a view of thoroughly exploring the district, and these were placed under the charge of Mr. 


John Rochfort, Mr. James Mackay, jum, and Mr. Haast (afterwards 
Sir Julius Von Haast, K.C.M.G.) Mr. Rochfort had already made an expedition to the "West Coast, and given much interesting and valuable information respecting the auriferous character of the river beds and the coal deposits. 
Mr. W. T. L. Travers, District Judge of Nelson, undertook an exploration, the main objects being to discover the sources of the Waiau-ua, and to ascertain whether any practicable pass could be obtained from the valley of that river into the valley of the Grey. He was accompanied by Mr. Christopher Maling, and by David Stewart, whom he had engaged to assist in carrying provisions. They traced the Wairau to its source, and crossing a low saddle in the mountains on the western side of the Clarence (named by. Mr. Travers "Maling's Pass"), they reached the head-waters of the Waiau, and ascended a mountain, finding the summit covered with a close sward of grass, as smooth as the lawn of a gentleman's domain, dotted with ponds of cool, delicious water, the margins of which were literally carpeted with Alpine flowers in full bloom, many of which were extremely beautiful. Proceeding along the range, they noticed a low grassy saddle leading into a large river running due west, and rising in the Spencer mountains. This they concluded was the main branch, or at least a large branch, of the Grey, but subsequent explorations proved this to be erroneous. Before this trip Mr. Travers discovered and named the Ada, Henry, Anne, and Boyle rivers. Satisfied with having accomplished his self-imposed task, the explorer and his companions returned to Nelson and reported the result of their journey. Mr. H. Lewis and Mr. Maling travelled: over the same ground the following month.

        
Mr. Haast, having made the Buller, followed up the Matakitaki to the Maruia plain, following for some distance Mr. Mackay's tracks, who had been there shortly before him. He then crossed the Maruia saddle, and eventually reached the Grey country. He spoke of it in glowing terms, and stated he considered it the most valuable part of the Province of Nelson, "Here," he wrote, "lie some hundred thousands of acres of level and fertile land, which awaits the hands of the farmer; as well as several nice grass plains for pastoral purposes ∗ ∗ ∗ I do not think I in any way overrate the value of the Grey country. The above statement is my full conviction, and I am sure that everyone who sees this part of the Province of Nelson will agree with me in every sense." A good many thousands of acres have been broken up by farmers in the Grey country, but not to the extent anticipated by Mr. Haast. Assuming, howeven, that there is the quantity of agricultural and pastoral land he mentions, it will no doubt be taken up by degrees in a systematic way, now that the Midland Railway Company are constructing their line right through it.

        


        
In 1857 Mr. James Mackay, jun., travelled on foot along the sea-coast from West Wanganui to the Buller River. In his first exploration he was accompanied by the late Mr. John Clarke, of Pakawau: two Massacre Bay natives went with him on his second trip. Mr. Mackay, having taken soundings of the Buller, which he found navigable for coasting vessels of considerable draught, proceeded to the Kara-o-tamatea Plains (Waite's Pakihis), and travelled inland to Ngawaitakere (Charleston), and then along the coast. On reaching the Miko Cliffs (better known afterwards as Jacob's Ladder), near Romney Point, the ladders which were used by the natives were found to be decayed, and Mr. Mackay and the Maoris accompanying him had to replace the old timber with new before they could get on to the cliff and proceed further. When they ascended and hoisted up their swags and dogs, voices were heard exclaiming, "He kuri pakeha." The Maoris immediately ran into the bush, and some time elapsed before they considered it safe to approach the exploring party. When all sense of danger was over the Natives appeared very pleased at seeing a European, as no white man had been there since Mr. Brunner's visit in 1847. They agreed to defer their trip to the Buller, and promised to accompany Mr. Mackay to the Grey; on reaching which he made arrangements with the Natives to convey him in a canoe up the river as far as Ahaura, for which he agreed to give them £10. When they got there the West Coast natives persuaded the Massacre Bay Maoris who accompanied Mr. Mackay not to proceed further with him, and threatened that they would not allow him to go unless he divided £50 amongst them. Mr. Mackay, who was then a strong, athletic young man, of about twenty-five years of age, replied to these threats by throwing one of the Maoris into the river, and knocking another down in the canoe. Tarapuhi, the head chief, then appeared on the scene, acted as peace-maker, and volunteered to go as guide. Mr. Mackay explored the grass and open country at the Ahaura, Totara Flat, and Mawhera-iti (Little Grey), and returned to the mouth of the Grey river, where he took soundings in a canoe, with the result that he found the river navigable for small craft. He afterwards returned to Massacre Bay by the coast, carrying with him the first Grey coal seen in Nelson.

        
He again started for the West Coast in February, 1860, his cousin accompanying him, and also Mr. Frank Flowers and three Maoris from the Massacre Bay (or Collingwood) district. They proceeded to the Roto-iti Plains, with the intention of finding a practicable road-line, 
via the Upper Buller and Maruia, to the Upper Grey, at the point where Mackay's explorations had terminated the previous year. 
Sir Julius Von Haast, who had been engaged soon after his arrival in New Zealand to report on the geology of the 
south-

western part of the Province of Nelson, accompanied the explorers during a portion of their expedition. He remained in the vicinity of the Tiraumea, awaiting a fresh supply of provisions, while the explorers were engaged marking a track for his guidance up the Maruia valley, through the bush and on to the grass plains. The party were almost destitute of provisions, and the supplies of birds and edible vegetables were very scanty, which compelled Messrs. A. Mackay and Flowers to reluctantly return to Nelson, leaving Mr. J. Mackay and the natives to continue the explorations. But they progressed slowly, owing to want of food, The Maoris became disheartened, and refused to proceed further, stating that they were in an unknown country, which was probably inhabited by wild men of the woods or enormous lizards: they would return to Nelson, or sit down quietly and die in the camp. Mackay had meantime caught sight of a distant hill which he had ascended in the Upper Grey, and assured the Maoris they would reach the Grey in two days. He had a swollen knee; but he cut and gashed it with a razor, so as to ease the swelling and enable him to move quicker. At length they succeeded, after a journey which occupied seven weeks, in reaching the Grey, having marked the track from the Maruia Plain to the junction of the Brown Grey and Upper Grey rivers.

        
Towards the end of the year 1860, Mr. Mackay and Major Lockett explored a considerable tract of country between the head-waters of the Takaka, Karamea, and Wangaro rivers; and in 1862, Mr. Mackay and Messrs. John and Arthur Knyvett blazed a saddle-track line from the Upper Aorere to the mouth of the Heaphy river.

        
Mr. Rochfort was sent with a party to make a traverse of the rivers Grey and Buller, and their principal tributaries, and of the coast between the mouths of the former; and to furnish a description of the land available for pasture or agriculture, lying around or adjacent to them. He had performed part of his task, when the accidental loss of his instruments in the Buller river, and other circumstances, compelled him to return to Nelson. He subsequently completed the work and made a very valuable report, in which he recommended the Government to open a route to the northward and westward by Mount Arthur and the valleys running south from the Karamea river to the Buller, and across the last-named river by the Inangahua Valley to the Grey.

        
Mr. James Burnett, a skilled colliery engineer, made a thorough examination of the Grey, Buller, and Mokihinui coal areas, His reports are extremely interesting and exhaustive, but too long for insertion here. Referring to the Mount Rochfort district, Mr. Burnett says:—" It is reasonable to suppose that in such a rich field, almost entirely unexplored, many seams have yet to be discovered. But without calculating more than is ac 

tually known, the following figures will give some idea of the capabilities of this part of the coal-field:—15 square miles, or say 10,000 acres, is a moderate estimate of the extent which is available at once; calculating only 18 feet of coal over the whole extent. Now as a cubic yard of solid coal will produce a ton, every acre of a 3 feet seam will yield 4840 tons. Then 4840 x 6 = 29,040 tons per acre, 18 feet thick; and 29,040 x 10,010 = 290,400,000 in 10,000 acres. But supposing only half of this can be calculated on, there still remains 145,200,000 tons. And supposing half this to be lost in the working, we still have 72,600,000 tons of available coal; and this is only one-eighth, supposing all the seams known, to exist over the whole 10,000 acres. I think, on this calculation, there is a margin for all contingencies, particularly as the discovery of more coal is not calculated on. I can, therefore, 
state positively that on this particular part of the coalfield, there are 72,600,000 tons of coal which may be brought to the Buller harbour, by means of a railway, in no place exceeding 18 miles in length, This 72,600,000 would supply 2000 tons a day for 121 years."

        
Mr. Burnett ends his report on the Mount Eochfort district as follows:—" I cannot close this report without congratulating, the Province on the possession of one of the most valuable coalfields I ever saw, and commanding a harbour like the Buller, which will make it immediately available." He also says, in a later report, "I must acknowledge my obligation to Mr. Eochfort, who was my companion during the greater part of last journey; his assistance and information was of the greatest service,. as he had previously explored the district, and knew so many places where coal, and indications of coal, had been previously found, to all of which he kindly accompanied me. As the discoverer and first explorer of this coal-field, the Province is much indebted to him." So long as Mount Eochfort looks down upon the plains below, so long will the name of its first explorer-he who discovered the vast mineral wealth it contains—be perpetuated in local history.

        
On Thursday, the 3rd September, 1863, the new and handsome brigantine "Delaware," 241 tons, left Nelson, bound for Napier. Within twenty-four hours after she was a total wreck in a little bay formed by the running in of the coast from Graham's Point round to Pepin's Islandj which lies close to the coast, fche went ashore about half-past eight on Friday morning at the foot of a precipitous cliff from 350 to 400 feet high; and where the rocks and boulders lie in great numbers. The mate, Henry Squirrel, who was a good swimmer, thought he could swim ashore, and took the lead line and tied it round his waist, and lowered himself into the water by going down the martingale of the ship. In going down he struck his back against 

a rock, and could not get back again. He was hauled on board quite insensible, and given up for dead, and laid in the forecastle on one of the bunks. Just then some Maoris came in sight on the beach. The lead line was thrown to them, and one of them swam to the rock and caught it and a rope was then got ashore, by which the captain and crew and Mr. Skeet (a passenger) got to land, thanks to the Maoris, who rushed into the surf and dragged each man on shore as he came from the wreck. Immediately after the captain got ashore the rope parted. About an hour after this, the unfortunate mate who had been left for dead was seen to crawl on to the forecastle rigging. Nothing could be done to help him until the tide which was rising went down. There was a fearful surf running and breaking right over the vessel. He held on to the rigging for about quarter of an hour, when a sea broke on board and washed him overboard. His dead body was found on the beach next morning, about a mile from the wreck. At the inquast the witnesses concurred in stating, that but for the assistance given by the Maoris not one of them would have been saved. The Jury found the following verdict:—" That the deceased, Henry Squirrel, met his death by being accidentally drowned from off the brigantine "Delaware," and that such death was caused principally by injury which deceased received while courageously endeavoring to swim ashore with a line in order to save the rest of the crew; such injury incapacitating him from getting ashore by the line when it had been connected with the land. The Jury desire to express their opinion that the Maoris Julia, Martin, and Robert, who assisted in rescuing the shipwrecked crew and passengers, are deserving of the hearty gratitude of the public, and that some substantial memorial of such praiseworthy conduct should be presented to the Maoris by the Government."

        
There were really five Maoris who so bravely rushed into the raging surf, and helped otherwise to rescue life at the risk of their own, without any idea of reward, namely, Julia, James. Martin (her husband), Eobert Martin (his brother), Grey, and Elijah. The public took the matter up, and raised enough to buy a watch and chain for each of the five, and the General Government gave £50 each to Julia, Martin and Robert, and £10 each to Grey and Elijah. The presentation was made in the Provincial Hall on the 14th October, by the Superintendent there being also present within the bar—His Honor Mr. Justice Johnston, Mr. Poynter, R.M., Mr. Sheriff Walmsley, and the members of the Testimonial Committee, namely, Messrs. H. J. Goodman, M.P.O., R. Burn, M.P.C., J. L. Bailey, Secretary to the Board of Works, H. D. Jackson, Provincial Auditor, J. Webb, Chairman of Board of Works, T. Watts, and I. M. Hill.

        
Mr. Goodman, on behalf of the Committee, read the following address:—

        


        

          

            

              
"To Julia,—On behalf of the settlers of Nelson, we present you with a small token of esteem, for your intrepid conduct at the wreck of the Delaware.

              
"The satisfaction of having done a good action is a higher reward than any mere pecuniary recompense; and, while you live, it must always give you much happiness to reflect that you have been the means of saving human life. It must also give you pleasure to know that your heroism is acknowledged by others, not only here but in far off places; and it is our pride that Nelson possesses a woman capable of showing such bravery.

              
"Some thirty years ago, a young woman was living with her parents in a desolate lighthouse, near the coast of England, and one stormy night a large steam vessel struck on some rocks at a distance from the lighthouse, and was dashed to pieces. Many persons perished when the ship parted, but nine of the crew and passengers clung to a portion of the vessel that remained on the rock. In the morning they were observed from the lighthouse, but it was difficult and dangerous to get to the spot with a boat even in fine weather, and, therefore, more so when the waves were furious. Yet this brave woman, though never accustomed to work a boat, persuaded her father to attempt the errand of mercy, and with him she pulled the boat through the raging waves, and rescued the unfortunate sufferers from destruction.

              
"That deed made Grace Darling a heroine; her fame spread throughout Europe; and;) her memory is still fondly cherished wherever the English language is spoken.

              
"And like her, Julia, your name and deed will find a place in local history. Your brave act is one of which a queen might be proud; and we present you with a watch, whereon your children, and their successors, may read with pleasure an inscription which testifies the esteem in which you are held by the settlers of Nelson.

              

                
Signed, on behalf of the Nelson people,

                
"H. J. Goodman, E. Burn, J. L. Bailey, H. D. Jackson, J. Webb, T. Watts, I. M. Hill, Members of the Committee."

              

            

          

        

        
Mr. Goodman then read the next address and presented the watches:—

        

          

            

              
"To Hemi Matenga (James Martin), Kopata (Robert), Eraia (Elijah), and Kerei (Grey)—-

              
"These watches and chains are presented to you by tha settlers of the Province of Nelson, and they wish you to prize them as tokens of their true regard for the eminent courage and humanity you displayed, when succouring and saving their unfortunate countrymen, who were wrecked in the Delaware, near jour pa, on 4th September, 1863.

              
"These mementoes will always convey to you this meaning, 

that Englishmen know no distinction in rewarding conspicuous' merit. That there is more conscientious glory in saving human life, so they feel more unfeigned respect for you than for the most practised warriors. Mankind—no matter what color or race—are knit together by the feelings of our common nature, and displaying, as you did, the highest attributes of humanity on the occasion which this commemorates, you have made yourselves worthy of the recognition of all noble-minded men. Under fearful circumstances you were calm and bold, and risked your lives to save others, and this, too, amid a raging storm and on a rocky coast; not where there were admiring spectators to cheer you, but where the cries for help though loud were scarcely heard in the pitiless storm, but yet, thank God, were not heard in vain, owing to your instrumentality.

              

                
"Signed on behalf of the people of the Province of Nelson."

                
(Here follow the names of the Committee, as above.)

              

            

          

        

        
Julia's watch bears the following inscription in Maori and. English, which, with the necessary difference in the names, is also engraved on those given to the four other Maoris:—

        

          
"Na nga tangata o Whakatu (kia Huria) he tohu whakamoemiti mo tona maiatanga ki te whakaroa 1 nga tangata o te Terawea, 4 Hepetema, 1863."

          
"Presented to Julia, by the settlers of Nelson, in recognition of her heroism at the rescue of the crew of the Delaware, 4th September, 1863."

        

        
Martin shortly returned thanks in Maori, which was translated by Mr. Mackay, and was to the effect that for himself and on behalf of the other Maoris, he thanked the Government and the community of Nelson for their liberal gifts. They were all very much pleased with this mark of esteem from the people of Nelson, and they would long prize the gifts and the givers. They had not the least idea that when saving the lives of their shipwrecked European friends, they should receive any reward for doing so. They did not expect such reward, and only did what they could out of a desire to save life.

        
The financial year 1863-64 began with a substantial sum in the Treasury, being the unappropriated and unexpended balance of a Land Eevenue twenty-live per cent larger than that of any preceding year. No comprehensive scheme had been acted on during the preceding nine years of local self-Government for opening up the interior of the settlement. It had almost been doubted whether there was any interior to the Province. The influx of a large number of diggers convinced every one that it was time to stir, and the unexpended balance in the Provincial Treasury was appropriated to a track through the ruggedest valleys of the country, though the most promising as regards gold. The trial given at this time to the Nelson goldfieids was not successful'—the track was made for a certain distance, but 

the people would not stop, they passed on to other fields presenting for the time more potent attractions. The large sum spent on the Buller and Karamea tracks, if it missed the immediate object of making a very large auriferous district sufficiently attractive to draw a great population, was by no means wasted. Eeflecting upon what the interior was only a few years back, even this seeming failure was a great advance on doing nothing. The mystery of the Buller was gone—any one could know all about its general features from common talk, without poring over imperfect maps and scanty reports. It was no longer necessary to eat one's dog to get from Nelson to Westport, as Mr. Brunner was forced to do.

        
Miners were scattered about the Buller and its tributaries, many of them doing well, especially at the Mangles, Tiraumea, and the Lyell. Gold continued to come in from both Upper and Lower Buller in a shape that is very exciting; all coarse and nuggetty; and from time to time a few fresh hands found their way to these localities. But as yet the numbers were limited, and it seemed as if the £25,000 worth of bridle and foot tracks would be of little use. The road from Nelson to the Matiri was fair enough, but from that point to the Lyell there was no road at all, the country very precipitous, with many deep gullies to cross, and the bush very dense. Such tracks as there were, were only misleading, and the traveller had to depend on his own judgment, and freely use his axe to cut his way. It will be seen, therefore, that spite of this expenditure on tracks, a large and valuable part of the mineral country remained very inaccessible. To push this track right through to Westport was strongly advocated, but the money that had been lying in the Provincial chest was all expended, and there seemed little probability of there being any more shortly available.

        
Instead of pushing the trunk road right through the Buller valley, a good deal of money had been expended in making twenty-eight miles of road on the south side of the Buller, from Lake Roto-iti to the Tutaki, and in the construction of several blind roads—the latter useless, the former of some service in helping to open up the Mangles and Matakitaki.

        
During the latter part of 1863 and beginning of 1864 Nelson was suffering from considerable depression. Visitors went away charmed with the natural beauty of the place, its excellent buildings; and, thanks to the energy of the Town Board, its well kept streets; but sneered at what they termed the somnolence of the people. But the people were by no means asleep. Considering the population and revenue of the place, a great deal had been done to open up the interior; and as fast as money could be obtained for the purpose, roads and tracks were pushed into the back country. All sorts of proposals were made to the Government as cures for the existing stagnation. Amongst others Mr. 

W. Long Wrey offered to go to England and raise a quarter of a million for public works, for which, if successful, he was to receive a bonus of £2000. The Superintendent, who was really the Government—the Provincial Executive being responsible to him and not to the Council—would not listen to any scheme that involved borrowing.

        
Notwithstanding the excitement caused in April, 1864, by the rush to the Wakamarina—to which both young and old flocked from Nelson—the place continued during the remainder of the year under the cloud of hard times, and there was a general dullness; the streets had a comparatively deserted appearance, and the harbour had little or no shipping.

        
But there was a change close at hand; for months the gold discoveries at Hokitika and the Grey had been steadily increasing; there was a rich gold-field beyond doubt; and by the month of March, 1865, or shortly after, there were from 8,000 to 10,000 people in and near to the Towns of Hokitika and Greymouth.

        
The rush to the West Coast set in steadily, and soon changed the appearance of the streets and the harbour.

        
The increase of population caused by the constant stream of diggers passing through on their way to the Hokitika, imparted an unusual degree of liveliness to the streets; and at the Port the daily arrival and departure of steamers—mostly crowded with passengers—was a new feature. It was no uncommon event for five or six steamers to be in harbour at one time. Further reference to this important "rush," and its effect upon Nelson and the surrounding country districts, is made in another chapter.

        
On Saturday, 28th January, 1865, a most deplorable accident occurred at the Buller, by which the Superintendent of Nelson and three others were drowned.

        
His Honor John Perry Robinson had served as Superintendent of Nelson for upwards of eight years, and been three times elected by increasing majorities of the constituency. He was a man of superior judgment and good intellect, and the officers of the New Zealand Company frequently had recourse to him for assistance and advice in the early days of the settlement; and once, when the Company's works were stopped, and the working people deemed themselves unjustly treated, Mr. Robinson's judicious influence with the people was sought for, and he saved the town from the disgrace of a riot; by a wise use of that influence, at a time when men threatened to break open the stores of the shopkeepers.

        
In private life he was universally esteemed, and even those who differed from him in the conduct of public affairs, always conceded to him honest and upright intentions, and a sincere desire to benefit the Province. His office gave him great power and influence, which he used for no selfish ends.

        


        
It would be in van to attempt to describe the deep gloom which cast itself over the community as the mournful tidings became known, and which evidenced itself in various ways during the day. The Union Jack was halfmast high at the Government Buildings, and at the flag-staff; the vessels lying in harbour displayed the same token of respect, and the minute-bell at Christ Church tolled the death-knell until sunset; whilst the many knots of individuals in the streets sadly and sorrowfully discussing the details of the catastrophe, showed how widely and deeply public feeling had been awakened by the event.

        
It was said of him that, like the good King of Castile, he feared the curses of the people more than the weapons of his enemies.

        
The following are the particulars of the sad catastrophe:— About half-past four on the afternoon of the 28th January, on the Wallaby arriving off the bar of the Buller from the Grey river, the captain ascended the rigging for the purpose of examining the bar. Having satisfied himself that there was no apparent danger (the bar being perfectly smooth), he ordered the lifeboat to be lowered, and his Honor the Superintendent, his son, Messrs. Burnett, Gully, and McCulloch, and James Fowler the chief officer, and four seamen, left the vessel in her. When, after crossing the first roller-wave on the bar apparently in safety, the boat did not appear to rise over the second the chief engineer, who was observing the progress of the boat, ascended the rigging, and immediately called to the master to come and see, as there seemed to him to be something wrong. Captain Whitwell immediately put the vessel at full speed, and headed her towards the bar, at the same time getting the other boat ready for lowering. When as near as it was safe for her to go, he saw the lifeboat was swamped, and some of the party holding on to the sides. The second boat was sent to their assistance, and succeeded in reaching her and towing her off to the steamer. It was then found that four people were missing—the Superintendent, Mr. McCulloch, Mr. Fowler, chief officer, and Joseph Cooke, a seaman. But for the very prompt assistance rendered by the despatch of the second boat, not one would have been saved. Mr. Burnett and Mr. John Gully narrowly escaped— both were washed off the boat several times before they were rescued. When the accident occurred, Mr. Robinson was, like the rest, thrown out of the boat as the second sea struck her and rolled her over. He was seen by Mr. Gully to fall on his back in the water; once he managed to raise his head above the surface, and to blow the water from his mouth. After doing this Mr. Gully saw him sink again, and he was no more seen. The bodies of the Superintendent and Joseph Cooke were never recovered; those of Mr. Fowler and Mr. McCulloch were found on 

the beach the same evening, and an inquest was held on the following day by Mr. B. Walmsley and 
Mr. John Blackett, two Justices of the Peace, when a verdict of accidental death was returned.

        
Mr. "Robinson's object in visiting the Grey and Buller was to examine personally the coal-workings, with a view to taking such steps as might prove of advantage to the Province. So that he died with the harness on his back, and leaving many to lament the sad and sudden end of a patriotic and upright man. He was succeeded as Superintendent by 
Mr. Alfred Saunders, who defeated his opponent, 
Mr. J. W. Barnicoat, after a closely contested election, by twenty votes, the numbers being respectively 454 and 434.

        
Mr. Saunders appointed Mr. Henry Adams Provincial Solicitor; Mr. John Poynter, Provincial Treasurer; and Mr. Henry Redwood, junior, a member of the Executive Council. The office of Provincial Secretary, 
pro. tern., was conferred upon Mr. Alfred Greenfield—Mr. Richmond, who was Provincial Secretary in Mr. Robinson's Executive, intimated his opinion that it was not compatible for him to hold that office in conjunction with the Commissionership of Crown Lands, and the new Superintendent being averse to a separate salary being allotted, appointed Mr. Greenfield, who was at that time chief clerk to the Superintendent, to perform the duties of Provincial Secretary temporarily.

        
In June, Mr. J. C. Eichmond resigned the office of Commissioner of Crown Lands, having accepted the office of Colonial Secretary in the Weld Ministry. He was succeeded by Mr. H. C. Daniell, and Mr. J. T. Catley became and still is Receiver of Land Revenue.

        
Mr. Saunders entered upon the duties of his office under circumstances of considerable difficulty. Large sums of money had been steadily flowing into the Treasury from the sale of Amuri lands; but these were now nearly all sold, and unless some other source of revenue could be found, the Provincial Government would have some difficulty in finding the means for the payment of salaries, the making of roads, the education of children, and other necessary public objects. It was a critical time in the history of Nelson, and none but a courageous man would have been willing to undertake the direction of affairs at such a period.

        
The public works more immediately required were:—(1) The opening of a horse track between the Buller and Grey valleys, so that the only practical route, known at that time, between the East and West Coasts of the Island might be rendered safe for travellers and available for driving cattle. (2) The vigourous prosecution of boring operations for coal at Mount Rochfort. Boring rods, and an expert who had been brought 

from England to work them, arrived in Nelson in December, 1863, yet in February, 1865, fourteen months after their arrival here, a depth of twenty-two fathoms only had been reached. It was insisted that the borings must be done more vigorously, or the apparatus removed to a more promising field. (3) The water supply for the City. An Act had been passed authorising the borrowing of £20,000 for the purpose, and Mr. Blackett, the Provincial Engineer, had been sent to Melbourne to make himself acquainted with the waterworks of that City, which are constructed on the same principle of a direct service similar to what had been proposed for Nelson. But there was some delay in getting the money, and the Provincial Government were blamed for refusing an offer of £20,000 at eight per cent. It was urged that the supply of water would contribute largely to the sanitary welfare of the community, and materially reduce the risk of loss by fire, and was, therefore, a work of primary importance.

        
These were the three principal works pressed upon Mr. Saunders—but there were many others of comparatively minor importance—and the question he had to solve was how to provide for these and several other important works necessary to the progress and well-being of the community, and at the same time to maintain the governmental staff in an efficient condition, and to educate the children, in the face of a rapidly falling revenue.

        
The Provincial Council was dissolved in October, 1865, and the air was soon full of rumours of intended opposition to the re-election of Mr. Saunders as Superintendent. Attempts were made to induce Mr. Stafford, and, failing him, Mr. Blackett, the Provincial Engineer, to stand; but both declined, and Mr. Saunders was re-elected without opposition.

        
The elections for the Provincial Council resulted in the return of a body prepared to give the Superintendent a fair support. The times were critical, and the patriotism of the members of the Provincial Parliament was strong enough to suppress any indication ot factious opposition, had any such been shown. For the City, Messrs. H. Adams, A. Greenfield, S. Kingdon, O. Curtis, R. Burn, and W. Akersten were returned; for Waimea East, Messrs. J. W. Baniicoat, H. Beit, F. Kelling, and T. J. Thompson; for Waimea South, Messrs. E. Baigent, J. Simmonds, and A. R, Oliver; for Suburban North, Mr. Dodson; for Waimea West, Mr. H. Redwood, junior; for Moutere, Mr. C. Kelling; for Motueka, Messrs. C. Parker and B. Macmahon; for Collingwood, Mr. W. Gibbs; for Takaka, Mr. Sparrow; and for Amuri, Mr. Rutherford.

        
The rapid progress of the goldfields on the West Coast gave an immense impetus to trade in Nelson. The local steamers "Wallabi" and "Nelson" were always full; and in the month of September, Messrs. N. Edwards & Co. purchased the steamer 

"Kennedy" from the Australian Steam Navigation Company for £9000. She arrived on the 7th October, 1865, and was at once put into the West Coast trade; and in this month of December, 1891, the "Kennedy" is still going her regular rounds to the ports of the West Coast.

        
The "Nelson" was a paddle boat built to the order of the Trustees of the Nelson Trust Funds. It will be recollected that a portion of these funds was to be applied to the purpose of promoting steam communication between Nelson and the rest of New Zealand. The Trustees only received a limited amount, and that was applied as above mentioned. The vessel was brought out from England by the late Captain Heffer, and must not be confounded with the "Nelson" which was sent out by Messrs. Willis & Co., and afterwards sent back, because there was no profitable work for her. The "Nelson" was hired to the Nelson and Marlborough Steam Navigation Company (Limited), and acted as the pioneer steamer in opening the gold-fields at the Grey; and she was the first steamer to enter the Hokitika river, under the command of Captain Leech (now Harbour-Master at Westport), on the 20th December, 1864. Upon the collapse of the Nelson and Marlborough S.N. Company, the "Nelson" was hired to Messrs. Cross, Gibbons, H. Redwood, jun., S. Robinson, Wright, and Walker, at a rental of £2400 a year, and she started to resume her regular trip to the coast; unfortunately she got ashore at the Grey on her first trip under her new charterers, and it was some time before she was afloat again.
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Chapter X.

        

          
Gold Discoveries.—Massacre Bay.—The Buller.—Lyell Nuggets —Rush to Hokitika and the Grey.—Mr. Blackett as Warden.—Mr. Kynnersiey. —George Moonlight.—Appointment of Wardens.—Prospecting at the Buller.—Cobden.—Fox's Rush.—Charleston.—Reef ton.—Future Prospects.—Owen.—Brown's Terrace.—Lyell —Visit of 
Sir George Grey.—Progress of Nelson since his last Visit.—Mr. Curtis elected Superintendent.—West Coast Members of Provincial Council.— General Assembly Elections.—
Sir David Monro knighted.—Maungatapu Murders.—Arrival of Bishop Suter.—Opening of the Waterworks. —Death of Mr. Poynter.—Mr. t-harp appointed Resident Magistrate.

        

        

Cold had been found in various parts of Massacre Bay as early as 1858. Some time after the Motueka "rush "a bonus of £500 for the discovery of an available goldfield A within the Province had been offered by some Nelson merchants. Mr. W. Hough, who had a firm belief that payable gold existed, made several trips to the Aorere in 1855, but was compelled by ill-health to abandon his prospecting for a time. In December, 1856, he induced Mr. G. W. Lightband, who had gained some experience on the gold-fields of Australia, to accompany him, and these two commenced prospecting in some of the gullies, gold being readily found, but not in paying quantities. Mr. Hough shortly returned to Nelson, leaving Mr. Lightband to prosecute his labours, with the assistance of a. young lad and some Maoris. They continued steadily at work until they had obtained about three ounces of gold, which was forwarded to Nelson. This was the beginning of the development of the rich mineral resources of the Province. Mr. John Ellis and Mr. John James claimed to have found gold at the Aorere in October, 1856, and it was some time before the merit of the discovery was set at rest. The Gold Bonus Committee appointed referees, who, after taking evidence, decided that Messrs. Ellis and James were the discoverers, but that the merits of developing the gold-field belonged to Mr. G. W. Lightband. Many citizens considered Mr. Hough deserved most of the credit, and they presented him with a handsome testimonial.

        
After Messrs. Hough and Lightband had set to work, another experienced miner, Mr. Donald McGregor, went to the Aorere; and in a letter to the 'Nelson Examiner,' dated the 27th January, 1857, he stated that he had washed over 3ozs. of light scaly gold in four days, about eight miles up the left-hand side of the Aorere river. He found that the gold was heavier near the surface than on the bottom, and expressed an opinion that the country was well worth prospecting. The first sale of 

gold recorded in Nelson was on the 9th February, 1857, when Messrs. Fell & Co. put up to public competition 5ozs. from the new diggings near Massacre Bay, and 2ozs. obtained at the Moutere. Three and a-half ounces fetched £3 18s per ounce, and one ounce and a-half went as high as £4 5s. per ounce; the two ounces from the Moutere were sold for £8. This sale proved Indisputably that gold existed, and accordingly many persons proceeded from Nelson to the Aorere to ascertain whether there was really a payable field.

        
As the number of gullies increased, fresh gullies and creeks were discovered, yielding better returns. In one instance three men working on the Slate river obtained one hundred ounces of gold in seven weeks. The little coasting steamer was kept busily employed conveying passengers and cargo to Collingwood, and it was estimated that on the 1st May, 1857, there was 1000 men at work upon the diggings.

        
There were no police on the ground, or any other officials for some time, but Mr. Lightband drew up a code of regulations, which were adopted at a meeting of the miners, and published in the newspaper; but difficulty was experienced in enforcing them, and everyone dug where he chose without fee or license.

        
About April, 1857, four vessels were advertised to leave Wellington for Golden Bay (as the Bay was now generally called), and twenty diggers sailed in a vessel named the "Harry;" they were the first who left Wellington to try their luck at these diggings. Of the 1000 men reported to be on the field, 450 were stated to be working in Appoo's gully. Good accounts were received from all parts of the field. One party accumulated lOOozs. during eight weeks' work; two men got 20ozs. in five weeks; and one party obtained Sozs. in four days. In Bedstead gully the gold was coarse, and not in the least water-worn: it was as rugged as if it had been dropped from the rock into the position in which it was found. In May, Mr. McGregor reported that he and his party had found payable ground between the second and third branch rivers of the Aorere, twenty or thirty miles from the Port of Collingwood, and that the indications all round were very good.

        
In June, Mr. James Mackay, who returned from a gold-exploring expedition to the Quartz ranges, reported that his party had been very fortunate: they had discovered a field about three miles square, and had found gold in every gully. The new digging were going on steadily, and new gullies were being opened out every day. There was a rush to the Slate river, where 300 men had set to work. Large-sized gold, mixed with the river gravel, was generally found under the large boulders.

        
The narrow tongue of land at the entrance to the Aorere river was cut up into allotments by its owner, and named after him Gibbs' Town. Erections of all kinds, from the calico tent 

to the smart hotel or th.3 merchant's store, rapidly sprung up in the new township, diggers were constantly coming and going, and the place looked so busy, many thought it would become a rival to Nelson.

        
Up to the first week in August the total value of the gold sold in Nelson was upwards of £10,000, and in ten days l,200ozs. were sold, irrespective of the quantities taken away privately by parties to other places. On Saturday. 8th August, the "Tasmanian Maid" arrived in Nelson with 500ozs., 144ozs. of which belonged to one party. On Wednesday, 19th August, the "Louis and Miriam" sailed for Sydney, and took away over l,700ozs. of gold.

        
The natives had secured most of the payable claims along the liver, and, as there were no regulations, troubles were feared. Large numbers of men from Wellington were flocking to the field every week, and on the 29th October the "Wonga Wonga" brought from Melbourne fifty diggers, who had come to Welling ton by the brig "Drover," several of them being accompanied by their families. The yields continued steadily increasing, and on 24th October the "Ocean Queen" sailed for Sydney with nearly 2,500ozs. of gold.

        
The Provincial Government laid out the township of Collingwood; and soon after a Resident Magistrate and Warden was appointed, a staff of police sent down, and a Court-house, Gaol, and Custom-house erected, and a Sub-Collector of Customs permanently stationed there.

        
Other discoveries were made, but as winter approached the expense of transporting provisions from the port (owing to the want of roads) became very serious, and as the floodsin the rivers at this period destroyed the dams and other works of the diggers, many of them became disheartened and left the place. The population and yield of gold steadily dwindled down, and up to the present time the goldfield has never regained its former population.

        
Still, considering the small number of men who persistently followed gold-mining, the average yields were large, and attained a value in seven years of nearly a quarter of million sterling, as will be seen from the appended table:—



	Year.
	Ounces.
	Value. £


	1857
	10,437
	40,422


	1858
	13,226
	51,272


	1859
	7,336
	28,427


	1860
	4,538
	27,585


	1861
	6,335
	24,552


	1862
	10,422
	40,386


	1863
	9,580
	37,120


	
	61,874
	£239,764



        


        
These returns do not take into account the gold which was taken away privately.

        
At the present time there are only about 100 men at work, but there are still large tracts of auriferous country which have scarcely been tested, and in the opinion of experienced miners there are quite as rich patches yet to be worked as those which yielded such rich returns during the rush.

        
Quartz machinery has been erected for various Companies from time to time, but the reefs did not prove payable. The only registered Quartz-mining Company at present working is the Johnston's United Company at Bedstead gully, ten miles from Collingwood, from which some good returns have lately been obtained, and of the future success of which there is strong, hope.

        
On 17th April, 1858, the 'Nelson Examiner' announced the discovery of gold at the Buller. A West Coast chief, Tarapuhi, and his brother, Tainui, returned to Canterbury with Mr. Lee, who had taken up the first run on the West Coast. They brought specimens of small scaly gold with them, stating that the gold had been brought down in great quantities from a hill called Whakapoi, on the north side of the Buller river, and that it could be found in abundance.

        
The existence of gold on the West Coast had been known to the Maoris for some years, but nothing payable had been found by them; in fact most of them were ignorant of its value until after the opening of the Buller diggings.

        
Mr. Rochfort s report upon the gold-bearing sands of the creeks and tributaries of the Buller got abroad, and as early as 1860 parties of miners began to arrive in search of gold. Many of them returned dissatisfied, but others remained and steadily prospected the country. This resulted in die opening of the Lyell goldfield in 1862.

        
Other parties of miners found their way overland from Nelson to the Tiraumea, and from thence to the Mangles and Mataldtaki, where considerable quantities of gold were obtained. The Mangles was especially rich in pockets of nuggetty gold. At the Lyell nuggets of all sizes up to ninety ounces were obtained, whilst throughout the watershed of the Buller gold had been found in many places.

        
Then came the rush, in 1864-5, to Hokitika and the Grey. Thousands of ounces of gold were regularly brought to Nelson, and thousands of men were scattered in all directions looking for fresh deposits of the precious metal. Gold was found in several of the tributaries of the Grey, and the diggings on the Nelson side rapidly spread over a large extent of country, and from all good returns were reported.

        
Nelson profited greatly; a market was opened for all the farming produce of the district; and that market was commanded 

by the Nelson markets. There was no overland route to Christ-church, and the bulk of the gold obtained on the coast passed through Nelson. The Anchor line of steamers was started by Messrs. N. Edwards & Co., including the "Nelson," which having been floated off the Grey beach, returned to Nelson, and was sold by the Trustees of the Nelson Trust Funds to the above firm for £3,500.

        
The first township formed on the diggings within the Province of Nelson was at the Twelve-mile Landing, and here Mr. Blaekett, the Provincial Engineer, armed with ample powers, having been sent down by the Superintendent to act as Warden, established himself.

        
Whilst on the Canterbury side of the Grey, complaints were loud and frequent of the neglect of the Government, and the irritating delays that occurred before the local officers could obtain authority for the construction of the most ordinary work, the Nelson Government, said to be proverbial for its sleepiness, was wide-awake enough to set a good example in vesting its resident officer with sufficient powers to enable him to meet the emergencies which naturally arise in the early days of a mining community; and the Government of Nelson were fortunate in possessing so efficient an officer at the Grey as Mr. Blaekett. The Superintendent understood his value, and wisely gave him for a time a perfectly free hand. A wise use was made of the powers entrusted to him. He opened up the country by tracks in any direction which seemed likely to lead to payable ground, and he pushed on such works as were immediately necessary in a prompt if unostentatious manner. His duties as Provincial Engineer would not permit of his remaining as Warden at the Grey; and to the general regret he retired from that position, and was succeeded by 
Mr. T. A. Sneyd Kynnersley, who had held a similar position with much satisfaction to the public at Wakamarina.

        

Thomas Alfred Sneyd-Kynnersley began life as a midshipman in the Eoyal Navy. Having reached the rank of Lieutenant, his health broke down through the rupture of a blood-vessel in the lungs. Possessed of a naturally active spirit, he sought and obtained public employment; his first public position being that, as mentioned, of Warden and Eesidenc Magistrate at Wakamarina. Mr. Saunders the Superintendent of Nelson, discovered in him such administrative power as led him to appoint him as Warden and Commissioner for the Government at the Grey, in succession to Mr. Blaekett. Here he soon made a name for himself as an officer of great energy and ability. His duties were in time extended to the whole of the Nelson South-west Goldfields, and, during a time of great social and political excitement, he displayed such force of character and right judgment, as earned for him, in the long run, the hearty respect and esteem of men of all creeds, countries, and shades of political opinion. 

His constitution was not strong enough to stand the rough work, and a falling revenue induced the Provincial Council, against the wish of Mr. Curtis, who had succeeded Mr. Saunders, to curtail some of his discretionary powers in the expenditure of public money. This was distasteful to him. He gave up his appointment, and was elected to both the House of Representatives and Provincial Council. Failing health compelled him to retire, and after a trip to England, undertaken in the vain hope of restoring his health, he returned to Nelson, where he died on the 1st February, 1874, at the house of his friend, Mr. James Sclanders, leaving behind many earnest and sorrowing friends, and universally lamented on the goldfields. Before long a handsome monument was erected over his remains in the Nelson cemetery by his many friends and admirers on the West Coast.

        
Prospecting parties were out in various directions, and the discovery of new diggings was frequent. Amongst those who went on a prospecting tour were George Moonlight and his mates who went up the river by boat, and having the reputation of being successful prospectors, they were narrowly watched. Numbers of men followed on their track, and others camped close to the Warden's office to watch the return of any of the party, in hopes of being first to see if they applied for a prospecting claim. At last Moonlight and some of his mates returned, and the town was all alive at once. They applied to the Warden for and obtained a prospecting claim, and all the "unemployed" went off to the new rush. Moonlight's own name did not appear in the grant of the prospecting claim, because, being well known in various parts of New Zealand, he feared many might be induced to come to a place which, as yet, had turned out nothing to justify a large influx of people.

        
George Moonlight was a type of the true miner—hopeful always, fearless, and lighthearted; honest as the day; kind to the weak and suffering; not quick to take offence, but ready at any time to defend himself, if need be, with his strong right arm; and one who in following his favourite pursuit of prospecting for gold no difficulties could daunt. His remains were found on 16th September, 1884, in the Hope bush. He had been lost since the previous June, having gone off by himself on a prospecting tour from the Lake run. He was buried in the Nelson cemetery, where a monument has been erected to the memory of the brave prospector.

        
The diggings continued to extend, especially towards the Buller. In November, 1865, the sand on the sea beach was discovered to be payably auriferous, and in a very short time the beach to the north of the Grey was taken up for miles. At this time Mr. Alfred Greenfield, 
Mr. T. A. Sneyd Kynnersley, and Mr. G. W. Lightband were gazetted as Wardens for 

the Nelson South-west Gold-fields; the first named to act for Wangapeka, and the two latter for the Grey.

        
In December a considerable demand sprang up for town allotments at Westport, nearly eighty quarter-acre allotments having been sold by the Government within a fortnight.

        
The mining population appeared to be steadily moving towards the Buller; several parties had left Greymouth for Westport, and men were known to be at work as far north as Mokihinui. Of those who landed at the Buller some intended prospecting at the head of the Inangahua, whilst others were going to try the beach and neighbouring gullies.

        
The town of Cobden, at the mouth of the Grey, was laid out, and a wharf erected 250 feet long by 25 feet wide. From the wharf to the beach a mile of dray road was formed, drained, bridged, and metalled through the densely-wooded, rugged, and swampy country; and the cross streets were cleared. A court-house, a store-house, a lock-up, and a substantial bonded store, including an office for the postmaster, were erected. By April, 1866, the Nelson Government had opened up 115 miles of tracks on the Grey gold-fields, 61 miles of which were available for horses.

        
In his opening speech to the Provincial Council on the 13th March, 1866, the Superintendent said:—"Not less than 6,000 persons are now occupied in gold-mining pursuits within this Province, and the population for which you have to legislate is probably greater by fifty per cent than that which has demanded the consideration of any previous Council in Nelson." His Honor then went on to state "that having satisfied himself, by personal inspection, that a large gold-mining population could be maintained for many years, he had not hesitated to take upon himself the responsibility of promptly expending all the revenue derived from the goldfields in the construction of roads and such other permanent improvements as were calculated to render them accessible and attractive; and in the maintenance of such wardens, constables, and other officers as appeared indispensable for the preservation of order, and security of life and property."

        
By April, 1866, it was calculated that Nelson was receiving revenue at the rate of £40,000 a year from the West Coast.

        
In May, 1866, came the rush to Fox's river. The prospector was the same William Fox who opened up the Arrow river diggings, which were first called Fox's. Fox came down to the Grey and reported to Mr. Kynnersley that he had already spent some time in prospecting the district, and had found a good deal of ground that would pay from £4 to £8 per week; but that, from the difficulty of obtaining supplies, and the impossibility of carrying any bulky tools or materials along the beach, the auriferous-capabilities of the country could not be thoroughly tested unless the necessary supplies could be landed on the spot. By 

November about 3,000 men were scattered over the district. Within a short time valuable discoveries were made at Charleston, Addison's Flat, and at Caledonian, German, Giles', and Rochfort's terraces. Rich leads were found at all these places, and such extensive rushes set in that within two or three years after the first discoveries there were about 20,000 miners on the field, and many fortunes were made in a short time.

        
The Government determined on making Westport the headquarters on the Coast, and most of the staff were removed from Cobden.

        
Charleston was originally known as the Pakihi. Payable gold was first discovered by Linahan and party in August, 1866, and shortly after at Welshman's Terrace, Brighton, by a party of Welshmen. Addison's Flat, formerly known as Waite's Pakihis, was named after Addison, a coloured man, who found gold there in May, 1867, but a few miners were getting gold some months previously on the Cement lead. After Addison's discovery a rush set in, and about 8000 people flocked to the Flat.

        
On 1st April, 1868, the West Coast districts were under the charge of four Wardens, who were kept busy. The Westport division, including Addison's Flat, Upper Buller, Caledonian Terrace, Wairnangaroa, and Mokihinui, was under the charge of Dr. Giles (now Resident Magistrate at Auckland). The Warden of the Brighton division (about 30 miles in length) was the late Mr. Charles Broad. Charleston was in charge of Mr. Warden G. W. Lightband; and the Grey, of Mr. J. Roger Dutton. The Collingwood goldfield had dwindled down to a very small population, and Mr. H. W. Turnell, a medical man, acted as Warden, and in divers other capacities.

        
By 1st April, 1869, the combined total population of Charleston and Brighton district had fallen to 2500. Mr. Lightband had resigned, and one Warden had charge of both districts. By 31st March, 1870, the population had further decreased to 1150.

        
Mr. Dutton resigned his position as Warden of the Grey district, and was succeeded by Mr. Lowe, C.E., who in 1870 was succeeded by the late Mr. Caleb Whitefoord. The population at that time was estimated at 4410, including 150 at Inangahua.

        
The limits within which this work must be confined preclude the possibility of tracing in detail the gradual development of the vast mineral resources of the West Coast. A most interesting work could be written—and there is plenty of material for it—of the history of these gold-fields; but so far as dry statements of facts and statistical information are concerned, all these can be found in the excellent "Handbook of New Zealand Mines," published under the authority of the New Zealand Government.

        
The abolition of the Provinces and the establishment of County Councils and other public bodies, changed the relations 

of the goldfields with what may be called the parent body. The effect of the gold discoveries solved one of the difficulties with which Mr. Saunders began his second term as Superintendent. If the revenue from the sale of land at Amuri fell off, it was for some years made up by the increase of Goldfields' and Customs' revenue.

        
The development of the Nelson goldfields has been remarkable. It is also full of promise for the future. Reefton is the centre of a large area of mineral country, which is known to contain, in addition to immense quantities of gold-bearing quartz, coal, antimony, and other minerals. The first quartz claim in the district was taken up by Mr. "Westfield in 1870, who applied for some ground at Murray creek. Since then considerably more than a million pounds worth of gold has been obtained from the quartz reefs alone, and the value of the alluvial gold obtained in the same time has been estimated at half a million. The large area of country in which auriferous quartz has been discovered, and the treatment of the ores by modern scientific appliances, should tend to justify the belief that the Inangahua district is destined to become one of the most valuable and permanent goldfields in the Colony.

        
If the Owen reefs have so far proved disappointing, there are such large quantities of gold-bearing stone that it is hoped and believed, as time goes on, scientists will discover some cheap and payable method of treating the stone. Gold-bearing rock at the Owen was first reported by Mr. Higgin in 1864. He brought a specimen of conglomerate to town, from which some very satisfactory assay tests were obtained.

        
At Brown's terrace, near Charleston, where there are immense deposits of gold-bearing cement, machinery of the most approved and latest kind is to be erected for treating these cements on a large scale. It is estimated that two penny-weights to the ton would give the shareholders very substantial dividends. The experiment will be watched with much interest, as, it successful, it may lead to altogether new developments in mining.

        
Lyell, once famous for its output of "big nuggets," has not of late turned out much alluvial gold, although that kind of mining has not been abandoned, by any means. Some of the quartz mines have proved highly remunerative. But at present the United Alpine Company, which has paid some £40,000 in dividends, is the only large quartz-mine in what can be called full working order; but it is known that in the district are payable reefs, which, owing to the inaccessible nature of the country, cannot at present be worked. Eoads, capital, and scientific machinery will, in time, overcome all difficulties.

        
The trade and commerce of Nelson were enormously stimulated by the gold discoveries on her western territories, and the 

prosecution of public works was rendered possible both on the goldfields and in the settled districts, through the increase of the public revenues, consequent upon the settling of the West Coast.

        
In April, 1867, the Governor visited Nelson. 
Sir George Grey's first visit was in April, 1847; he came again in 1851 and in 1853. The progress of the settlement during the fourteen years which had passed since his last visit impressed him forcibly. In 1853 Nelson, then one of the undivided provinces, had a population of only 5100 inhabitants. Its revenue then, ordinary and territorial, was but £9000. There was no wharf at the Port; the roads and streets were mainly pathways and poorly finished tracks; the country districts were reached through miry and illformed roads. There was no public hall in the city of any description; and the principal streets showed few decent buildings. In 1867 Nelson, one of eight provinces, had a population of 23,000 people, exclusive of Marlborough, which in 1853 formed part of her territory. Towns had sprung up on the West' Coast, and the steady energy of the miners, and the commercial enterprise they brought in their train, were rapidly changing the face of what was but lately a wilderness. The nett revenue of the Province had nearly reached £120,000. In twelve months about 300,000 ounces of gold were exported from the port of Greymouth, the largest portion being the produce of the Nelson Province.

        
In the City, and the older parts of the Province, there were evidences of steady progress. The maritime conveniences at the Port were steadily growing; and a fine lighthouse beamed on the waters of the bay. Streets had sprung up with large and tasteful buildings; there were three large and spacious halls; a system of education which placed the elements of instruction within the reach of nearly every child; the people were well fed, and many were possessed of properties saved up by provident frugality; a system of waterworks for the City was ready to be laid; several substantial bridges spanned the Maitai for the convenience of the citizens; and the more dangerous rivers in the country had been also bridged. Lastly, while other Provinces were groaning under debt, Nelson had £15,000 lying at interest to pay off the largest share of its moderate debt when the debentures fell in.

        
Nelson settlers felt a pardonable pride that such signs of progress should be witnessed by his Excellency, who indeed at the banquet given in his honor, referred in eloquent terms to the interesting and remarkable changes that had taken place since he first visited in Nelson twenty years before.

        
On the 28th of the previous month, 
Mr. Oswald Curtis had been elected Superintendent in the stead of Mr. Saunders, who resigned, intending to visit England. At each succeeding election Mr. Curtis was again returned, and he continued to be Superintendent until the Provinces were abolished.

        


        
The "West Coast Goldfields first returned members to the Provincial Council in April, 1867, when Mr. James Bentley was elected for the Buller, and Mr. George Donne for Cobden.

        
At the General Assembly elections held in February, 1866, the following members had been returned to represent the Nelson Districts:—Nelson—
E. W. Stafford and Oswald Curtis; Suburbs of Nelson—William Wells; Waimea—A. R. Oliver; Motueka— C. Parker; Collingwood—A. J. Richmond. No representation had as yet been granted to the inhabitants of the South-west Gold Fields.

        
In May the news was received that Her Majesty had been pleased to confer the honor of knighthood upon 
Sir David Monro, who was at the time Speaker of the House of Representatives.

        
The Maungatapu murders took place in June, 1866. It was a criminal episode of a very shocking character, but has no historical interest. Those who care to read the details of this awful crime—how four poor fellows, named Felix Mathieu, John Kempthorne James Dudley, and James Pontius, were waylaid on the Maungatapu, and foully done to death by a gang of murderers, consisting of Richard Burgess, Thomas Kelly, Joseph Thomas Sullivan, and William Levy, who were caught, tried, and hanged—can read them all in the papers of the period. They have also been published in pamphlet form in full.

        
On Thursday, 26th September, 1867 Bishop and Mrs. Suter arrived by the "Cissy." His Lordship was accompanied by the Revs. Ewald, Harvey, Thorpe, and Mules. The ship also brought out a number of emigrants, specially selected by the Bishop. They were chiefly domestic servants, all of whom obtained employment at good wages.

        
In October, Mr. Curtis visited the West Coast, accompanied by Mr. John Sharp, Provincial Treasurer, and Mr. Barnicoat, Speaker of the Provincial Council, Mr. Burn, M.P.C., and Mr. Pitt, M.P.C. At one of the banquets given to the visitors, Mr. Sharp stated that the Government had already expended £55,000 in necessary works on the West Coast.

        
Thursday, April 16th, 1867, is a red-letter day in the history of the City's progress, for on that day the Nelson waterworks were formally inaugurated. The whole of the works were designed by 
Mr. John Blackett, Provincial Engineer, and were carried out under his superintendence. They cost less than the estimated sum of £20,000. The idea of taking the water from the Brook street stream seems to have originated in 1858 or 1859 with Mr. Norgrove, a member of the Board of Works, and Mr. Alfred Dodson drew up a plan of Mr. Norgrove's scheme. The opening of the waterworks was celebrated by a procession to the reservoir, where a speech was made by the Superintendent; a prayer specially written for the occasion read by the Bishop; and a hymn, also composed by the Bishop, was sung. A luncheon 

was afterwards given in the Provincial Hall, to which about 150 sat down. There was some not unreasonable growling, that while a costly luncheon was provided at the public expense for a select few, there was no beef or beer for the outside public.

        
On 30th June, 1868, Mr. John Poynter retired from the position of Eesident Magistrate of Nelson, and was succeeded by Mr. John Sharp. Mr. Poynter died on the 30th August following. He was one of the first emigrants who landed on the shores of Blind Bay, having arrived in the "Fifeshire" on the 1st February, 1842. He was, too, the purchaser of the wreck of that vessel; and, like many of the early settlers, underwent numerous vicissitudes. He filled many important public offices. His first appointment was that of Crown Prosecutor, which office he resigned on being appointed Resident Magistrate in 1854, in succession to Major Richmond. He also filled at various times the offices of Colonial Sub-Treasurer, Provincial Treasurer, Commissioner of Native Reserves, Registrar of Marriages, Registrar of Joint Stock Companies, and local Commissioner of Stamps. He was also a local director of the Union Bank.

        
Mr. Poynter was a man of kindly disposition, peculiarly easy in temper, liberal and open-handed.
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A point has now been reached in the history of Nelson at which it will be convenient to give a description of the various efforts made to promote Education, from the earliest days of the settlement to the present time. One or two small private schools were started very soon after the settlers had managed to make themselves more or less comfortable in their primitive raupo and fern shanties; and during the hardships and troubles of those early days, many parents denied themselves even necessaries, in order that their little ones might have some schooling.

          
The first Public School was opened in Nelson on the 12th September, 1842. The first meeting in connection therewith was held on the 24th May, at which it was stated that the design of the subscribers was to establish an elementary school, to be open to the children of all, without regard to the religious opinions of the parents, in which no sectarian views whatever should be taught; and that the Bible, when read, should be read without note or comment.

          
A public subscription was opened to pay the expense of building a school-room. A Committee of four, viz., Captain England, Messrs. Tuckett, Macshane, and McRae, was appointed to proceed with the building as soon as the subscriptions would warrant them in doing so. Captain Wakefield, on behalf of of the N.Z. Company, engaged to furnish a site on acre 208, at a nominal rent of 6d. per foot frontage for 20 years, and to give the same amount of money as had been subscribed. In July the Committee called for tenders, that of Messrs. Bird and Palmer, for £100, being accepted. On 31st August the subscribers met, appointed Mr. Moore schoolmaster, and arranged to open the school on 12th September. The following were appointed a General Committee of Management:—Captains Wakefield and England, Dr. Macshane, Messrs. Tuckett, Anderson, Richardson, King, Spence, J. Barton, McDonald, Domett, Tytler, Jollie, Brown, Cockburn, James, Cautley, and Captain Wilson. Mr. C. Elliott was elected Hon. Secretary, and Messrs. Domett and Wakefield Hon. Inspectors.

          


          
This building was removed for school purposes to Wakefield in 1845; the school itself being absorbed by the Nelson School Society; just as the day schools of that body were in time handed over to the care and management of the Nelson Central Board of Education.
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The Nelson School Society.

          
The origin of the Nelson School Society was this:—

          
The first 
private school in the settlement was commenced in a private house on the 27th March, 1842, by a number of Christians, who, on their arrival at Nelson, united in the erection of a chapel or school-room in Taxman-street, which was opened on the 4th December, 1842; and the school being removed there, was attended by 120 children, under the superintendence of Mr. Matthew Campbell.

          
In the course of a few months, the proprietors removing into the suburban districts, let the building to the superintendent of the school; but in consequence of the high rent, and the unfinished state in which it remained, it was deemed expedient, either to purchase and put the building into repair, or to proceed with the erection of a new school; accordingly an offer was made to the proprietors, which they declined. A Committee of Management was then formed, a treasurer and secretary appointed, and application made to the Board appointed by the Government for the appropriation of the public reserves, for a grant of land on which to erect a Sunday and day school, for the education of the children of all classes and denominations. Five trustees were appointed, viz., Messrs. Matthew Campbell, Wm. Hildreth, Thos. J. Thompson, A. G. Jenkins, and Dr. Renwick. The grant was made by the Board, and confirmed by the Governor; and the deed was received in March, 1847.

          
On the 21st February, 1844 the foundation stone of the school was laid by Mr. William Fox (now Sir "William Fox, K.C.M.G.), and on Easter Sunday, April 7, 1843, the new school was opened. The number of Sunday scholars was about 150, and of day scholars about 70. A library for the use of teachers and children was also established, of books presented for the purpose by various friends. The expenses of the building and appurtenances amounted to £176 9s. 5d.

          
The following branch schools were opened under the auspices of this Society:—Wakefield, on the 8th October, 1843; Spring Grove, on the 18th May, 1845; Stoke, on the 28th December, 1845; Waimea West, on the 1st January, 1846; Richmond, 16th February, 1846; Wailisa East, 22nd March, 1848; Riwaka, 23rd November, 1848. In 1848 the number of children attending the public schools was 422. Schools were subsequently established at Clifton Terrace, Hope, Appleby, and Motupipi.

          
The members of the first General Committee of the Society were: Messrs. M. Campbell, W. Hildreth, Wm. Stanton, Thos. 

J. Thompson, Samuel Kealley, John McArtney, Wm. Gardner, and John P. Robinson. The first Treasurer was Mr. Matthew Campbell, and the first Secretary Mr. W. M. Stanton. The Society dates its regular establishment from Easter, 1844 (
videReport for 1853). By 1857 the day schools of the Society had practically ceased to exist, having been merged in the general Provincial system. The Society, however, still exists in connection with Sunday schools.

          
The Nelson School Society's rules provided that the course of instruction in the day schools should include reading, writing, arithmetic and needlework. That the schools should be open to the children of parents of all religious denominations, and that the sacred Scriptures in the authorised version, or extracts therefrom, should be read and taught daily. No Cathechism or peculiar religious tenets to be taught in the schools, but every child enjoined to regularly attend the place of worship preferred by its parents.

          
If the institution began in a modest and feeble manner, a numbers increased, and the settlers spread themselves in agricultural pursuits in all directions; the addition of branch schools became necessary, and the establishment of these was prosecuted with great vigour from year to year, and with very limited means. The Nelson School Society did good work for the children of the early settlers. From its foundation, to the day of his death, Mr. Matthew Campbell was conspicuous by his endeavours in promoting the objects of the Society—his services were repeatedly acknowledged at its general meetings—and so identified had his name become with the opening of the schools, that we find in the returns sent in annually by the Collectors of •Statistics, entries of this kind, "One of Campbell's Schools opened in this district." A monument over Mr. Campbell's remains, in the Nelson general cemetery, was erected in recognition of his philanthropic services in the cause of Education.

          
The following extremely interesting account of the Annual School Examinations and Feast, was written early in 1850 by Mr., now Sir F. Dillon Bell, K.C.M.G, who was at the time Resident Agent for the New Zealand Company:—

          
"One of the most gratifying facts connected with education in this settlement is the very warm interest which is taken in it by all classes. It has been the practise for some years to have Annual Public Examinations of the various scholars, and these have always been looked forward to with anxious anticipation by ihe children, in which their parents and friends have joined. But the most interesting of these examinations took place on the 26th December last, on which occasion the scholars from all the schools in the various Districts (including the Episcopalian, Wesleyan, and other denominations, as well as non-Sectarian) 

were, for the first time, assembled together in the large booth belonging to the Kelson School Society, in Bridge street.

          
"From early morning lines of crowded carts came down the Waimea Road, covered with green boughs and flowers, and each carrying a distinguishing flag; and it seemed, indeed, as if every cart in the settlement had been engaged in the service, which was almost literally the fact. As they passed along, a dozen or more in line at once, filled with young children, singing gaily in chorus, many a finer sight in the world, would have given less pleasure. In the middle of the day, when they had all arrived, the children assembled on the green, and formed into a procession to the booth, which had been fitted with an amphitheatre of benches one above the other, and most tastefully decorated with flags, inscriptions, and flowers: the letters in some of the inscriptions being made with cherries, which delighted the little folks as they passed and saw the treat that was designed for them.

          
"Nearly all the adult population of the town was assembled at the booth, and as everybody, including the children, had on Sunday clothes,' and appeared beut on being gay and merry, the scene looked more like one of the delightful fetes in France, than one of the sedate English rejoicings.

          
"One thing struck me particularly in the crowd: the improved appearance of the labouring class. At the time of the great distress in 1844 and 1845, when many families lived almost wholly on potatoes, and not a great abundance of them, for more than twelve months, the rural population, especially the women and children, looked wretched, pinched, and haggard; they showed in their faces the grievous scarcity which befell them upon the Company's suspension. Now there was, indeed, an alteration; hardly one of the large number present seeming otherwise than, well-to-do in the world, and the children in particular healthy and robust.

          
"I was honoured by being called upon to preside over the assembly and examination; and during a couple of hours of questioning in various branches of elementary knowledge by the clergymen of the place, by Mr. Jollie and other gentlemen, and by myself, the children acquitted themselves, on the whole, excellently well. They were afterwards addressed by several gentlemen with words of advice and praise. The girls were on this half of the benches, and the boys on that, and as their favourites among the speakers ceased speaking, upwards of a thousand little hands would applaud with all their might. A great number of songs were sung by them in chorus, keeping time, and time surprisingly, considering that they had learnt the songs at different and far distant times and places; and now and then thay all waved their hands together backwards and forwards, so that the effect was greatly heightened.

          


          
'After the examination was concluded, they were regaled with a substantial meal and with fruit, which was most gladly contributed by all who had any and were asked for it.

          
"In no other settlement in New Zealand could such a scene have taken place at the end of 1849; so pleasing, so hopeful, and encouraging."
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Denominational Schools.

          
There were also Denominational Schools. The Church of England had one, the Wesleyans at one time had three, one in Nelson and two in the Country Districts. The Church of England school was merged into and became known as the Bishop s schools—the Wesleyan schools have been discontinued since the introduction of the Nelson Education system.
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The Bishop's School.

          
The Church of England school, started shortly after the foundation of the settlement, was taught for some time by the Rev. H. F. Butt. The present Bishop's school was founded by Bishop Selwyn, and its Head Masters have been—the Venerable Archdeacon Butt, the Venerable Archdeacon Lingard, the late Rev. E. H. Gaskin, the Eevs. Govett, Bowden, and Poole, and Mr. Eobert Lee, and the present master, Mr. James H. Harkness, B.A. Religious instruction forms part of the daily course, and scholarships are open to the choristers of the Cathedral.

          
The building has been enlarged and almost entirely reconstructed during the Episcopate of Bishop Suter.
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St. Mary's Schools.

          
Father Garin's schools were established in 1850, and were numerously attended by Protestants as well as Catholics. The school was opened first of all in the chapel, the teacher being Miss O'Dowd. The daily attendance at first was 19 boys and 20 girls.

          
Shortly after, the Rev. Father Garin opened a boarding-school, of which he took personal charge. One of his earliest pupils was Francis Redwood, who, after being well grounded by Father Garin during three years, went to France, where be remained some years, but completed his studies in Ireland, where he was ordained a priest, and became a member of the Marist Order. After spending some time as a Professor in Dundalk College, and having acquired practical knowledge of parish work in Dublin, Father Eedwood was on 10th February, 1874, appointed Bishop of Wellington in succession to the late Bishop Viard; and in 1887 he became Archbishop of Wellington and Metropolitan of the Catholic Church in New Zealand. His Grace is also a member of the Senate of the New Zealand University.

          
Father Garin also established the Convent and the High 

and Parish schools for girls, and the Industrial schools for both boys and girls—all of which institutions he lived to see grow from very small beginnings, into large and flourishing establishments. On the occasion of the jubilee of his ordination, viz., 19th October, 1884, the Venerable Father Garin was created Archpriest of Nelson. He died, universally respected, on the 14th April,. 1889, and his remains lie in the crypt of the Mortuary Chapel of St. Michael, which was erected in the Nelson cemetery by subscriptions from all classes and creeds, as a monument to his memory.

          
The St. Mary's High school and Parish school for girls have been conducted for years by the Sisters of the Order of Our Lady of Missions. For some time subsidies were received from the Provincial funds, the schools were regularly inspected by the State, and were free to all. Since the introduction of the New Zealand Education Act no subsidies have been paid, and they have become private schools, at which moderate fees are charged. The quality of the education and thoroughness of the work were always highly spoken of by the Inspector—and it is satisfactory to know that, notwithstanding the withdrawal of Government aid, these schools are still numerously attended, and maintain their high repute.

          
The boys' school has languished since the present Act came Into force, but is shortly to be re-opened under the charge of the Marist Brothers, who have a high reputation in Sydney and Other places as competent and successful teachers.
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The Nelson Education System.

          
Upon the establishment of the Provinces in 1854, one of the first subjects that engaged the earnest attention of the first elected Superintendent of Nelson (Mr., now 
Sir E. W. Stafford, G.C.M.G.) and the Provincial Council, was that of primary education. At its second session in January, 1855, the Provincial Council passed an Ordinance authorizing the Superintendent to appoint a Commission to enquire into and consider what system of primary education would be the best for the Province to adopt.

          
The Commission was duly appointed, and consisted of Dr. Greenwood, Dr. Monro, Mr. Chas. Elliott, Mr. Wells, and Mr. F. A. Weld (the late Sir F. A. Weld, G.C.M.G.) At the first meeting, Dr. Greenwood was appointed Chairman, and the first business considered was, On what basis should the Educational Scheme be built? There were protracted discussions, but eventually it was agreed: "That as every settler was to be called upon to pay for its support, whatever his religious opinions might be, the basis on which the scheme ought to rest, must in equity be a secular one." This resolution was carried, Mr. Weld dissenting on the ground that the denomination to which he belonged considered it dangerous to impart secular education to 

children, unless accompanied by religious instruction; and much to the regret of all the others Mr. Weld retired, and declined to act further on the Commission.

          
Before doing so, however, he stated his view to be: "That Government should give assistance to all well-conducted schools that give a certain amount of secular instruction to the satisfaction of a Government Inspector, the Government not to interfere in any way in the religious instruction given in the schools."

          
The religious aspect of the question was also fully considered and discussed, and the remaining Commissioners finally agreed that it would be expedient, and would secure a better attendance at school, if a permissive clause was introduced in the report allowing a Bible lesson to be read in school at a special hour, with the proviso, that any parent objecting might withdraw his child during the reading of the lesson.

          
A Bill, based upon the report of the Commission, was introduced into the third session of the Council, and the Nelson Education System was by its means established in 1856. It was not, however, until 1858 that the peculiar feature in the Nelson system was introduced which enabled it to work smoothly and satisfactorily.

          
Up to this time the introduction of religious instruction into the schools was at the discretion of the local Committees, subject to this provision:—"Any religious instruction given in such schools shall be free from all controversial character, and shall be imparted at such hours that any parents objecting thereto may be able to withdraw their children from school at the time when it is given."

          
In 1858 a very important amendment was introduced by Dr. Monro in these words:—"Whenever any school shall have been established in any educational district, and any number of ratepayers resident in such district contributing not less than £50 per annum to the rates levied under the authority of this Act in such district shall have appointed a Committee of five persons for the management of such school, and provided a sufficient school-room to the satisfaction of the Central Board, and shall signify in writing to the Central Board their desire to be constituted into a separate body for educational purposes; it shall be the duty of the Central Board from time to time to pay over to the Committee for the time being the amount to be thereafter contributed by such ratepayers in such district, after deducting the expenses incurred in collecting the same; and it shall be lawful for the Central Board to grant such additional aid in books, school apparatus, and money as to the Central Board shall seem expedient: Provided always that every such school shall be open to all children between the ages of 5 and 14 years without fee or payment, and to inspection In the same manner as other schools established under this Act; and any religious 
in-

struction given in such school shall be imparted at such hours that parents objecting thereto may be able to withdraw their children from the school at the time when it is given; and no such rates or grants shall be paid over to the Committee as aforesaid unless secular instruction shall be imparted in such school to the satisfaction of the Central Board."

          
The spirit of this amendment was adopted freely by the Central Board, and the Catholics, who alone took advantage of it, received head-money periodically from the Board for each boy and girl educated at the separated schools, based on the ascertained cost of educating the other boys in the schools of the town: and this fair and ready way of applying the new principle remained in satisfactory operation till the establishment of the New Zealand System of Education in 1877. The separatist schools were left to themselves by the Education Board, except that the Board's Inspector ascertained that the secular instruction required, was duly imparted. There was a further amendment, introduced in 1867 by 
Mr. Oswald Curtis, then Superintendent, which extended the privilege hitherto claimable by a body of ratepayers to the amount of £50 per annum, to any separated ratepayers paying only £25 per annum. The Nelson system, thus amended, worked admirably. All denominations were fairly satisfied Theoretically it was not perfect, but it was administered in such a just and liberal spirit, chat in practice there was nothing left for anyone to complain about. It solved the religious difficulty, by giving to the Catholics a fair share of the taxes they had to pay for educational purposes, according to the secular results they could show in their schools; it gave full scope to those who desired the Sacred Scriptures read in schools; and it provided ample safeguards for those parents who did not wish their children to receive anything but a secular education.

          
The Nelson system merged into the Colonial system upon the Education Act, 1877, coming into operation, and there were then 3839 scholars on the roll. The Catholic schools in the Province were separated schools, under the inspection of the Board, and were attended by 590 boys and girls, with a staff of twelve teachers.

          
The first Inspector was 
Mr. J. D. Greenwood, who held office until 1863, when he was succeeded by the present Inspector, Mr. W. C. Hodgson, who has discharged the difficult, and often delicate duties, of his responsible office with such impartial fairness, discriminating tact, and ability, as have gained for him the hearty approbation of the Central Board; the confidence of the teachers; and the respect and esteem of those to whom a less just man might have rendered the benevolent intentions of the Act almost nugatory.

          
Under the Nelson system, the Province was divided into 

Education Districts; each district had its own Local Committee; and each Local Committee returned a member to the Central Board. The Board was composed of heterogenous elements, but their actions were, as a rule, directed by a spirit of fairness and justice. The Anglican Bishop, the Catholic Priest, the Wesleyan Clergyman, and the Freethinker, all found places on the Board; which included, indeed, persons of all shades of religious opinions, and of no such opinions at all; and several men of liberal education, and broad and liberal culture; together with plain farmers and sturdy mechanics who, without much book-learning, were gifted with strong common sense. There was very little friction, for the spirit which animated the Board, as a whole, was a determination to administer the Act as benevolently as possible.

          
The successive Chairmen of the Nelson Central Board of Education from its establishment, to its demise in 1878 were Mr. Donald Sinclair, Captain David Rough, the 
Hon. J. W. Barnicoat, M.L.C., the Bishop of Nelson, and Mr. H. A. Tarrant.

          
The Nelson system was abolished by the Colonial enactmeat, known as "The Education Act, 1877," which came into operation on 1st January, 1878.

          
There are few things that such of the Nelson settlers as have reached middle age regard with more pride than the Nelson Education scheme. Nor is this feeling altogether without justification. It was no small achievement that a few thousand colonists, thinly scattered over a vast extent of country, should, without any extraneous help or guidance of any kind, have devised a system that, owing to its admirable simplicity and liberality, fully satisfied the needs of the community for which it was intended, during nearly a quarter of a century.

          
The New Zealand Education Act was professedly based on the Nelson Act, but local partiality still holds that wherever the child differs from its parent, it differs for the worse. Those who have been brought up under the older system still regret the simple and elastic provisions that have been superseded by the complex and rigid regulations that now "encumber by their help" the cause of primary education.

          
At the close of 1891, the number of schools under the control of the Nelson Education Board was 94; the number of scholars on the roll 5839; the number of teachers, including pupil teachers, 164, of whom 55 were males, and 109 females. The number of town schools was 6, with 1237 scholars; and there were 88 country schools, with 4602 scholars.
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Foundation and History of Nelson College.

          
We have seen in the first chapter, that out of the price to be paid by the land-selectors for their sections, a special sum was to be devoted by the N.Z. Company to religious and educational 

purposes. The establishment of a College in Nelson had been specially mentioned in the prospectus of the terms on which the land was offered to the public by the Company. A number of trustees was therefore appointed, to whom were to be entrusted the Nelson Trust Funds for the purposes of education. The first trustee so appointed were David Monro, Samuel Stephens, William Oldfield Cautley, Francis Dillon Bell, Francis Jollie, Alfred Fell, and 
John Waring Saxton. They were appointed by Act of the Imperial Parliament, and remained in office until 1st January, 1855.

          
In 1854 the General Assembly passed "The Nelson Trust Funds Act," which provided for the election of trustees to administer the whole of the Trust Funds, education included. The election took place on 1st January, 1855, and the first elected trustees were:—Alfred Fell, David Sclanders, Charles Elliott, David Monro, William Wells, 
John Danforth Greenwood, and 
John Wallis Barnicoat.

          
Owing to the impecunious state into which the New Zealand Company drifted, and their ultimate breakdown owing to the small quantity of land sold, together with the native and other troubles, the liability created by the contract between the Company and the land purchasers remained unpaid for years. In the meantime negotiations were being carried on between the Company and the Home Government, with the ultimate result that the latter took over all the assets and liabilities of the Company.

          
The first appointed trustees having only the English Government to deal with, immediately appointed as their agent Mr. James Stuart Tytler, one of the earliest Nelson settlers, but who had returned home and was practising as a writer to the 'Signet' in Edinburgh, Mr. Tytler went into the matter with hearty good-will; and chiefly by his efforts, aided however by some friends, especially Mr. H. Seymour and others, who had considerable influence with the Government, the amount due to the Trust Funds, and interest for the time it had remained unpaid, was recovered.

          
The trustees elected under the Act of 1851, set about its appropriation. By deed, dated 14th November, 1857, they founded and endowed the College with a sum of £20,000, vesting its management in a Visitor, and nine Governors named in the deed. They incurred some odium by naming themselves in the deed, with the addition of some others, as first College Governors. The deed also provided that the first Governors should hold office for four years, by which time it might be expected the institution would be firmly established.

          
"The Nelson College Act, 1858," incorporated the Governors of the College, and vested the property and management in the Corporation; subject, however, to the terms and conditions of the deed of foundation, which is annexed as a Schedule to the Act.
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In terms of the deed and the Act, the Visitor is his Excellency the Governor for the time being.

          
The following constituted the first Council of Governors under the above authority:—
John Danforth Greenwood, Charles Elliott, David Monro, 
John Waring Saxton, 
John Wallis Barnicoat, Charles Bigg Wither, William Wells, Alfred Domett, and Henry Cooper Daniell.

          
"The Nelson College Trust Act, 1858," transferred certain valuable and extensive lands in the Town of Nelson, at Motueka, Opawa and Massacre Bay, reserved as endowments towards the support of a College, and a Grammar or Grammar Schools in the Province of Nelson; from the first trustees to the trustees created by the deed of November, 1857, and "The Nelson College Act,. 1858 "; and the College property was thus largely increased.

          
The Deed of Foundation declared the object to be to establish an educational institution, to be called "Nelson College," for the advancement of religion and morality, and the promotion of useful knowledge, by offering to the youth of the province general education of a superior character.

          
It further provides that "the funds of the institution having arisen from the contributions of persons of different religious persuasions, creed cannot be admitted as a disqualification either as regards teachers or pupils."

          
The Governors were, by the Act, to be elected periodically, the electoral body being that constituted under the provisions of "The Nelson Trust Funds Act," which included, subject to certain limitations, and with cumulative voting powers, nearly every owner of land, and every occupier of land paying a rent of not less than £15 a year. This provision was repealed by "The Nelson College Amendment Act, 1870," and the power of appointment of Governors has, since the date of that Act, been vested in the Visitor.

          
The Deed of Foundation also provides that "the course of instruction shall also include the English language and literature, one or more modern languages, geography, mathematics, classics, history, drawing, music, and such other branches of art or science as the Council shall at any time determine." It is also provided that "no pupil shall be admitted under the age of nine years, nor unless he able to read fluently, to write with tolerable accuracy from dictation, and be familiar with the first four rules of arithmetic."

          
The Governors are also empowered to set apart at least £300 a year out of the annual proceeds of the rust estate, for the foundation of exhibitions or scholarships.

          
The Council of Governors were also authorised to spend not more than £8000 upon the necessary buildings for the College, out of the funds handed over to them, and to sell certain lands set apart for College purposes, and to purchase a more suitable site.

          


          
In 1856, the College was opened in temporary premises in Manuka-street, but the present beautiful site, containing twelve acres of land, having been purchased, it was decided to erect thereon a suitable building.

          
The design of Mr. Beatson was approved, and on the 7th December, 1859, the foundation stone was laid by his Excellency Governor Gore Browne. The building, which has received some additions since, has cost, including the land, £13,000.

          
The first Head-Master was the Rev. J. C. Bagshaw, M.A., and since his retirement the following have been the successive Principals of the College:—Mr. Geo. Heppell, M.A., Mr. R. Broughton, M.A., 
Mr. J. D. Greenwood, Rev. C. L. Maclean, M.A., Rev. F. C. Simmons, M.A., Rev. J. C. Andrews, M.A., Mr. W. J. Ford, M.A., Mr. J. W. Joynt, M.A.

          
In 1882, the Governors were empowered, by Act, to expend a portion of their funds in the erection of a College for Girls. Accordingly the site, containing about three acres, was purchased for £1400, and the present commodious building was erected at a cost of over £5000.

          
The sites of both Colleges are extremely beautiful, and most healthily situated on high ground, overlooking Blind Bay.

          
The first Lady Principal of the Girls' College was 
Miss Kate Edger, M.A., who shortly after her marriage to the 
Rev. W. A. Evans resigned the post, and was succeeded by Miss E. B. Gibson, M.A., late of 
Canterbury College, who is the present Principal.

          
The following Nelson College boys and girls have graduated at the New Zealand University:—B.A.: J. P. Barnicoat, Wm. D. Andrews, Ellen Gribben, F. M. Jones, E. P. Bunny, J. Firth, Emma F. Ainsworth, and Jessie Knapp. M.A.: Jas. H. Harkness, G. A. Harkness, T. E. Fleming, A. G. Talbot, 
F. G. Gibbs, and W. P. Evans. L.L.B.: T. R. Fleming. The following have taken their degrees at English Universities after being grounded at the Nelson College:—A. Atkinson, B.A,. Oxon.; Percy B. Adams, M.A., Cantab.; H. A. Sharp, B.A., Cantab.

          
Thirteen Senior Scholarships and Seven Junior Scholarships have been won at the New Zealand University, and there are at present in the Nelson Colleges eighteen under graduates of that institution.

          
The "Endowed Scholarships" were founded respectively by Mr. E. K. Newcome, Major Richmond, 
Sir E. W. Stafford, G.C.M.G., Mr. Alfred Fell, and Mr. John Tinline; all of whom were amongst the earliest and most respected settlers of Nelson.

          
The "Governors' Fees Scholarships" are derived from the interest of a fund formed by the abstention of the Governors from putting those fees into their own pockets, which they are by law entitled to.
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The following are the Scholarships tenable at the two Colleges:—


            

              

Boys' College.
              

                
	Scholarships.
                
	Tenable for
                
	Amount per Annum.
              

              

                
	Endowed-
                
	
                
	£
                
	s.
              

              

                
	Newcome
                
	3 years
                
	24
                
	0
              

              

                
	Richmond
                
	3 years
                
	24
                
	0
              

              

                
	Stafford
                
	3 years
                
	20
                
	0
              

              

                
	Fell
                
	3 years
                
	16
                
	0
              

              

                
	Tinline
                
	3 years
                
	52
                
	12
              

              

                
	Foundation-
                
	
                
	
                
	
              

              

                
	1st Classical
                
	1 year
                
	20
                
	0
              

              

                
	2nd Classical
                
	1 year
                
	10
                
	0
              

              

                
	3rd Classical
                
	1 year
                
	5
                
	0
              

              

                
	1st Mathematical
                
	1 year
                
	20
                
	0
              

              

                
	2nd Mathematical
                
	1 year
                
	10
                
	0
              

              

                
	3rd Mathematical
                
	1 year
                
	5
                
	0
              

              

                
	Governors' Fees-
                
	
                
	
                
	
              

              

                
	1st Modern Languages
                
	1 year
                
	12
                
	12
              

              

                
	Chemistry
                
	1 year
                
	12
                
	12
              

              

                
	1st English Literature
                
	1 year
                
	12
                
	12
              

              

                
	2nd English Literature
                
	1 year
                
	12
                
	12
              

              

                
	Education Board-
                
	
                
	
                
	
              

              

                
	Nelson Town
                
	2 years
                
	12
                
	12
              

              

                
	Nelson Town
                
	2 years
                
	12
                
	12
              

              

                
	Nelson Town
                
	2 years
                
	12
                
	12
              

              

                
	Nelson Town
                
	2 years
                
	12
                
	12
              

              

                
	Nelson Country
                
	2 years
                
	52
                
	12
              

              

                
	Nelson Country
                
	2 years
                
	52
                
	12
              

              

                
	Nelson Country
                
	2 years
                
	52
                
	12
              

              

                
	Nelson Country
                
	2 years
                
	12
                
	12
              

              

                
	Nelson Country
                
	2 years
                
	12
                
	12
              

              

                
	Nelson Country
                
	2 years
                
	12
                
	12
              

              

                
	Nelson Country
                
	2 years
                
	12
                
	12
              

              

                
	Marlborough
                
	2 years
                
	52
                
	12
              

              

                
	Marlborough
                
	2 years
                
	52
                
	12
              

              

                
	Simmons Prize
                
	Annual
                
	6
                
	0
              

            

            

              

Girls' College.
              

                
	Scholarships.
                
	Tenable for
                
	Amount per Annum.
              

              

                
	
                
	
                
	£
                
	
s.
              

              

                
	Tinline
                
	3 years
                
	52
                
	12
              

              

                
	Edger-For girls over the age of sixteen
                
	2 years
                
	15
                
	0
              

              

                
	Edger-For girls over the age of sixteen
                
	2 years
                
	15
                
	0
              

              

                
	Governors' Fees-
                
	
                
	
                
	
              

              

                
	For Girls over the age of sixteen
                
	2 years
                
	15
                
	0
              

              

                
	For Girls over the age of sixteen
                
	2 years
                
	15
                
	0
              

              

                
	Education Board—
                
	
                
	
                
	
              

              

                
	Nelson Town
                
	2 years
                
	12
                
	12
              

              

                
	Nelson Town
                
	2 years
                
	12
                
	12
              

              

                
	Nelson Town
                
	2 years
                
	12
                
	12
              

              

                
	Nelson Town
                
	2 years
                
	12
                
	12
              

              

                
	Nelson Country
                
	2 years
                
	12
                
	12
              

              

                
	Nelson Country
                
	2 years
                
	12
                
	12
              

              

                
	Nelson Country
                
	2 years
                
	52
                
	12
              

              

                
	Nelson Country
                
	2 years
                
	52
                
	12
              

              

                
	School Commissioners
                
	2 years
                
	12
                
	12
              

              

                
	School Commissioners
                
	2 years
                
	12
                
	12
              

              

                
	School Commissioners
                
	2 years
                
	12
                
	12
              

              

                
	School Commissioners
                
	2 years
                
	12
                
	12
              

              

                
	School Commissioners
                
	2 years
                
	12
                
	12
              

              

                
	School Commissioners
                
	2 years
                
	12
                
	12
              

            


          
There is to be a re-arrangement of the Scholarships, by which a larger proportion of the Foundation and Governors' Fees Scholarships will be allotted to the Girls' College.

          
At the Boys' College there are a library containing a large number of books, and regularly supplied with periodicals; an extensive cricket and football ground; and a gymnasium, with the usual appliances. There are also a Cadet Corps and a Fire Brigade, and all boys are drilled twice a week.

          
At the Girls' College there are a library and debating room, two asphalte tennis courts, and other means of exercise and 

amusement. Attached to the College, is a good studio, well furnished with casts and models.

          
The present Governors are:—The Hon. J. W. Barnicoat, M.L.C., C. Y. Fell, Alfred Greenfield, 
Albert Pitt, the 
Hon. J. C. Richmond, M.L.C., James Sclanders, John Sharp, and the Hon. Joseph Shephard, M.L.C.

          
The staff of the two Colleges is as follows:—

          

            

              

                

Boys' College.

                
Principal: Mr. John W. Joynt, M.A., Trinity College, Dublin: Ex-Scholar, Senior Classic, Double Firstclass-man and Double Gold Medalist at Degree. Second Master: Mr. W. S. Littlejohn, M.A., Aberdeen. Third Master: 
Mr. F. G. Gibbs, M.A., New Zealand. Fourth Master: Mr. E. F. W. Cooke. Music and Drawing: A Visiting Staff. Drill Instructor: Sergt.-Major Nixon. Science Master: Mr. W. S. Littlejohn, M.A. Resident Masters: The Principal, Mr. Gibbs, and Mr. Cooker. Lady Matron: Miss E. B. Bell.

              

            

          

          

            

              

                

Girls' College.

                
Lady Principal: Miss E. B. Gibson, M.A., New Zealand. Assistant Mistresses: Miss E. Gribben, B.A., New Zealand, Miss Watson, and Miss Catley. Science Master: Mr. W. S. Littlejohn, M.A. Music Mistresses: A Visiting Staff (at present of five teachers). Drawing Mistress: Miss Morgan (late of South Kensington School of Art, and Pupil of Ludovici).

              

            

          

          
Following this description of the efforts made from the beginning to promote education, we may appropriately pass on tonarrate as well as the somewhat meagre facts obtainable will permit, the history of the Churches.
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Church of England.

          
The first clergyman of the Church of England who officiated in Nelson was the Rev. O. Hadfield, now Bishop of Wellington and Primate of New Zealand. The next was the Rev. C. W. Saxton, who came out as a private settler, remained about eighteen months, and returned home. He held services and performed marriages during 1842 and 1843.

          
But the first regular clergyman of Nelson was the Rev. C. L. Eeay, M.A., who came out with Bishop Selwyn in 1842. He remained in Nelson a few years, then subsequently removed to the North, and worked exclusively amongst the natives.

          
Bishop Selwyn paid his first episcopal visit to Nelson in 1842. He arrived on Sunday, August 21st, and again in 1843. On this last occasion, he found the first church erected in the settlement, in the Waimea Plain; which was succeeded afterwards, in 1867, by the present church of St. Michael's, Waimea West, erected as a memorial to the late Captain Blundell. The Bishop of New Zealand visited Nelson on three later occasions. He opened Christ Church on Christmas Day, 1851; consecrated it on 
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March 7, 1858; and laid the foundation stone of St. Michael's, Waimea West, in November, 1866.

          
The Rev. H. F. Butt acted for a time under the 
Rev. C. L. Reay; he also taught in the Bishop's School in a building on the site where the present school now stands. He subsequently became Incumbent of Christ Church, which he held for some years. Upon the formation of the Archdeaconry of Wairau in 1868, he was appointed to that office, which he held till his death in 1886.

          
Service was held in a large tent in 1843, given to the Bishop of New Zealand by Mr. William Cotton, Governor of the Bank of England. After that, Divine Service was held in a room used by the surveyors of the New Zealand Company, inside the fort at the summit of the Church Hill. These buildings were removed in 1848, the site having been secured from the Crown.

          
In accordance with the terms of their original prospectus, the New Zealand Company granted £5000 from the Land Fund for Church of England purposes. This, together with grants from the Society for Promoting Christian Knowledge, and the Society for the Propagation of the Gospel, formed the original endowment for the diocese.

          
On Michaelmas Day, 1858, the Right Rev. 
Edmund Hobhouse, D.D., Fellow of Merton College, Oxford, and Vicar of St. Peter's, was consecrated Bishop of Nelson, and arrived early in 1859. Owing to failing health, Bishop Hobhouse resigned in 1864. It was a short Episcopate, but left its mark on the diocese, especially in connection with the liberal donations of a site for the Episcopal residence, and the provision made for replenishing the ranks of the clergy.

          
Bishop Hobhouse was succeeded by the Right Rev. 
Andrew Burn Suter, D.D,, Incumbent of All Saints', Mile End, New Town. Dr. Suter was consecrated by the Archbishop of Canterbury on the 24th August, 1866, assisted by Bishops Tait and Ellicott.

          
Bishop Suter landed at Nelson on 26th September, 1867, bringing out with him the following clergy:—Venerable Archdeacons Thorpe and Mules, the late Rev. Dr. Harvey, and the Rev. W. H. Ewald, M.A.

          
In 1890, the Bishop's health began to fail, the result of intense over-application to the work of the diocese, and the training of candidates for Holy Orders. In 1891, Dr. Suter resigned, to the great regret of all classes of the community. Apart from his devotion to his own especial work, he has for years taken a prominent part in every movement for the public good; and he will be long remembered as one of Nelson's foremost and most useful citizens. The Bishop-elect of Nelson is the Venerable C. 0. Mules, M.A., who has been for several years 

Archdeacon of Waimea, and Incumbent of Brightwater and Waimea West.

          
The limits of the See of Nelson embrace all that portion of South Island north of the Bivers Hurunui on the East Coast and Terenaakau on the West.

          
There are three Archdeaconries—Waimea, Wairau, and Mawhera—filled respectively by the Venerables C. 0. Mules, T. S. Grace, and 
T. B. Maclean.

          
The number of the Clergy is 22; of the Churches 34, besides school-rooms used for Divine worship. The members of the Church exceed 30,000.

          
The Cathedral was first erected as a Parish Church; when that was found inconvenient, it gave place to a new building, designed by Mr. Mountfort, of Christchurch, in 1886, and was consecrated by the Bishop of Nelson, in the presence of the Primate, and a representative of his Excellency the Governor, on February 16th, 1887.

          
Bishop Suter carried on, as already mentioned, from 1868, the training of candidates for Holy Orders. Nearly thirty have passed through Bishopdale College, all of whom have passed the examination of the Board of Theological Studies, and some of them have graduated at the New Zealand University.

          
The St. Andrew's Orphanage for destitute children, incorporated in 1887, is the latest addition to the Diocesan institutions.

          
The present Incumbent of Christ Church is the Rev. J. P. Kempthorne; and of All Saints', the 
Rev. F. W. Chatterton.
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Presbyterian Church.

          
The foundation stone of the first Presbyterian Church in the settlement of Nelson was laid on Thursday, the 22nd February, 1849, by the Rev. Thos. Dickson Nicholson, who was sent out by the Free Church of Scotland, and arrived at Nelson on the 18th January, 1849.

          
The first trustees were Messrs. D. Sclanders, T. Eenwick, M.D., W. Rogerson, W. Wilkie, W. Gardner, Rev. T. D. Nicholson, J. Mackay, G. McRae, R. D. McIsaac, and A. Rankin.

          
The building was designed to accommodate 350 persons, and would have been of brick, instead of wood, but for the alarm caused by the earthquakes in 1848, and the resulting doubts as to the security of brick buildings.

          
The Rev. T. D. Nicholson was succeeded in the pastorate of Trinity Church, as it was named, by the Rev. Patrick Calder who resigned in 1891 owing to failing health, after a long incumbency of nearly thirty-four years.

          
On the 16th September, 1891, the foundation stone of a new church was laid by James McKerrow, Esq., Chairman of the Trustees of the Presbyterian Church Property Board. The chair 
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was occupied by the Rev. O. Robb, of Blenheim; and amongst others on the platform were the Revs. J. Paterson of Wellington and McKenzie of Lyttelton (Presbyterians); Revs. Baker, Chatterton, and Jennings (Anglican); Revs. P. Isitt and J. Crump (Wesleyan); 
Rev. W. A. Evans (Congregational); and Rev. T. Bray (Baptist). The Rev. P. Calder was unable to attend, but Miss Calder occupied a seat on the platform; and his Worship the Mayor and many of the leading citizens were present, besides the church officers.

          
The Bishop of Nelson sent a letter expressing his sympathy, and regretting that ill-health prevented him from attending.

          
The new church, which is a very handsome building, is designed to accommodate 440 people. The contract for its erection and completion is £1900.

          
The foundation stone is a fine block of marble, presented by Mr. Robert Pattie, senior, of Riwaka, from whose property the stone was quarried. It is 30 inches long, 12¾in. deep, and 14in. in width, and was dressed free of charge by the late Mr. R. Simpson, monumental mason, of Hardy-street. The face of the block, 30in. by 12¾in., has a plain smooth border, with a finely-picked sunk panel, in the centre of which are the raised and highlypolished characters—"a.d. 1891." At present Trinity Church is without an appointed Pastor. The church officers are:—Elders— Messrs. Wm. Brown, Robert Murray, and Captain Clouston; Managers—Messrs. Alex. Brown, Andrew Brown, W. G. Burton, B. S. Chisholm, W. W. Chisholm, R. M. Crosbie, F. Hamilton, W. Hunter, W. McConchie, Jno. Poison, W. Robertson, S. F. Sherwood, B. Taylor, and T. M. Murray (Secretary). Mr. Heginbotham is architect for the new church, and Mr. J. Robertson the builder.
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The Wesleyan Methodist Church.

          
Amongst the earliest residents in Nelson in 1842 was Mr. E. Green, then a local preacher in the Methodist Church. He arrived in the"Lord Auckland," on Thursday, 18th February. Having distributed tracts on the following Sunday, the 21st, Mr. Green on Sunday, the 28th, preached in the open air at"Little Scotland," in what is now known as the Brook street valley. The was probably the first sermon preached in the Nelson Pro-Provincial District.

          
Other Methodist local preachers arrived in the rapidly-following vessels, Messrs. Andrews and Mears being of the number, and Methodist services were for some time conducted in a tent.

          
In June, 1842, the Rev. S. Ironside visited the settlement, and preached to both Europeans and Maoris. He also baptised Mr. Benjamin Lovell's infant daughter, the first British child born within the Province, and another child.

          


          
In August or September, a Methodist Sunday school was established in the house of Mr. Butler, in Alton street, Messrs. Andrews, Butler, and Mears being teachers.

          
Mr. Hough, a home missionary in connection with the body, arrived in October, and the Church was further strengthened by the arrival of Messrs. G. W. Lightband, Riley, Foy, Jackson, and others.

          
The first class-meeting was held at the residence of Mr. G. W. Lightband. Mr. Foy was the leader. About this time a building was put up by public subscription, and called the"Ebenezer." It was for the use of all Christians as a place of public worship, and was used by the Methodists. It stood on the site of the stables near Messrs. Dodson's brewery, Tasman street. Subsequently the late Mr. Matthew Campbell built a large brick schoolroom; and the Methodists held all their services in it. The increasing number of adherents led to the building of a brick church on an acre, given by the New Zealand Company, where the Custom House and the warehouses of Messrs. J. H. Cock and Co. now stand, for the accommodation of about 200 people. It was opened in 1845 by the Rev. J. Aldred, who had come to take charge of the circuit. A Sunday school was conducted in this church, of which Mr. G. W. Lightband was superintendent.

          
In 1857, the congregation had so increased as to render a larger church necessary. The gables and other parts of the church were damaged by the heavy earthquake. The property was sold for £1500 to Messrs. Edwards & Co., merchants. The parsonage, or mission bouse, was, at this time, in Washington valley, and was subsequently sold to Mr. R. Lucas.

          
On 13th November, 1857, £400 was paid for an acre in Hardy street, and in June, 1858, £2195 was paid for the erection of a church to accommodate about 400.

          
The Hardy street church was opened on Friday, June 18th. 1858, by the Rev. J. Warren, and on the following Sunday services were conducted by the Rev. P. Calder in the morning, in the afternoon by Mr. W. Beatson, the architect, and in the evening by the Rev. E. Thomas. On the Tuesday following a monster tea meeting was held, the proceeds amounting to £102 14s. 10½d.

          
The ministers stationed here since the opening, to the present time, have been the Revs. Ironside, Warren, Innes, Kirk, Crump, Watkin, Buddle, Harper, Bavin, Lee, Beck, Oliver, and Isitt (seven of whom have occupied the President's chair during the last twelve years.)

          
In 1890, the present church was erected on the site of its predecessor, at a cost of £2240, the foundation stone being laid by the Earl of Onslow. The Bishop of Nelson and clergy of the 
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Church of England, and of other Christian churches, took part in the ceremony.

          
It is estimated that the Methodists of Nelson have raised and expended over £30,000 since the foundation of the settlement.
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Congregational Church.

          
The Congregational Church of Nelson originated in the year 1875, through the previous efforts of Mr. Benjamin Short. He conceived the idea of starting a missionary church for the benefit of those in the neighbourhood of Toitoi Valley, Washington Valley, and the Port, who were living in a state of religious indifference. This was before the building of All Saints' Church. With this end he purchased from the Baptist denomination an old church in Hardy-street, on the site where the present building stands. Here he, with other lay helpers, carried on Evangelistic services, and the usual mission work, until the advent of Rev. J. Beckenham, who, coming from Australia in 1875, and finding a suitable sphere of labour in Nelson, undertook the pastorate of the church permanently. In process of time Mr. Beckenham succeeded in building up a considerable church membership, insomuch that on two separate occasions extensive additions and alterations had to be made to the old buildings. Indeed, of the original structure, the only fragment remaining to-day is the small vestry in rear of the present Congregational Church in Hardy-street. On the arrival of the Salvation Army in Nelson, a large number of Mr. Beckenham's youthful members and adherents were attracted thither by the Army's more stimulating services. At length, after a period of eight years' energetic labours, Mr. Beckenham accepted a call to Dunedin. To him succeeded Rev. H. J. Lewis, late of Bradford, Yorkshire, whose genial and thoughtful preaching, attracted many of the more intelligent order, to fill up the gaps caused towards the end of his predecessor's ministry. In the course of three years, Mr. Lewis was called to Newton Congregational Church, Auckland. He was followed by Rev. R. J. Williams, who, after a two years' ministry, resigned. The present minister, 
Rev. W. A. Evans, late of Bradford, Yorkshire, succeeded to the pastorate when the church was in a thoroughly weakened condition, two years ago. By him the church is being gradually built up with increase of its members and adherents. In addition to the usual church agencies of Sunday School Choir, Ladies' Sewing Party, which have been always in active operation during the history of the church, two Guilds have been started—a Senior, consisting of 70 members, and a Junior, of about 90, with the intention of developing especially the social side of religious life. As it at present exists, the Congregational Church in Nelson seeks to represent the forward movement of Christian thought, with special emphasis of the doctrines of the Fatherhood of God, and the Brotherhood of men in Christ.
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The Baptist Church.

          
The first Baptist Church was built in 1851-2, the foundation stone having been laid in October, 1851. The same commodious brick church is still in use, although the original building has received additions and improvements.

          
The Rev. Decimus Dolamore was the first minister, and he has been succeeded in turn, by the Revs. Thomas, Davis, Biss, Hamilton, Cato, Standring, Walker, and the present minister, the Rev. T. Bray.

          
Of the original congregation, only one is now surviving.
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The Roman Catholic Church.

          
Nelson forms part of the Archdiocese of Wellington. Amongst the early settlers were several Catholic families, but they were not visited by any priest until 1844, when the late Dr. Pompalier, at that time Vicar-Apostolic for New Zealand, and afterwards Bishop of Auckland, came to Nelson, accompanied by the late Rev. J. J. P. O'Reilly, O.S.F., who was then acting as Parish Priest at Wellington.

          
The first mass was said by his Lordship the Vicar-Apostolic in Bridge street, in a house which had been formerly occupied by Mr. Otterson. Dr. Pompalier preached in Maori to the natives, and Father O'Reilly in English to the Europeans.

          
On the 9th May, Father O'Reilly said mass in the Waimea, fourteen miles from Nelson, at the house of Mr. Redwood, senr. On Sunday, 12th May, mass was again celebrated in Nelson, Father O'Reilly again preaching; and on the 13th, Dr. Pompalier said a mass for the dead.

          
In May, 1846, the Rev. Father O'Reilly again visited Nelson. During his visit, the Company gave a site for a church. The first trustees were Messrs. Henry Redwood, Francis Otterson, Joseph Ward, Henry Redwood, junior, and James Armstrong. In April, 1847, Father O'Reilly paid another visit, Shortly before this, the Parish diary records that "the Catholics, aided by the kind subscriptions of the Protestants, erect a little chapel on the land belonging to them. It cost about £40." This, the first Catholic place of worship, was opened on Easter Sunday, 1847.

          
In 1848, the Government applied to the trustees for a portion of their site for gaol purposes. To this some of the trustees were much opposed upon the ground that was left would be too steep and narrow for the erection of a permanent church; but Mr. Redwood, senior, consented, and, acting upon this, the land was taken; upon the understanding, however, that other land should be given as compensation. This has never been done.

          
Application was repeatedly made to the Right Rev. Dr. Viard, Catholic Bishop of Wellington, for a resident priest, and he sent the late 
Rev. Antoine Marie Garin, of the Marist Society, 
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St. Mary's Church.




as first Rector of St. Mary's, Nelson. Father Garin arrived here on the 8th May, 1850, and was accompanied by a |lay brother—Claud Marie—who is still living at the old presbytery.

          
The same month, a store, belonging to the New Zealand Company, was bought at action for £50. This was set-off against the debt due by the Company to the Catholics on account of their share of the trust funds. An acre of ground in Manuka street was obtained from the Company (valued at £35), which was also given as a further instalment of the same debt. An adjoining acre was bought for £45, and upon this the store was re-erected and converted into a priest's residence. The little chapel on the hill, at the back of the gaol, was found too small, so it was removed to the acre upon which the presbytery had been erected.

          
In July, 1851, the Rev. D. Moreau came as first Curate of Nelson. He started classes for French, Latin, and Mathematics.

          
From the first, Father Garin's schools were a success; they were numerously attended by Protestants as well as Catholics, and enjoyed for years a high reputation.

          
On April 1st, 1859, the Rev. Father Pons, succeeded Father Moreau as Curate at Nelson, but was replaced by Father Moreau on the 20th September, who was shortly after again removed, and succeeded by the Rev. P. A. Martin, S.M., now Parish Priest at Hokitika. Father Michel succeeded Father Martin, and in his turn was succeeded by Father Tressallet, now of Sydney. In December, 1867, the Rev. J. P. Chareyre, S.M., took Father Tessallet's place, and remained nearly four years. Then came the 
Rev. J. N. Binsfeld, S.M., who was succeeded by the Rev. W. J. Mahoney, S.M., on 10th February, 1875.

          
Bishop Viard visited Nelson, to bless the new and neat church of St. Mary's, in 1864; and he also dedicated the church of Waimea West.

          
In 1869, under the direction ot the Rev. Father Chareyre, S.M., the beautiful church of St. Joseph's at Wakefield, distant about 18 miles from Nelson, was erected at a cost of over £1000. It will seat about 200 persons. Two acres of land are attached to it, part of which is a cemetery.

          
On the death of the Venerable Archpriest Garin, in April, 1889, the Very Rev. Father Mahoney succeeded him as Rector of St. Mary's, and was also placed upon the list of Diocesan Consultors. The present Curate is the Rev. James Landouar, S.M., who acts also as chaplain to the Boys' Industrial School.

          
There are five churches under the immediate charge of the Rector of St. Mary's, Nelson, viz.:—-St. Mary's, Nelson; St. Joseph's, Wakefield; SS. Peter and Paul, Waimea; St. Francis, Motueka; and Sacred Heart, Takaka.

          
Schools: High School for Girls, 70 pupils; Industrial School for Girls, 100; Industrial School for Boys, 175—teachers, 

eight nuns and six Marist Brothers; Convent of Our Lady of Missions—13 professed nuns, one novice, two postulants, and 30 boarders.

          
In the Provincial District of Nelson there are also churches at Westport, Charleston, Addison's Flat, Brighton, Waimangaroa, Reefton, Boatmans, Hampden, Lyell, Ahaura, Totara Flat, Nelson Creek, Newton, Maori Gully, and Maori Creek. To attend to which there are six priests. In all the principal towns, such as Westport, Reefton, and Ahaura, there are large educational establishments.

          
The present church of St. Mary's was erected in 1882, at a cost of over £2000. It took the place of the old church, which was destroyed by fire on Easter Sunday, 1881. The funds for the new church were subscribed by many persons of various creeds, the miners on the West Coast contributing over £600. The church seats about 500. There is no debt.
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Chapter XII.

        

          
The Provincial Government 1853 to 1875.—Abolition of the Board of Works. —Establishment of the Municipal Corporation.—The first, and successive Mayors of Nelson—Waterworks and Gasworks.—Municipal Statistics.—Nelson Fire Brigade.—Progress of the Port.—Freemasonry. —Odd-Fellowship.—Ancient Order of Foresters.—Rechabites. —Good Templars.-—Further Particulars of the Nelson Bank.—How Foxhill was named.—Death of 
Sir David Monro.—The Supreme Court.—The County and District Courts.—Resignation of Mr. John Sharp, R.M.—The Nelson Resident Magistrates.—Amateur Musical Society's First Concert.—The Harmonic Society.—Death of Mr. J S. Cross.

        

        

The Province of Nelson was established in 1853, and was abolished by"The Abolition of Provinces Act, 1875." During that period of over 22 years, there were four Superintendents, viz.: 
Sir Edward Stafford, G.C.M.G., Mr J. P. Robinson, 
Mr. Alfred Saunders, and 
Mr. Oswald Curtis. The Provincial Executive at first was constituted upon partially responsible lines, and a certain number of the members had to present themselves for re-election upon accepting executive office. The Executive became later the mere organs of the Chief Executive Officer, and were responsible only to him, and not to the Provincial Council. This led to difficulties with the Council, and efforts were made from time to time to effect a change.

        
As the gold-fields progressed, the number of members of Provincial Council was increased. In 1867 the Council increased the number of its members to twenty-six, of whom three represented the Grey, and two the Buller districts. In 1869, however, the numbers were reduced to nineteen; the Buller returning two, the Grey two and Charleston one. The proportion of gold-fields members to the whole Council was thus materially increased.

        
The gold-fields members, as a body, were strongly in favour of responsible executive government.

        
In 1870, an Executive Government Act was passed, which provided that the Executive Council should consist of five members, and that the Superintendent should, with the advice of such Council, conduct the administration of the Government of the Province. The Council was to consist of a Provincial Secretary, a Provincial Treasurer, and Provincial Solicitor (any two of which offices might be held by the same person), and two other persons, one of whom was to represent the interests of the Goldfields in the Executive. Not more than four nor less than three members of the Executive Council might have seats in the Provincial Council; and those who were members of the 

Provincial Council were—with the exception of the Provincial Secretary—to be removable on the passing of a vote to that effect by the Council.

        
The Executive appointed under this Act were:—Mr. Alfred Greenfield, Provincial Secretary; Mr. Henry Adams, Provincial Solicitor; Mr. Sharp, Provincial Treasurer pro. tern.; and Mr. Joseph Shephard and Mr. Alexander Reid, members of the Executive.

        
It was felt by some that this Act removed from the Superintendent the Executive responsibility which was attached to him by the Constitution Act, and that the Provincial Council was altogether too small a body for the efficient working of the machinery of responsible Government. From this, and from other causes, there was soon a demand for a repeal of the Act, which was a curious compromise, the principle of Executive responsibility being only partially conceded. The Provincial Secretary, for instance, could not be removed by a vote of want-of-confidence passed by the Provincial Council, but the other members of the Executive could be if they were members of the Provincial Council. Another anomaly was that if the irremovable Provincial Secretary held also the office of Provincial Treasurer, a hostile vote of the Council would compel him to resign the latter office, whilst as Provincial Secretary he continued to pursue the even tenor of his way. The Act also made it apparently compulsory on the Superintendent to appoint the two non-official members of the Executive.

        
In 1871, this Act, after a short existence of twelve months, was repealed, and"The Executive Government Act, 1871," was passed. This provided for the appointment of a Provincial Secretary, a Provincial Treasurer, and a Provincial Solicitor, any two of which offices might be held together, and—at the discretion of the Superintendent—of two other members, but not more than four members of the Executive were to have seats in the Provincial Council.

        
Under this Act. Mr. Alfred Greenfield was appointed Provincial Secretary; Mr. Henry Adams, Provincial Solicitor; and Mr. Joseph Shephard, Provincial Treasurer. In December, 1872, Mr. Shephard resigned the Treasureship, and Mr. Greenfield took the appointment, in addition to that of Provincial Secretary.

        
In December, 1873, there was a further re-construction of the Executive, Mr. Henry Adams becoming Deputy-Superintendent; Mr. Joseph Shephard, Provincial Treasurer; Mr. Pitt, Provincial Solicitor; and Mr. Shapter, member of Executive; Mr. Greenfield continuing to hold the office of Provincial Secretary.

        
"The Executive Act, 1871," continued in operation until 1874, when the advocates of responsible government, having 

gained sufficient strength, secured its repeal, and the passing in its stead of"The Executive Act, 1874." This Act introduced the principle of entire responsibility by the Executive to the Provincial Council.

        
The Executive appointed were:—Mr. O'Conor, Provincial Secretary and Treasurer; Mr. Pitt, Provincial Solicitor; Mr. Shapter, Gold-fields Secretary; and Mr. Rout, Member of Executive.

        
The Act provided that the Executive was to consist of not less than two, and not more than four, and that all must be members of the Provincial Council.

        
Mr. Shapter very shortly resigned. The Hon. N. Edwards, M.L.C., was appointed in 1875 a non-official member of the Executive; and Mr. Rout relieved Mr. O'Conor of the Provincial Treasury.

        
This was the first, and last responsible government, pure and simple.

        
The City is indebted to the Provincial Government for its Water and Gas Works; the country districts for the pushing on of road making, and the construction of bridges so far as funds would allow. Provincial Government was hailed as a great boon by the old settlers, who had lived so long without any real voice in the making of the laws by which the social order of the settlement was regulated; and who resented the payment of taxes without any adequate representation in the body entrusted with the expenditure of the public revenues. Under Provincialism the people of the province were invested with the power of making most of the laws required for the good government of the province; and they had also the spending of all local revenues (excepting a portion of the Customs revenue), including that arising from the sale of Crown lands.

        
There were many who regarded the abolition of the provinces with deep regret; and there are some who hold that the signs of the times point to a return to Provincialism in some modified form.

        
There were only two Speakers of the Nelson Provincial Council —Mr.Donald Sinclair, who resigned in 1857; and the 
Hon. J. W. Barnicoat, M.L.C., who succeeded him, who was continuously re-elected from that time until the abolition of the Provinces; and was shortly after called to the Legislative Council. The Hon. Mr. Barnicoat is one of the few survivors of the Wairau Massacre. Of those who held executive office, we have 
Mr. Alfred Saunders, M.H.R.; the Hon. Joseph Shephard, M.L.C.; and Mr. E. J. 0 Conor, M.H.R.; still active members of the New Zealand Parliament; whilst Mr. Sharp and Mr. Pitt have both, since the abolition of the provinces, been members of the House of Representatives. Mr. Alfred Greenfield, whose connection with the Provincial Government 

extended over so many years, was for some years Commissioner of Crown Lands in succession to Mr. H. C. Daniell, and is now Resident Magistrate and Warden for the Buller District. 
Mr. Oswald Curtis, the latest Superintendent of Nelson, and for several years member for the City in the House of Representatives, and also for a time a member of the Executive Government of the Colony, still resides in Nelson, but has retired for the last few years from active political life. His term of office as Superintendent was, owing to the rapid development of the goldfields, a busy and anxious one, but his consummate tact and genial disposition, enabled him to overcome, apparently with ease, all the difficulties that so frequently presented themselves.

        
The Board of Works, constituted under"The Town of Nelson Improvement Act," was superseded, on the 30th March, 1874, by the establishment of a Municipal government. The old Board, with limited powers and modest means, had done good work in forming and improving the streets, and in framing bylaws calculated to promote the comfort and health of the inhabitants.

        
The first Mayor of Nelson was Mr. Joseph Reid Dodson, who was elected on 1st May, 1874, and continued to hold the office until his resignation on 8th January, 1875. He was succeeded by Mr. Joseph Henry Levien, who retained the position until his death on the 7th June, 1876. The next Mayor was Mr. Edward Everett, who was elected on 21st June, 1876, reelected on 20th December, 1876, and resigned on 31st August, 1877. Mr. William Ridd Waters was then elected Mayor, and held the office up to 21st November, 1877, when Mr. Joseph Reid Dodson was again returned, and continued to occupy the Civic chair, having been three times re-elected, up to 22nd November, 1881. Mr. Edward Everett became once more Mayor of Nelson for twelve months, and on 23rd November, 1882, was succeeded by Mr. Charles Yates Fell, who held the office for five successive years, viz, from 23rd November, 1882, to 29th November, 1887. On 30th November, 1887, Mr. John Sharp was elected Mayor, and was twice re-elected, viz., on 20th November, 1888, and 20th November, 1889. On the 26th November, 1890, Mr. Francis Trask became Mayor and was reelected on 16th November, 1891, for the ensuing Jubilee year of the settlement.

        
The present City Councillors are Messrs. William Akersten, Wm. Bethwaite, Edward Everett, Joseph A. Harley, Charles J. Harley, Jesse Piper, George M. Rout, John Scott, and Malcolm M. Webster. The Town Clerk is Mr. Harry Vincent Gully, Solicitor; and the City Surveyor is 
Mr. Samuel Jickell, Assoc. M. Inst. C.E.

        
The City of Nelson contains an area of 48.00 acres. There are about 43 miles of made streets, and 65 miles of footpaths
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Nelson Corporation.



The number of dwellings is 1362, of hotels 20, and the population is 6626. The Municipal revenue for 1891 was £13,739, and the annual rateable value of property £69,411.

        
The Waterworks and Gasworks were originally constructed by the Provincial Government, and were acquired by the Corporation under"The Nelson Gas and Waterworks Sale Act, 1877." They have been since then considerably enlarged and extended. The debt for gas and water supply is £35,900. The profits are applied in extension of works, and in reduction of the price of gas and water. The supply of water is equal to 110 gallons per head per day.

        
When the Corporation first undertook the management, the price of gas was 12/6 per 1000 feet, and the water rate was six per cent. Now the price of gas is 8/4 for lighting, and 5/10 for cooking, per 1000 feet; and the water rate is 3½ per cent, on dwellings, and 2½ per cent, on stores. Up to the end of the last financial year, 31st March, 1891, the profits on gas amounted to £10,715, and on water to £4667, and the whole has been spent in extending the works, and in effecting extensive modern improvements.

        
The public reserves under the control of the Corporation are the Botanical Gardens, 21 acres; Trafalgar Park, 14 acres; Victory Square, 6 acres; the Queen's Gardens, 3¼ acres; and Trafalgar Square.

        
The Marine Swimming Baths at the Port were erected by, and are the property of the Corporation.

        
It is proposed to construct a road 60 feet wide round the Rocks, to join the main trunk line of road at Stoke. A sea-wall of concrete blocks is to be built about 15 feet high, and filled in with the parings of the cliffs. It is believed that the railway will ultimately come round this way to avoid the hills. This important public work will cost a little over £10,000, which will be divided between the Government, the City of Nelson, the Waimea County, and the Richmond Borough Councils.

        
The Nelson Volunteer Fire Brigade was formed in 1866, after the disastrous fire that occurred at Mr. C. M'Gee's hotel, whereby the whole four corners of Collingwood and Bridge street were consumed, including various other buildings. The Provincial Council seeing its necessity at that time, liberally contributed towards its formation.

        
The first captain was John Thomas Knight, who had had some experience in such matters, and who materially assisted in its formation. He was followed, in succession, by Messrs. W. G. Mirfin, Manson Sinclair, Henry Wimsett, and Wm. Lightfoot, and the Brigade is now commanded by Captain Charles Bird.

        
The Nelson Fire Brigade is recognised, not only by the citizens but also by the brigades of the Colony, as being one of 

most efficient and best equipped. For many years support was obtained by annual subscriptions from the public, which were supplemented by the gift of £100 per annum from the Insurance agents. This amount was afterwards increased by a donation from the City Council of £40 per annum. About two years ago the Insurance Companies declined to continue their subscriptions, and, consequently, the burden was cast upon the City Council of supplying the necessary funds. Within the last year the Council have levied a fire rate for that purpose. The annual cost of the up-keep, including all expenses allowed by them, is £200, but this amount is insufficient, and it will be necessary to augment it in some way in future to prevent the collapse of a most efficient and excellent brigade, which would be a serious public misfortune, as nothing could be more complete or cheaper than the present arrangements. To give some idea of the amount of plant accumulated, it may be stated that the brigade own one twenty-four manual engine (but which is rarely used on account of the splendid water supply), one hook and ladder carriage, with over 50ft. of ladders, and all necessary appliances connected therewith. They have seven hose stations disposed of at various places about the town, and in which are kept all appliances necessary for fire extinguishing, consisting ot 200ft. hose, branches, hydrants, &c. Upon the seven reels possessed by them there is constantly ready for use very nearly one mile of canvas hose, this brigade using nothing else; principally on account of its lightness and cleanliness. They have also in stock another half-mile ready for use, besides having a large quantity of spare brass-work ready for the same purpose. Altogether the plant accumulated by them cannot be worth far short of £1000. There is one thing that is unique in the history of this brigade, and that is the long service of some of the members, three of whom have been connected with it for the last 25 years, viz., Messrs. Cooksey, Truman, and H. Wimsett, who joined at either its formation, or immediately afterwards. The officers at present are—Captain, Charles Bird (who has been a member of the brigade for 24 years); Lieutenant, Charles King; Foremen, Henry Wimsett, Thomas Wimsett, J. H. Eichards, and Truman; Mr. William Cooksey, Hon. Sec. The brigade, which numbers 21 members, possesses a band of 16 performers, which is under the conductorship of Mr. James Bashford.

        
The Nelson Salvage Cobps has 22 members, the officers being—Captain, vacant; First Lieutenant, E. Price; Second Lieutenant, S. Young; Foreman, J. Clark; Secretary, L. Pitts; Treasurer, R. Burn.

        
In 1855 Nelson had no wharf where vessels even of the smallest tonnage could lie afloat at low water springs. The wharves were: Messrs. Morrison & Sclanders', at Auckland Point, which could only be reached at high water on a flat-bottomed 
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lighter; Captain Nicholson's wharf, about 8 feet wide, nearly opposite the Gas Works site; and the Custom House wharf, where the Commercial wharf now stands, the outer piles of which were dry on a low spring tide. In 1856, and previous thereto, vessels of considerable tonnage—in fact quite as large as those now in the London trade—came in safely under canvas, or by towing with boats ahead. In that year the"Rock City," a large American vessel drawing about 20 feet, ran up the Waimea, and was discharged into the barque"Admiral Napier," Captain Akersten; and for some years after the Waimea was open, Captain Johnson's vessels, the large barques"Kate Waters,""Island City," and others, used to run cattle up to a wharf designed and built by Captain Akersten. This channel is now barely sufficient for a 5 ton boat. The first attempt in advance in wharf improvement was made in 1856 by Captain Nicholson, who determined to build a wharf where the Naval Brigade Boat-shed now stands. The sale being agreed upon by Mr. Cross and him, it was arranged that the"Admiral Napier" was to form the end, and serve also as a hulk with a deck warehouse. Mr. Akersten was entrusted to prepare plans and construct it, and the vessel was duly moored by the Harbour Master; but while the lists for the timber were being prepared, a heavy spring tide and south-west gale proved the unsuitableness of the site by causing the"Admiral Napier" to find a place of rest on the flat opposite the present cemetery. A much better site was then decided upon, and new plans were made out for the present site of the Albion Wharf. The new wharf was finished in about six months, and had about 8 feet water low water springs. This first deep water wharf was named the"Napier Wharf." After a while the wharf changed hands and received considerable repairs and enlargements at the cost of Mr. J. Livick; the plans and alterations being made by Mr. Akersten, and 9 feet depth was obtained. The Provincial Government, urged by the Port residents, determined to build a new wharf, the cost of which was to be about 4 to £5000. Competitive plans were called for, and resulted in the premium being divided between Mr. Akersten and Mr. Jacobsen; the former for the general plan, and the latter for detail plan. Plans and specifications were drawn out, and tenders were invited, which ranged from £6800 to £3488, at which latter price the work was taken by Akersten and Turner, to be completed in 12 months. Mr. Symons having bought out Mr. Livick, the services of Mr. Akersten were again called into requisition to prepare plans for a new Albion Wharf, which was duly tendered for, the successful tenderer being Mr. Akersten. This wharf was duly completed, giving about 10 to 11 feet low water, and has since then been improved from time to time. But the spirit of wharf improvement had seized a very energetic Provincial Council, and a Bill was passed authorizing the borrowing of £25,000 for a new 

wharf. After two plans had been rejected as too costly, the Executive determined to place the preparation in the hands of Mr. Akersten, with instructions not to exceed the amount of £25,000. Plans were prepared, a tender let, and the wharf was duly completed. The cost was altogether about £24,500. The depth of water now obtained was from 25 to 30 feet on the outside, and abut 20 on the inside berths. The work done now at the Nelson wharves as to rapidity of discharge or loading, convenience, and freedom from accident or error, will compare favorably with any port in New Zealand. As regards the harbour, it is well known that not unfrequently we have 22 feet water over the bar; but an impediment in the entrance has some 2 or 3 feet less water; this the Government intend shortly to remove, when 1000-ton ships can safely reach the Port.

        
Although so early as May, 1842 (see page 36), a meeting of Freemasons was held for the purpose of forming a lodge, it was not until October, 1853, that practical steps were taken to establish it in Nelson. Meetings were held chiefly at the old Wakatu Hotel, at the corner of Trafalgar and Bridge streets, the present site of the Bank of New South Wales, and formal leave for working being obtained from the nearest Masonic authority (Sydney) in November, 1857, was followed by that of the Grand Lodge of England in February, 1858. The"Southern Star" Lodge, the seventh in the Colony, was thus established. In the interim, a building fund had been raised amongst the members and a hall erected in Trafalgar street, adjoining the Commercial hotel; this passed out of their hands after a few years. A member had devised them an acre of land in the Waimea road, near the College, which was alienated for 99 years, terminable in 1955, the proceeds of which, having been specially reserved for the purpose by trustees, enabled the present members to erect a new hall in Collingwood street in 1885.

        
The"Victory" Lodge was founded in 1881 under the English Constitution, but in 1890 elected to work under the Grand Lodge of New Zealand.

        
The country lodges are the"Forest" at Wakefield, and the"
Golden Bay" at Takaka; the former founded in 1874, the latter in 1887, both under the English Constitution.

        
The following incidents conneected with Oddfellowship in Nelson have been arranged for insertion in this history:—

        
"Among the acts of the early settlers, there is none which redound so much to their credit and foresight, than the determination displayed by them to transplant to the land of their adoption one of the elements of social progress and self-help, which, according to their experience, had been found to work so successfully in the land of their birth. Friendly Societies at that time in Great Britain were in ignorance as regards the 

financial laws which are so necessary to ensure success, but though they then lacked the stability afterwards imparted to them through the exertions of the Secretary of the Order (the late Bro. H. Ratcliff), they had no lack of warm and sympathetic hearts, and men strong and capable to push and extend the Order to the furthest limits. Among those who sailed from England for these shores in 1841, no one was better fitted to carry the olive branch of Oddfellowship, and plant it in New Zealand, than the veteran Thomas Sullivan, who, during his fifteen years experience in England, had presided at the opening of thirteen new lodges, and who, in addition to having served the various lodge offices, had held all the District offices, and had also represented his District at the Annual Parliament of the Order.

        
"On the voyage out, in the ' Martha Eidgway,' Bro. Sullivan associated himself with eight other Oddfellows, viz:—Bros. C. P. Kearns, A. M'Gee, E. Nicol, E. Cropper, J. Sigley, J. Hanley, G. Greathead, and A. Patterson, and they held several meetings on shipboard, at which it was decided to establish a lodge on arriving at their destination.

        
"The first meeting in Nelson was held on Thursday, 7th April, 1842, at 4 p.m, in the fern, about 200 yards below the present Saltwater bridge, and adjourned till the following Monday evening, when it was held in a tent lower down the beach, belonging to Mr. A. G. Jenkins. It was then resolved to apply through the Sydney District (as being the nearest) for a dispensation to open a lodge in connection with the Manchester Unity, to be called the 'Stranger's Refuge' Lodge; but as it is a rule of the Order that no two lodges in the District can bear the same name, and as the pioneer lodge of the Sydney District was named the ' Stranger's Refuge,' they decided to name the lodge the ' Nelson' Lodge.

        
"Until the arrival of the dispensation, which was the first granted to. a lodge in New Zealand, the meetings were irregular, but with the arrival of the proper books, &c., matters were at once placed on a proper footing, the lodge meetings being held fortnightly. With P.P.G.M. Sullivan acting as first Grand Master, good progress was made in the introduction of members; a great many of those who either then or in after years occupied prominent positions as public men, becoming members of the lodge.

        
"The Wairau massacre occurring on 17th June, 1843, caused a break in the ranks of the founders, Brother Eli Cropper being one of those who lost their lives on that occasion; and as a result of this sad occurrence, the present District Widow and Orphans Fund was originated. The money received from the Sydney District in aid of the Brothers who suffered at the Wairau massacre was partly devoted to assist the widow and child of Eli Cropper. 

The Widow and Orphans Fund was started in 1845, as a voluntary society, and continued as such till 1874, when it was incorporated with the other benefit funds to which all members had to contribute.

        
"Owing to the absence of any banking institution in the early days, the system was adopted of lending the money to the members in small loans on personal security, and also in the purchase of cattle; but the experience of the Society showed that the plan was not a good one, and, on the introduction of banks, the rules prohibited any more investments of that character.

        
"Dissatisfaction having been expressed at the lodge meetings being held in a public house, as having a tendency to lead the members into the habit of drinking, it was decided to build a lodge-room. The foundation stone was laid with great ceremony on the 6th June, 1854, by his Honor the Superintendent, Mr. 
E. W. Stafford (now 
Sir E. W. Stafford). The first meeting was held in the new Hall on 3rd December, 1855. The cost of the Hall complete amounted to about £640, and from the above date till September, 1891, the lodge meetings were held there; but having served its purpose it has now been removed in order to make room for a new lodge-room in honor of the Jubilee.

        
"In 1846 it was decided to constitute Nelson a District, it being considered impracticable to continue the connection with the Sydney District. The first District officers chosen being:— Bro. R. Lloyd, Provincial Grand Master; Bro. D. Richardson, Provincial Deputy Grand Master; Bro. T. Sullivan, Provincial Corresponding Secretary. The first meeting recorded, being held at the Freemasons' Tavern on the 5th January, 1847.

        
"It having been found from practical experience that Friendly Societies required the assistance of the law in carrying on their operations, it was decided to petition Parliament to bring into force a Friendly Societies Act, and steps were at once taken to get the necessary legal enactment carried; with the result that in a short time the Government succeeded in passing a Friendly Societies Act, under which the members can obtain proper security for their invested funds, besides other important privileges.

        
"In the Manchester Unity it is considered to be one of the highest honors (next to being elected a Grand Master of the Order) to have a portrait and biography inserted in the Unity Magazine. This honor was accorded to Nelson, in April, 1865; when the portrait and biography of Thomas Sullivan were inserted. Nelson was also represented at the annual Parliament of the Order, held in England, on two occasions, the first being held at Cheltenham, in 1868; and the second at Nottingham, in 1883. The representative on both occasions being P.P.G.M. Acton Adams.

        
"Unlike most other Colonial Districts, the Nelson District of Oddfellows has been unable to retain the lodges from time to 

time established within her boundary; the absence of roads, coupled with the expense of travelling, rendering it impossible for the lodges, when started, to send Delegates to the District Meetings; while it also rendered it difficult for the District to exercise an efficient control over the distant lodges. Consequently the Marlborough, Motueka, and North Westland Districts were each allowed to control their own management as soon as they desired it.

        
"It must be conceded, on looking at the work done by the lodges of the Nelson District during the period dating from April, 1842, up to the date of the last furnished returns at June, 1891, that the most sanguine expectations of the nine men who started the Society cannot but have been realised to the fullest extent. Starting with only a few shillings cash in hand, the amounts paid for benefits during that period have been—for sick pay, £19,209; funerals, £3,415; widows and orphans, £4,991; making a total of £27,615. A very large amount has also been expended as medical benefits in addition to the above. The capital in hand amounts to £18,212. The adult membership is 783, and the junior membership 118.

        
"The progress thus depicted, as it is only a portion of the Friendly Society system existing in the Nelson locality, shows that the inhabitants are strongly imbued with habits of thrift, and are providing for the day of adversity."

        

The Ancient Order Of Foresters Commemorated the 25th anniversary of the annual meetings of the Nelson District in February, 1890. The date of the first annual meeting was the 18th January, 1865, which month was continued for a few years, but afterwards altered to February, for the convenience of a number of Courts in the District, who, at that time, found it an impossibility, owing to the irregular means of communication, to get their returns forwarded in the first-named month.

        
The Courts in existence at the time of the formation of the Nelson District were four in number, the names and dates of opening being as follows:—Court Robin Hood, 3930, March 5th, 1863; Court Perserverance, 3977, September 24th, 1863; Court Pride of the Forest, 3122, March 2nd, 1864; Court Concord, 4155, August 24th, 1864. The last named Court (Concord) is not the same as that at present in existence at Greymouth. It was started in Nelson, and had a brief life of not quite two years.

        
The first meeting for the formation of a district was held on 11th June, 1864, the officers present on that memorable occasion being: D C.R., Bro. R. Burn; D.S.C.R., Bro. James Avery and Bro. E. F. Jones, D.S. Court Robin Hood was represented at the meeting by Bros. R. Tibbie and Wm. Elvy; Court Pride of the Forest, by Bros. Win. Westley; Court 
Perser-

verance sent no delegate. Of those present at that date, Bros. E. F. Jones and James Avery have joined the great brother hood; the then D.C.R. and the two representatives of Court Robin Hood are yet alive, and still members of that Court; the representative of Court Pride of the Forest, William Westley, is still alive, but has ceased to be connected with the Order.

        
On 18th August of the same year, the first General Laws for the government of the Nelson District were finally passed, and at the same meeting Bro. R. Tibbie was elected first District Treasurer.

        
At the first annual District Court meeting there were only three delegates present, the only one alive now connected with the Nelson District being Bro. J. W. Hall (who represented Court Robin Hood), who at the present time fills the position of Permanent Secretary of Court Concord, Greymouth. At the same meeting Bro. Hall and the late Bro. H. A. Levestam were elected first auditors of the District accounts. Owing to there being so few brothers eligible for the position of District Officers, those first elected held office for two years.

        
The District continued to grow, and in. 1882 included three of the Courts in what is now known as the Taranaki District, as well as those on the West Coast. In that year Taranaki applied for secession, which was granted, and that offshoot from this District so steadily progressed, that at the end of 1888 they had seven Courts with 400 members. The Nelson District naturally looks with pride on the advancement made by the Taranaki District, two of the present District Officers and several of the delegates having been present when secession was granted.

        
The Nelson District, although of late years it has not increased its number of Courts, is steadily progressing, and the latest returns show the fact that, after allowing tor all who have ceased to be members, from various causes, there was a clear gain to the District for the year 1889 of some fifty-two members.

        
During the past twenty-five years (to the end of 1889) the sum of £4000 had been paid away by the District in funeral benefits alone, on account of the deaths of members and their wives; being an average of £160 a year. When the amounts that have been paid by the various Courts for sick pay and medical attendance are added to these it may be confidently stated, at a very low estimate, that not less than £900 a year has been distributed by the Foresters alone in the Nelson District during that period.

        
The following are the statistics for the Nelson District for the year ending 31st December, 1889:—Number of members (adults) 612; juveniles, 90; initiated during the year (adults), 80; left during the year (adults), 28. The financial position 

may be summarised as follows:—Sick funds of Courts, £8,342 18s. 2d.; Management funds of Courts, £465 13s. 3d.; Funeral fund of District. £476 8s. 3d.; Management fund of District, £28 3s. 6d; Stock account, £100; Juvenile Court funds, £100; total, £9513 3s. 2d. The payments made during the year have been:—Sick benefits, £528 15s. 8d.; medical benefits, £609 17s. 8½d.; funeral allowances by District, £220; total, £1,358 13s. 4½d.

        
In 1891 a Female Branch of the Order was opened in Nelson, under the name of Court"Star of Nelson." This is the first Female Branch of Forestry in the Australasian Colonies, and bids fair to have a successful career.

        
The history of the 
Independent Order Of Rechabites is this: On the 20th October, 1874, a meeting was held at the Baptist Schoolroom, Nelson, for the purpose of forming a branch of this Order in connection with the New Zealand Central District, No. 86. The Rev. Mr. Sheriffs, the initiating officer, presided, and the following were the officers elected:—Chief Euler, J. T. Smith; Deputy Ruler, F. Coles; Secretary, J. S. Jones; Treasurer, A. Wilkie; Cash Steward, F. Brooker; Book Steward, W. T. Sherwood; Levite, C. Spring; Guard, T. B. Coburn; Supporters, T. R. Shone and J. Smith. It was resolved that the Tent be called the"Bud of Promise Tent, No. 17." It opened with 13 members at the end of the year 1875. The membership was 22, and the funds amounted to £50 8s. 1d. Since then the Tent has been progressing gradually, so that it is now the second largest in the District, which extends from Invercargill, in the South Island, to Napier and Taranaki in the North Island; the present membership being 93 benefit and 5 honorary members, with funds amounting to £994 3s. 11d. The present officers are:—C.R., D. Scott; D.R., T. Brough; Treasurer, J. Piper; Secretary, W. Hunter; Stewards, R. A. S. Ward and M. S. Smith; Levite, T. Ward; Guard, W. Henry; Trustees, T. H. Stringer, R. A. S. Ward, W. H. Berry, and R. Watson.

        
In February, 1880, a Juvenile Branch was successfully formed, and is still in a flourishing condition.

        
In 1883 a branch of the Order was established at Wakefield, and now has a membership of over fifty members with Juvenile Tents connected at Wakefield and Brightwater, numbering over seventy members. Secretary, E. W. Hodgson.

        
In 1886 a Tent was started at Takaka, and a Female Branch was also established in Nelson the same year, which at present has funds amounting to £43. The District of which these form a part has accumulated funds amounting to £3500, of which the Funeral Fund amounts to £2600.

        
The Order instituted at Salford, England, in 1835, now claims to be the oldest, largest, and wealthiest Temperance 

Society, haying in 1890 a membership of 140,000, with accumulated funds of over half a million pounds sterling.

        
The first Rechabite"Tent" was formed (page 36) in Nelson, in 1842, 
Mr. Alfred Saunders being the Principal. This"Tent," which was called the"Nelson Reformer," has been 
struck, and its place taken by the"Bud of Promise."

        

The Order Of Good Templars was first established in Nelson on January 15th, 1874, when the Loyal Nelson Lodge was started with twenty members. Whilst the novelty of the new institution lasted, members were rapidly made, and two additional lodges (Loyal Marine and Normanby) were instituted in the City, which were soon followed by one at Stoke, Richmond, Brightwater, Wakefield, Tadmor, Upper Moutere, Motueka, Takaka, and Collingwood. Of these lodges there now remain two in Nelson (Loyal Nelson and Loyal Marine), and the Hope of Wakefield. There are also three Juvenile Temples—one in the City, one at the Port, and one at Foxhill. The prime movers in starting the Order in Nelson were—Messrs. Alexander Wilkie (dead), W. L. Salter, J. T. Smith, Frank Coles, W. T. Bond, and John Glover. The instituting officer was the Eev. R. W. Morley, who died in England about a couple of years ago. The Order in Nelson received a great blow by the death of Mr. Alexander Wilkie, youngest son of the late Mr. William Wilkie (a pioneer citizen), who died at Dunedin, on January 11th, 1876, of typhoid fever. Mr. Wilkie, who was a promising and rising young man, had proceeded to Dunedin along with Mr. W. T. Bond, to represent the Nelson District in the Grand Lodge session of the Order, when he was struck down by the fell disease. The membership in the Nelson District is now about 200 adults and 150 juveniles. The District Deputies have been Messrs. J. T. Smith, J. S. Jones, W. T. Bond, Israel Pickard, R. Watson, John Glover, and G. R. Simpson (the present one).

        
Reference has been made at page 109 to the issue of bank notes by a private firm in Nelson during the years 1847 to 1853 inclusive. Some more detailed information has reached the writer since, and as the matter is one of local historical interest, it is desirable, although out of chronological order, to narrate further particulars.

        
The New Zealand Government passed an Act in 1847 to create a"Colonial Bank of Issue," and made their notes a legal tender.

        
This bank was only a bank of issue; there was no provision for effecting remittances, nor for receiving deposits.

        
The Act prohibited the issue of any other notes payable on demand. This of course compelled the Union Bank of Australia —the only bank in the place—to withdraw, as speedily as 

possible, every note they had in circulation, and it was not worth their while to continue their branch in Nelson.

        
Business men were thrown into a most difficult position: there were no means in the place for making remittances, and nothing to constitute a medium of circulation but a very moderate and uncertain supply of Government notes and gold. The Government paid all salaries, wages, &c, in their own notes, and all Customs' duties, &c, were paid by importers in Government notes or gold. It was a sort of scramble to get enough notes and gold for Customs' purposes, for these were being continually carried away from the place in the absence of any other way of making remittances.

        
In this position of affairs Messrs. Morrison & Sclanders started the"Nelson Bank;" but they were not the only persons who commenced issuing "notes;" Mr. Beit did so in Nelson, and later, the late Mr. Macandrew in Otago.

        
"The Bank of Issue Act" prohibited the issue of notes payable on demand; these private notes were, therefore, made payable twelve months after date. Although not nominally, the"Nelson Bank" notes were practically payable on demand, in cash, or 
notes, or drafts on the Union Bank of Australia, the 
notes referred to, being understood by everyone to mean the Government legal tender notes.

        
For nearly eight years these Nelson Bank notes, and the much more limited number issued by Mr. Beit, answered all the purposes of a circulating medium within the Province of Nelson, and little, if any, other money was ever to be seen; indeed, without them, it would scarcely have been possible to carry on business. At first only £1 notes were issued, but afterwards £5 notes also. When silver became scarce £5 notes were issued, by special request, by the"Nelson Bank,' and were much appreciated. The amount of notes in use, issued by this bank of Morrison & Sclanders' was never large, in fact it never exceeded £12,000. Although the notes of the Nelson Bank were not negotiable in the regular way outside of Nelson, they found their way to, and were accepted in many places, especially in the Wairau. Numbers of them eventually reached Wellington, from whence they were sent over to Nelson, and the senders had a cheque for the amount, by return of post, on the Union Bank of Australia, Wellington. Traders coming to the port with cargoes had to take in payment many Nelson Bank notes; these they wonld take to the bank, and get a cheque on the Union Bank of Australia, Wellington.

        
Thus Messrs. Morrison & Sclanders' Nelson Bank: proved a great convenience to the public.

        
"The Bank of Issue Act" being repealed, the Union Bank was able to issue its own notes; and the Nelson Bank notes 

were cancelled as they came in, there being no further occasion for them.

        
As illustrating the way in which the Nelson Bank notes were accepted in various places, within the last few years one of them was presented from Otago, and promptly paid, although the bank had long been closed.

        
The origin of the names of the various country settlements is of historical interest.

        
We have seen (pp. 8 and 16) how Stoke acquired its name, and at pp. 85 and 88 the origin of Ranzau and Sarau. Foxhill is generally, but erroneously, supposed to be named after Sir William Fox. Years ago, when the place was a dense bush, some of the first settlers, including Messrs. Badman, C. Gaukrodger, J. Harford, Tunnicliff, and Sparks, were sitting one night round a camp fire, when the conversation turned upon what name to give the place. Various names were suggested and rejected; but a proposal by Mr. Badman, that it should be called"Foxhill," after a small farm near Bristol, England, where he had lived as a boy, was carried unanimously.

        
Frequent mention has been made in this work of Dr., afterwards 
Sir David Monro. His name will always be associated with Nelson, as one of the most distinguished early settlers, who, having once settled here, continued to make Nelson his home until his death on the 15th February, 1877; and who in every movement for the political or social advantage of the people, took from the first a leading part. It was owing to Dr. Monro that a considerable portion of the burden of debt bequeathed to the taxpayers by the New Zealand Company, was lifted from the shoulders of the Nelson colonists. Sir David was a courtly, highly cultivated gentleman of the old school; and as such, he was much esteemed by the group of able and illustrious men, who in the early days lived in Nelson; and who have since, in various ways, risen to distinction in the public life of the colony. In politics he was a steady Conservative, and if he had little sympathy with the views of advanced reformers, and could not readily change his opinions with changing times, he never ceased to enjoy the respect even of those who differed most from him. He was a genuine, earnest, high-minded man; courteous and affable to all with whom he came into contact; and Nelson honors his memory as one, who with some others, forsaking the prospect of social position in the old country, was content to come here and cast in his lot with the early emigrants; assisting them loyally in all that he thought tended to the general prosperity.

        
The first Supreme Court in Nelson was presided over by his Honor Mr. Justice Chapman. There has only been one resident Supreme Court Judge—Mr. Justice Richmond—who resided in 

Nelson from 1867 to 1875. Since then the Circuit Court has usually been taken by the Chief Justice or Mr. Justice Richmond.

        
The first County Court Judge was Mr. F. A. Thompson, who never sat, however, his untimely death at the Wairau occurring soon after his appointment. County Courts were abolished and Courts of Request established, Mr. C. B. Brewer being appointed Commissioner for Nelson. These Courts were swept away by"The District Courts Act, 1858," and 
Mr. W. T. L. Travers was made District Judge. He resigned, and the Court was for a time abolished. It was re-constituted in 1875, and Mr. Lowther Broad was appointed, and still is, the Judge of the Nelson District Court.

        
Mr. John Sharp, who had held several public offices for many years, and who was appointed. Resident Magistrate on the retirement of Mr. Poynter in 1867, resigned that office in 1871, and was succeeded by Mr. Lowther Broad, who had been acting since September, 1870, as Resident Magistrate and Warden for Wangapeka.

        
The successive Resident Magistrates of Nelson since its foundation to the present time, have been—Mr. F. A. Thompson, Mr. White, Mr. Donald Sinclair, Major Richmond, Mr. John Poynter, Mr. John Sharp, Mr. Lowther Broad, 
Mr. Oswald Curtis, and Mr Andrew Turnbull. The office is at present amalgamated with the District Judgeship.

        
On Tuesday, 13th September, 1853, the Nelson Amateur Musical Society gave its first concert. The Society had been formed only four months previously, and the majority of its members were then entirely unacquainted with music. Mr. Charles Bonnington was the Conductor. Mr. Alfred Fell the Treasurer, and Mr. W. M. Stanton the Secretary of this young Musical Society— the predecessor of the present Harmonic Society. The first concert consisted of a varied programme of miscellaneous music, and appears to have been a great success. The attendance was so numerous that many could not gain admittance, and the concert was repeated shortly after. The names of the lady amateurs are not mentioned, but the newspaper records that amongst the gentlemen who assisted on the occasion, were some whose presence the people of Nelson had been accustomed to associate with meetings of a different description—the political—for example, Messrs. Saxton, Monro, Travers, and Greenwood. The surplus available from concerts, after paying expenses, was to be set apart towards the raising of a fund for a music hall, or public room, or for some other public and useful purpose.

        
The Nelson Amateur Musical Society collapsed after the departure from Nelson of its able conductor, Mr. Charles Bonnington.

        


        
In 1860 a new Society—the Nelson Harmonic Society— was formed. The first President was 
Sir David Monro; the present President is the Bishop of Nelson. This Society has a convenient practising Hall, its own property, in Trafalgar Square. Its concerts, of which four are given annually, are held in the Provincial Hall.

        
There is also an Orchestral Society, which, although a separate Society, works with, and assists, the Harmonic Society.

        
On the 19th January, 1882, Mr. James Smith Cross, who came out with the first expedition in 1841, and was coxswain in charge of the first European boat which entered Nelson harbour, died at his residence at the Port. Mr. Cross had been almost from the very first the Pilot and Harbour Master of Nelson, and only gave up active work some few months before his death, owing to failing health. He was a man of sterling worth, and enjoyed the confidence of his old chief, Captain Wakefield—a confidence which his subsequent career proved to have been well placed.
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Chapter XIII.

        

          
The Volunteers. The Railway Agitation. Acclimatization. Horse Breeding and Horse Racing. Some Notes of Local Events. Celebration of the Queen's Jubilee. The End.

        

        

Nelson Volunteers have always held a distiuished position in the Defence Forces of the Colony of New Zealand for numbers, drill, discipline, and general efficiency; a distinction which is maintained at the present time. During the Maori wars Nelson furnished several Companies of Militia, who enrolled for active service; and proceeded to the seat of war, both in Taranaki and in the Waikato.

        
The first Company of Volunteers enrolled in Nelson was "The No. 1 City Rifles," in the year 1861. About the same time "No. 2 Company" was enrolled; also a Company of Volunteers at Richmond, and "The Waimea Rifles" at Waimea West.

        
Later on, an Artillery Corps, and also"The Normanby Hussars" (at Wakefield), were enrolled, as well as several Cadet Corps, viz:—The Motueka Cadets, the Nelson Cadets, and the Nelson Artillery Cadets.

        
After various changes of Regulations,"The Defence Act, 1886," was passed by the Legislature, and, under it new Regulations were framed, making the discipline of the Force stricter, and placing it upon a more solid foundation.

        
The present number of Volunteers and Cadets existing under 'The Defence Act, 1866.' in Nelson is 459, as follows:—

        
The Nelson Naval Artillery Volunteers—Total strength, 61.—Captain, William Simpson; Lieut., R. Watson; Lieut., E. Lukins.

        
The Westport Naval Artillery—Total strength, 60.—Lieut., Commanding, G. W. Martin; Lieut., J. P. Mander; Lieut., S. Gothard.

        
The H Battery N.Z. Regiment of Artillery—Total strength, 60.—Captain, A. T. Maginnity i Lieut., P. Topliss; Lieut., T. Wimsett.

        
The Nelson City Rifles—Total strength, 54.—Lieut,, J. T. Veysey; Lieut., Alex. J. Gray.

        
The Stoke Rifles—Total strength, 53.—Captain, Geo. A. Harkness; Lieut., C. Ching; Lieut., J. H. Barker.

        
The Waimea Rifles—Total strength, 53.—Captain, H. Wratt; Lieut., W. H. Bryant; Lieut., P. B. Ricketts.

        
Westport Naval Cadets—Total strength, 56.—Captain, D. Cosgrave; Lieut., C. Cosgrave; Lieut., R. Whyte.

        
Nelson College Cadets—Total strength, 56.—Captain, W. S. Littlejohn; Lieut, E. F. W. Cooke; Lieut., H. Gibbs.

        


        
The Nelson Volunteers have a really excellent Garrison Band.

        
The New Zealand Champion Rifle Belt has been won by members of the Nelson Volunteer Force on four separate occasions, as follows:—In 1862, by Private S. Hoult, No. 1 City Rifles, Nelson; in 1863, by Captain N. G. Morse; in 1877 and 1881, by Lieut. Paynter, Stoke Rifles.

        
In October, 1881, when the Te Whiti difficulty at Parihaka arose, the Nelson Volunteers, to the number of close upon 200, responded to the Governor's proclamation calling them out for active service—the Nelson Naval. Artillery, H Battery, City Rifles, Stoke Rifles, and Waimea Rifles all going. Although there was no actual fighting, the Force had plenty of hard work, plenty of solid drill three times a day, and a thorough experience of campaigning. The Nelson Volunteers were the first to arrive at "Rohotu," the rendezvous for the 1200 Volunteers assembled from various parts of the Colony; and, with the Thames Volunteers, were assigned a most important position in the advance upon and investment of Parihaka, on 5th November, 1881, when Te Whiti, Tohu, and Hiroki were arrested by the Armed Constabulary. The Officer Commanding the Nelson Volunteers, Lieut.-Colonel Pitt, was specially thanked by the Hon. J. Bryce, then Defence Minister, ior the good work done and example shown by the Volunteers at Parihaka. Upon their return to Nelson, the Volunteers received a most enthusiastic public reception, one of the largest crowds ever seen in Nelson being assembled to greet them, whilst an address from the Mayor and City Council, on behalf of the citizens, was presented to them.

        
For upwards of sixteen years past, the Nelson Volunteers have occasionally gone into Camp at Easter—either at Nelson or elsewhere. The Nelson Volunteers possess twenty-two bell tents (their own property), besides cooking utensils. &c.

        
The Nelson Naval Artillery have a splendid cutter, "The Aurora," and have done good service with the boat on several occasions—notably, in rescuing the passengers of the ship "Queen Bee," wrecked at Farewell Spit, whom they found at the French Pass; and again when they went in search of the crew of the"Messenger," also wrecked at Farewell Spit.

        
The H Battery have three six-pound Armstrong guns (field pieces).

        
The Officers Commanding the Nelson District have been— Hon. Major Bichmond, C.B., Captain Baigent, Captain J. T. Marshall, and Lieut.-Colonel Pitt. Adjutants: Major Lockett, Major Webb, and Lieut. Kiernan. Staff Sergt.-Majors and Drill Instructors: Sergt.-Major Alborough, late H.M. 58th Regiment, who served from the beginning of the Volunteer system till 1st July, 1885; Sergt.-Major J. Nixon, late of 18th 

Royal Irish Regiment, who began duty in Nelson on 1st July, 1895, and still continues.

        
Major Franklyn, who for many years commanded the Waimea Rifles, is on the active unattached list, and assists in Staff duty.

        
Brigade Surgeon L. Boor is chief of the Medical Defence Staff at Nelson. The other Surgeons are—R. Fearless, J. Hudson, and B. Locking.

        
Nelson people have always been clear about two things (1) that to secure the progress of the Province, good roads running right through the interior are a necessity; and (2) that the best and, ultimately, the cheapest road, is a railway.

        
Various efforts have been made to establish railway communication with the West Coast, but now that a definite contract has been entered into with that object, it is unnecessary to recapitulate at length the proposals that from time to time have been brought forward.

        
The"The Inland Communication Committee," established in 1873, comprised all the principal citizens of Nelson, and did an immense amount of good in "collecting and distributing statistical information, and in fomenting agitation."

        
This Committee sat for months, collecting masses of evidence, and thoroughly testing the reliability of the data laid before them. Their report—a most able, exhaustive, and lucid one—was prepared by the Hon. Joseph Shephard, M.L.C. It dealt with (1) The necessity for and importance of a railway; (2) The resources of the country to be traversed by the proposed line, including land, its character, &c.; (3) The means proposed to construct a line; (4) The inducements available as remuneration; (5) The description and cost of the proposed line; (6) The estimated expenditure and income.

        
The report concluded by recommending the construction of the railway by the establishment of a public company; and the Provincial Council and General Assembly having already given their sanction to such a proposal, the work of floating a company was entered upon. There is little doubt but that this would have been successfully accomplished, but the Government stepped in, and induced the Nelson people to abandon the formation of the proposed company, undertaking that the line should be constructed by the Government, the line being recognised as a portion of the main trunk railway of the Middle Island. Year after year passed away, but nothing was done towards the construction of the railway. The Canterbury people, who also wanted connection with the West Coast, took the matter up, and in 1882 formed a Railway League; and, in 1883, negotiations were opened in England, through Mr. Kelsey, for the construction of the line from Springfield to the West Coast by a private 

company. Various circumstances prevented any favourable result; but after long negotiations with the Government, Sir Julius Vogel introduced a Bill, which, with some amendments, was carried through the General Assembly, authorising the construction of the East and West Coast Railway by a Syndicate. Canterbury appointed delegates to proceed to England. The people of Nelson, were keenly alive to their interest in the railway, and guarantors being found for the expense, a delegate was appointed to proceed to England to represent the interests of the Nelson Province in the Mother Country. Eventually it was agreed that Canterbury and Nelson should work heartily together in their efforts in getting a Syndicate to undertake the construction of the line from Springfield in Canterbury to Belgrove in Nelson viâ the Grey and Reefton on the West Coast.

        
Messrs. A. D. Dobson and Alan Scott were sent to London on behalf of Canterbury, and Mr. C. Y. Fell went with them as the representative of Nelson. Their efforts were, in the end, successful, and a contract has been entered into with the Midland Railway Company for the construction of the line. The first sod was turned at Brannerton in January, 1887, and the line is now nearly completed to Reefton; various sections are in course of construction between Brunnerton and Springfield; and at the Nelson end, a contract for the first section commencing at Belgrove was let in October, 1890, and is now in course of construction. Thus, after more than a quarter of a century of agitation, and of hope deferred, which has, at times, almost produced heart sickness, the people of Nelson have, at all events, the gratification of seeing the work begun for which they have striven, and with good reason, so earnestly and so long.

        
It is not easy to trace the exact history of Acclimatization, no early official records having been kept, but it seems that the first step towards enriching the country, by introducing valuable birds, was taken by Sir Edwin Dashwood, about 1853, who brought out with him, on returning from England, a few pheasants, which he liberated near his residence at Motueka. These birds increased greatly, and soon found their way to the neighborhood of the Waimea, and in other directions. Two unsuccessful attempts were afterwards made by Mr. Henry Redwood to introduce pheasants from England, but on both occasions it resulted in only procuring a single bird, one of which afterwards died; and the other obtained his liberty, and was for some time domesticated with Mr. C. Best's poultry at Appleby. Mr. Elliott arranged with a dealer in Sydney to send him some pheasants, but he shipped three cock birds and only one hen, which latter died at sea. One of the cock birds died also, and Mr. Elliott parted with one of the remaining birds to Mr. C. B. Wither, who had obtained a hen pheasant-from Auckland, and 

the pair were turned loose by that gentleman. The number of imported birds liberated up to September, 1864, was as follows: —Partridges, 8; blackbirds, 26; thrushes., 5; starlings, 17; grey linnets, 7; goldfinches, 10.; robin, 1; greenfinches, 5; yellow hammers, 3; sparrow, 1; chaffinches, 23; larks, 20; redpoles, 2; twights, 2; Australian sparrows, 6; black swans, 7.

        
In 1851, Mr. Felix Wakefield endeavoured to bring out to the settlement a stag and hind, but the hind died on the passage, and the stag only was landed. This animal was kept by Mr. Stafford for a short time in his stable, and, on being turned out, found his way into Brook street valley, between which and the Maitai, he ran for a long time in company with cattle. The next attempt to bring out red deer to Nelson was made in 1860 by private subscription, and was eminently successful. A stag and two hinds were presented by Lord Petre, and reached Nelson safely. After being wintered in an enclosure, the three animals were turned out in October, 1861. Three fallow deer were brought from England in 1864, and purchased by Mr. C. B. Wither, and were kept by him for some time in his paddock.

        
Subsequently rooks, Californian quail, trout ova, and salmon ova were introduced by the Society, aided by grants from the Provincial Council, and the young fish turned out into our various streams, where the trout have thriven well, but the salmon has not made an appearance.

        
Two consignments of white fish ova were also brought from America, one of them at the expense of Mr. John Kerr, of the Lake run. The ova were placed in a creek running into Lake Rotoiti, and hatched out well. None of these fish have yet been caught, but it is believed that they exist in the Lake in considerable numbers. Hares were turned out by the Society for the first time in June, 1872. They were for a time protected, but they increased so rapidly and became such a nuisance to country settlers, that the protection was withdrawn; but, not withstanding this, there are still plenty to be found in the"Waimeas" and on the hills at the back of Stoke. For many years the late Mr. F. Huddleston acted as the Honorary Secretary of the Society, and devoted much time to promoting its best interests, taking, indeed, a keen and hearty interest in everything appertaining to acclimatization.

        
In the early days of the settlement, there were amongst the first settlers several good judges of horses, and keen lovers of the good old British sport of horse-racing. At one time Nelson was the head-quarters of horse-breeding as well as horse-racing, and the horses bred here have been winners on the principal racecourses of Australasia. The names of Messrs. Thompson, Tinline, Redwood, Fox, Jollie, Stafford, Duppa, Newcome, Weld, Morse, Cautley, Empson, Elliott, Bedborough, Curr, and 

Schroder are identified with the importation and breeding of blood stock.

        
Mr. Redwood alone, imported in 1853-4 the thoroughbred mares Advance, Besom, Chatty, Emma, Chloe, Finesse, Flora. M'Ivor, Fly, Glauca, Hussey, Mayfly, Moth, Pancake, Paragon, Pearl, Picnic, Regalia, Simpleton, Spray, and Valeria; and the stallions Augean, Bay Middleton, Lottery, Frantic, Glaucus, St. George, and the grand horse Sir Hercules, the sire of Flora, Zoe, Potentate, Phœbe, Wetsail, and Miss Rowe, Mr. Stafford imported the mares Symphony in 1851, and Princess in 1852; and Mr. Curr, in 1855, brought over from Australia the blood mares Cerita, Gazelle, Honeycombe, Martha, Pauline, Sweetpea, and Termagant. Mr. Duppa imported the thoroughbreds Miss Millar, and the stallions Camden and Lamplighter; and Mr. F. A. Weld, Elster and Mirza, and the entire Glendon.

        
Il Barbiere was bred in Nelson in 1842 by Mr. F. A. Thompson, and was the sire of Strop and Zingara—two of the best horses ever trained in the Southern hemisphere.

        
Mr. Schroder imported the mare Cinderella in 1855, and the horse Septimus.

        
Nelson was truly for years the very centre of horse-importing, breeding, and racing; and the whole thing was in the hands of men of the highest character.

        
Public interest in racing has fallen off apparently of late; the breeding of thoroughbreds has gone to other places; but to Nelson belongs the credit of having done more than all the rest of the Colony put together—at a very early stage of its history, and at great individual cost and risk—to promote the breeding of first-class horses.

        
The following notes of facts connected with Nelson will be of interest:—

        
The 'Nelson Examiner ' was the first paper established in New Zealand.

        
The first Lodge of Odd-Fellows in New Zealand was opened in Nelson.

        
The first scheme of free public education originated in Nelson.

        
Nelson was the first port to own a local steamer.

        
The first brewery in New Zealand—that of Paolo and Pelham —was erected in Nelson. The second, on a larger scale, being erected by Hooper and Co. in 1843.

        
The first flax-dressing establishment in New Zealand was McGlashen's at Wakapuaka.

        
The first barley grown in New Zealand was malted in Nelson by Hooper and Co.

        
The New Zealand Champion Belt was won three times by Nelson Volunteers.

        
Nelson was for many years the home of the late Mr. John 

Gully—one of the foremost water-color painters of Australasia. His beautiful pictures are to be seen in all the principal Art Galleries of this and the neighboring colonies. He died in November. 1888, much regretted by the many friends to whom he had endeared himself by his gentle disposition and many amiable qualities, and to the great loss of Colonial Art.

        
Nelson was the first Province in New Zealand to introduce the system of purchasing Crown lands on deferred payments.

        
The Nelson Savings Bank, founded in 1860, has 1000 depositors, whose average deposits amount to twenty guineas.

        
From the body of early Nelson settlers, the Colony has obtained some of its leading statesmen and distinguished men, including— 
Sir E. W. Stafford, G.C.M.G., Sir P. A. Weld, G.C.MG., Sir F. Dillon Bell, K.C.M.G., Sir William Fox, K.C.M.G., the 
Hon. Alfred Domett, 
Sir David Monro, His Grace Archbishop Redwood, and others, whose names are inscribed upon the roll of Colonial celebrities.

        
The Nelson Exhibition was opened on 26th November, 1873, by 
Sir David Monro, who read a very interesting address, reviewing the past history of the Province. Mr. Justice Richmond also addressed the crowded audience. The Exhibition was divided into seven departments, each under the supervision of a Sub-Committee appointed by the Executive Committee. The departments were—Horticultural, Industrial, Ladies' Industrial, Fine Arts and Photography, Mineral and Geological, Natural History, and Poultry. The Exhibition was a great success— embracing as it did natural objects, manufactured materials, and works of art—both in quality and quantity, wonderful for so young a settlement. The Executive Committee were—President, His Honor the Superintendent; Vice-President, Mr. Lowther Broad, R.M.; Members of Committee, Dr. Williams, Mr. John Holloway, Dr. Boor, Mr. William Rout, and 
Mr. F. H. Pickering. Mr. Rout also acted as Hon. Secretary.

        
The"Nelson Evening Mail," the only evening paper in Nelson, was first published on 5th March, 1866. For twenty-two years the late Mr. F. J. Blundell, who died last year, was Editor. Mr. Blundell, who was much esteemed, was the son of Captain Biundell, of Waimea West, one of Nelson's early settlers.

        
A short account of the celebration of the Queen's Jubilee may appropriately end the Jubilee History of Nelson.

        
A more thorough celebration of a national event than that in which the men, women, and children joined on 21st June, 1887, could not possibly be imagined, and the whole proceedings passed off without a hitch or casualty of any kind. The day was not only observed as a close holiday, but the whole population mustered at the festival to do honor to the occasion. A threatening morning was succeeded by a genial day, and when 

the sun peeped out upon the verdure clad hills, the gay hunting, the brilliant decorations, and happy faces, it seemed as though Nature was vieing with humanity in commemorating the Jubilee. The proceedings were joined in by young and old, and the total numbers present were variously estimated at from eight to ten thousand souls. From an early hour the streets were thronged; at half-past nine the H Battery, which had proceeded with its guns to Mount street, commenced firing a royal salute of 21 guns. At the same time the Naval Artillery, under command of Captain Simpson, was drawn up on the Church Hill, and there were present a considerable concourse of people, prominent amongst whom was his Lordship the Bishop. His Worship the Mayor then arrived on the scene, and the bugle having sounded, his Worship read the proclamation of his Excellency the Governor, and then the following:—

        
"Know all men, that whereas on the 20th day of June, in the year of our Lord 1837, the most illustrious and honorable 
Victoria Alexandrina, only child of Edward, Duke of Kent, and grand-daughter of his Maiesty King George III., was by the grace of God set upon the Throne of her ancestors, and there-after became, and was recognised by her lawful and obedient subjects, Queen of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Ireland, and of the Colonies and Dependencies thereof, and Empress of India, and Defender of the Faith, Supreme Governor of the Church of England, Sovereign of the Most Honorable Orders of The Garter, The Thistle, The Bath, The Star of India, The Victoria Cross, and Saint Michael and Saint George: And Whereas her Majesty hath been preserved in the safety of her person, the dignity of her office and the discharge of its duties, and in the possession of the hearts of her subjects during the space of fifty years last past, which is a cause of satisfaction and congratulation to all inhabitants of her Kingdom, Dependencies, and Empire: And Whereas it has seemed good that there should be a solemn recognition of those blessings received both by the People and their Sovereign by religious thanksgiving and public rejoicing: Now therefore I do hereby declare this fiftieth year of her Majesty's glorious and happy reign to have arrived, and hereby call upon all loyal subjects of this Kingdom and Empire resident in this place to celebrate her Majesty's Jubilee with due honor and rejoicing; and in furtherance thereof I do hereby declare this day to be a Public Holiday, and I desire, and do hereby request all true and loyal subjects of her Majesty to duly observe the same.

        "
God Save The Queen."

        
Again was the bugle sounded, and then was run up the Royal Standard (the flag, which was beautifully worked, being the outcome of the taste and labor of the pupils at the Girls' College), and at the same time the first gun of the salute was 

fired by the H Battery. This having been agreed upon as the general signal for the hoisting of flags, in a very short time from every flagstaff was floating the flag that for a thousand years has braved the battle and the breeze. Thereupon, three hearty cheers for Her Most Gracious Majesty ascended from the Church Hill.

        
Special services were held in each of the churches, and sermons appropriate to the occasion preached.

        
One of the most interesting features of the day was the Old Settlers' luncheon, which took place in the City Council Chamber. Although short was the time given for the luncheon, many a hearty hand-shaking, many an affectionate greeting, and many a tear was shed, as old shipmates met and recalled incidents of leaving the dear Old Country nearly fifty years ago, incidents of the sturdy struggles in the intant days of this settlement, and fond remembrances of those who had passed away. Shortly after noon, the Mayor (Mr. Fell) called to order, and the Rev. P. Calder asked a blessing."While his Worship presided, the Bishop of Nelson filled the vice-chair.

        
Among those of the old settlers who sat down were:—



	H. Redwood
	Jas. Stagg
	J. Waterhouse


	John Win
	Thomas Gifford
	Wm. Hounsell


	Mrs. Win
	George Batchelor
	Joseph Taylor


	Mrs. Batt
	Wm. Wigzell
	John Davis


	S. Mercer
	Walter Newport
	Wm. Win


	Mrs. Small
	Mrs. Dean
	Alex. Gibson


	Geo. Morley
	Mr. Pickering
	John Humphreys


	Mrs. Mary Day
	Mr. Crisp
	R. C. Tennent


	Mrs. Thos. Wimsett
	Mrs. Jas. Rowe
	John Noden


	Mrs. I. M. Hill
	Mr. Watson
	C. H. Ford


	Mark Newth
	Mrs. Rose
	Robt. Burn


	J. W. Barnicoat
	Mr. Griffiths
	T. J. Ferris


	T. Eden
	Mr. White
	H. Hudson


	Job Russ
	Mr. Cresswell
	Thos. Poole


	Jas. Harford
	Mr. McGee
	Jas. Richardson


	Jas. Chapman
	E. Green
	H. Fanzelow


	H. Coombs
	D. Matthews
	Joseph Bungate


	R. Mullins
	Geo. Blick
	Thomas Wells


	Thos. Goodman
	Mrs. G. Blick
	William Ricketts


	Jas. Spanton
	Mrs. Kidson
	Mrs. W. Newport


	Wm. Askew
	Mrs. Watson
	Geo. Biggs


	Sydney Higgins
	Mrs. James Graham
	Mrs. Pickering Appo Hocton
	Wm. Boddington
	Mrs. Crisp


	Jas, Knapp
	James Kerr
	Mrs. Ricketts


	Wm. Brown
	W. H. Burt
	Mrs. Gill


	Mrs. Jas. Knapp
	James Badman
	Mr. Day


	Mrs. Lovell
	
J. F. A. Kelling
	Mrs. Hewitt


	Wm. Barnett
	W. Avery
	Mr. Panton




	Wm.Wratt
	Wm. Songer
	Mr. Sutcliffe


	D. Burns
	John Tutty
	Mr. Rose


	Mrs. Wm. Wratt
	John Andrews
	Thos. Rowlings


	Jas. Rowe
	Thos.
	Kinzett



        
The years 1841, 1842, 1843, and 1844 had their representatives, as had also the following ships which came in those years to the then infant settlement of Nelson:—The Mary Ann, Indus, Martha Ridgway, the Bombay, Lord Auckland, Clifford, Thomas Harrison, Olympus, Prince of Wales, Sir Chas. Forbes, the Will Watch, the Lloyd's, the Bowden, the Fifeshire, and the Bolton.

        
Another pleasing and interesting event was the presentation to Ben Crisp of a purse of sovereigns and a gold medal, in recognition of his services in promoting the welfare and happiness of the children of Nelson during many years. Passing reference has been made (p. 26) to"Ben the bullock driver," as he was called in the very early days, when he used to cultivate the land on the west side of Trafalgar-street, from Hardy-street to Bridge-street. Ben took the pledge (which he has faithfully kept), and started a juvenile Band of Hope; and every year since, on Her Majesty's Birthday, hundreds of children have been made happy by the treat he has regularly provided for them. The procession of Ben's lorry crowded with happy youngsters, waving bright flags, shouting and laughing, on their way to the "treat," is one of the features of Nelson on the Queen's Birthday. Mr. Crisp is one of the oldest settlers in the Colony. He left England in 1819, came to New Zealand in 1837, and to Nelson in 1842.

        
The public procession to the Church Hill was a striking feature of the Jubilee celebrations: About one o'clock thousands who were to join the procession were mustering in force in Trafalgar-street, north of Bridge-street, and looking north and south the spectacle that presented itself in either direction was one to remember. To the north were thousands of school children happy and bright, very many of them carrying banners and flags, whilst the gay uniforms of the Volunteers, the many representatives of the Friendly Societies in their respective regalias, the members of the Fire Brigade in their scarlet tunics and wearing their helmets, the Salvage Corps men, and all the others about to join in the march combined to form a 
tout ensemble at once brilliant and pleasing. Looking to the south the view was certainly not less remarkable. On either hand were the gay decorations with which the business places were adorned, the mottos, the flags, the ferns, the evergreens, and the lines of flags hanging across the broad thoroughfare, and beyond all the Church Hill. The Cathedral at its summit simply capped a stage of densely crowded people.

        
The procession included the Mayor and Corporation, the 

Bishop and Clergy of the Church of England, and the Clergy of other Denominations, including the Ven. Archpriest Garin. The District Judge, the Magistrates and Court Officers, members of local governing bodies, a body of old settlers, the various Volunteer Corps, and thousands of neatly dressed school children, with their distinguishing banners.

        
Arrived at the Church Hill, speeches were made by the Mayor and the Bishop, and the vast assemblage joined in three hearty cheers for the Queen. The procession then proceeded to the Eel Pond reserve, where the Mayor turned the first sod of what was to be known thenceforth as the"Queen's Gardens." In the evening the Town was brilliantly illuminated.

        
With the abolition of the Provinces in 1875, the settlement of the Province of Nelson, ceased to be a political entity, and to to have a separate history. Split up into counties, municipalities, and other self-governing bodies, the interests and sympathies of which are far different to those which were characteristic of the early days of Nelson; there is no longer the material for history peculiar to the settlement. Its history thenceforth will be national.

        
Having thus traced in outline the course of events which go to make up local history, it is natural to regret that time and space would not permit of the incorporation in this work, of several original documents of historical interest, and that many moving incidents of the early days, could not, for the same reason, be recorded.

        
Wading through files of old newspapers, and poring over faded documents, in search of information, has been a work of absorbing interest. The actors and speakers now passed away, have seemed present, with all their vivacity of action, and their oft vehement speech. It has been as though"The years that are fied knock at the door and enter."

        
And after recording as well as circumstances would permit, the swift evolution of events in the young and active Nelson Settlement, there remains the predominant feeling of deep and reverent sympathy with those brave, adventurous, and hardy pioneers; those sturdy men, and courageous faithful women, who left the most civilized country in the world, to face the dangers and difficulties of founding a settlement, and thus assisting to found a new nation, in a land almost unknown, and inhabited by a native race scarcely yet removed from the cannibal savage.

        

The End.
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